
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
TOWN OF REDINGTON SHORES 

REGULAR MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 8, 2025 - 6:00 P.M. 

AGENDA 

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

C. ROLL CALL

D. CONSENT AGENDA
1. MINUTES – Approval of: Special Meeting – September 24, 2025, and Workshop – September 24, 2025

E. APPEARANCES AND PRESENTATIONS
1. Chief Clint Belk, Madeira Beach Fire Rescue Update
2. Chief Bill Schobel, Seminole Fire Rescue Update
3. Chief Lee Ann Holroyd, Indian Shores PD Update

F. OLD BUSINESS
1. Second Amendment to the Tidal Basin Contract – Permit Technicians

G. NEW BUSINESS
1. ORD2025-05 Land Development Code Revision – 1st Reading
2. ORD2025-07 Construction Permit Refund Clarification – 1st Reading
3. Approval of Contract Renewal for ParkMobile

H. COMMISSION REPORTS
1. Commissioner Harr – District 1
2. Commissioner Hoyt – District 2
3. Commissioner Maynard – District 4
4. Vice Mayor Commissioner Schoos – District 3
5. Mayor Kapper
6. Town Attorney
7. Public Works Department
8. Town Manager

I. MISCELLANEOUS
Planning and Zoning Board Meeting – Monday, October 13, 2025 – 6:00 P.M.
Workshop Meeting – Wednesday, October 29, 2025 – 6:00 P.M.
Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting – Wednesday, November 12, 2025 – 6:00 P.M.

J. PUBLIC COMMENT (Items not previously discussed on this agenda. Limited to 3 minutes.)

K. ADJOURNMENT

Pursuant to Florida Statutes § 286.0105, if any person or entity decides to appeal any decision made on any matter considered at any meeting or hearing of any 
Redington Shores Board or Commission, he, she or it will need a record of the proceedings and, for such purpose, he, she or it may need to ensure that a verbatim 
record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the legal arguments, testimony, and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 



ITEM D.1. 



BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
TOWN OF REDINGTON SHORES 

SPECIAL MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, September 24, 2025 

MINUTES 

A Special Meeting of the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Redington Shores, Florida, was convened at 6:00 

p.m.

Members Present:  Mayor Commissioner Tom Kapper, Commissioner CJ Hoyt, Commissioner Douglas Harr, Vice 

Mayor Commissioner Erin Schoos, Commissioner Larry Maynard  

Members Absent: none 

Other Municipal Officials Present: Town Manager Margaret Carey, Town Clerk Melissa Fultz, Management Analyst 

Rafael Soto, Public Works Supervisor Michael Pafumi, Chief Lee Ann Holroyd (ISPD), Captain Daniel Doherty (ISPD), 

Town Attorney Rob Eschenfelder 

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

C. ROLL CALL BY THE TOWN CLERK

D. APPEARANCES AND PRESENTATIONS

E. OLD BUSINESS

1. ORD 2025-04 Election District Revision – 2ND Reading

i. Attorney Eschenfelder read Ordinance 2025-04

Commission Discussion: None

Public Comment: None

Commissioner Maynard moved to approve ORD 2025-03, seconded by Vice

Mayor Commissioner Schoos. Vote Taken: All yay.

2. Town Hall Hours

i. With the signing of the new contract for building department services with CAP,

Town Manager Carey revisited Town Hall hours. She made mention that hours

could return to old operating hours, though she would like to wait until the new

building department staff have finished the transition before making changes.

Town Manager Carey offered to collect data that can be reviewed to determine

when residents are coming in for the building department. This item will be

rediscussed after the transition of the new staff.



F. NEW BUSINESS

1. Building Department Services Contract

i. Town Manager Carey presented the C.A.P. building department services contract

for consideration. Both Carey and Attorney Eschenfelder have worked with C.A.P.

to refine the terms to meet the needs of our town.

Christy Herig (17609 1st St E) Asked the Mayor of previous 

situations he had with the previous 

Town Administrator. 

Loretta Fricks (235 176th Ave E) Requested that action be taken on 

the contract. 

Commission Discussion: Discussion: Mayor Commissioner Kapper and 

Commissioner Maynard shared concerns about their role in building department 

operations, saying they would like the Commission to be included in major 

decisions. 

Public Comment: None 

Vice Mayor Commissioner Schoos moved to approve the contract with C.A.P 

Government Services Inc., seconded by Commissioner Hoyt. Vote Taken: All yay. 

G. MISCELLANEOUS

H. ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business before the Board, the meeting adjourned at 6:31 P.M.

Respectfully submitted, 

Rafael Soto  Date Approved by Board of Commissioners 

Management Analyst 



BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
TOWN OF REDINGTON SHORES 

WORKSHOP MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, September 24, 2025 

MINUTES 

A Workshop Meeting of the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Redington Shores, Florida, was convened at 

6:32 p.m. 

Members Present:  Mayor Commissioner Tom Kapper, Commissioner CJ Hoyt, Commissioner Douglas Harr, Vice 

Mayor Commissioner Erin Schoos, Commissioner Larry Maynard  

Members Absent: none 

Other Municipal Officials Present: Town Manager Margaret Carey, Town Clerk Melissa Fultz, Management Analyst 

Rafael Soto, Public Works Supervisor Michael Pafumi, Captain Daniel Doherty (ISPD), Town Attorney Rob 

Eschenfelder 

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

C. ROLL CALL

D. APPEARANCES AND PRESENTATIONS

E. OLD BUSINESS

1. Sewer Project Update

i. Butch Lanaville from APS gave an update on the work being done around Town. Only 3

sewer mains are left to be rehabilitated, he expects this to take no more than 3 weeks. He

shared that BLD is working on laterals at the North end of Town. They have completed

38. They are also working on the stormwater system.

Commissioner Maynard asked Mr. Lanaville how many laterals had to be completed. Mr. 

Lanaville recalled that there are 400. 

Commissioner Hoyt asked Mr. Lanaville how this work impacts residents and what types 

of benefits they might see. Mr. Lanaville stated that none of the work being done would 

negatively impact residents. He shared that workers would notify residents when it would 

be best to limit water use. This is because too much water use leads to water being 

sprayed on the workers. 

Commissioner Maynard asked what the Town can expect from this work. Mr. Lanaville 

stated that in the sanitary the Town could expect more capacity. He also shared that the 

elevation of the Town makes some mitigation options difficult. 



F. NEW BUSINESS

1. Florida Open Carry Law

i. Captain Doherty shared the state law that prohibiting the open carry of guns was found

unconstitutional and effective September 26th open carry is legal. He shared that various

locations are prohibited, and Commission Meetings are one of those locations. He shared

that local law enforcement is expecting an increase in calls relating to individuals with

firearms, but law enforcement officers cannot check individuals’ firearms in public unless

there is a reason to do so.

2. Enforcement of “No-Wake” Zones on Flooded Streets

i. Town Manager Carey shared that she spoke with Attorney Eschenfelder about this topic.

He stated that law enforcement can enforce this law but the difficulty with such is that a

law enforcement officer must witness the action in the moment. Captain Doherty shared

that police are positioned in repetitive flood areas when possible. This is a law enforcement

issue, and the town does not need to take action.

3. Permit Fees and Refund Request Process

i. Town Manager Carey shared an update on a situation that commissioners had brought to

her attention at the September 15th Budget Meeting. She shared that the individual who

asked for a canceled permit application refund received a refund of $8,845.

Commissioner Maynard wanted clarification on the Town Code. Attorney Eschenfelder

clarified our code states non-refundable. A discussion ensued regarding updating the code

to offer refund in certain situations based upon what work had been done and what could

be refunded. Commissioner Maynard shared that he would like a change to the code to

prevent confusion in future situations. Attorney Eschenfelder stated that he would prepare

a draft ordinance for future discussion.

Commissioner Harr asked if there is a way to have the receipts say that certain fees are

non-refundable. Town Manager Carey said yes.

4. State Property Tax Discussion Update

i. Town Manager Carey provided an update regarding the topic of the dissolution of state

property tax. She shared that she had met with Representative Linda Chaney.

Representative Chaney asked local governments to share what percentage of budgeted

revenue comes from property taxes. That information was provided to Representative

Chaney and discussion of the topic took place in Tallahassee on September 22nd and 23rd

at a meeting of the Select Committee on Property Taxes.

5. Town Manager Job Performance Evaluation

i. Town Manager Carey shared that according to the Town Manager employment contract

it states that the manager should receive evaluations. The suggested evaluations are at 3

months, 6 months, and one year of employment. She provided a previously used

evaluation form to the commission and explained how the process would take place. She

asked if the was okay with the process and the evaluation form. The commission asked

Attorney Eschenfelder if it is a suitable form and how it compares to other municipalities.

He stated that each municipality does evaluations differently and that the form is good.

Commissioners asked Town Manager Carey if having a set of actionable items would be

helpful to evaluate her. She said that she does think it would be helpful and that she will

submit her goals to the commissioners who can comment and/or add to her goals and

priorities.



Christy Herig (17609 1st St E) Gave some explanation on how previous 

commissions used the form. 

Loretta Fricks (235 176th Ave E) Commented that the form is very good and 

can be helpful to the commission.  

G. MISCELLANEOUS

Regular Meeting- Wednesday, October 8, 2025 – 6:00 P.M.

Workshop – Wednesday, October 29, 2025 – 6:00 P.M

H. ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business before the Board, the meeting adjourned at 7:11 P.M.

Respectfully submitted, 

Rafael Soto  Date Approved by Board of Commissioners 

Management Analyst 



ITEM E.2. 



9199 113th Street North  Seminole, FL 33772     TEL (727) 393-8711     FAX (727) 319-6583 

City of Seminole Fire Rescue
Achieving Service Through Dedication 

Town Administrator 

Town of Redington Shores   

17425 Gulf Boulevard  

Redington Shores, FL 33708 

October 2nd, 2025 

Dear Town Administrator, 

Attached are the lists of Fire and Emergency Medical Service (EMS) responses to your Town for 

the month of September 2025.  

The report is self-explanatory with the exception of the type of Fire or Medical call referred to as 

“code”.  Only the codes which are reflected in this month’s summary report are listed below. 

There were Seven (7) Emergency Fire responses for this time period with an average 

response time of 4:32 minutes. 

Code F52         Code for Fire Incident/Fire Alarm 

• There were Twelve (12) Emergency EMS responses for this time period with an average

response time of 4:09 minutes.

  Code ME    Code for Medical Incident 

Should you have any questions regarding this report, please feel free to contact me at (727) 393-

8711 ext. 217.   

Sincerely, 

William Schobel 
Fire Chief 



Incident Date Location Code Nature

5142331 09/01/2025 13:57:0617920 GULF BL-RS LOT 904F52 52-FIRE ALARM

5142352 09/01/2025 14:24:4617900 GULF BL-RSF52 52-FIRE ALARM

5142461 09/01/2025 18:16:3117900 GULF BL-RS LOT 7EME 32M-MEDICAL ALARM

5143982 09/04/2025 11:45:5217745 GULF BL-RS LOT 502ME 21H-HEMORRHAGE

5145137 09/06/2025 09:08:5317810 LEE AVME 6-BREATHING PROBLEMS

5148710 09/12/2025 09:47:3617920 GULF BL-RSF52 52-FIRE ALARM

5149016 09/12/2025 19:09:5117920 GULF BL-RSF52 52-FIRE ALARM

5149309 09/13/2025 09:32:0918304 GULF BL-RS LOT 115ME 21H-HEMORRHAGE

5149464 09/13/2025 14:47:1217580 GULF BL-RSF52 52-FIRE ALARM

5149534 09/13/2025 16:47:5335 182 AV WDS 73-LANDLINE DISP / WATERCRAFT

5150393 09/15/2025 10:29:57231 176 AV EDS 53D-LANDLINE DISP/SERVICE CALL

5151547 09/17/2025 14:44:5917920 GULF BL-RS LOT 1305ME 32M-MEDICAL ALARM

5153480 09/21/2025 01:56:4018220 GULF BL-RSME 25P-PSYCHIATRIC

5155961 09/25/2025 14:15:4518211 SUNSET BLME 30-TRAUMATIC INJURIES

5156106 09/25/2025 18:21:50227 174 AVME 17-FALLS

5157895 09/29/2025 01:35:3217920 GULF BL-RS LOT 1305ME 19-HEART PROBLEMS

5158522 09/30/2025 05:56:5317920 GULF BL-RS LOT 2003ME 13-DIABETIC PROBLEMS

5158821 09/30/2025 15:47:4817735 GULF BL-RS LOT 602ME 26-SICK PERSON

5158951 09/30/2025 20:25:2918121 GULF BL-RS LOT SW SECTORME 26-SICK PERSON

Prior Calls Search Results... 19 Calls Found- WorkID: 0915861

Avg. Response: 00:04:32 -- Avg. Turnout: 00:01:04 -- Avg. ALS Response: 

00:04:09 -- Avg. BLS Response: 00:06:37 -- Avg. Involved: 00:27:32

Criteria Used

Date Range Searched: 09/01/2025 to 10/01/2025

Municipality: REDINGTON SHORES



ITEM F.1. 



Date:  October 8, 2025 

To: Board of Commissioners 

From: Margaret Carey, Town Manager 

Re: Tidal Basin Contract Extension for Permit Technicians 

The current Tidal Basin Contract expires October 6, 2025. The amended contract is attached for 
you review. 

The contract will be extended for 1 additional month to November 8, 2025. 

The town’s new building department services company, C.A.P., will officially take over on 
Wednesday, November 12 so we will no longer need supplemental permit technicians. The 
current Tidal Basin permit technicians will complete their assignments on Friday, November 7. 



2nd Amendment to Professional Services Agreement 

126 Business Park Drive | Utica, NY 13502 

Second Amendment to Professional Services Agreement 

This Second Amendment to Professional Services Agreement (“Amendment”) is effective October 6, 
2025, by and between the Town of Redington Shores (“Client”) and Tidal Basin Government Consulting, 
LLC (“Consultant”). Client and Consultant are sometimes referred to herein individually as a “Party” 
and collectively as “Parties”. 

WHEREAS, Client and Consultant entered into a Professional Services Agreement dated April 
9, 2025 (“Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Agreement to extend the term; and  

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Agreement to increase the not-to-exceed amount. 

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Agreement as provided herein. 

THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises set forth in this 
Amendment and for such other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 
are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 

I. Article 1. Term & Applicability, is hereby amended as follows:

The Agreement’s current expiration date is October 6, 2025.  The term of the Agreement is
hereby extended through November 8, 2025.

II. Article 6. Fee For Services, is hereby amended as follows:

The current not-to-exceed amount is $441,640.00 and shall be increased by $42,500.00
bringing the new total not-to-exceed amount to $484,140.00.

III. Exhibit B, Fee Structure, shall be replaced in its entirety with the fee structure attached
hereafter.

IV. Except as amended herein, all of the terms and conditions of the Agreement remain in full
force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be executed by 
their duly authorized officers or representatives.  



2nd Amendment to Professional Services Agreement 

126 Business Park Drive | Utica, NY 13502 

Town of Redington Shores      Tidal Basin Government Consulting, LLC 

By: ________________________________ 

Name:  _____________________________ 

Title:  ______________________________ 

Date:  ______________________________ 

By: _________________________________ 

Name:  ______________________________ 

Title:  _______________________________ 

Date:  _______________________________ 



 
2nd Amendment to Professional Services Agreement 

 
 

 
 

126 Business Park Drive | Utica, NY 13502 
 

 
Exhibit B – Fee Structure 

 
Position  Hourly Rate  Overtime Rate  

Permits Staff $155.00 $232.50 
Total NTE $484,140.00 

 



 
2nd Amendment to Professional Services Agreement 

 
 

 
 

126 Business Park Drive | Utica, NY 13502 
 

Second Amendment to Professional Services Agreement 
 
This Second Amendment to Professional Services Agreement (“Amendment”) is effective October 6, 
2025, by and between the Town of Redington Shores (“Client”) and Tidal Basin Government Consulting, 
LLC (“Consultant”). Client and Consultant are sometimes referred to herein individually as a “Party” 
and collectively as “Parties”. 
 
 WHEREAS, Client and Consultant entered into a Professional Services Agreement dated April 
9, 2025 (“Agreement”); 
  
 WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Agreement to extend the term; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Agreement to increase the not-to-exceed amount. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Agreement as provided herein. 
 
 THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises set forth in this 
Amendment and for such other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 
are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 
 

I. Article 1. Term & Applicability, is hereby amended as follows: 
 
The Agreement’s current expiration date is October 6, 2025.  The term of the Agreement is 
hereby extended through November 8, 2025. 
 

II. Article 6. Fee For Services, is hereby amended as follows: 
 
The current not-to-exceed amount is $441,640.00 and shall be increased by $42,500.00 
bringing the new total not-to-exceed amount to $484,140.00.  
 

III. Exhibit B, Fee Structure, shall be replaced in its entirety with the fee structure attached 
hereafter.  
 

IV. Except as amended herein, all of the terms and conditions of the Agreement remain in full 
force and effect. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be executed by 

their duly authorized officers or representatives.  
 
 
 
 



 
2nd Amendment to Professional Services Agreement 

 
 

 
 

126 Business Park Drive | Utica, NY 13502 
 

Town of Redington Shores          Tidal Basin Government Consulting, LLC 
 
By: ________________________________  
 
Name:  _____________________________  
 
Title:  ______________________________  
 
Date:  ______________________________  

 
By: _________________________________ 
 
Name:  ______________________________ 
 
Title:  _______________________________ 
 
Date:  _______________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
2nd Amendment to Professional Services Agreement 

 
 

 
 

126 Business Park Drive | Utica, NY 13502 
 

 
Exhibit B – Fee Structure 

 
Position  Hourly Rate  Overtime Rate  

Permits Staff $155.00 $232.50 
Total NTE $484,140.00 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM G.1. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:    October 8, 2025 

To:  Board of Commissioners 

From:  Margaret Carey, Town Manager 

Re:  Ordinance 2025-05 Land Development Code Revision – 1st Reading 

 

Attached please find the Ordinance containing the update to Ch. 90 and documents explaining 

the changes to the Land Development Code (LDC). Please note that this has been reviewed by 

the Planning and Zoning Board.  



ORDINANCE NO. 2025-05 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF REDINGTON SHORES, FLORIDA, 

REVISING CHAPTER 90 OF THE TOWN CODE (THE LAND 

DEVELOPMENT CODE) TO REMOVE OR REVISE OUTDATED, 

CONFLICTING, INCONSISTENT OR UNCLEAR PROVISIONS, TO 

PROVIDE FOR CONSISTENCY WITH CURRENT FLORIDA STATUTES, 

TO UPDATE SIGN REGULATIONS CONSISTENT WITH FEDERAL 

COURT RULINGS, TO ADDRESS LOSS MITIGATION AND 

RESILIENCY, AND TO CREATE BETTER ORGANIZATIONAL 

STRUCTURE; MAKING RELATED FINDINGS; PROVIDING FOR 

CODIFICATION, SEVERABILITY, AND FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 

 WHEREAS, Chapter 90 of the Redington Shores Town Code constitutes the Land 

Development Code (LDC); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the current LDC was adopted on October 27, 1981, by Ordinance No. 81-10 

(Appendix A of the 1977 Code), and last substantially revised on December 12, 2007, by Ordinance 

No. 07-06; and 

 

 WHEREAS, in the ensuing years, developments in Florida law and in land planning practices 

have occurred but the LDC was not regularly reviewed and updated to incorporate those changes; and 

 

 WHEREAS, in 2015 the United States Supreme Court issued its opinion in Reed v. Town 

of Gilbert which necessitates revisions to the Town’s sign regulations; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town Planner and Town Attorney have identified a variety of revisions 

to language or terms in the LDC which would remove, revise or clarify existing language or terms 

which may be outdated, unclear, or inconsistent or in conflict with other language or terms in the 

LDC; and 

 

 WHEREAS, in the aftermath of Hurricane Helene and Hurricane Milton the Town seeks 

to add language to assist residents with loss mitigation and resiliency of structures in the RS-7 and 

RS-15 zoning districts by increasing the minimum lot coverage thereby allowing property owners 

to use more of the lot when building structures; and  

 

 WHEREAS, in its role as the Town’s Land Planning Agency, the Town’s Planning and 

Zoning Board has reviewed the revisions set forth in this Ordinance and has provided its advice, 

comments and recommendations to the Commission; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Commission finds that it is in the best interest of the Town, its 

residents, and property owners, to approve the provisions set forth in this Ordinance. 

 



 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Commissioners of the Town 

of Redington Shores, Florida, that: 

 

  Section 1. Chapter 90 of the Redington Shores Town Code is hereby amended to read 

as set forth in Attachment “A” to this Ordinance. 

Section 2. For purposes of codification of any existing section of the Redington Shores 

Code herein amended, words underlined represent additions to original text, words stricken are 

deletions from the original text, and words neither underlined nor stricken remain unchanged. 

Section 3. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, provision or word of this 

Ordinance is held unconstitutional or otherwise legally invalid, same shall be severable and the 

remainder of this Ordinance shall not be affected by such invalidity, such that any remainder of 

the Ordinance shall withstand any severed provision, as the Board of Commissioners would have 

adopted the Ordinance and its regulatory scheme even absent the invalid part. 

 Section 4. The Codifier shall codify the substantive amendments to the Redington 

Shores Code contained in Section 1 of this Ordinance as provided for therein, and shall not codify 

the exordial clauses nor any other sections not designated for codification. 

 Section 5. Pursuant to Florida Statutes § 166.041(5), this Ordinance shall take effect 

immediately upon adoption. 

 

 

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

[SIGNATURES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE] 

  



ADOPTED ON FIRST READING on the ____ day of _________________, 2025, by 

the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Redington Shores, Florida. 

 

ADOPTED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING on the ____ day of 

_______________, 2025, by the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Redington Shores, 

Florida. 

Attest:   

_____________________________ 

       Tom Kapper, Mayor 

 

___________________________ 

Melissa Fultz, Town Clerk 

  



ATTACHMENT “A” 

 

Chapter 90 LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

ARTICLES I – XX. RESERVED 

 

PART 1. SUBDIVISION OF LAND1 GENERAL PROVISIONS 

ARTICLE XXI. GENERAL PROVISIONS DEFINITIONS 

Sec. 90-71. Definitions Word usage; terms defined. 

For the purposes of this part 1, the following words shall have the meanings indicated unless 

their content clearly requires otherwise:  

For the purpose of this chapter, certain terms and words are hereby defined. Words used in 

the present tense shall include the future; the singular number shall include the plural and the plural 

the singular; the word “building” includes the word “premises”; and the word “shall” is mandatory 

and not directory. Said definitions are as follows: 

Abandon—To discontinue a use for more than 90 consecutive days.  

Acceptance of or accepted application for development – An application for development 

contains sufficient information, pursuant to existing regulations, to allow continuing review under 

this division or other regulatory ordinances.  

Accessory use or structure—A use or a structure (attached or detached) subordinate to the 

principal use or building on the same lot and serving a purpose customarily incidental to the use 

of the principal building. For floodplain management purposes, the term includes only accessory 

structures used for parking and storage.  

Acreage, gross— That total land area within the property boundaries of the subject parcel.  

Acreage, net—That total land area within the property boundaries of the subject parcel, 

exclusive of submerged lands and public rights-of-way.  

Advertising—Any commercial sign copy intended to aid, directly or indirectly, in the sale, use 

or promotion of a product, commodity, service, sales event, activity, entertainment, or real or 

personal property.  

Alignment – The configuration of the building facades cooperating to define open space in 

much the same way as walls define a room. 

 

 

 



 

 

Alley—A through public right-of-way of less than minimum required street width which 

affords only a secondary means of access to abutting property.  

Alteration—Any change, rearrangement, enlargement, extension or reduction of any structure 

or part thereof on the same site.  

Antenna – Any exterior apparatus designed for telephonic, radio or television 

communications, through the sending or receiving of electromagnetic waves. 

Apartment house—See "dwelling unit, multiple."  

Appeal – A request for a review of the building or other town official’s interpretation of any 

provision of this chapter.  

Application for development – Any documentation which contains a specific plan for 

development, including the densities and intensities of development, where applicable, that is 

presented by any person for the purpose of obtaining a development order or development permit.  

Approved final site plan – Any site development plan that has been accepted, reviewed, and 

approved by the town.  

Approved plans—Plans and specifications which have met with the approval of the building 

inspector, the town building code and any ordinance and amendments thereto.  

Arcade – A series or arches linked together, usually as an element of a building and covering 

a sidewalk. 

Arcade frontage – Certain lines designed for arcades on the ground story. The arcade length 

is measured as the distance along the building façade. The depth is measured back from the 

building façade. The height is measured from the sidewalk to the ceiling of the arcade. 

Architectural detail or embellishment – Any projection, relief, change of material, window or 

door opening, exterior lighting, inlay, or other exterior building features not specifically classified 

as a sign. The term includes, but is not limited to, relief or inlay features or patterns that distinguish 

window or door openings, exterior lighting that frames building features, and changes in façade 

materials to create an architectural effect.  

Artwork – A two-or three-dimensional representation of a creative idea that is expressed in 

an art form but does not convey the name of the business or a commercial message. All outdoor 

artwork shall conform to any applicable building code and safety standards.  

Awning – Any secondary covering attached to the exterior wall of a building. It is typically 

composed of canvas woven of acrylic, cotton or polyester yarn, or vinyl laminated to polyester 

fabric that is stretched tightly over a light structure or aluminum, iron or steel, or wood.  

Back building – An ancillary segment of a building extending from a principal building into 

a rear yard. A back building may connect the main building to an outbuilding.  

Balcony – An unenclosed, habitable structure, usually cantilevered from a façade or an 

elevation, providing private outdoor space to a dwelling.  

Bands of windows – A horizontal series of three windows or more, separated only by mullions, 

that forms a horizontal band across the façade of a building.  

Bays – Openings formed by the supports of the arcade or colonnade. 



 

 

Beach—All lands fronting on the Gulf of Mexico seaward of the coastal construction control 

line, as established by the Florida Department of Natural Resources.  

Build-to-line – A line appearing graphically on the site development plan and/or stated as a 

setback dimension, along which a building façade must be placed.  

Building—Any habitable structure having a roof supported by columns or walls designed or 

built for the support, enclosure, shelter or protection of persons, animal, chattels or property of any 

kind.  

Building, height of—The vertical distance from the design flood elevation to the highest point 

of the eave of a flat roof or to the deck line of a mansard roof or to the average height of the highest 

gable of a pitch or hip roof.  

Building design element – The external building color; the type or style of exterior cladding 

material; the style or material of roof structures or porches; the exterior nonstructural architectural 

ornamentation; the location or architectural styling of windows or doors; the location or orientation 

of the garage; the number and type of rooms; and the interior layout of rooms. The term does not 

include the height, bulk, orientation, or location of a dwelling on a lot; or the use of buffering or 

screening to minimize potential adverse physical or visual impacts or to protect the privacy of 

neighbors. 

Building official – The officer or other designated authority charged with the administration 

and 90-237 of the Florida Building Codes or town code.    

Business establishment – Any individual person, nonprofit organization, partnership, 

corporation, other organization or legal entity holding a valid Town occupational license and/or 

occupying distinct and separate physical space and located in a business activity zoning district.  

Canopy – An overhead roof or structure that is able to provide shade or shelter.  

Canopy tree – A large-scale deciduous or evergreen shade tree used as part of streetscape 

plantings to define space, buildings, and shade sidewalks.  

Cap – A horizontal cross member at the top of a window frame in semicircles, arches, or 

triangular shapes.  

Carport/covered parking areas—A roofed structure open at two or more sides, either attached 

to or apart from the main structure on a lot, and used to park and shelter motor-driven vehicles.  

Certificate of concurrency – The certificates issued by the town upon finding that an 

application for a development permit will not result in the reduction of the level of service 

standards set forth in the comprehensive plan for public facilities and services.  

Certificate of occupancy—A certificate issued by the town for all residential dwellings and 

commercial and nonprofit establishments identifying the legal use of the property and any 

limitations thereto as established by ordinance or administrative procedure.  

Character – Any symbol, mark, logo, or inscription.  

Chickee huts – A hut built on stilts, with open sides and a thatched roof of palm fronds, that 

does not incorporate any electrical, plumbing or other non-wood features, and is constructed 

exclusively by either the Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Florida or the Seminole Tribe of Florida.  



 

 

Coastal construction control line – The line established by the State of Florida pursuant F.S. 

§ 161.053, and recorded in the official records of the community, which defines that portion of the 

beach-dune system subject to severe fluctuations based on a 100-year storm surge, storm waves or 

other predictable weather conditions.  

Coastal high hazard area – A special flood hazard area extending from offshore to the inland 

limit of a primary frontal dune along an open coast and other area subject to high velocity wave 

action from storms or seismic sources. Coastal high hazard areas are also referred to as “high 

hazard areas subject to high velocity wave action” or “V Zones” and are designated on Flood 

Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM) as Zone V1-V30, VE, or V. For purposes of consistency with 

Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, and the Countywide Rules of Pinellas County, the Coastal High 

Hazard Area shall mean the area below the elevation of the Category 1 storm surge line as 

established by a Sea, Lake, and Overland Surges from Hurricanes (SLOSH) computerized storm 

surge model.  

Colonnade – A series of columns similar to an arcade but spanned by straight lintels instead 

of arches (see “gallery”).  

Color – Any distinct tint, hue or shade including white, black or gray. 

Commercial mascot – Humans or animals used as advertising devices for commercial 

establishments, typically by the holding of a separate sign or wearing of insignia, masks or 

costumes associated with the commercial establishment. The definition includes sign twirlers, sign 

clowns, etc.  

Commercial/nonresidential (C-NR)—All commercial uses permitted in any district, but 

excluding dwellings, transient accommodations, and any other use which provides overnight 

sleeping accommodations.  

Commercial message – Any sign wording, logo, or other representation or image that directly 

or indirectly names, advertises, or calls attention to a product, service, sale or sales event or other 

commercial activity.  

Commercial uses—All business uses listed in the general commercial (C-NR) zoning district, 

and those residential uses that are transient and multifamily greater than three units.  

Community services laundry—A building or portion of a building equipped with washing 

machines, drying and ironing machines, electric irons and other equipment and supplies used in 

the washing, drying and ironing of clothes, which are to be rented and used on the premises by the 

customer to launder his or her own washing.  

Comprehensive plan – The Comprehensive Plan adopted by Ordinance No. 89-11 on 

September 12, 1989, by the Board of Commissioners pursuant to F.S. pt. II, ch. 163, as said plan 

may be amended from time to time.  

Concurrency – That the necessary public facilities and services to maintain the adopted level 

of service standards are available when the impacts of development occur.  

Concurrency management monitoring system – The procedures and processes utilized by the 

town to determine that development permits, when issued, will not result in the reduction of the 

level of service standards set forth in the Comprehensive Plan for the town.  



 

 

Condo-hotel—A hotel comprised of units that are owned by an individual, corporation or any 

other legal entity, having mandatory membership of all units in the structure into an association 

comprised of all owners of all units within the same development. All units must be made available 

for guest rental on a daily, weekly or monthly basis. Each unit is part of a larger complex of 

similarly situated units and is not to be used as a time-share or fractional interest. In addition, in 

order for a structure to be considered as a condo-hotel, it must be used in accordance with the 

provisions of section 90-166 G. and applicable state laws, as amended.  

Configuration, building – The three-dimensional form of a building, including the form and 

materials of roofs, walls, openings, and other elements.  

Copy – The linguistic or graphic content of a sign.  

Cornice – Any crowning projection.  

Court—An open area or yard bounded on two or more sides by structural walls of a residential 

use building.  

Crosswalk – The axis of pedestrians crossing a thoroughfare. The crosswalk typically to 

connect sidewalks at the corners of blocks.  

Crown – The main mass of branching of a plant above the ground.  

Currently available revenue sources – An existing source and amount of revenue available 

to the town. 

DBH – The diameter at breast height. “Breast height” is defined to be 54 inches above the 

surface of the ground at the base of the plant or tree. In the case of a tree with multiple main stems, 

the diameter shall be the sum of the diameters of the stems.  

Decoration – Any decoration visible from a public area that does not include lettering or text 

and is not displayed for commercial advertising.  

Deficient facility – A road operating at peak hour level of service E or F, and/or a volume-to-

capacity (v/c) ratio of 0.9 or higher with no mitigating improvements scheduled within three years.  

Density—The measure of permitted development expressed as a maximum number of 

dwelling, hotel, motel, lodging house or ttransient accommodation units per gross acre of land 

area.  

Design flood - The flood associated with the greater of the following two areas: [Also defined 

in FBC, B, §1612.21] 

(1) Area with a floodplain subject to a 1-percent or greater chance of flooding in any year; 

or 

(2) Area designated as a flood hazard on the community’s flood hazard map, or otherwise 

legally designated.  

Detached single-family house – A freestanding building, designed for or occupied exclusively 

by one family.  

Development – Any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, including, but 

not limited to, buildings or other structures, tanks, temporary structures, temporary or permanent 

storage of equipment or materials, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavations, drilling 

operations or any other land disturbing activities. 



 

 

Development permit – Any approved final site plan, building permit, zoning clearance, 

rezoning, special exception, variance, conditional use, or any other official action of the town 

having the effect of permitting the development of land.  

Diagonal parking – A pattern of parking where the vehicle is stored at an angle to the curb 

line. 

District, zoning—Any section of the town for which the regulations governing the use of 

building and premises or the height and area of buildings are uniform.  

Door, entry – A primary entrance that provides security at the main building entry point.   

Drip line – The outermost perimeter of the crown of a plant as projected vertically to the 

ground. See Figure  

1-A. 

 

Drive-in restaurant or refreshment stand – Any place or premises where provision is made 

on the premises for the selling, dispensing, or serving of food, refreshments, or beverages in 

automobiles and/or in other than a completely enclosed building on the premises, including those 

establishments where customers may serve themselves and may eat or drink the food, 



 

 

refreshments, or beverages in automobiles on the premises and/or in other than a completely 

enclosed building on the premises. A restaurant which provides drive-in facilities of any kind in 

connection with regular restaurant activities shall be deemed a drive-in restaurant for purposes of 

these zoning regulations. A barbecue stand or pit having the characteristics noted in this definition 

shall be deemed a drive-in restaurant.  

Driveway – A vehicular accessway within a private lot connecting a lot to a thoroughfare.  

Dwelling, duplex—A building designed to contain two dwelling units on a single lot under a 

single roof.  

Dwelling, duplex townhouse—A one-family dwelling attached to one other one-family 

dwelling by a common vertical wall, with each dwelling located on a separate lot. The minimum 

lot size shall not be less than 2,520 square feet.  

Dwelling, multifamily – A dwelling where three or more dwelling units are contained in one 

structure on a single lot or parcel and attached by common vertical walls.  

Dwelling, single-family attached – A one-family dwelling on a single lot attached to two or 

more one-family dwellings that are on single lots attached by common vertical walls.  

Dwelling, townhouse—A one-family dwelling attached in a series by common walls to at least 

two other one-family dwellings, with each dwelling located on a separate lot. Each townhouse 

must provide direct means of access from the outside. Furthermore, each dwelling unit shall be 

provided with cooking, sleeping and sanitary facilities for the use of each family or household of 

the townhouse. For the purpose of this chapter, a townhouse shall be a residential dwelling owned 

in fee simple.  

Dwelling unit—Any building or portion thereof which is designed or used exclusively for 

residential purposes. Each dwelling unit shall contain kitchen, bath and living areas designed or 

designated for the use of a single individual or family.  

Dwelling unit, multiple—One structure containing three or more dwelling units on a single 

lot.  

Dwelling unit, single-family  - A building designed for or occupied exclusively by one family.  

Easement, subsurface—A grant by a property owner to another party of the use of the 

subsurface of his or her land for a specific purpose, such as for a conduit or pipe.  

Easement, surface—A grant by a property owner of the use of the surface of his or her land 

to another party for a specific purpose.  

Eave - The junction of the wall of a building and an overhanging roof.  

Erect – To construct, build, raise, assemble, place, affix, attach, create, paint, draw or in any 

way bring into being or establish but it does not include any of the foregoing activities when 

performed as an incident to the change of advertising message or customary maintenance or repair 

of a sign.  

FAA – The Federal Aviation Administration. 

Family—A group of one or more persons occupying a dwelling unit and living as a single 

housekeeping unit, as distinguished from a group occupying a lodging house or hotel, as herein 

defined.  



 

 

Façade – The exterior wall of a building exposed to public view or that wall viewed by 

persons not within the building.  

Façade, primary – The exterior wall of a building exposed to public view usually set parallel 

to a frontage line.  

FCC – The Federal Communications Commission.  

Fence – An artificially constructed barrier of any material or combination of materials erected 

to enclose or screen areas of land.  

Fenestration – The arrangement, proportioning, and design of windows and doors in a 

building.  

Filling station—Any building or premises used solely or principally for the storing, 

dispensing, sale or offering for sale at retail of any vehicular or marine motor fuel or heating oil or 

propane.  

Final local development order – A building permit issued on or after April 1, 1990. 

Flagpole – A pole on which to raise a flag. A flagpole is not a pole sign.  

Flood or flooding – A general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of 

normally dry land from: [Also defined in FBC, B, § 1612.2.] 

(1) The overflow of inland or tidal waters. 

(2) The unusual and rapid accumulation or runoff of surface waters from any source.  

Flood hazard area – The greater of the following two areas: [Also defined in FBC, B, §  

1612.2.] 

(1) The area within a floodplain subject to a 1-percent or greater chance of flooding in any 

year. 

(2) The area designated as a flood hazard area on the community’s flood hazard map, or 

otherwise legally designated.  

Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) – The official map of the community on which the Federal 

Emergency Management Agency has delineated both special flood hazard areas and the risk 

premium zones applicable to the community. [Also defined in FBC, B, § 1612.2.] 

Floodplain – Any normally dry land area that is susceptible to being inundated by waters of 

the one-percent annual chance flood, i.e., the one-hundred-year flood.  

Floor area—The sum of the total area of all floors of a building.  

Floor area ratio (FAR)—A ratio of square footage of gross floor area divided by the net 

square footage of land area, as applied to nonresidential uses. A building’s floor area ratio does 

not include parking, garages, exterior stairs, or exterior balconies.  

Floors—See "story."  

Florida Building Code – The family of codes adopted by the Florida Building Commission, 

including: Florida Building Code, Building; Florida Building Code, Residential; Florida Building 

Code, Existing Building; Florida Building Code, Mechanical; Florida Building Code, Plumbing; 

Florida Building Code, Fuel Gas. 



 

 

Foot-candle – A unit of measure of luminosity of a surface that is everywhere one foot from 

a uniform point source of light of one candle and equal to one lumen per square foot.  

Footlambert – The centimeter gram second unit of brightness equal to the brightness of a 

perfectly diffused surface that radiates or reflects one lumen per square centimeter.  

Frontage lot – That portion of a lot, between the façade and the lot line, that fronts onto a 

public open space or a thoroughfare.  

Frontage, street—That portion of a plot of real estate abutting a public or private vehicular 

thoroughfare.  

Frontage, water—That portion of a plot of real estate abutting the Gulf of Mexico, Boca Ciega 

Bay or any related waterways.  

Frontage width – The measure of the lot line that coincides with the right-of-way of a 

thoroughfare. In a corner condition, a frontage width is measured at the more important of the two 

thoroughfares.  

Gable – The orientation of a pitched roof that shows the vertical, triangular side rather than 

the sloped. 

Gallery – A roofed promenade where the columns are set at regular intervals.  

Garage, commercial parking—A building or portion thereof used for parking motor-driven 

vehicles owned by persons not residing on the same premises.  

Garage, condominium or apartment parking—A structure accessory to a duplex or multiple 

dwelling used for parking motor-driven vehicles owned by persons residing on the same premises.  

Garage door ratio – The vertical surface area of the garage (the doors and their surroundings) 

relative to the rest of the façade.  

Garage, private parking—A building accessory to a single-family dwelling, designed or used 

for parking of not more than three motor-driven vehicles owned and used by the occupants of the 

dwelling to which it is accessory.  

Garage, public—A building or portion thereof designed or used for servicing, repairing, 

equipping, hiring, selling or daily storage of motor-driven vehicles.  

Garage, storage—A building or portion thereof designed exclusively for long-term storage 

of motor-driven vehicles.  

Gate – An exterior door connecting one outdoor space within another. 

Grade—For the purpose of regulating height of structures, excluding buildings the legal 

established grade shall be the highest point of that portion of any street bounding the land to be 

filled, altered or built upon.  

Green - A public open space available for unstructured recreation.  

Ground level – The average grade within a 25-foot radius of the sign base on a parcel of land, 

exclusive of any filling, berming, mounding or excavating solely for the purpose of locating a sign. 

Ground level on marine docks or floating structures shall be the average grade of the landward 

portion of the adjoining parcel.  

Grubbing – The effective removal of vegetation, other than defined trees, from the site.  



 

 

Gross floor area—See "floor area."  

Gross land area—For the purpose of computing density/intensity, that total land area within 

the property boundaries of the subject parcel. 

Head-in parking – A pattern of parking where the vehicle is stored at a ninety-degree angle 

to the curb line.  

Hedge – A dense row of shrubs or bushes forming a boundary. 

Height—The vertical distance between the design flood elevation to midpoint of a pitched 

roof or to the deck line of a mansard roof over highest floors, or the top of a flat roof if no rooftop 

structures other than mechanical equipment exist; or if half-story is being measured, the vertical 

distance between grade to the midpoint of the half-story. To avoid discouraging pitched roofs, the 

designated maximum building height in the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District shall be measured to 

the eave, and not the ridge of the roof.  

Historic structure – Any structure that is determined eligible for the exception to the flood 

hazard area requirements of the Florida Building Code, Existing Building, Chapter 12 Historic 

Buildings.  

Home based business—Any business or professional operation in or from a dwelling by a 

member or members of a family residing in said dwelling.  

Hotel and motel unit—Each room or suite with bath facilities which can be or is ever rented 

as a separate rental unit shall be deemed to be a "hotel or motel unit." The minimum square foot 

area for hotel and motel units is 200 square feet.  

Hotels and motels—Commercial enterprises offering rooms or suites for rent, holding a valid 

business tax receipt as a hotel or motel and operating under the jurisdiction of the State Department 

of Business Regulation, Division of Hotels and Restaurants.  

Impervious surface—A surface that has been compacted or covered with a layer of material 

so that it is highly resistant to or prevents infiltration by stormwater. It includes lime rock or clay 

as well as most conventionally surfaced streets, roofs, sidewalks, parking lots and other similar 

surfaces.  

Impervious surface ratio (ISR)—A measure of the intensity of hard-surfaced development on 

a site. An impervious surface ratio is the relationship between the total impervious surface area on 

a site and the net land area. The ISR is calculated by dividing the square footage of the area of all 

impervious surfaces on the site by the square footage of the net land area.  

Kennel—Any of the conditions listed shall constitute a kennel for the purpose of this chapter: 

the maintenance of more than four adult dogs and/or cats over six months in age; the maintenance 

of more than one brood bitch maintained for active breeding; the production of more than two 

litters annually.  

Land – “land” including “water”, “marsh”, or “swamp”. 

Land-clearing stage – A stage in the construction process in which trees and/or vegetation 

are removed from the land, i.e., proposed right-of-way excavation and paving, drainage systems 

excavation, utility clearings, grubbings and prebuilding construction projects.  



 

 

Land Development Regulatory System – The coordinated system of plans (e.g., 

comprehensive plans), regulations, code provisions and related status reports (e.g., concurrency 

test statement and transportation system report) that provide standards and guidance for land 

development related activities.  

Landscape area or green space – An area or areas including beautification strips, consisting 

of those materials, such as, but not limited to, hedges, trees, planted ground cover, sodded and 

grassed areas and planted floral installations, all of which must be composed of natural plantings 

only, as distinguished from artificially manufactured planting reproductions.  

Lawn – Grassed lands controlled by mowing. A lawn is a uniform, durable groundcover 

suitable for playing fields.  

Level of service (LOS) - A measure of performance and/or of demand versus available 

capacity of public services and facilities.  

Liner building – A building conceived specifically to mask a parking lot or a parking structure 

from the frontage. 

Lintel – A supporting wood or stone beam across the top of an opening, such as that of a 

window or door.  

Live-working building – A townhouse or stand-alone structure, generally owner-occupied, 

with the first story available as commercial space. This space is controlled by the building’s owner 

and may be leased to an independent business owner.  

Livestock maintenance—The maintenance of animals other than those commonly considered 

as household pets, including fowl, grazing farm animals, including horses, and wild animals of a 

type normally found in zoos. These animals are not permitted within the town, except as may be 

specially permitted by the planning and zoning board.  

Living area—The area actually occupied, including accessory unoccupied areas such as 

corridors, stairs, closets, thickness of walls, columns, toilet room, mechanical area or other 

features.  

Lodging house—A building where lodging only is provided for compensation to three or more 

but not exceeding 20 permanent guests or tenants.  

Loft – A high-ceilinged and internally well-lit dwelling with few partitions reaching the 

ceiling.  

Loggia – An open-air room within the mass of a building, with ceiling and floors, but no wall 

on at least one side.  

Location – A lot, premises, building, wall or any place whatsoever upon which a sign is 

located.  

Lot—A parcel of subdivided real estate, improved or unimproved, platted and recorded in the 

office of the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Pinellas County.  

Lot, corner—A lot having frontage upon two or more streets at their intersection.  

Lot coverage—Includes the lot area covered by the ground floor of all principal and accessory 

uses and structures, including all areas covered by the roof of such uses and structures. Lot 

coverage shall be the maximum percent of coverage unless otherwise stated.  



 

 

Lot, depth of—The average depth measured in the mean direction of the side lines from the 

street line to the rear line.  

Lot, double frontage (through lots)—A lot having a frontage on two streets, other than at any 

intersection of those streets.  

Lot, interior—A lot other than a corner lot.  

Lot lines—The lines bounding a lot.  

Lot of record—A lot, the map of which has been recorded in the office of the Clerk of the 

Circuit Court of Pinellas County.  

Lot width—The mean width of a lot, measured at right angles to its depth.  

Maintenance – In the context of this chapter, means the repairing or repainting of a portion 

of a sign or sign structure, periodically changing changeable copy, or renewing copy, which has 

been made unusable by ordinary wear.  

Mangrove – Rooted trees and seeklings of the following species, ut only when having a 

coastal or estuarine association: 

(1) Red mangrove (Rhizophora mangle L.). 

(2) White mangrove (laguncularia racemosa Gaertn.) 

(3) Black mangrove (Avicennia germinana (L) L.) 

(4) Buttonwood mangrove (Conocarpus erecta L.). 

Marina—Any dock, pier or wall area used for the support, rental, maintenance, servicing or 

storage of more than two boats not the personal property of the proprietor.  

Market value – The price at which a property will change hands between a willing buyer and 

a willing seller, neither party being under compulsion to buy or sell and both having reasonable 

knowledge of relevant facts. As used in part 3, the terms refers to the market value of buildings 

and structures, excluding the land and other improvements on the parcel. Market value may be 

established by a qualified independent appraiser, Actual Case Value (replacement cost depreciated 

for age and quality of construction), or tax assessment value adjusted to approximate market value 

by a factor provided by the Property Appraiser.  

Marquee – Any permanent wall or roof-like structure projecting beyond a building or 

extending along and projecting beyond the wall of the building, generally designed and constructed 

to provide protection from the weather. A marquee is not an awning or canopy.  

Minimum standard of improvements—Includes a paved road, connection with a water main 

providing a supply of potable water and a connection with the municipal sewer system.  

Minor subdivision plat—A minor split of existing parcels and/or lands as specifically 

identified in section 90-162.I 90-99 G. and approved by the town administrator or designee 

building commissioner. 

Mobile billboard advertising - Any vehicle, or wheeled conveyance which carries, conveys, 

pulls, or transports any sign or billboard for the primary purpose of advertising.  

Mobility plan – The framework providing for a countywide approach to managing the traffic 

impacts of development projects and to increasing mobility for pedestrians, bicyclists, transit users 



 

 

and motor vehicles through the implementation of the Multimodal Impact Fee Ordinance and the 

transportation provisions of Article XXXIII through the site plan review process.  

Mullion – A vertical member dividing a window or opening.  

New construction – For the purposes of administration of part 3 and the flood resistant 

construction requirements of the Florida Building Code, Structures for which the “start of 

construction” commended on or after May 7, 1971, and includes any subsequent improvements to 

such structures.  

New peek hour trip – A vehicle trip added to the major road network from and to a developed 

parcel of land during the weekday peak hour. This excludes “passer-by” or “diverted” trips, 

whereby the site is accessed as a secondary trip.  

Nonconforming use—Any use of a building or structure which, at the time of the 

commencement of the use, was a permitted use in the zoning district until the effective date of the 

LDC, but which does  not, on the effective date of the LDC or amendment thereto, conform to any 

one of the current permitted uses of the zoning district in which it is located. Such nonconforming 

use may be referred to as a nonconformity.  

Offsite/off-premises commercial advertising – A non-accessory billboard or sign which 

directs attention to a business, commodity, service, entertainment, or attraction that is sold, offered 

or existing elsewhere than upon the same lot where such sign is displayed. 

Off-street parking – A parking area located within a lot, generally to the rear of a building 

frontage, masking it from the public space.  

On-street parking – A single line of parking located along the curb line of a thoroughfare, 

accessible directly from a moving lane.  

Open space—Any portion of a lot or parcel unoccupied and open to the sky.  

Ornamentation—Any illustration, pictorial or other embellishment on signs or structures 

which relates to products or services of the business or is used to attract attention for business 

purposes.  

Out building – A secondary building associated with a principal building by ownership and 

shared lot.  

Owner – Any part or joint owner, tenant in common, tenant in partnership, joint tenant or 

tenant by the entirety with legal or beneficial title to whole or part of a building or land.  

Overall height (OH) – The height, in feet, of a tree measured from the top of the root 

ball/system to the top of the uppermost foliage branches.  

Parallel parking – A pattern of parking where the vehicle is stored parallel to the curb line. 

Parallel parking permits a narrower street section and creates the most positive sidewalk 

experience of the possible patterns, but it requires a difficult driving maneuver and provides the 

lowest density of parking per linear foot of street frontage.  

Parapet – A low guarding wall at any point of sudden drop, such as the edge or a terrace, roof 

or balcony.  



 

 

Park – A large open area available for recreation, usually located at the neighborhood edge, 

and fronted by buildings. Its landscape comprises paved paths and trails, some open lawn, trees 

and open shelters, all naturalistically disposed and requiring limited maintenance.  

Parking space—An improved land surface area, enclosed or unenclosed, required for parking 

one automobile. For computation and plan review purposes, the minimum standard is 200 square 

feet per required vehicle space, excluding passageways.  

Passage – A pedestrian connector passing between buildings.  

Peak hours – In describing traffic conditions, is the 100th highest volume hour of the year in 

the predominant traffic flow direction.  

Pedestrian shed – A determinant of urban size, defined as the area described by a radius 

equaling the distance that can be covered by a five-minute or one-quarter-mile walk at an easy 

pace.  

Pedestrian way – The portion of the thoroughfare right-of-way that is dedicated to uses other 

than vehicular movement and parking. The pedestrian way includes the sidewalks, arcades, and 

planting areas of streetscapes. 

Peer-to-peer or platform entity -  Any person, service, business company, marketplace, or 

other entity that, for a fee or other consideration, provides property owners and responsible parties 

a platform or means to offer vacation rentals to transient occupants whether thorough the internet 

or other means.   

Pennant – Any pieces or series of pieces of cloth, plastic, paper or other material attached in 

a row at only one or more edges, or by one or more corners (the remainder handing loosely) to any 

wire, cord, string, rope, or similar device. The term includes, but is not limited to, string pennants, 

streamers, spinners, ribbons and tinsel.  

Person—Any person, individual, public or private corporation, firm, association, joint 

venture, partnership, municipality, government agency, political subdivision, public officer or any 

other entity whatsoever or any combination of such, jointly or severally.  

Pervious surface – Area maintained in its natural condition, or covered by a material that 

permits infiltration or percolation of water into the ground.  

Placement, building – The location of a building on its lot. Placement is determined by 

dimensional setback or build-to requirements measured from the lot boundary lines. 

Plat—A map prepared and sealed by a professional engineer or land surveyor designating 

parcel boundaries, lots, rights-of-way and easements, suitable for recording as an official public 

record.  

Playground – A small open area specifically designed and equipped for the play of small 

children. A playground is usually fenced and may include an open shelter.  

Plaza – A public space set at the intersection of important streets, set aside for civic purposes 

and/or commercial activities.  

Porch – An open-air room appended to the mass of a building with floor and roof, but no 

walls on at least two sides.  



 

 

Pre-existing use – The land use that occupied a parcel of land prior to the submittal of a 

permit/site plan application. In accordance with the Pinellas County Transportation Impact Fee 

Ordinance (TIFO), development projects are entitled to a credit equivalent to the impact fee 

assessment of any land use activity that existed on the property as of June 30, 1986, the original 

adoption date of the TIFO. The applicant must provide the necessary documentation to verify any 

pre-existing use activity not reflected in the current records of the Pinellas County Property 

Appraiser’s Office.  

Premises—An individual lot, including its building and accessory structures.  

Professional—Practitioners of healing arts and sciences, architects, engineers, lawyers, 

accountants and other occupations requiring comparable academic training, experience and public 

recognition.  

Property – The overall area represented by the outside boundaries of a parcel of land or 

development containing one or more business establishments and/or residential units.  

Property owner – The person who, or entity that, owns the property being used or occupied 

as a vacation rental. 

Protected tree – Any tree that has a DBH of more than six inches, and which is not otherwise 

exempted from this Code. For the purpose of this Code, all mangroves are hereby declared to be 

protected trees.  

Public facilities and services – The public facilities and services for which level of service 

standards have been established in the comprehensive plan: 

(1) Potable water. 

(2) Wastewater. 

(3) Solid waste. 

(4) Recreation/open space. 

(5) Stormwater management.  

Public realm (space) – Those parts of the urban fabric that are held in common, such as 

plazas, squares, parks, thoroughfares and civic buildings.  

Public/semipublic uses—Those primary and secondary uses listed under the institutional, 

transportation/utility, recreation/open space, and preservation plan categories.  

Recreational vehicle – A vehicle, including a park trailer, which is: [Defined in F.S. 

§320.01(b).] 

(1) Built on a single chassis;  

(2) Four hundred square feet or less when measured at the largest horizontal projection;  

(3) Designed to be self-propelled or permanently towable by a light-duty truck; and  

(4) Designed primarily not for use as a permanent dwelling but as temporary living quarters 

for recreational, camping, travel, or seasonal use.  



 

 

Rear lane – A vehicular accessway located to the rear of a lot providing access to parking and 

outbuildings as well as easements for utilities. Rear lanes are paved as lightly as possible, to 

driveway standards or with shell.  

Remove, removal, replanting or replacement – The act of digging up, cutting down, 

damaging, destroying, relocating, or killing any trees.  

Rental, transient—The rental of a structural unit (dwelling/hotel/ motel/lodging house) in the 

RM-15 District or in the RD-15 district to a tenant for any period of time less than one month, or 

in the RS-7 District or the RS-10 District to a tenant for any period of time less than 181 

consecutive days. As used in this definition, such term of "rental, transient" shall mean any rental 

of a dwelling unit, or any portion thereof, for less than the period of time as stated herein, and shall 

include any subletting or the use of such real property for overnight housing purposes, whether or 

not such overnight housing purposes involve consideration or remuneration specifically related to 

the housing of such tenant.  

Repair/maintenance—The repair or replacement of existing materials in a structure in a 

manner which does not result in any rearrangement, enlargement, extension or reduction of any 

structure or part thereof.  

Replat—A change in an existing plat which changes the existing boundaries of the platted lots 

for the purpose of creating more or fewer lots or to change the area and size of existing lots.  

Replat/declaration of unity of title – A change in an existing plat which changes the existing 

boundaries of the platted lots for the purpose of creating more or fewer lots or to change the area 

and size of existing lots.  

Responsible party – Shall mean the person or entity authorized by the property owner to 

obtain a certificate of use for a vacation rental, and who will be: 

(1) Responsible for ensuring compliance with all regulations related to vacation rentals; 

and  

(2) Available to respond 24 hours per day, seven days per week to an issue that arises 

relating to the vacation rental. 

The property owner may serve as responsible party.  

Restorium, rest home or nursing home—Any building and premises used for housing and 

caring for the aged, convalescents or physically unfit, except persons suffering from mental 

ailments and persons so ill as to require regular hospitalization.  

Re-subdivision – Means the further division of parcels that results in a total of three or more 

parcels.  

Retail business—The sale of goods or services directly to the general public.  

Retail frontage – Certain frontage lines designated for mandatory retail on the regulating plan. 

These building facades are subject to special adaptation for retail use at the ground story.  

Right-of-way – The area of a highway, road, street, way, parkway, electric transmission line, 

gas pipeline, water main, storm or sanitary sewer main, or other such strip of land reserved for 

public use, whether established by prescription, easement, dedication, gift, purchase, eminent 

domain or any other legal means.  

Commented [NM1]: Two definitions. Once needs to be 
selected. Planner recommends removal of second definition 
as the town does not actively administer a unity of title 
process.  



 

 

Roof – That element of a building that covers the top of a building, as the walls cover the 

sides.  

Roofline – Either the edge of the roof or the top of the parapet, whichever forms the top line 

of the building silhouette and, where a building has several roof levels, this roof or parapet shall 

be the one belonging to that portion of the building on whose wall the sign is located.  

Roof overhang – The overhead cantilever of an architectural element beyond the building 

wall.  

Roof slope – The angle of the roof, usually stated as a ratio of the vertical to the horizontal 

(e.g., “4:12” that is, a four-foot vertical rise across each twelve-foot horizontal run).  

Satellite antenna—Any spherical, parabolic or dish-like antenna structure used for receiving 

television or other signals from orbiting satellites or other devices. The height of the antenna is the 

maximum elevation of the top of the structure above grade to which the antenna is capable of being 

raised. A satellite antenna shall be considered as an accessory structure unless it is an integral part 

of a public utility (e.g., telephone system).  

Seawalls—Any hardening of the shore by the installation of a vertical wall where such 

structure is toed in within the waters of the town, county or state. This definition specifically 

excludes upland retaining walls located outside the waters of the town, county or state.  

Setback—Minimum distances specified between the nearest vertical wall of any construction 

on a lot and any of the lot boundaries or seawalls.  

Shared parking – The policy wherein day/night and weekday/weekend schedules of two or 

more uses allow the parking to be shared by more than one use or building.  

Shrub – A low-growing perennial, woody or evergreen plant with persistent stem. 

Sign— Means any device, fixture, placard or structure, including its component parts, which 

draws attention to an object, product, place, activity, opinion, person, institution, organization, or 

place of business or which identifies or promotes the interests of any person and which is to be 

viewed from any public street, road, highway, right-of-way or parking area. For the purposes of 

this chapter, the term Sign shall include all structural members. A sign shall be constructed to be 

a display surface or device containing organized and related elements composed to form a single 

unit. In cases where matter is displayed in a random or unconnected manner without organized 

relationship of the components, each component shall be considered to be a single sign. The term 

Sign for purposes of this chapter shall not include the following objects: 

(1) Decorative or structural architectural features of building (not including lettering, 

trademarks or moving parts);  

(2) Symbols of noncommercial organizations or concepts including, but not limited to, 

religious or political symbols, when such are permanently embedded or integrated into 

the structure of a  permanent building which is otherwise legal;  

(3) Items or devices of personal apparel, decoration or appearance, including tattoos, 

makeup, costumes (but not including commercial mascots); 

(4) Manufacturer’s or seller’s marks on machinery or equipment visible from a public area;  

(5) The display or use of fire, fireworks or candles;  



 

 

(6) Motor vehicle or vessel license plates or registration insignia;  

(7) Gravestones and cemetery markers visible from a public area;  

(8) News racks and newsstands;  

(9) Artwork that does not constitute advertising visible from a public area;  

(10) Decorations that do not constitute advertising visible from a public area; 

(11) Vending machines or express mail drop-off boxes visible from a public area.  

Sign, abandoned or discontinued – A sign or sign structure is considered abandoned or 

discontinued when its owner fails to operate or maintain a sign for a period of at least 90 days. The 

following conditions shall be considered as the failure to operate or maintain a sign: 

(1) A sign displaying advertising for a product or service which is no longer available or 

displaying advertising for a business which is no longer licensed, or  

(2) A sign which is blank. This definition includes signs on which is advertised a business 

that is no longer licensed, no longer has a certificate of occupancy, or is no longer doing 

business at that location or any other sign for any purpose for which the purpose has 

lapsed. If the sign is a conforming sign in compliance with building codes and all other 

applicable Town Ordinances, then only the sign face will be considered abandoned.  

Sign, animated—A sign which includes action, motion, or color changes, or the optical 

illusion of action, motion, or color changes, including signs using electronic ink, signs set in 

motion by movement of the atmosphere, or made up of a series of sections that turn, including any 

type of screen using animated or scrolling displays, such as an LED (light emitting diode) screen 

or any other type of video display.  

Sign, area – The square foot area within a continuous perimeter enclosing the extreme limits 

of the sign display, including any frame or border. Curved, spherical, or any other shaped sign face 

shall be computed on the basis of the actual surface area. In the case of painted wall signs composed 

of letters, shapes, or figures, or skeleton letters mounted without a border, the sign area shall be 

the area of the smallest rectangle or other geometric figure that would enclose all of the letters, 

shapes and figures. The calculation for a double-faced sign shall be the area of one face only. 

Double-faced signs shall be so constructed that the perimeter of both faces coincide and are parallel 

and not more than 24 inches apart.  

Sign, attached – Any sign attached to, on, or supported by any part of a building (e.g., walls, 

awning, windows, or canopy) which encloses or covers useable space.  

Sign, awning – Any sign that is a part of or printed, stamped, stitched or otherwise applied 

onto a protective awning, canopy, or other fabric, plastic, or structural protective cover over a door, 

entrance, window, or outdoor service area. A marquee is not a canopy.  

Sign, banner—Any sign having characters, letters, illustrations or ornamentation applied to 

cloth, paper or sheeting of any kind hanging freely, not attached to solid backing or framing.  

Sign, beacon – A stationary or revolving light which flashes or projects illumination, single 

color or multicolored, in any manner which has the effect of attracting or diverting attention, 

except, however, this term does not include any kind of lighting device which is required or 

necessary under the safety regulations of the Federal Aviation Administration or other similar 



 

 

governmental agency. This definition does not apply to any similar type of lighting device 

contained entirely within a structure which does not project light to the exterior of the structure.  

Sign, bench/bus shelter – A bench or bus shelter upon which a sign is drawn, painted, printed, 

or otherwise affixed thereto.  

Sign, billboard—An advertising sign or other commercial sign which directs attention to a 

business, commodity, service, entertainment, or attraction sold, produced, offered or furnished at 

a place other than upon the same lot where such sign is displayed.  

Sign, bus stop informational – A freestanding or attached noncommercial government sign 

erected by a public transit agency, which is located at an official bus stop and providing 

information as to the route, hours or times of service.  

Sign, cabinet – A sign that contains all the text and/or logo symbols within a single enclosed 

cabinet and may or may not be illuminated.  

Sign, damaged – A sign missing more than ten percent of one or more sides of a sign face.  

Sign, double-faced – A sign which has two display surfaces backed against the same 

background, one face of which is designed to be seen from one direction and the other from the 

opposite direction, every point on which face being either in contact with the other face or in 

contact with the same background.  

Sign, drive-through lane – A sign oriented to vehicles utilizing a drive-through lane at an 

establishment.  

Sign, electric message – An electronically activated changeable copy sign whose variable 

message capability can be electronically programmed.  

Sign, feather or flutter – A sign extending in a sleeve-like fashion down a telescoping or fixed 

pole that is mounted in the ground or on a building or stand. A feather sign or flutter sign is usually 

shaped like a sail or feather, and attached to the pole support on one vertical side.  

Sign, fixed aerial advertising – Any aerial advertising medium that is tethered to, or controlled 

from the ground. 

Sign, flag – A temporary sign consisting of a piece of cloth, fabric or other non-rigid material.  

Sign, flashing – Any illuminated sign on which the artificial source of light is not maintained 

stationary or constant in intensity and color at all times when such sign is illuminated. For the 

purposes of this definition, any moving illuminated sign affected by intermittent lighting shall be 

deemed a flashing sign.  

Sign, free-standing (ground) – A detached sign which shall include any signs supported by 

uprights or braces placed upon or in or supported by the ground and not attached to any building. 

A free-standing (ground) sign may be a pole sign or a monument sign.  

Sign, government – Any temporary or permanent sign erected by or on the order of a public 

official or quasi-public entity at the federal, state or local government level in the performance of 

any duty including, but not limited to, noncommercial signs identifying a government building, 

program or service (including bus or other public transit services), traffic control signs, street name 

signs, street address signs, warning signs, safety signs, informational signs, traffic or other 

directional signs, public notices of government events or actions, proposed changes of land use, 



 

 

any proposed rezoning, or any other government speech. This term includes signs erected on 

government property pursuant to lease, license, concession or similar agreements requiring or 

authorizing such signs.  

Sign, height – Means the vertical distance from the average finished grade of the ground 

below the sign excluding any filling, berming, mounding or excavating solely for the purposes of 

increasing the height of the sign, to the top edge of the highest portion of the sign. The base or 

structure erected to support or adorn a monument, pole or other freestanding sign is measured as 

part of the sign height.  

Sign, illuminated – Any sign or portion thereof which is illuminated by artificial light, either 

from an interior or exterior source, including outline, reflective or phosphorescent light (including 

but not limited to plasma or laser), whether or not the source of light is directly affixed as part of 

the sign, and shall also include signs with reflectors that depend upon sunlight or automobile 

headlights for an image.  

Sign, inflatable or balloon – A sign consisting of a flexible envelope of nonporous materials 

that gains its shape from inserted air or other gas.  

Sign, ingress and egress - A sign at the entrance to or exit from a parcel necessary to provide 

directions for vehicular traffic and provide a warning for pedestrian and/or vehicular traffic safety.  

Sign, LED – Any sign or portion thereof that uses light emitting diode technology or other 

similar semiconductor technology to produce an illuminated image, picture, or message of any 

kind whether the image, picture, or message is moving or stationary. This type of sign includes 

any sign that uses LED technology of any kind whether conventional (using discrete LEDs), 

surface mounted (otherwise known as individually mounted LEDs), transmissive, organic light 

emitting diodes (OLED), light emitting polymer (LEP), organic electro luminescence (OEL), or 

any similar technology.  

Sign, lollipop – A sign which is attached to any pole(s) or stake(s) that is designed to be driven 

into the ground and which is not stabilized into the ground or affixed in place by any device other 

than the stake to which the sign is attached.  

Sign, marquee—A sign attached, printed, affixed or otherwise made a part of the flat forward 

edge or vertical side edge of a marquee.  

Sign, mobile billboard advertising – Any vehicle, or wheeled conveyance with carries, 

conveys, pulls, or transports any sign or billboard for the primary purpose of advertising.  

Sign, monument – A type of freestanding sign that is not supported by a pole structure and is 

placed upon the ground independent of support from the face of a building and that is constructed 

of a solid material such a wood, masonry or high-density urethane.  

Sign, nonconforming – Any sign that was validly installed under laws or ordinances in effect 

prior to the effective date of the LDC or subsequent amendments, but which is in conflict with the 

provision of the LDC. 

Sign, off-premises—A non-accessory billboard or sign that displays offsite commercial 

advertising. 



 

 

Sign, ornamentation – Any illustration, pictorial or other embellishment on signs or structures 

which relates to produces or services of the business or is used to attract attention for business 

purposes.   

Sign, permanent – Any sign which is intended to be and is so constructed as to be of lasting 

and enduring condition, remaining unchanged in character, condition (beyond normal wear and 

tear) and position and in a permanent manner affixed to the ground, wall or building. Unless 

otherwise provided for herein, a sign other than a temporary sign shall be deemed a permanent 

sign unless otherwise indicated elsewhere in this chapter.   

Sign, pole - A permanent ground sign that is supported by one or more poles more than four 

feet in height and otherwise separated from the ground by air.  

Sign, political—A sign supporting the election or defeat of a candidate seeking political office 

or urging passage or defeat of any issue, question or other matter in a public election or referendum.  

Sign, portable—Any sign, banner, or poster that is not permanently attached to the ground or 

to a structure that is attached to the ground or a sign capable of being transported, including, but 

not limited to, signs designed to be transported by means of wheels, and signs converted to an A-

Frame sign or a T-Frame sign. For purposes of this chapter, a cold air inflatable sign shall be 

considered to be a portable sign.   

Sign, projected light —A sign which is generated from a light source which projects a static 

or changeable image, text, logo or other image onto a building’s surface.  

Sign, projecting – Any sign affixed perpendicular, or at any angle to a building or wall in such 

a manner that its leading edge extends more than twelve (12) inches beyond the surface of such 

building or wall. Standard channel set letters on signs do not render a sign a projecting sign.  

Sign, roof—Any sign which is mounted on the roof of a building or which extends above the 

top edge of the wall of a flat roofed building, the eave line of a building with a hip, gambrel, or 

gable roof.  

Sign, sandwich board – A portable, freestanding, movable and double-faced sign. 

Sign, service island – A sign mounted permanently on, under, or otherwise mounted on a 

service island canopy. 

Sign, size – Area of sign. 

Sign, snipe – A sign made of any material when such sign is tacked, nailed, posted, pasted, 

glued or otherwise attached to or placed on public property such as but not limited to a public 

utility pole, a public street sign, a public utility box, a public fire hydrant, a public right-of-way, 

public street furniture, or other public property; except for A-frame and T-frame signs that are 

temporarily placed on public property under such limitations and constraints as may be set forth 

in the Land Development Code.  

Sign, structure – Any structure which is designed specifically for the purposed of supporting 

a sign. This definition shall include decorative covers, braces, wires, supports, or components 

attached to or placed around the sign structure.  

Sign, swinging—A sign projecting from any structure and suspended in such a manner that 

all sides of the sign are not firmly attached permitting the sign to swing in one or more directions.  



 

 

Sign, street address – Any sign denoting the street address of the premises on which it is 

attached or located.  

Sign, temporary—A sign intended for a use not permanent in nature. Unless otherwise 

provided for in the LDC, a sign with an intended use for a period of time related to an event or 

occurrence at a future time shall be deemed a temporary sign. Such events could include, but are 

not limited to, scheduled community athletic or charity events, contractor notices of construction 

projects in progress, elections scheduled to occur in the future, or sales or leases of real property, 

goods or services by retailers, realtors or individuals where same will be completed by some future 

date or upon the completion of the lease or sale. A flag shall be deemed a temporary sign. A sign 

advertising a reduced price or other promotional benefits associated with a product or service sold 

or offered on a parcel shall not constitute a temporary sign. 

Sign, traffic control device – Any governmental/statutory sign located within the right-of-way 

that is used as a traffic control device and that is described and identified in the Manual on Uniform 

Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) and approved by the Federal Highway Administrator as the 

national standard. A traffic control device sign includes those government signs that are classified 

and defined by their function as regulatory signs (that give notice of traffic laws or regulations), 

warning signs (that give notice of a situation that might not readily be apparent), and guide signs 

(that show route destinations, directions, distances, services, points of interest, and other 

geographical, recreational, or cultural information).   

Sign, trailer – Sign that is affixed to or placed on a trailer or other portable device that may 

be pulled by a vehicle.  

Sign, unsafe – A sign posing an immediate peril or reasonably foreseeable threat of injury or 

damage to persons or property.  

Sign, vehicle – A sign which covers more than ten (10) square feet of the vehicle, which 

identifies a business, products, or services, and which is attached to, mounted, pasted, painted, or 

drawn on a motorized or drawn vehicle, and is parked and visible from the public right-of-way; 

unless said vehicle includes a current valid registration and is used for transporting people or 

materials in the normal day to day operations of a business.  

Sign, wall – Any sign attached parallel to, but within twelve (12) includes of a wall; painted 

on the wall surface, drapes or hangs over the side of a building, wall or window, or erected and 

confined within the limits of an outside wall of any building or structure, which is supported by 

such wall or building, and which displays only one sign surface.  

Sign, warning or safety – A sign which provides warning of a dangerous condition or situation 

that might not be readily apparent or that poses a threat of serious injury (e.g., gas line, high 

voltage, condemned building, etc.) or that provides warning of a violation of law (e.g., no 

trespassing, no hunting allowed, etc.) 

Sign, wayfinding/directional – A non-commercial sign, which may or may not be a 

governmental sign, that shows route designations, destinations, directions, distances, services, 

points of interest, or other geographical, recreational, or cultural information for the aid of the 

traveling public, for facilitating a safe and orderly traffic flow and preventing sudden stops.  

Sign, wind – A sign which uses objects or material fastened in such a manner as to move upon 

being subjected to pressure by wind, and shall include, pennants, ribbons, spinners, streamers or 

captive balloons, however, the term wind sign shall not include flags.  



 

 

Sign, window or door, permanent —Any sign visible from the exterior of a building or 

structure which is painted, attached, glued, or otherwise affixed to a window or door.   

Special exception—A use that would not be appropriate generally or without restriction 

throughout the particular zoning district or classification, but which, if controlled as to number, 

area, location or relation to the neighborhood, would not adversely affect the public health, safety, 

comfort, good order, appearance, convenience, morals and the general welfare.  

Special flood hazard area – An area in the floodplain subject to a 1 percent or greater chance 

of flooding in any given year. Special flood hazard areas are shown on FIRMs as Zone A, AO, 

A1-A30, AE, A99, AH, V1-V30, VE, or V. The term also includes areas shown on other flood 

hazard maps, if such maps are adopted by the town, or otherwise legally designated. [Also defined 

in FBC, B, § 1312.2.] 

Special use permit—A permit issued by the planning and zoning board or the town clerk for 

uses defined as special uses within this chapter in accordance with procedures specified in section 

90-75.E.  

Species of trees – Applies to trees possessing common distinctive characteristics and the 

ability to reproduce these characteristics.  

Spot zoning—Any zoning different from the zoning of property on both sides of the subject 

property.  

Story—That portion of a building included between the surface of any floor and the surface 

of the floor next above it or, if there is no floor above it, then the space between the floor and the 

ceiling next above it.  

Story, half—A space under a sloping roof which has the line of intersection of roof decking 

above the top floor level exceeding three feet in height if usable and in which space not more than 

two-thirds of the floor area is finished for use. A half story shall not contain independent 

apartments or living quarters.  

Street – A right-of-way for vehicular traffic, designated as an alley, avenue, boulevard, court, 

drive, expressway, highway, lane, road, street, or thoroughfare (also referred to as roadway). A 

street may be dedicated to the public or maintained in private ownership, but open to the public.  

Street line— A dividing line between a lot, tract or parcel of land and a contiguous street.  

Streetscaping – An assemblage of landscapes, walks, and curbs between the private lot lie 

and the public right-of-way or vehicular frontage.  

Structure—Anything constructed, erected or installed, whether permanent or portable, the use 

of which requires location on the ground or attached to something having a location on the ground. 

When a building is divided into separate parts by unpierced walls, each part shall be deemed a 

separate building. It ("structure") includes a movable structure while it is located on the land which 

can be used for housing, business, commercial, agricultural or office purposes, either temporarily 

or permanently. "Structure" also includes signs and swimming pools, etc.  

Subdivision—The platting of real property into three or more lots, parcels, tracts, tiers, blocks, 

sites, units or any other division of land; and includes establishment of new streets and alleys, 

additions and resubdivisions; and when appropriate to the context, relates to the process of 

subdividing or to the lands or area subdivided.  



 

 

Substantial damage – Damage of any origin sustained by a building or structure whereby the 

cost of restoring the building or structure to its before-damaged condition would equal or exceed 

49 percent of the market value of the building or structure before the damage occurred. [Also 

defined in FBC, B, § 1612.2.] 

Substantial improvement - Any combination of repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition 

or improvement of a building or structure taking place during a one (1)-year period, the cumulative 

cost of which equals or exceeds 49 percent of the market value of the structure before the 

improvement or repair is started. For each building or structure, the one-year period begins on the 

date of the first improvement or repair of that building or structure subsequent to May 8. 2013. If 

the structure has sustained substantial damage, any repairs are considered substantial improvement 

regardless of the actual repair work performed. The term does not, however, include either:  

1. Any project for improvement of a building required to correct existing health, 

sanitary or safety code violations identified by the building official and that are the 

minimum necessary to assure safe living conditions.  

2. Any alteration of a historic structure provided that the alteration will not preclude 

the structure's continued designation as a historic structure.  

3. Costs for repairs whose express purpose is to repair wind and flood damage to pre-

damage condition provided the costs of such measures, plus the cost of any other 

improvements and repairs undertaken at the same time, do not exceed 49 percent of the 

market value of the structure before the damage occurred.  

Sun shelter – For the purpose of this chapter, a sun shelter shall have the same meaning as a 

chickee hut. 

Supermarket—A market in excess of 10,000 square feet of floor space specializing in 

groceries and household sundries.  

Tenant—A person or persons occupying a dwelling unit to which he or she does not hold title. 

Where two or more persons simultaneously occupy such a dwelling unit under a common rental 

arrangement, the singular term "tenant" shall include all such persons.  

Thatched roof – A roof constructed of palm fronds in an open web type of construction and 

attached in such a manner that they are sacrificed in winds exceeding 70 mph.  

Thoroughfare – An urban element that provides a major part of the public open space as well 

as moving lanes for vehicles. A thoroughfare is endowed with two attributes: capacity and 

character. 

(1) Thoroughfare capacity – The number of vehicles that can move safely through a 

segment of a thoroughfare within a given time period. 

(2) Thoroughfare character – The suitability of a thoroughfare as a setting for pedestrian 

activities and as a location for a variety of building types.  

Tower – Any structure that is designed and constructed primarily for the purpose of 

supporting one or more antenna lattice towers, guy towers, or monopole towers. The term includes, 

but is not limited to, radio and television transmission towers, microwave, common carrier and 

cellular towers.  



 

 

Tract—A parcel of real estate, platted but not subdivided into lots, recorded in the office of 

the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Pinellas County.  

Transfer of development rights—The conveyance of development rights, which are 

transferable pursuant to the provisions of this Code, by deed, easement, or other legal instrument 

authorized by this Code, to another parcel of land or within the same parcel of land, and the 

recording of that conveyance pursuant to this Code.  

Transient accommodation unit—An individual room or rooms within a transient 

accommodation use designed to be rented as a single unit for temporary occupancy of a limited 

duration, and without independent cooking or kitchen facilities.  

Transient accommodation use—A facility containing one or more transient accommodation 

units, the occupancy of which occurs, or is offered or advertised as being available, for a term of 

less than one month, more than three times in any twelve-month period. In determining whether a 

property is used as a transient accommodation use, such determination shall be made without 

regard to the form of ownership interest in the property or unit; and without regard to whether the 

right of occupancy arises from a rental agreement, or other agreement, or payment of 

consideration.  

Transient occupant – Mean any person who rents or occupies any dwelling unit or residence 

or part thereof for less than 30 days or one calendar month whichever is less, and any guest or 

invitee of such person.  

Transplant – The act of digging up a tree from one location and planting the same tree in 

another place. 

Transportation management plan – As developed by an applicant representing a proposed 

development, is submitted in conjunction with individual site plans seeking to utilize transportation 

management strategies to address their development impacts, protect roadway capacity and to 

increase mobility. These strategies include but are not limited to, density/intensity reductions, 

project phasing, access controls, capital improvements and/or incentives encouraging mass transit, 

bicycle or pedestrian travel, ride-sharing or roadway improvements. Strategies that are standard 

site plan review requirements would not be eligible for inclusion in a transportation management 

plan. Transportation Management Plans must be submitted to the Building Department for review 

and approval.  

Transportation management system – The management of development impacts on 

transportation facilities and implementation of mobility improvements pursuant to the Mobility 

Plan.  

Tree – A self-supporting woody plant having one or more well-defined trunks capable of 

being maintained with a clear trunk and normally growing to an overall height at maturity in the 

county of a minimum of 15 feet. For the purpose of this definition, palms shall be considered trees.  

Tree bank – The storage for future use of trees permitted for removal under the terms of this 

chapter which are donated to the town for its use.  

Tree cluster – Two or more primary tree trunks that are within three feet of one another.  

Tree, historic – A tree which has been found by a professional forester, horticulturist or other 

professional plantsman to be of notable historic interest to the town and/or county because of its 



 

 

age, type, size or historic association and has been so designated by resolution of the board of 

commissioners of the town.  

Tree protection zone – A circular zone around each protected tree defined as follows: 

A. If the drip line is less than six feet from the trunk of the tree, the zone shall be that area 

within a radius of six feet around the tree. 

B. If the drip line is more than six feet from the trunk of the tree, but less than 20 feet, the 

zone shall be that area within a radius of the full drip line around the tree. 

C. If the drip line is 20 feet or more from the trunk of the tree, the zone shall be that area 

within a radius of 20 feet around the tree.  

Tree, shade/canopy – An evergreen or deciduous tree that can be maintained with a clear 

truck of not less than six feet and with a spreading branching structure of at least 15 feet and opaque 

foliage habit such that a reasonably dense shade pattern is provided during peak daylight hours in 

the late spring, summer and early fall months of the year. For the purpose of this part 2, palms 

shall not be considered shade/canopy trees.  

Tree, specimen – A tree which has been determined by the judgment of a professional forester, 

horticulturist or other professional plantsman to be of high value because of its type, size, age or 

other professional criteria, and has been so designated by resolution of the board of commissioners 

of the town.  

Vacation rental—Any dwelling unit or residence, including, but not limited to, any unit or 

group of units in a condominium, cooperative, or apartment building, that is rented in whole or in 

part to a transient occupant for a period of less than 30 days or one calendar month, whichever is 

less, or which is advertised or held out to the public as a place that may be rented to a transient 

occupant, but shall not include a hotel or motel as defined in this Code.  

Variance—A modification of the standards of this chapter, or a grant of relief from the 

requirements of the flood resistant construction requirements of the Florida Building Code which 

would permit construction in a manner that would not otherwise be permitted by this chapter or 

the flood resistant construction requirements of the Florida Building Code.  

Vehicle—Any automobile, trailer, motor home, truck, bus, motorcycle, moped or any other 

conveyance designed for operation on the streets or highways and normally requiring the issuance 

of a license plate or license tag.  

Vehicular circulation – The combination of moving and parking lanes within thoroughfares. 

The network of thoroughfares also constitutes the majority of the public realm available to 

pedestrians.  

Vehicular use area – An open area used for the storage of four or more vehicles, including 

the accessways to such area.  

Vehicular way – The portion of the thoroughfare that is occupied by vehicles, usually 

consisting of the moving lanes and the parking lanes. The vehicular way, together with the 

pedestrian way, fills the right-of-way.  

Vertical height – The height as measured to the highest point of a building or specific 

component.  



 

 

Walk – A lightly paved path of grass, gravel or sand within a garden or open space. 

Window – A panel of transparent material surrounded by a framing structure and placed into 

the construction material comprising a building façade.  

Yard—An open space, other than a court, on the same lot with a building, unoccupied and 

unobstructed by any portion of a structure from the ground upward, except as otherwise provided 

herein. In measuring a yard for the purpose of determining the width of a side yard, the depth of a 

front yard or the depth of a rear yard, the minimum horizontal distance between the lot line and 

the main building, nearest wall or other vertical part of the structure shall be used.  

Yard, front—A yard extending across the front of a lot between the side yard lines and being 

the minimum horizontal distance between the street line and the main building.  

Yard, rear—A yard extending across the rear of a lot measured between side lot lines and 

being the minimum horizontal distance between the rear of the main building and the rear lot 

property line. On the corner lots, the rear yard shall be considered as parallel to the street upon 

which the lot has its least dimension. On interior lots, the rear yard shall in all cases be at the 

opposite end of the lot from the front yard.  

Yard, side—A yard between the nearest wall or other vertical part of the structure and the side 

line of the lot and extending from the front line to the rear lot line.  

Sec. 90-72. Compliance required. 

It shall be unlawful to fill any submerged land or to subdivide any lands within the town 

contrary to the provisions of this part 1.  

Sec. 90-73. Plat required. 

No real property within the town shall be subdivided and offered for sale until a plat thereof 

is examined by the planning and zoning board and approved by the board of commissioners nor 

shall a plat be approved or recorded without first submitting a preliminary plat for review by said 

boards. Building applications shall not be issued for structures to be located in a subdivision unless 

a plat thereof is recorded in the office of the Clerk of Circuit Court in and for Pinellas County, 

Florida.  

Sec. 90-74. Preliminary plat. 

A subdivider or property owner shall submit three copies of a preliminary plat of his or her 

proposed subdivision, prepared in accordance with the requirements of this part 1.  

Sec. 90-75. Contents of preliminary plat. 

The preliminary plat shall be a print drawn at a scale not less than 100 feet to the inch and 

shall show the following:  

A. The subdivision name, the name and address of the owner or subdivider and the designer 

of the plat.  

B. The date, approximate North point and scale.  

Commented [NM2]: Sec. 90-72 thru 90-80 were moved 
to new Part 5  



 

 

C. The boundary line of tract to be subdivided drawn accurately to scale, with aggregate 

linear and angular dimensions.  

D. The location of existing private property lines, streets, watercourses, bridges and any 

public utility easements of record, both on the land to be subdivided and on the land 

immediately adjoining for a distance of at least 150 feet; the location of water and 

sewerage mains, culverts, drain pipes and all structures on the land to be subdivided and 

on the land within ten feet of it; the names of adjoining subdivisions with plat book and 

page numbers and the names of record owners of adjoining parcels of unsubdivided land.  

E. The names, proposed locations, approximate dimensions, proposed streets, alleys, 

easements, parks and other open spaces, reservations, lot lines and building lines. This 

information may be graphical only, not requiring detailed computation nor field work 

over and above that required to obtain the information listed next above.  

F. When deemed necessary by the planning and zoning board, profiles of all streets 

showing natural and finished grades drawn to a scale of not less than one inch equals 40 

feet horizontal and one inch equals four feet vertical.  

G. When deemed necessary by the planning and zoning board, contours with a vertical 

interval of not more than one foot referred to sea level datum.  

Sec. 90-76. Final plats. 

Final plats shall conform to the requirements set forth in FS § 177.091.  

Sec. 90-77. Seawalls. 

All land subdivided pursuant to this part 1 bordering upon the waters of the Gulf of Mexico 

or Boca Ciega Bay shall be seawalled as provided in sections 90-10 through 90-15 before the plat 

thereof shall be approved.  

Sec. 90-78. Storm drainage. 

A. All subdivisions within the municipal limits of the town shall have storm drainage installed, 

streets graded to the full width of the right-of-way, street paving to a minimum width of 20 

feet of pavement with six-foot shoulders of stabilized shell for parking, adequate drainage 

ditches outside of shoulders, waterlines sufficient in size to operate fire hydrants and potable 

water furnished to each lot in said subdivision installed by the owner or subdivider to plans 

and specifications in accordance with requirements of the Pinellas County Water Department 

so as to furnish at least a class 7 rating by the Southeastern Fire Underwriters Association; 

cost of drainage and other installations required by this part 1 shall be paid for by the 

subdivider when such improvements are installed.  

B. If special drainage facilities to carry stormwater from a subdivision or several subdivisions 

are deemed necessary by the planning and zoning board and the board of commissioners, 

these facilities shall be built and paid for by the subdivider, provided that such facilities need 

not exceed 660 feet beyond boundaries of the property involved and in such reasonable 

manner as the subdivider and board of commissioners shall agree.  



 

 

Sec. 90-79. Sewer service laterals. 

All subdivisions created or extended under the provisions of this part 1 shall be provided with 

sewer service laterals to all lots in such subdivisions to be paid for by the subdivider. Such service 

laterals shall be constructed under the direction of the town.  

Sec. 90-80. Conformance to comprehensive plan. 

All proposed subdivisions shall be in conformity with a plan for the most advantageous 

development of the entire neighboring area and shall conform to the comprehensive plan adopted 

by the Town of Redington Shores, as amended. Whenever a tract to be subdivided embraces any 

part of a thoroughfare, boulevard or parkway so designated by the planning and zoning board, such 

part of such proposed public way shall be platted by the subdivider in the location and to the width 

recommended by the planning and zoning board.  

Sec. 90-81. Streets. 

A. The proposed street system shall extend existing streets at the same or greater width, but in 

no case less than the required minimum width. Where, in the opinion of the planning and 

zoning board, it is desirable to provide for street access to adjoining property, the proposed 

street shall be extended by dedication to the boundary of such property.  

B. Proposed streets which are obviously in alignment with others already existing and named 

shall bear the name of the existing street extended. In no case, except for numbered streets 

and avenues, shall the name for proposed streets duplicate or be phonetically similar to 

existing street names, irrespective of the subject street, avenue, boulevard, drive, place or 

court.  

C. The minimum width of proposed rights-of-way for streets, roads and alleys measured from 

lot line to lot line shall be:  

(1) Major arterial streets which serve or may serve heavy local traffic and major state or 

federal highways: 100 feet.  

(2) All local service streets: 50 feet.  

D. The minimum dimensions and specifications shall be as follows:  

(1) Street grades. Grades on all streets and alleys will be determined by the town and shall 

not exceed six percent nor less than two-tenths percent (0.2%).  

(2) Horizontal curves. Where a deflection angle of more than 10° in the alignment of a street 

occurs, a curve of reasonably long radius shall be introduced.  

(3) Intersections. Street intersections shall be as nearly at right angles as possible, and no 

intersection shall be at an angle of less than 60°.  

(4) Corner radii. There shall be a minimum radius at the property line of 20 feet at all 

intersections.  

E. In general, streets designed to have one end permanently closed (cul-de-sac) shall be avoided 

unless it is clear that a through street is not desirable for the street system in the area. Where 

Commented [NM3]: Sec. 90-81 thru 90-87.1 removed 
from Ch. 90 



 

 

 

such streets are used, they shall terminate in a circular area of public right-of-way, having a 

minimum property line radius of 50 feet and a minimum outside curb radius of 40 feet.  

F. All thoroughfares shall be curbed and paved as required by the current Florida Department of 

Transportation (FDOT) roadway standards for the appropriate facility type.  

Sec. 90-82. Block specifications. 

A. Length. Blocks, except waterfront blocks, shall not exceed 1,400 feet in length. A crosswalk 

or pedestrian way of not less than ten feet in width shall be provided near the center and 

entirely across any block that is more than 1,000 feet in length and may be required by the 

planning and zoning board across any block that is more than 700 feet in length.  

B. Width. Blocks, except waterfront blocks, shall be at least wide enough to allow two rows of 

lots of minimum depth.  

C. Dimensions. The size, shape and orientation of lots shall be appropriate for the location of the 

proposed subdivision and for the type of development contemplated and shall conform to the 

following:  

(1) Every lot or parcel of land shall abut a public street.  

(2) Insofar as practical, side lot lines shall be at right angles to street lines or radial to curved 

street lines.  

(3) Every lot shall have a minimum mean lot width of 60 feet, except that every corner lot 

shall have a minimum mean lot width of 65 feet, but in no case shall the frontage upon 

public streets be reduced below 40 feet.  

(4) Every lot shall have a depth no greater than three times the mean width and no less in all 

events than 100 feet.  

(5) Every lot shall have a minimum lot area of 6,000 square feet.  

Sec. 90-83. Easements. 

A. To provide for public service poles, conduits, storm drainage, sewers or gas mains, an 

easement not less than ten feet wide, five feet on each side of the common lot lines, shall be 

provided.  

B. Gulf Boulevard Overlay District (GBOD) pedestrian easement. A minimum ten-foot-wide 

pedestrian use easement shall be provided between the Gulf Boulevard right-of-way line and 

the primary facade build-to line for all properties located within the limits of the GBOD. The 

pedestrian easement shall extend the entire length of each parcel.  

Sec. 90-84. Reservation for public use. 

In subdividing property, due consideration shall be given by the subdivider and the planning 

and zoning board to the reservation or dedication of suitable sites for schools, parks and other 

public uses. The subdivider shall reserve and dedicate for recreational purposes an area equal to 

not less than three percent of the total area of such proposed subdivision. Such provision should 

be indicated on the plat in order that it may be determined when and in what manner such areas 

will be dedicated or acquired.  



 

  

Sec. 90-85. Variances. 

Where, because of topographical or other conditions peculiar to the sites, strict adherence to 

the provisions and regulations in this part 1 would cause an unnecessary hardship, the special 

magistrate may recommend that the board of commissioners authorize a variance, if such variance 

can be made without destroying the intent of this part 1. Any variance not so authorized is required 

to be entered in writing in the minutes of the special magistrate hearing and board of 

commissioners meeting, and the reasoning on which the departure was justified set forth.  

(Ord. No. 10-04, 9-9-2010) 

Editor's note(s)—Ord. No. 10-04 also provided for an effective date of 11-1-2010.  

Sec. 90-86. Application to fill land. 

Applications to fill submerged land located beyond the established bulkhead line within the 

town shall be submitted to the board of commissioners of the town. Included with the application 

shall be a copy of all plans and specifications of the proposed fill.  

Sec. 90-87. Penalties for offenses. 

Each and every day's violation of any provision of this part 1 shall constitute a separate and 

distinct offense. Any person, firm, corporation or agent who or which violates any of the provisions 

of this part 1 or who or which fails to comply therewith shall be subject to a penalty as set forth in 

chapter 1, general provisions, article II, of this Code.  

Sec. 90-87.1. Special lot regulations. 

A. Side yards of corner lots. The required front yard shall be provided on both streets; provided, 

however, that where in any block there are not more than two lots having frontage on the 

same street between two intersecting streets, any construction shall be subject to approval of 

a site plan by the planning and zoning board.  

B. Obstruction to vision at intersection. No obstruction to vision exceeding 30 inches in height 

shall be erected, planted or maintained on any lot within the triangle formed by the corner of 

the lot and two points which are 20 feet from the corner of the lot along the street lines on 

both streets. All plant materials shall be kept trimmed to ensure uninterrupted vision for motor 

vehicle and pedestrian traffic.  

C. Through lots (double frontage). Where a single lot under individual ownership extends from 

one street to another nearly parallel street or alley, the planning and zoning board shall decide 

which street will be considered as the front street.  

D. Two or more buildings on a lot. Two or more principal buildings located on a parcel in single 

ownership shall conform to all the requirements of chapter 90, part 2, zoning, which would 

normally apply to each building if each were on a separate lot. Minimum clearance between 

buildings must be ten feet.  

E. Rear yard access in commercial districts. There shall be a rear yard of 15 feet, together with 

access thereto at least 15 feet wide, both of which shall be free of structures, buildings, hedges, 



 

  

fences or other obstructions and which shall permit free and clear access to the rear of the 

premises for deliveries, utility service, garbage collection, fire and police apparatus and other 

lawful access.  

F. Lots on the borderline of districts. Where a lot located in a commercial district is immediately 

adjoining a residential zone, any building built thereon shall comply with the front yard 

requirements for the residential district to which it is adjacent and to the side yard 

requirements on the side adjoining the residential district, and the site plan review process 

shall require buffering against noise, light and other unfavorable factors affecting the 

residential district.  

G. Awnings, canopies and marquees. Awnings, canopies and marquees shall comply with the 

sign regulations and the building code and shall be subject to approval by the building 

inspector.  

H. Platting of lots. No unplatted land shall be platted, nor any platted lands be replatted, nor shall 

any plat or replat be filed for record until and unless such plat or replat is first submitted to 

and approved by the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Redington Shores; nor shall 

any lot be subdivided except with the approval of the Board of Commissioners of the Town 

of Redington Shores, and in accordance with the following provisions and regulations:  

(1) If the title to one lot and a longitudinal fractional part of an adjoining lot or one lot and 

longitudinal fractional parts of lots on both sides thereof is vested in a single ownership, 

then, in either event, the same shall be considered as only one lot for the provisions set 

forth herein.  

(2) If the title to two adjoining lots is vested in a single ownership and such owner, at his or 

her own option, elects to build on one of the lots, but nearer to the lot line as established 

herein, then after exercise of such option the same shall be considered as only one lot for 

the purposes set forth herein.  

(3) If the title to two or more adjoining lots is vested in a single ownership, then the same 

may, at the option of the owner, be considered as only one lot; and after exercise of such 

option on the part of the owner as noted above and any action on the part of the owner 

or the board of commissioners, then the same shall thereafter be considered as only one 

lot for the purposes set forth herein.  

(4) In order to exercise such options noted above, the owner shall file a written declaration 

of purpose and intent with the town clerk, who shall note the consolidation of the two 

lots on the legal records of the town. No fractional part of the consolidated lot may be 

sold as a full-size lot unless such part shall comply with the area regulations of chapter 

90, part 2, zoning.  

(5) If the title to two adjoining longitudinal fractional parts of two lots is vested in a single 

ownership and such fractional parts of lots are sufficient in size to constitute one lot as 

compared with other lots in the immediate vicinity, then the same shall be considered as 

only one lot for the purposes set forth herein.  

(6) No replat or plat of land which is presently unplatted shall be approved in which there 

shall be lots containing less than 6,000 square feet of area or in which there shall be lots 

less than 50 feet in width at the front building line. This provision shall apply only in 

residential districts.  



 

  

(7) No lot shall be subdivided or conveyed, as set forth above herein, other than as a whole 

except an adjoining longitudinal fractional part of a lot may be conveyed with a single 

whole lot; and an adjoining longitudinal fractional part of a lot may be conveyed to the 

owner of the adjoining whole lot as long as the provisions set forth herein are not evaded 

or violated and so long as a longitudinal fractional part of a lot is not left in a single 

ownership.  

(8) The provisions and regulations contained above shall also be applicable to latitudinal 

fractional parts of lots or adjoining lots.  

(9) All plat and replat applications shall be accompanied by a nonrefundable fee as required 

by the current town fee schedule, and shall be reviewed by the planning and zoning 

board, which shall make recommendations to the board of commissioners within 30 days 

of the formal filing of the request with the town clerk.  

 

ARTICLE XXII. - ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

 

Sec. 90-72. Interpretation and municipal comprehensive plan. 

The zoning ordinance is a principal implementation process of the legally adopted municipal 

comprehensive plan. In interpreting the ordinance, the planning needs and objectives as identified 

in the municipal comprehensive plan shall be considered in any determination relative to the 

administration of this chapter.  

Sec. 90-73. Procedure for amending code and/or Comprehensive Plan. 

A. State law controlling. The provisions of the Florida Statutes shall be adhered to on all matters 

pertaining to any changes in the Comprehensive Land Use Plan (CLUP) designation and/or 

the zoning classification of any property or district or the boundaries of any district within the 

town.  

B. Application for change of land use/zoning. Any property owner or the board of commissioners 

may initiate an action to effect a change in the CLUP designation and/or the zoning 

classification of real property by filing written application with the town clerk. The 

application shall contain:  

(1) The signature of the property owner(s) when the property owner is the person initiating 

the request. If the property owner is represented by an agent, proof of the agency shall 

be made a part of the application.  

(2) The names and addresses of all owners of the property sought to be affected by the 

change.  

(3) An accurate legal description of the property to be sought to be affected by the change.  

(4) The CLUP designation and the zoning classification of said property at the time of the 

application.  

(5) The CLUP designation and/or the zoning classification proposed for said property.  

Commented [NM4]: 90-72 thru 90-78 were Sec. 90-123 
thru 90-131 in old Part 2 



 

 

(6) The names and addresses of the owners of other properties lying within 300 feet of said 

property.  

(7) When the application is initiated by the property owner, a certification of title stating 

that the applicant is the title holder of record of the property described in the application 

and setting out all mortgagees and lienholders. The certification shall be signed by an 

officer of a reputable title company.  

(8) Statement of reasons for granting the requested change in CLUP designation and/or 

zoning classification. The reasons may include but are not to be limited to:  

(a) Change of conditions in the area.  

(b) Community need for additional lands with the CLUP designation and/or zoning 

classification proposed.  

(c) Benefits to the community.  

(9) Applications for a CLUP designation that would result in an increase in density or 

intensity within the Coastal High Hazard Area shall be consistent with the Countywide 

Rules of Pinellas County and shall specifically address and be consistent with the 

balancing criteria of Section 4.2.7 of these Countywide Rules.  

(10) Any application for a rezoning shall be accompanied by a site plan showing the intended 

use and structure of the property sought to be rezoned.  

(11) Application forms; fees.  

(a) Applications for the following actions shall be on forms as may be prescribed from 

time to time by the board of commissioners, and shall be accompanied by the fees 

as indicated in the town's currently adopted fee schedule, copies of which may be 

obtained at Town Hall.  

(b) The town's fee schedule may be revised by the board of commissioners from time 

to time by resolution. However, any such resolution must be proposed at one 

meeting, but not enacted until a subsequent meeting of the board of commissioners.  

(12) Failure of an applicant or the applicant’s representative to be present at a scheduled 

proceeding shall be sufficient cause to deny the request on the basis of lack of evidence.  

(13) Withdrawal of an application must be made in writing over the signature of the applicant. 

If the applicant elects to withdraw the application after the town has commenced any 

work in processing the application, the applicant shall not be entitled to any refund of 

any fee that has been submitted.  

C. Amending this regulation. The town clerk shall refer applications to amend this regulation to 

the planning and zoning board for comment.  

(1) General requirements. The planning and zoning board shall hold a hearing on each 

application to amend this regulation or the comprehensive plan and thereafter submit to 

the Redington Shores Board of Commissioners a written recommendation.  

(2) Requirements for CLUP and zoning amendments. 

(a) All applications for change in CLUP designation and/or zoning classification shall 

be forwarded to the Planning and Zoning Board for the town, functioning as the 



 

 

Local Planning Agency (LPA) for CLUP amendments, for review and 

recommendation to the board of commissioners.  

(b) The town shall adhere to the procedures of the Florida Statutes pertaining to notice 

requirements in the holding of any required hearings in considering any CLUP or 

zoning amendments.  

(c) The planning and zoning board/LPA shall receive all direct testimony and evidence 

whether favorable or unfavorable to the application.  

(d) Following the planning and zoning board/LPA review of the application and of 

pertinent testimony and evidence presented, the planning and zoning board shall 

make recommendation thereon which shall be presented to the board of 

commissioners. The planning and zoning board recommendations shall include a 

summation of the testimony and evidence presented to the planning and zoning 

board.  

(3) Decision by board of commissioners. 

(a) Generally. The board of commissioners shall hold a hearing on the proposed 

amendment and may enact or reject the proposal or enact a modified proposal that 

is within the scope of matters considered in the hearing.  

(b) Changes in CLUP designations. Applications concerning or involving a proposed 

change in CLUP designation shall be considered by the board of commissioners in 

hearings noticed and conducted in accordance with the requirements of the Florida 

Statutes.  

(c) Zoning application. Applications for change in zoning classification of real 

property that do not include or involve a change in the CLUP designation of that 

property shall be decided by the board of commissioners at public hearing, duly 

noticed and scheduled in conformance with the requirements of the Florida Statutes.  

D. Records and proceedings. 

(1) All records of any proceedings shall be filed with the town clerk to be held as a part of 

the public records of the town Planning and Zoning Board.  

(2) All hearings shall be recorded in the following manner:  

(a) Minutes shall be kept in which applications, findings of fact, recommendations and 

all decisions shall be recorded.  

(b) Whenever possible, all hearings shall be recorded by electronic recording device.  

(c) Any person may request a verbatim transcript. The person so requesting shall 

furnish a reporter to take such transcript, bearing the cost thereof, and shall deliver 

a certified copy of the transcript to the town clerk who shall file it with the records 

of other proceedings on the application. 

Sec. 90-74. Building department established. 

A. There is hereby established in the town a department to be called a "building department," 

which shall be under the direction and supervision of a licensed building official, in 



 

 

 

accordance with this chapter or amendments thereto. Any reference herein to the building 

inspector or the building official shall be interpreted to mean the building official, or designee.  

B. No building permit shall be issued unless the use of the proposed structure and the installation 

and construction thereof shall be in accordance with the provisions of pertinent town 

ordinances.  

Sec. 90-75. Planning and zoning board established; procedures, powers and duties. 

A. Establishment. There is hereby created a new Planning and Zoning Board of the town, which 

board shall have all of the duties and responsibilities of the prior planning and zoning board 

and the prior Board of Adjustment of the town, which prior planning and zoning board and 

prior board of adjustment are declared to cease in existence as of the date of passage of this 

chapter. The board of commissioners shall nominate and vote approval of members of the 

planning and zoning board, which shall consist of five members and two alternates who shall 

reside in the town. In addition, the planning and zoning board shall include a representative 

of the school district appointed by the school board as a nonvoting member to attend those 

meetings at which the planning and zoning board considers comprehensive plan amendments 

and rezonings that would, if approved, increase residential density on the property that is the 

subject of the application. The voting members of the planning and zoning board may be 

removed from time to time by the board of commissioners and shall be removed if any voting 

member misses three consecutive meetings. Vacancies shall be filled by the board of 

commissioners for the unexpired term of any voting member whose term becomes vacant. 

The initial appointment of voting members to the newly created planning and zoning board 

shall be conducted as follows: Nominations shall be made by the commissioners from districts 

I and III, and the mayor-commissioner, for an initial term of two years; and nominations shall 

be made by the commissioners from districts II and IV for an initial term of one year. The 

commission at large shall nominate one alternate voting member for an initial term of one 

year (designated as alternate member A), and one alternate voting member for an initial term 

of two years (designated as alternate member B). Thereafter, nominations shall be made by 

the commissioners from districts I and III in the odd-numbered years, and nominations shall 

be made by the commissioners from districts II and IV in the even-numbered years. The 

mayor/commissioner shall nominate the fifth voting member of the planning and zoning 

board, with such nomination being made in the odd-numbered years. All subsequent terms 

shall be for a period of two years. In addition, the commission at large shall nominate the two 

alternate voting members for two-year terms, with one position being appointed in the even-

numbered years, and with one position being appointed in the odd-numbered years.  

B. Procedures. The board of commissioners shall appoint the chairperson of the planning and 

zoning board and may redesignate the chairperson from time to time. The planning and zoning 

board shall establish and promulgate rules and regulations for its own procedures and not 

inconsistent with the provisions of this chapter. The planning and zoning board shall schedule 

meetings as needed.   

C. Quorum. Three or more members of the board shall constitute a quorum; however, 

recommendation for approval of any site plan or any other substantive matter, as herein 

provided for, shall require the affirmative votes of three members of the board. No board 

member shall act in a case in which he or she has a personal interest. If any member of the 



 

 

board is unable to attend a meeting, alternate member A shall constitute a regular member of 

the board for such meeting; and if two members are unable to attend a meeting, alternate 

member B will also constitute a regular member of the board for such meeting.  

D. Records. The town clerk or representative shall attend all meetings of such board and shall 

make a detailed record of all its proceedings, which record shall set forth the reasons for its 

decisions, the vote of each member participating therein, the absence of a member and any 

failure of a member to vote, which record shall be filed in the office of the town clerk and 

shall be open to the public.  

E. Powers and duties. It shall be the duty of the planning and zoning board to:  

(1) Serve as the town's local planning agency.  

(2) Investigate and recommend to the board of commissioners proposed amendments to the 

municipal comprehensive plan and to prepare a comprehensive review of the municipal 

comprehensive plan in June 1983, and every three years thereafter, in accordance with 

the Local Government Comprehensive Planning Act.  

(3) Investigate and make recommendations to the Board of commissioners on any proposed 

changes or amendments in this chapter, or in the boundaries or districts herein 

established or necessary building permit renewal actions.  

(4) Investigate and make recommendations to the board of commissioners on all building 

applications requiring site plan reviews as encompassed in section 90-237.  

(5) Investigate and make recommendations to the board of commissioners on any 

applications which shall be made for the approval of plats or replats of land within the 

town. No unplatted land shall be platted, nor shall any platted land be replatted, until 

there shall first have been submitted to the planning and zoning board a preliminary plat 

of the proposed subdivision, and the planning and zoning board shall investigate such 

plat or replat and make its recommendations to the board of commissioners.  

(6) Consider and grant or deny applications for all types of special use permits for the 

various zoning districts as specified in article XXIX, other than those issued by the town 

clerk in accordance with section 90-173.D. In order to authorize special use permits 

under the terms of this chapter, the board must find: hom 

(a) That the nature of the special use is in keeping with the intent of this chapter.  

(b) That the use is compatible and harmonious with the surrounding neighborhood and 

will not create any nuisance, hazard or hardship.  

(7) Receive and make a recommendation to the Board of Commissioners concerning 

applications for transfer of development rights, as provided for in section 90-177.  

(8) Consider and make recommendations to the board of commissioners on applications for 

special exceptions, as defined herein; including recommendations as to when special 

exceptions should be granted with appropriate conditions and safeguards or denied when 

not in harmony with the purpose and intent of this chapter.  

(a) In recommending any special exception, the board shall find that such grant will 

not adversely affect the public interest.  



 

 

(b) In recommending any special exception, the board may recommend appropriate 

conditions and safeguards in conformity with this chapter. Violation of such 

conditions and safeguards, when made a part of the terms under which the special 

exception is granted, shall be deemed a violation of this part 2.  

(9) In recommending authorization of any special use permit, special exception, or other 

such matters, the Planning and Zoning Board shall provide a reasonable period of time, 

which in no event shall exceed a period of one year, during which action on such 

approval must be commenced. The commencement of such action shall be deemed to 

have occurred upon obtaining any required building permits and commencing substantial 

construction and keeping such construction underway, or commencing the activity for 

which any such special exception or special use permit has been granted. Upon timely 

application within such period of time, the planning and zoning board may recommend 

extension of any such period of time for an additional period of six months. Any approval 

on which action has not been commenced within the period of time allowed by the board 

of commissioners, or within a period of one year if no such reasonable period of time 

has been set forth by the board of commissioners, shall be deemed to have been 

withdrawn and shall be void, and any action or approval thereon shall be deemed void.  

F. Zoning requests requiring site plan review as specified in sections 90-73 and 90-237. For the 

purposes of determining what constitutes a variance, all site planning design criteria, traffic 

circulation and landscaping standards contained in section 90-237 comprise nonbinding 

guidelines for the town planning and zoning board, and any proposed deviations from those 

guidelines do not constitute a variance under this chapter.  

G. [Appeals.] All applicants for appeals to the planning and zoning board must submit an 

application form. This application form is available at the Town Hall.  

Sec. 90-76. Appointment of special magistrate for variance requests; powers and duties. 

The board of commissioners shall appoint such special magistrate as may be deemed 

necessary or required from time to time to hear variance requests filed with the town. Such special 

magistrate shall have the following powers and duties:  

A. Authorize such variance, as herein defined, from the terms of this chapter, other than 

those establishing zoning and density, as will not be contrary to the public interest when, 

owing to special conditions, a literal enforcement of the provisions of this part 2 would 

result in unnecessary and undue hardship and when the requested variance meets all the 

requirements set forth herein.  

B. In order to authorize any variance from the terms of this chapter, the special magistrate 

must find:  

(1) That special conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the land, 

structure or building involved and which are not applicable to other lands, structures 

or buildings in the same zoning district.  

(2) That the special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the 

applicant.  



 

 

(3) That granting the variance requested will not confer on the applicant any special 

privilege that is denied by this chapter to other lands, buildings or structures in the 

same zoning district.  

(4) That literal interpretation of the provisions of this chapter would deprive the 

applicant of rights commonly enjoyed by other properties in the same zoning 

district under the terms of this chapter and would work unnecessary and undue 

hardship on the applicant.  

(5) That the variance granted is the minimum variance that will make possible the 

reasonable use of the land, building or structure.  

(6) That the grant of the variance will be in harmony with the general intent and purpose 

of this chapter, and that such variance will not be injurious to the area involved or 

otherwise detrimental to the public welfare.  

C. In granting any variance, the special magistrate may prescribe appropriate conditions 

and safeguards in conformity with this chapter. Violation of such conditions and 

safeguards, when made a part of the terms under which the variance is granted, shall be 

deemed a violation of this chapter.  

D. In authorizing any variance, the special magistrate shall provide a reasonable period of 

time, which in no event shall exceed a period of one year, during which action on such 

approval must be commenced. No variance shall be good for a period exceeding one 

year from its authorization, unless action has been commenced for construction in 

accordance with the variance. The commencement of such action shall be deemed to 

have occurred upon obtaining any required building permits and commencing substantial 

construction and keeping such construction underway. Upon timely application within 

such period of time, the special magistrate may extend any such period of time for an 

additional period of six months. Any approval on which action has not been commenced 

within the period of time allowed by the special magistrate, or within a period of one 

year if no such reasonable period of time has been set forth by the special magistrate, 

shall be deemed to have been withdrawn and shall be void, and any action or approval 

thereon shall be deemed void.  

E. Under no circumstances, except as permitted above, shall the special magistrate grant a 

variance to permit a use not generally or by special exception permitted in the zoning 

district involved or by any use expressly or by implication prohibited by the terms of this 

chapter in the zoning district. No nonconforming use of neighboring lands, structures or 

buildings in the same zoning district and no permitted use of lands, structures or 

buildings in other zoning districts shall be considered grounds for the authorization of a 

variance.  

F. This section shall apply to any variances hereinafter or heretofore granted. Any variance 

that has been granted prior to the effective date of this section shall have a period of one 

year from the effective date of this section in which action on such variance shall be 

commenced. Action on such variance shall be deemed to have been commenced upon 

the issuance of a land development permit (building permit) for the construction for 

which the variance was granted, and by continuing to keep such land development permit 

current, as required by the building code. Any variance heretofore granted for which 



 

 

action is not commenced pursuant to this section within a period of one year of the 

effective date of this section shall be deemed to be vacated and void.  

G. Additional variance procedures for communication towers.  

(1) In the event an applicant for a tower or antenna is required to apply for a variance 

to the section or other related section of the town Code, in addition to the variance 

criteria set forth above, the following additional criteria shall be used:  

(a) The variance, if granted, will result in the opportunity for co-location and 

thereby reduce the number of towers necessary to provide telecommunication 

services within the town.  

(b) The proposed location must have a commercial, institutional or 

public/semipublic regulatory land use classification. In addition, the applicant 

must demonstrate to the reasonable satisfaction of the board that no existing 

tower or structure can accommodate the applicant's proposed tower or antenna.  

Sec. 90-77. Appeals to board of commissioners. 

A. Any person aggrieved or any officer or bureau of the town affected by any decision of the 

building department of said town may appeal to the board of commissioners. Appeals to the 

board of commissioners, other than those initiated by either elected or appointed officials of 

the town, shall be accompanied by a fee as required by the town's current fee schedule, which 

shall not be refunded for failure to grant the relief requested. All applicants for appeals to the 

board of commissioners must submit an application form, which application form is available 

at the Town Hall. Notice of appeal shall be in writing and filed with the town clerk within ten 

calendar days after the date of the hearing or entry of the order, whichever is later.  

B. Procedure. Whenever a notice of appeal has been filed, the building department shall 

forthwith transmit to the board all the papers constituting the record upon which the action 

appealed from was taken.  

C. Stay. An appeal stays all proceedings in furtherance of the action appealed from, unless the 

officer from whom the appeal is taken certifies to the board of commissioners, after the notice 

of appeal shall have been filed with him or her, that by reason of facts stated in the certificate 

a stay would, in his or her opinion, cause imminent peril to life and property. In such case, 

proceedings shall not be stayed other than by a restraining order granted by a court of 

competent jurisdiction, on application or notice to the officer from whom the appeal is taken 

and on due cause shown.  

D. Appearance and oath. Any party may appeal in person or by agent or by attorney. The 

presiding officer of the board may administer oaths and may compel the attendance of 

witnesses by subpoena.  

E. Recommendations of the board of commissioners shall be in writing and shall indicate the 

vote upon the recommendation; shall specify in what manner any modification is made, the 

conditions upon which it is made and the reason therefor; shall be filed in the office of the 

town clerk and shall be open to public inspection.  



 

 

 

Sec. 90-78. Appeals of decisions of planning and zoning board, special magistrate, and board  

of commissioners. 

Any person aggrieved or any officer of the town affected by any decision of the planning and 

zoning board, the special magistrate, or board of commissioners may appeal therefrom to circuit 

court as provided for in Chapter 163, Florida Statutes.  

Sec. 90-79 – 90-113. Reserved. 

 

PART 2. ZONING2 RESOURCES; VEGETATION AND ENVIRONMENTALLY 

SENSITIVE LAND 

ARTICLE XXIII. GENERAL PROVISIONSTITLE, PURPOSE AND APPLICABILITY 

Sec. 90-88. Short title. 

This part 2 shall be known as the "Town of Redington Shores Zoning Ordinance."  

Sec. 90-89. Purpose and interpretation. 

A. The purposes of these regulations are to reduce congestion and prevent overcrowding of the 

land; to secure safety from fire, flood and other danger; to promote health and the general 

welfare; to provide adequate light and air; to avoid undue concentration of population in order 

to facilitate the adequate provision of transportation, water, sewage, schools, parks and other 

public requirements; to conserve the value of the property and the natural environment; and 

to encourage the most appropriate use of the land within the area delineated on the official 

zoning map. Such regulations shall be consistent with Chapter 26164, Laws of Florida, 

Special Acts, 1949, and as amended by Chapter 57-1730, Laws of Florida, Special Acts, 1957, 

all in accordance with a Comprehensive Plan developed pursuant to the Florida Local 

Government Comprehensive Planning Act, F.S. § 163.3177.  

B. In interpreting and applying the provisions of this part 2, they shall be held to be those which 

are reasonable for the promotion of the public safety, health, convenience, comfort, morals, 

prosperity and general welfare.  

C. It is not intended by this part 2 to interfere with or abrogate or annul any ordinance, rules, 

regulations or permits previously adopted or issued pursuant to law relating to the use of 

buildings or premises and likewise not in conflict with this part 2, nor is it intended by this 

part 2 to interfere with or abrogate or annul any easements, covenants or other agreement 

between parties, except that if this part 2 imposes a greater restriction, this part 2 shall control.  

 

 

Commented [NM5]: Zoning moved to Part 3 



 

 

 

Sec. 90-90. Applicability. 

A. No building, structure or land shall be used or occupied and no building or part thereof shall 

be erected, moved or structurally altered unless in conformity with the regulations of this part 

2. However, the regulations of this part 2 shall not require any change to any building, 

structure or use legally existing at the effective date of this part 2 or any addition thereto 

except as regards nonconforming uses as provided for in section 90-114, provided that such 

use shall be in compliance with other public safety provisions of the Code of the Town of 

Redington Shores as to setbacks, off-street parking and Federal Flood Insurance Program 

hazard-reduction factors.  

B. Neither this part 2 nor any provision thereof shall apply to the use or construction by the Town 

of Redington Shores, Florida, of or upon lands or interest therein owned by said town or lands, 

parks, easements, rights-of-way, streets, alleys and thoroughfares dedicated or held for 

municipal purposes.  

Sec. 90-91. Codification. 

It is the intention of the town board of commissioners that the provisions of this part 2 shall 

become and be made a part of the Town of Redington Shores Code, and the publisher of the Town 

Code is hereby authorized to appropriately renumber or otherwise designate the provisions of this 

part 2 to accomplish proper inclusion into the existing Code.  

ARTICLE XXIII. DEFINITIONS 

Sec. 90-92. Word usage; terms defined. 

For the purpose of this part 2, certain terms and words are hereby defined. Words used in the 

present tense shall include the future; the singular number shall include the plural and the plural 

the singular; the word "building" includes the word "premises"; and the word "shall" is mandatory 

and not directory. Said definitions are as follows:  

Abandon—To discontinue a use for more than 180 consecutive days.  

Accessory use or structure—A use or a structure (attached or detached) subordinate to the 

principal use or building on the same lot and serving a purpose customarily incidental to the use 

of the principal building. Accessory structures must not include cooking facilities.  

Acreage, gross—Net acreage, when applicable, multiplied by 1.1 as recognition of a lot's or 

tract's approximate share of infrastructure land, exclusive of submerged lands or public road right-

of-way.  

Acreage, net—The fee simple (deeded) acreage contained in a given lot or tract as platted and 

recorded in the official records of Pinellas County, Florida.  

Advertising—The action of attracting public attention to a product, sale, property location, 

business, organization, event, public matter, political candidacy or advocacy of an issue on a ballot.  

Advertising structure—A structure erected or intended for advertising purposes, with or 

without advertisement display thereon, situated upon or attached to real property, upon which any 

poster, bill, printing, painting or device is fastened, affixed or displayed.  



 

 

Alley—A through public right-of-way of less than minimum required street width which 

affords only a secondary means of access to abutting property.  

Alteration—Any change, rearrangement, enlargement, extension or reduction of any structure 

or part thereof on the same site.  

Apartment house—See "dwelling unit, multiple."  

Approved plans—Plans and specifications which have met with the approval of the building 

inspector, the town building code and any ordinance and amendments thereto.  

Basement—A story having part but not more than one-half of its height below grade. A 

"basement," as herein defined, is counted a story for the purpose of height regulations.  

Beach—All lands fronting on the Gulf of Mexico seaward of the coastal construction control 

line, as established by the Florida Department of Natural Resources.  

Billboard—See "sign, off-premises."  

Boardinghouse—A building other than a hotel or motel where for compensation and by 

prearrangement meals or lodging and meals are provided for three or more persons, but not 

exceeding 20 persons.  

Building—Any habitable structure having a roof supported by columns or walls designed or 

built for the support, enclosure, shelter or protection of persons, animal, chattels or property of any 

kind.  

Building, height of—The vertical distance from the design flood elevation to the highest point 

of the eave of a flat roof or to the deckline of a mansard roof or to the average height of the highest 

gable of a pitch or hip roof.  

Carport/covered parking areas—A roofed structure open at two or more sides, either attached 

to or apart from the main structure on a lot, and used to park and shelter motor-driven vehicles.  

Certificate of occupancy—A certificate issued by the Town of Redington Shores for all 

residential dwellings and commercial and nonprofit establishments identifying the legal use of the 

property and any limitations thereto as established by ordinance or administrative procedure.  

Commercial/nonresidential (C-NR)—All commercial uses permitted in any district, but 

excluding dwellings, hotels and motels, boardinghouses and any other use which provides 

overnight sleeping accommodations.  

Commercial tourist uses—All uses permitted in the commercial tourist district identified in 

section 90-103.  

Commercial uses—All business uses listed in the general commercial (C-NR) zoning district, 

and those residential uses that are transient and multifamily greater than three units.  

Community services laundry—A building or portion of a building equipped with washing 

machines, drying and ironing machines, electric irons and other equipment and supplies used in 

the washing, drying and ironing of clothes, which are to be rented and used on the premises by the 

customer to launder his or her own washing.  

Condo-hotel—A hotel comprised of units that are owned by an individual, corporation or any 

other legal entity, having mandatory membership of all units in the structure into an association 

comprised of all owners of all units within the same development. All units must be made available 



 

 

for guest rental on a daily, weekly or monthly basis. Each unit is part of a larger complex of 

similarly situated units and is not to be used as a time-share or fractional interest. In addition, in 

order for a structure to be considered as a condo-hotel, it must be used in accordance with the 

provisions of section 90-103 H. and applicable state laws, as amended.  

Court—An open area or yard bounded on two or more sides by structural walls of a residential 

use building.  

Density—The measure of permitted development expressed as a maximum number of 

dwelling or transient accommodation units per gross acre of land area.  

Design flood elevation—The elevation of the "design flood," including wave height, relative 

to the datum specified on the community's legally designated flood hazard map. In areas designated 

as Zone AO, the design flood elevation shall be the elevation of the highest existing grade of the 

building's perimeter plus the depth number (in feet) specified on the flood hazard map. In areas 

designated as Zone AO where the depth number is not specified on the map, the depth number 

shall be taken as being equal to two feet. [Also defined in FBC, B, § 1612.2.] Flood Insurance Rate 

Map base flood elevation, plus freeboard as defined in Part 2.  

District, zoning—Any section of the town for which the regulations governing the use of 

building and premises or the height and area of buildings are uniform.  

Duplex—A building designed to contain two dwelling units on a single lot under a single roof.  

Duplex townhouse—A one-family dwelling attached to one other one-family dwelling by a 

common vertical wall, with each dwelling located on a separate lot. The minimum lot size shall 

not be less than 2,520 square feet.  

Dwelling, townhouse—A one-family dwelling attached in a series by common walls to at least 

two other one-family dwellings, with each dwelling located on a separate lot. Each townhouse 

must provide direct means of access from the outside. Furthermore, each dwelling unit shall be 

provided with cooking, sleeping and sanitary facilities for the use of each family or household of 

the townhouse. For the purpose of this part 2, a townhouse shall be a residential dwelling owned 

in fee simple.  

Dwelling unit—Any building or portion thereof which is designed or used exclusively for 

residential purposes. Each dwelling unit shall contain kitchen, bath and living areas designed or 

designated for the use of a single individual or family.  

Dwelling unit, multiple—One structure containing three or more dwelling units on a single 

lot.  

Dwelling unit, single-family—A building designed for or occupied exclusively by one family.  

Easement, subsurface—A grant by a property owner to another party of the use of the 

subsurface of his or her land for a specific purpose, such as for a conduit or pipe.  

Easement, surface—A grant by a property owner of the use of the surface of his or her land 

to another party for a specific purpose.  

Family—A group of one or more persons occupying a dwelling unit and living as a single 

housekeeping unit, as distinguished from a group occupying a boardinghouse, lodging house or 

hotel, as herein defined.  



 

 

Filling station—Any building or premises used solely or principally for the storing, 

dispensing, sale or offering for sale at retail of any vehicular or marine motor fuel or heating oil or 

propane.  

Floor area—The sum of the total area of all floors of a building.  

Floor area ratio (FAR)—A ratio of square footage of gross floor area divided by the square 

footage of land area, as applied to nonresidential uses.  

Floors—See "story."  

Frontage, street—That portion of a plot of real estate abutting a public or private vehicular 

thoroughfare.  

Frontage, water—That portion of a plot of real estate abutting the Gulf of Mexico, Boca Ciega 

Bay or any related waterways.  

Garage, commercial parking—A building or portion thereof used for parking motor-driven 

vehicles owned by persons not residing on the same premises.  

Garage, condominium or apartment parking—A structure accessory to a duplex or multiple 

dwelling used for parking motor-driven vehicles owned by persons residing on the same premises.  

Garage, private parking—A building accessory to a single-family dwelling, designed or used 

for parking of not more than three motor-driven vehicles owned and used by the occupants of the 

dwelling to which it is accessory.  

Garage, public—A building or portion thereof designed or used for servicing, repairing, 

equipping, hiring, selling or daily storage of motor-driven vehicles.  

Garage, storage—A building or portion thereof designed exclusively for long-term storage 

of motor-driven vehicles.  

Grade—For the purpose of regulating height of structures, excluding buildings the legal 

established grade shall be the highest point of that portion of any street bounding the land to be 

filled, altered or built upon.  

Gross floor area—See "floor area."  

Gross land area—For the purpose of computing density/intensity, that total land area within 

the property boundaries of the subject parcel, and specifically exclusive of any submerged land or 

public road right-of-way.  

Guest house—A building where lodging only is provided for compensation to three or more, 

but not exceeding 20, permanent guests or tenants.  

Height—The vertical distance between the design flood elevation to midpoint of a pitched 

roof or to the deckline of a mansard roof over highest floors, or the top of a flat roof if no rooftop 

structures other than mechanical equipment exist; or if half-story is being measured, the vertical 

distance between grade to the midpoint of the half-story.  

Home occupation—Any business or professional operation in or from a dwelling by a member 

or members of a family residing in said dwelling.  



 

 

Hotel and motel unit—Each room or suite with bath facilities which can be or is ever rented 

as a separate rental unit shall be deemed to be a "hotel or motel unit." The minimum square foot 

area for hotel and motel units is 200 square feet.  

Hotels and motels—Commercial enterprises offering rooms or suites for rent, holding a valid 

business tax receipt as a hotel or motel and operating under the jurisdiction of the state department 

of business regulation, division of hotels and restaurants.  

Impervious surface—A surface that has been compacted or covered with a layer of material 

so that it is highly resistant to or prevents infiltration by stormwater. It includes limerock or clay 

as well as most conventionally surfaced streets, roofs, sidewalks, parking lots and other similar 

surfaces.  

Impervious surface ratio (ISR)—A measure of the intensity of hard-surfaced development on 

a site. An impervious surface ratio is the relationship between the total impervious surface area on 

a site and the gross land area. The ISR is calculated by dividing the square footage of the area of 

all impervious surfaces on the site by the square footage of the gross land area.  

Infrastructure land—Streets, roads, parks, beach and other municipally owned open land.  

Kennel—Any of the conditions listed shall constitute a kennel for the purpose of this part 2: 

the maintenance of more than four adult dogs and/or cats over six months in age; the maintenance 

of more than one brood bitch maintained for active breeding; the production of more than two 

litters annually.  

Livestock maintenance—The maintenance of animals other than those commonly considered 

as household pets, including fowl, grazing farm animals, including horses, and wild animals of a 

type normally found in zoos. These animals are not permitted within the Town of Redington 

Shores, except as may be specially permitted by the planning and zoning board.  

Living area—The area actually occupied, including accessory unoccupied areas such as 

corridors, stairs, closets, thickness of walls, columns, toilet room, mechanical area or other 

features.  

Lodging house—A building where lodging only is provided for compensation to three or more 

but not exceeding 20 permanent guests or tenants.  

Lot—A parcel of subdivided real estate, improved or unimproved, platted and recorded in the 

office of the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Pinellas County.  

Lot, corner—A lot having frontage upon two or more streets at their intersection.  

Lot coverage—Includes the lot area covered by the ground floor of all principal and accessory 

uses and structures, including all areas covered by the roof of such uses and structures.  

Lot, depth of—The mean horizontal distance between the front and rear lot lines.  

Lot, double frontage (through lots)—A lot having a frontage on two streets, other than at any 

intersection of those streets.  

Lot, interior—A lot other than a corner lot.  

Lot lines—The lines bounding a lot.  

Lot of record—A lot, the map of which has been recorded in the office of the Clerk of the 

Circuit Court of Pinellas County.  



 

 

Lot width—The mean width measured at right angles to its depth.  

Marina—Any dock, pier or wall area used for the support, rental, maintenance, servicing or 

storage of more than two boats not the personal property of the proprietor.  

Minimum standard of improvements—Includes a paved road, connection with a water main 

providing a supply of potable water and a connection with the municipal sewer system.  

Nonconforming use—Any building or land lawfully occupied by a use at the time of passage 

of this part 2, or amendments thereto, which does not conform after the passage of this part 2, or 

amendments thereto, with the use regulations of the district in which it is situated.  

Open space—Any portion of a lot or parcel unoccupied and open to the sky.  

Ornamentation, sign—Any illustration, pictorial or other embellishment on signs or structures 

which relates to products or services of the business or is used to attract attention for business 

purposes.  

Parking space—An improved land surface area, enclosed or unenclosed, required for parking 

one automobile. For computation and plan review purposes, the minimum standard is 200 square 

feet per required vehicle space, excluding passageways.  

Person—Includes a natural person, corporation, general partnership, limited partnership, 

management group, owners' association, general association or any other group of two or more 

persons engaged in any cooperative effort for a common purpose.  

Plat—A map prepared and sealed by a professional engineer or land surveyor designating 

parcel boundaries, lots, rights-of-way and easements, suitable for recording as an official public 

record.  

Premises—An individual lot, including its building and accessory structures.  

Professional—Practitioners of healing arts and sciences, architects, engineers, lawyers, 

accountants and other occupations requiring comparable academic training, experience and public 

recognition.  

Public/semipublic uses—Those primary and secondary uses listed under the institutional, 

transportation/utility, recreation/open space, and preservation plan categories.  

Rental, transient—The rental of a structural unit (dwelling/hotel/ motel/lodging house/guest 

house) in the RM-15 District or in the RD-15 district to a tenant for any period of time less than 

one month, or in the RS-7 District or the RS-10 District to a tenant for any period of time less than 

181 consecutive days. As used in this definition, such term of "rental, transient" shall mean any 

rental of a dwelling unit, or any portion thereof, for less than the period of time as stated herein, 

and shall include any subletting or the use of such real property for overnight housing purposes, 

whether or not such overnight housing purposes involve consideration or remuneration specifically 

related to the housing of such tenant.  

Repair/maintenance—The repair or replacement of existing materials in a structure in a 

manner which does not result in any rearrangement, enlargement, extension or reduction of any 

structure or part thereof.  

Replat—A change in an existing plat which changes the existing boundaries of the platted lots 

for the purpose of creating more or fewer lots or to change the area and size of existing lots.  



 

 

Restorium, rest home or nursing home—Any building and premises used for housing and 

caring for the aged, convalescents or physically unfit, except persons suffering from mental 

ailments and persons so ill as to require regular hospitalization.  

Retail business—The sale of goods or services directly to the general public.  

Satellite antenna—Any spherical, parabolic or dish-like antenna structure used for receiving 

television or other signals from orbiting satellites or other devices. The height of the antenna is the 

maximum elevation of the top of the structure above grade to which the antenna is capable of being 

raised. A satellite antenna shall be considered as an accessory structure unless it is an integral part 

of a public utility (e.g., telephone system).  

Seawalls—Any hardening of the shore by the installation of a vertical wall where such 

structure is toed in within the waters of the town, county or state. This definition specifically 

excludes upland retaining walls located outside the waters of the town, county or state.  

Setback—Minimum distances specified between the nearest vertical wall of any construction 

on a lot and any of the lot boundaries or seawalls, whichever is closer.  

Sign—Any display of characters, letters, illustration or related ornamentation and the structure 

on which they are applied and supported, intended to draw attention to businesses, products or 

services and to promote their use or to identify properties, institutions or activities.  

Sign, animated—A sign with action or motion, including flashing lights or other changes in 

color or form, but not including wind-activated pennants or flags.  

Sign, banner—Any sign having characters, letters, illustrations or ornamentation applied to 

cloth, paper or sheeting of any kind hanging freely, not attached to solid backing or framing.  

Sign, billboard—A sign and/or sign structure advertising an establishment, merchandise, 

service or entertainment provided at a place other than on the property on which the sign is located.  

Sign, canopy—A sign attached, painted and/or made a part of an awning or other fixed shelter 

structure projected from a building.  

Sign, flat or wall—A sign erected on the wall or parallel to it and extending not more than 12 

inches from the wall and supported throughout its area by that building facade.  

Sign, marquee—A sign attached, printed, affixed or otherwise made a part of the flat forward 

edge or vertical side edge of a marquee.  

Sign, off-premises—A sign which directs attention to a business, commodity, service or 

entertainment conducted, sold or offered elsewhere than on the premises where the sign is located.  

Sign, painted, wall—A sign painted on any outside wall of any building.  

Sign, pole (pylon or freestanding)—A sign erected on a self-supporting advertising structure, 

including a pole or poles firmly installed into the surface of the ground, wholly independent of any 

building or other structure for support.  

Sign, political—A sign supporting the election or defeat of a candidate seeking political office 

or urging passage or defeat of any issue, question or other matter in a public election or referendum.  

Sign, portable—A sign readily movable (neither installed in the ground nor firmly affixed to 

a building or other structure). Examples are towable, A-frame or other signs that can be moved 

easily from the ground or are lightly attached to a structure.  



 

 

Sign, projecting—A sign attached to and projecting from the wall of any building at any angle.  

Sign, roof—A sign erected on or over the roofline of any building (cannot be part of a roof).  

Sign, swinging—A sign projecting from any structure and suspended in such a manner that 

all sides of the sign are not firmly attached permitting the sign to swing in one or more directions.  

Sign, temporary—A sign for a limited time or purpose, normally related to an occurrence of 

a predestined event, not permanently attached to a building or other structure and constructed of 

lightweight materials.  

Sign, window—A sign painted, taped, glued or otherwise mounted on a window or door of a 

business establishment.  

Special exception—A use that would not be appropriate generally or without restriction 

throughout the particular zoning district or classification, but which, if controlled as to number, 

area, location or relation to the neighborhood, would not adversely affect the public health, safety, 

comfort, good order, appearance, convenience, morals and the general welfare.  

Special use permit—A permit issued by the planning and zoning board or the town clerk for 

uses defined as special uses within this part 2 in accordance with procedures specified in section 

90-111 D.  

Spot zoning—Any zoning different from the zoning of property on both sides of the subject 

property.  

Story—That portion of a building included between the surface of any floor and the surface 

of the floor next above it or, if there is no floor above it, then the space between the floor and the 

ceiling next above it.  

Story, half—A space under a sloping roof which has the line of intersection of roof decking 

above the top floor level exceeding three feet in height if usable and in which space not more than 

two-thirds of the floor area is finished for use. A half story shall not contain independent 

apartments or living quarters.  

Street—All property dedicated or intended for public or private street purposes or subject to 

public easements therefor. The minimum width shall be 35 feet.  

Street line—A dividing line between a lot, tract or parcel of land and a contiguous street.  

Structure—Anything constructed, erected or installed, whether permanent or portable, the use 

of which requires location on the ground or attached to something having a location on the ground. 

When a building is divided into separate parts by unpierced walls, each part shall be deemed a 

separate building. It ("structure") includes a movable structure while it is located on the land which 

can be used for housing, business, commercial, agricultural or office purposes, either temporarily 

or permanently. "Structure" also includes signs and swimming pools, etc.  

Supermarket—A market in excess of 10,000 square feet of floor space specializing in 

groceries and household sundries.  

Tenant—A person or persons occupying a dwelling unit to which he or she does not hold title. 

Where two or more persons simultaneously occupy such a dwelling unit under a common rental 

arrangement, the singular term "tenant" shall include all such persons.  



 

 

Tract—A parcel of real estate, platted but not subdivided into lots, recorded in the office of 

the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Pinellas County.  

Transfer of development rights—The conveyance of development rights, which are 

transferrable pursuant to the provisions of this Code, by deed, easement, or other legal instrument 

authorized by this Code, to another parcel of land or within the same parcel of land, and the 

recording of that conveyance pursuant to this Code.  

Transient accommodation unit—An individual room or rooms within a transient 

accommodation use designed to be rented as a single unit for temporary occupancy of a limited 

duration, and without independent cooking or kitchen facilities.  

Transient accommodation use—A facility containing one or more transient accommodation 

units, the occupancy of which occurs, or is offered or advertised as being available, for a term of 

less than one month, more than three times in any twelve-month period. In determining whether a 

property is used as a transient accommodation use, such determination shall be made without 

regard to the form of ownership interest in the property or unit; and without regard to whether the 

right of occupancy arises from a rental agreement, or other agreement, or payment of 

consideration.  

Transient rental—See "rental, transient."  

Vacation rental—Any dwelling unit or residence, including, but not limited to, any unit or 

group of units in a condominium, cooperative, or apartment building, that is rented in whole or in 

part to a transient occupant for a period of less than 30 days or one calendar month, whichever is 

less, or which is advertised or held out to the public as a place that may be rented to a transient 

occupant, but shall not include a hotel or motel as defined in this Code.  

Variance—A modification of this part 2 or of regulations issued pursuant thereto when such 

variance will not be contrary to the public interest and when, owing to conditions peculiar to the 

property and not the result of actions of the applicant, a literal enforcement of this part 2 would 

result in unnecessary and undue hardship.  

Vehicle—Any automobile, trailer, motor home, truck, bus, motorcycle, moped or any other 

conveyance designed for operation on the streets or highways and normally requiring the issuance 

of a license plate or license tag.  

Yard—An open space, other than a court, on the same lot with a building, unoccupied and 

unobstructed by any portion of a structure from the ground upward, except as otherwise provided 

herein. In measuring a yard for the purpose of determining the width of a side yard, the depth of a 

front yard or the depth of a rear yard, the minimum horizontal distance between the lot line and 

the main building, nearest wall or other vertical part of the structure shall be used.  

Yard, front—A yard extending across the front of a lot between the side yard lines and being 

the minimum horizontal distance between the street line and the main building.  

Yard, rear—A yard extending across the rear of a lot measured between side lot lines and 

being the minimum horizontal distance between the rear of the main building and the rear lot 

property line or inside of the seawall, whichever is closer. On the corner lots, the rear yard shall 

be considered as parallel to the street upon which the lot has its least dimension. On interior lots, 

the rear yard shall in all cases be at the opposite end of the lot from the front yard.  



 

 

Yard, side—A yard between the nearest wall or other vertical part of the structure and the side 

line of the lot and extending from the front line to the rear lot line.  

(Ord. No. 08-04, 7-9-2008; Ord. No. 10-01, 7-14-2010; Ord. No. 10-05, 7-14-2010; Ord. No. 15-

01, § 4, 4-8-2015; Ord. No. 20-06, § 2, 8-12-2020; Ord. No. 21-06, § 3, 10-13-2021) 

Editor's note(s)—Ord. No. 10-05 also provided that it should be retroactive to and concurrent with 

the adoption of Ord. No. 08-04 on 7-9-2008.  

ARTICLE XXIV. ESTABLISHMENT OF ZONING DISTRICTS 

Sec. 90-93. Districts enumerated. 

In order to classify, regulate and restrict the location of trades, industries and the location of 

buildings designed for specified uses, to regulate and limit the intensity of the use of lots and to 

regulate and determine the area of yards, courts and other open spaces surrounding buildings, the 

town is hereby divided into districts, of which there shall be 11 in number, known as:  

 RS-7  Low-density residential  

RS-10  Medium/low-density residential  

RD-15  Medium-density duplex residential  

RM-15  Medium/high-density multiresidential  

ROR-15  Residential/office/retail  

CTF  Commercial tourist facilities  

C-NR  General commercial  

PUD  Planned unit development  

PP  Outdoor recreation/public open space  

PI  Public/semipublic institutional  

GBO  Gulf Boulevard Overlay  

 

Sec. 90-93.1. Correlation of zoning districts and future land use plan categories. 

The table below shows the correlation between the town's zoning districts and future land use 

plan categories. The Gulf Boulevard Overlay District is not represented, as it is an overlay district 

addressing design standards and its boundaries are established in Figure 90-107-A [in section 90-

107 A].  

 Future Land Use  

Plan Categories  

Zoning Districts  

RS-7  RS-

10  

RD-

15  

RM-

15  

ROR-

15  

CTF  C-

NR  

PUD  PP  PI  

Residential Urban 

(RU)  

X         X    

 Residential Low 

Medium (RLM)  

  X        X    

 Residential Medium 

(RM)  

   X       X    

 Residential High 

(RH)  

    X      X    



 

 

 

 Commercial General 

(CG)  

       X  X    

 Resort Facilities 

Medium (RFM)  

      X    X    

 Residential/ Office/ 

Retail (R/O/R)  

     X     X    

 Institutional (I)          X    X  

Transportation/Utility 

(T/U)  

          X  

Recreation/Open 

Space (R/OS)  

         X   

 Preservation (P)            

 

X = Zoning district is consistent with the future land use plan category.  

Blank = Zoning district is not consistent with the future land use plan category.  

(Ord. No. 10-01, 7-14-2010) 

Sec. 90-94. Zoning map. 

The locations and boundaries of these districts are established as shown on the current Zoning 

Map of the Town of Redington Shores. The zoning map is hereby made a part of this part 2. The 

zoning map shall be identified by the signature of the mayor-commissioner, attested by the town 

clerk and bear the seal of the town. The official zoning map shall be maintained on display in the 

Town Hall.  

Sec. 90-95. Interpretation of boundaries. 

If uncertainty exists as to the boundary of any district shown on the Zoning Map, the Planning 

and Zoning Board shall determine the location of such boundaries. Generally, district boundaries 

are either streets, alleys or lot lines unless otherwise shown.  

ARTICLE XXV. DISTRICT USE REGULATIONS 

Sec. 90-96. General provisions. 

A. Except as hereinafter provided, no building shall be erected, converted, enlarged, 

reconstructed or structurally altered nor shall any building or land be used which does not 

comply with all of the district regulations established by this part 2 for the district in which 

the building or land is located. No mobile home parks (trailer parks) shall be permitted in the 

Town of Redington Shores, Florida.  

B. No building or other facility, such as a swimming pool, shall be built nearer than 20 feet to a 

seawall; provided, however, that where a lot has a depth of less than 100 feet, the building or 

other facility may be constructed not nearer than a distance equal to 20 percent of the depth 

of the lot, but in no case less than 15 feet, in order that tieback access be protected. As an 

alternative to the above with regard to seawall tiebacks, a swimming pool may be constructed 

nearer to the seawall if the seawall cap is replaced with a new cap designed and certified to 



 

 

be adequate by a licensed Florida structural/civil engineer, at least two feet high, minimum, 

by a width to be designed and certified to be adequate by a licensed Florida structural/civil 

engineer, with adequate reinforcing and tiebacks flanking the swimming pool with adequate 

tieback anchors. The beam of such seawall cap shall be not less than the length of the 

swimming pool plus three feet on each side. In this instance, a swimming pool may be 

constructed within six feet from the water's edge of the pool to the water's side face of the 

seawall cap.  

C. On property fronting on the Gulf of Mexico, no seawall shall be constructed seaward of the 

coastal construction control line; no bearing wall shall be constructed less than 25 feet 

landward of that line; and no recreational facility, such as swimming pools, shall be 

constructed less than 18 feet landward of that line.  

D. The word "density," when used in this part 2, is an expression of the permitted number of 

structural units (dwelling/hotel/motel/lodging house/guest house) per net acre, as herein 

defined, and is expressed as units per acre or "u/a." The total number of units permitted on a 

lot or tract shall be calculated by multiplying the allowed density by the gross acreage, as 

herein defined, of the lot or tract. Less than whole numbers of total permitted units shall in 

all cases be rounded off to the next lower whole number. The exception is in the RD-15 land 

use district only, if a lot has an existing single-family dwelling, the lot may be developed for 

a duplex containing two living units, provided other dimensional lot requirements are met, in 

order to provide uniformity throughout the land use district. Under no circumstances shall the 

exception herein stated be deemed to permit more than three units on any combined two lots.  

E. All land use and land development shall be in accordance with the town's comprehensive 

plan, the countywide comprehensive plan and rules and these regulations. Where these 

regulations differ from the town's comprehensive plan or the countywide comprehensive plan 

and rules, the more restrictive of the two shall be applied.  

F. Spot zoning is not desirable and should be discouraged.  

Sec. 90-97. RS-7 low-density residential district. 

The following regulations shall apply in the RS-7 low-density residential district:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Single-family detached dwellings.  

(2) Municipally owned or operated parks and playgrounds.  

(3) Accessory structures.  

B. Special uses requiring a permit shall be as follows:  

(1) Home occupations.  

C. Transient rentals, as defined by the Code, are specifically prohibited in the RS-7 district.  

D. Minimum lot dimensions.  

(1) Minimum lot dimensions shall be as follows:  

 Type  Lot Area of 3,500 to 4,999 Square 

Feet  

Lot Area of 5,000 or More Square 
Feet  



 

 

Lot width  45 feet  50 feet  

Lot depth  75 feet  90 feet  

Front yard  20 feet  20 feet  

Side yard  5 feet  5 feet  

Rear yard  15 feet  20 feet*  

Height  2½ stories, not to exceed  2½ stories, not to exceed  

  30 feet  30 feet  

Lot coverage  40%  40%  

Pervious surface  30%  30%  

*NOTE: Where a lot has a depth of less than 100 feet, then a building or other structure may be constructed not 

nearer to the rear lot line or inside of the seawall than a distance equal to 20% of the depth of the lot, and in no 

case nearer than 15 feet to said rear lot line or inside of the seawall, whichever is closer.  

 

(2) Every lot shall have an area of not less than 5,808 square feet, except that if a lot 

has less area than herein required and the plat thereof was of record at the time of 

passing of this part 2, such lot may be used for a single-family dwelling in 

conformity with other provisions of this section.  

(3) Maximum building height shall be two and one-half stories, not to exceed 30 feet.  

E. Minimum living area shall be as follows:  

(1) First floor: 1,000 square feet.  

(2) Second floor: 500 square feet.  

F. Maximum density. A maximum of seven and one-half residential dwelling units per acre 

are permitted within this district.  

G. Government/public service uses shall not exceed a maximum area of three acres. Such 

uses or contiguous like uses in excess of this threshold shall require the parcel to be 

amended to the PI zoning district and to the appropriate comprehensive plan category.  

H. See also chapter 90, parts 1 and 2; §§ 90-108 and 90-138; and chapter 133, article I, 

business tax and business tax receipts.  

(Ord. No. 10-05, 7-14-2010; Ord. No. 15-01, § 5, 4-8-2015; Ord. No. 21-06, § 3, 10-13-2021) 

Sec. 90-98. RS-10 medium/low-density residential district. 

The following regulations shall apply in the RS-10 medium/low-density residential district:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Single-family dwellings.  

(2) Municipally owned or operated parks and playgrounds.  

(3) Accessory structures.  

B. Special uses requiring a permit shall be as follows:  

(1) Home occupations.  



 

 

C. Transient rentals, as defined by the Code, are specifically prohibited in the RS-10 

district.  

D. Minimum lot dimensions.  

(1) Minimum lot dimensions shall be as follows:  

 Type  Lot Area of 3,500 to 

4,000 Square Feet  

Lot Area of 4,001 to 

4,999 Square Feet  
Lot Area of 5,000 or More 
Square Feet  

Lot width  40 feet  45 feet  50 feet  

Lot depth  50 feet  75 feet  90 feet  

Front yard  15 feet  20 feet  20 feet  

Side yard  5 feet  5 feet  5 feet  

Rear yard  10 feet  15 feet  20 feet*  

Height  2½ stories, not to  

exceed 30 feet  

2½ stories, not to  

exceed 30 feet  
2½ stories, not to  
exceed 30 feet  

Lot coverage  45%  40%  40%  

Pervious surface  30%  30%  30%  

*NOTE: Where a lot has a depth of less than 100 feet, then a building or other structure may be constructed not 

nearer to the rear lot line or inside of the seawall than a distance equal to 20% of the depth of the lot, and in no 

case nearer than 15 feet to said rear lot line or inside of the seawall, whichever is closer.  

 

(2) Every lot shall have an area of not less than 4,356 square feet, except that if a lot 

has less area than herein required and the plat thereof was of record at the time of 

passing of this part 2, such lot may be permitted, if variance is warranted, a single-

family dwelling in conformity with other provisions of this section.  

(3) Maximum building height shall be two and one-half stories, not to exceed 30 feet.  

E. Minimum living area shall be as follows:  

(1) First floor: 1,000 square feet.  

(2) Second floor: 500 square feet.  

F. Maximum density. A maximum of 10.0 residential dwelling units per acre are permitted 

within this district.  

G. Government/public service uses shall not exceed a maximum area of three acres. Such 

uses or contiguous like uses in excess of this threshold shall require the parcel to be 

amended to the PI zoning district and to the appropriate comprehensive plan category.  

H. See also chapter 90, parts 1 and 2; sections 90-108 and 90-138; and Chapter 133, article 

I, business tax and business tax receipts.  

(Ord. No. 10-05, 7-14-2010; Ord. No. 15-01, § 6, 4-8-2015; Ord. No. 21-06, § 4, 10-13-2021) 

Sec. 90-99. RD-15 medium-density duplex residential district. 

The following regulations shall apply in the RD-15 medium-density duplex residential 

district:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  



 

 

(1) Single-family dwellings.  

(2) Duplexes.  

(3) Multifamily dwellings and townhouses, with the following limitations:  

(a) Maximum building height shall be two stories or 30 feet.  

(b) No such multifamily dwelling or townhouse shall exceed three living units in 

any structure.  

(c) There shall be a maximum of one such structure (maximum of three living 

units) on any platted or replatted lot.  

(4) Municipally owned or operated parks and playgrounds.  

(5) Accessory structures and uses.  

(6) Single-family semidetached in accordance with subsections G. and H. below.  

B. Special uses requiring a permit shall be as follows:  

(1) Home occupations.  

(2) Parking lots.  

C. Transient rentals, as defined by the Code, are specifically prohibited in the RD-15 

district.  

D. Minimum lot dimensions shall be as follows:  

(1) Single-family dwellings and duplexes shall be governed by the minimum 

dimensions for lots of 5,000 square feet or more as contained in section 90-97.  

(2) Maximum density shall be 15 residential dwelling units per net acre.  

(3) Maximum building height for single-family and duplex dwellings shall be two and 

one-half stories or 30 feet.  

(4) Pervious surface shall be 30 percent of each lot.  

E. Minimum living area shall be as follows:  

(1) First floor: 1,000 square feet.  

(2) Second floor: 500 square feet.  

F. Government/public service uses shall not exceed a maximum area of three acres. Such 

uses or contiguous like uses in excess of this threshold shall require the parcel to be 

amended to the PI zoning district and to the appropriate comprehensive plan category.  

G. In the event that any structure located in the RD-15 district is damaged or destroyed by 

a hurricane, tornado, fire, flood, wind, storm or other natural disaster, or if any owner of 

a structure desires to replace the structure, even if such structure has not been damaged 

or destroyed by any such natural disaster, it can be replaced, repaired or reconstructed in 

a manner which guarantees that each unit and all permitted accessory uses can be 

restored to the same number of units, and square footage as determined by established 

setbacks and building height. Replacement, repairs and reconstruction shall adhere to all 

flood management regulations in effect.  



 

 

H. In accordance with subsection G above, a duplex structure in the RD-15 district and CTF 

district can be replaced with another duplex or, at the option of the owner, with a duplex 

townhouse. The single lot on which the duplex was located can be divided in two equal 

parts to allow each duplex townhouse to be located on a separate lot with each lot having 

frontage on a public right-of-way. Minimum setbacks for a semidetached structure shall 

be: side, five feet, one wall attached. Each development that includes a duplex 

townhouse shall submit a minor subdivision plat to the town for review, including a 

survey of the existing single lot and the proposed lots as divided, proposed structures 

and a means of maintenance of attached and common portions of the structure (i.e., the 

roof and common wall) by way of a homeowners' association or other legal document. 

Such lots can only be created if approved by the Building Commissioner, and if so 

approved, shall be noted in the town's records, and the lot configuration and 

homeowners' association or other legal document shall be recorded by the property 

owner in the records of Pinellas County, with a recorded copy filed with the town.  

I. See also chapter 90, parts 1 and 2; sections 90-108 and 90-138; and chapter 133, article 

I, business tax and business tax receipts.  

(Ord. No. 10-05, 7-14-2010; Ord. No. 15-01, § 7, 4-8-2015) 

Sec. 90-100. RM-15 medium/high-density multiresidential district. 

The following regulations shall apply in the RM-15 medium/high-density multiresidential 

district:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Single-family dwellings.  

(2) Duplexes.  

(3) Multifamily dwellings and townhouses.  

(4) Municipally owned or operated parks and playgrounds.  

(5) Accessory structures and uses.  

B. Special uses requiring a permit shall include the following:  

(1) Home occupations.  

(2) Private, nonprofit recreational uses or social uses where membership is limited to 

adjacent residential areas.  

(3) Nonresidential use shall not exceed a floor area ratio (FAR) of forty hundredths 

(.40), nor an impervious surface ratio (ISR) of seventy hundredths (.70).  

(4) Accessory off-street parking lots and retention facilities as part of an abutting office 

or commercial use are allowed as a special exception in the RM-15 zoning district. 

Such accessory uses are allowed when the abutting office or commercial use abuts 

Gulf Boulevard and gains access through the abutting office or commercial use.  

C. Transient rentals, as defined by the Code, are specifically prohibited in the RM-15 

district.  



 

 

D. Single-family dwellings and duplexes:  

(1) Minimum lot sizes for single-family dwellings and duplexes shall be 6,000 square 

feet.  

(2) Other lot dimensions, height restrictions and minimum living areas for such 

structures shall be governed by those established for lots of 5,000 square feet or 

more contained in section 90-97.  

E. Multifamily dwellings and townhouses:  

(1) Multifamily dwellings and townhouses shall be governed by the minimum lot 

dimensions established under the site plan review procedures described in section 

90-110.  

(2) Maximum density shall be 15 residential dwellings per net acre.  

(3) Maximum building height shall be four stories of living area, and no building or 

structure shall exceed 45 feet in height, except that in the area east of Gulf 

Boulevard and north of 177th Terrace, the maximum height shall be two stories of 

living area, exclusive of ground-level parking and utility space, and no building or 

structure shall exceed 30 feet in height.  

(4) Subject to site plan approval, height and density bonuses may be earned as follows:  

(a) Under-building, off-street parking in an amount sufficient to constitute a 

significant addition to the basic requirements of this part 2, zoning, will earn 

a bonus of one additional living story, an additional ten feet in height, with a 

maximum density of 20 residential dwelling units per net acre.  

(b) Side setbacks on those sides of the lot or tract perpendicular to Gulf Boulevard 

equal to one-half of the width of the lot or tract, but in no case less than 30 feet 

on the lesser side, will earn a bonus of one additional living story, an additional 

ten feet in height, with a maximum density of 20 residential dwelling units per 

net acre.  

(c) A combination of under-building parking and additional setbacks as 

prescribed in subsection D.(4)(a) and (b) above will earn a bonus of two 

additional living stories, an additional 20 feet in height, with a maximum 

density of 25 residential dwelling units per net acre.  

(d) Under no circumstances shall the maximum of six living stories, 65 feet height 

or a maximum density of 25 residential dwelling units per net acre be 

exceeded, except that in the area east of Gulf Boulevard and north of 177th 

Terrace, the maximum height shall be four living stories and 50 feet.  

(e) Under no circumstances shall the density permitted exceed that allowed in the 

town and/or countywide future land use plan, whichever is more restrictive.  

F. Side setbacks as open areas. To ensure maintenance of open vistas, no structures or 

plantings will be permitted in the side setback open areas without prior approval of the 

planning and zoning board.  

G. Minimum living area shall be as follows:  



 

 

(1) First floor: 1,000 square feet.  

(2) Second floor: 500 square feet.  

H. See also chapter 90, parts 1 and 2; section 90-108 and 90-138; and chapter 133, article 

I, business tax and business tax receipts.  

(Ord. No. 10-05, 7-14-2010; Ord. No. 15-01, § 8, 4-8-2015) 

Sec. 90-101. ROR-15 residential/office/retail district. 

In the ROR-15 residential/office/retail district, the following regulations shall apply:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Multiple-family dwellings.  

(2) Commercial buildings.  

(3) Combination multiple-family residential/office/retail buildings.  

(4) For purely commercial buildings, all uses permitted in the C-NR district except 

automotive, bars, restaurants, lounges and all special uses requiring a permit.  

(5) For combination residential/office/retail buildings, all uses permitted in the purely 

commercial buildings except fast-food service, bakeries, hardware stores, food 

stores, restaurants and office reproduction facilities.  

B. Special uses shall be as follows: None.  

C. Minimum lot dimensions and density.  

(1) All permitted uses shall be governed by the minimum lot dimensions established 

under site plan review procedures described in section 90-110, and residential 

density shall not exceed 15 units per net acre.  

(2) Maximum height of all buildings in the ROR-15 zoning district shall be three 

stories, not to exceed 30 feet.  

(3) Pervious surface shall be 20 percent of each lot.  

(4) Transient accommodation uses shall not exceed 25 units per acre.  

D. Intensity regulations. Nonresidential uses shall not exceed a floor area ratio (FAR) of 

forty hundredths (.40), nor an impervious surface ratio (ISR) of eighty hundredths (.80).  

E. Mixed use shall not exceed, in combination, the respective number of units per acre and 

the floor area ratio permitted, when allocated in their respective proportion to the total 

lot area. Mixed uses shall not exceed a maximum impervious surface ratio (ISR) of 

eighty hundredths (.80).  

F. See also chapter 90, parts 1 and 2; section 90-108 and section 90-138; and chapter 133, 

article I, business tax and business tax receipts.  

(Ord. No. 15-01, § 9, 4-8-2015) 



 

 

Sec. 90-102. C-NR general commercial district. 

In the C-NR general commercial district, the following regulations shall apply:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) General commercial uses, limited to:  

(a) Real estate.  

(b) Travel agencies.  

(c) Medical, dental and eye doctors, including other similar health-related 

professions.  

(d) Professional services.  

(e) Brokerage houses.  

(f) Financial institutions.  

(g) Studio schools: art, sculpture, music, dance, pottery and like instruction.  

(h) Automotive service facilities, excluding body repair and major vehicular 

repair.  

(i) Office reproduction services.  

(j) Barbershops, salon/day spas, and beauty parlors.  

(k) Laundromat and dry-cleaning pickup facilities.  

(l) Shoe repair shops.  

(m) Tailors.  

(n) Pharmacies.  

(o) Bakeries, selling at retail on premises.  

(p) Hardware stores.  

(q) Florists.  

(r) Food stores.  

(s) Restaurants.  

(t) Variety stores, sundries.  

(u) Stationery, book, tobacco shops.  

(v) Liquor stores.  

(w) Novelty stores.  

(x) Television and appliance stores, sales and service.  

(y) Specialty shops: men's, women's, children's clothing, shoes and similar 

apparel shops.  

(z) Photographic supplies and studios.  



 

 

(aa) Sporting goods stores.  

(bb) Bars/restaurants/lounges.  

(cc) Antique shops.  

(dd) Gift shops.  

(ee) Fast-food service, snack bars (non-drive-in or drive-through).  

(ff) Drugstores.  

(gg) Telecommunication towers and antennas.  

[1] Telecommunication transmission towers or antennas and accessory 

buildings east of Gulf Boulevard, south of 180th Avenue, but north 

of Shells Restaurant, or west of Gulf Boulevard at Town Hall 

property and east of Gulf Boulevard between 174th Terrace Drive 

and 174th Avenue, properties zoned CNR, commercial, 

institutional, semipublic or public, or on existing buildings in excess 

of 86 feet zoned RM-15, west of Gulf Boulevard, north of Coral 

Avenue, but south of 180th Avenue West; also within the Town of 

Redington Shores in areas zoned RM-15 west of Gulf Boulevard, 

north of 174th Avenue, but south of 175th Terrace Drive.  

[2] Towers and antennas that increase the height of any building or 

structure are prohibited from being attached to any new or existing 

structure. Structures to qualify for the supporting of antennas shall 

be a minimum of 86 feet in height. Antennas shall be attached to the 

sides and made obscure from vision with neutral color similar to that 

of the structure. Antennas preexisting this subsection used for the 

sole private use, such as emergency communication for that 

institution, shall be considered grandfathered.  

[3] A permit shall be required as described in section 133-21*3.  

[4] Definitions. As used in this subsection, the following terms shall 

have the meanings indicated:  

Antenna—Any exterior apparatus designed for telephonic, radio or 

television communications, through the sending or receiving of 

electromagnetic waves.  

FAA—The Federal Aviation Administration.  

FCC—The Federal Communications Commission.  

Tower—Any structure that is designed and constructed primarily for the 

purpose of supporting one or more antenna lattice towers, guy towers, or 

monopole towers. The term includes, but is not limited to, radio and 

 

3*Editor's note—Former § 133-21, regarding required permits for telecommunications services, was superseded 
by the provisions of Ord. No. 01-08, adopted 7-10-2001. See now Ch. 133, Art. II, Local Communications 
Services Tax.  



 

 

television transmission towers, microwave, common carrier and cellular 

towers.  

(2) Government/public service uses, limited to:  

(a) Police station.  

(b) Fire station.  

(c) Library.  

(d) Post office.  

(e) Town Hall.  

(f) Churches.  

(3) Accessory uses and structures for all permitted uses.  

B. Special uses requiring a permit shall be as follows:  

(1) Commercial uses, limited to:  

(a) Garden supplies and plant nurseries.  

(b) Gas and service stations.  

(c) Marinas and light marine repair facilities.  

(d) Laundry and dry-cleaning facilities.  

(e) Department stores.  

(f) Furniture stores.  

(g) Supermarkets.  

(h) Parking garages.  

(i) Passenger car rentals.  

(j) Delivery services.  

(2) Commercial recreation uses, limited to:  

(a) Health clubs.  

(b) Gymnasiums.  

(c) Miniature golf courses.  

(d) Movie theaters.  

(e) Fishing piers.  

(f) Tennis clubs.  

(g) Shuffleboard clubs.  

C. Minimum lot dimensions. All general commercial uses shall be governed by the 

minimum lot dimensions established under the site plan review procedures described in 

section 90-110.  



 

 

(1) Maximum building height is three stories, not to exceed 30 feet.  

(2) Pervious surface shall be 20 percent of each lot.  

D. Intensity regulations. No use shall exceed a floor area ratio (FAR) of 0.55, nor an 

impervious surface ratio (ISR) of 0.80.  

E. Government/public service uses shall not exceed a maximum area of five acres. Such 

uses or contiguous like uses in excess of this threshold shall require the parcel to be 

amended to the PI zoning district and to the appropriate comprehensive plan category.  

F. See also chapter 90, parts 1 and 2; section 90-108 and section 90-138; and chapter 133, 

article I, business tax and business tax receipts.  

(Ord. No. 15-01, § 10, 4-8-2015) 

Sec. 90-103. CTF commercial tourist facilities district. 

The following regulations shall apply in the CTF commercial tourist facilities district:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Hotels and motels.  

(2) Lodging and guest houses.  

(3) General commercial uses permitted in the C-NR district.  

(4) Accessory uses and structures for all permitted uses.  

(5) Single-family dwellings.  

(6) Duplexes.  

B. Special uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Commercial recreation uses permitted with special permit in the C-NR district.  

(2) Accessory off-street parking lots and retention facilities as part of an abutting office 

or commercial use are allowed as a special exception in the CTF commercial tourist 

facilities zoning district. Such accessory uses are allowed when the abutting office 

or commercial use abuts Gulf Boulevard and gains access through the abutting 

office or commercial use.  

(3) Municipally owned parking lots.  

C. Minimum lot dimensions. All permitted uses shall be governed by the minimum lot 

dimensions established under site plan review procedures described in section 90-110.  

(1) Maximum height of all hotels and motels shall be the same as for multiple dwellings 

in the RM-15 district. A height and density bonus as described in the RM-15 district 

shall apply.  

(2) In no case will the maximum of six living stories, not to exceed 65 feet in height, 

or 25 transient accommodation units per acre be exceeded. Each rental unit shall 

contain a minimum floor area of 200 square feet and shall contain complete 

bathroom facilities.  



 

 

(3) All other permitted and special uses shall have a maximum height of three stories, 

not to exceed 30 feet.  

(4) Pervious surface shall be 20 percent of each lot.  

D. Intensity regulations. No use shall exceed a floor area ratio (FAR) of .55, nor an 

impervious surface ratio of (ISR) .80.  

E. Mixed use shall not exceed, in combination, the respective number of units per acre and 

the floor area ratio permitted, when allocated in their respective proportion to the total 

lot area. Mixed uses shall not exceed a maximum impervious surface ratio (ISR) of .80.  

F. Height restriction and design criteria:  

(1) Towers shall not exceed 70 feet in height from the ground base of the structure to 

the highest point of that structure.  

(2) Towers and supporting structures shall be a neutral and nonglare color or finish so 

as to reduce visual obtrusiveness.  

(3) All towers shall meet applicable standards of the FAA and FCC.  

(4) Towers shall be set back from a residential area a distance equal to that of its height, 

plus 20 additional feet.  

(5) All guides and accessories must meet the minimum setback required as set forth in 

the Building Code.  

(6) Towers shall be enclosed by security fencing six feet in height, and a landscape 

buffer shall be installed.  

(7) Towers shall be free of advertising.  

G. Residential density regulations. The number of permitted residential units shall not 

exceed 15 units per acre.  

H. Condo-hotels. A condo-hotel is a specialized form of transient accommodation use. 

Condo-hotels shall be allowed in any land use district where a hotel, motel or transient 

accommodation use would be allowed. Units in a condo-hotel are exempt from the 

prohibition of kitchens in transient accommodations, provided the structure of the condo-

hotel and the units within the condo-hotel are constructed, maintained and used in 

accordance with the following criteria:  

(1) All units in a condo-hotel shall be considered transient accommodation units and 

must be made available for rentals on a continual basis on a daily, weekly or 

monthly basis. If the occupancy of any such unit does not change more frequently 

than 12 times or more in any continuous twelve-month period, then a rebuttable 

presumption shall arise that the unit is not being used as a condo-hotel unit for 

transient accommodations.  

(2) All units in a condo-hotel must have appropriate licenses as hotel units prior to any 

certificate of occupancy being issued for the structure. All licenses must be kept up-

to-date annually.  



 

 

(3) Business tax receipts for the rental of each unit from the Town of Redington Shores 

shall be required, and such business tax receipts must be maintained annually for 

all such units.  

(4) All units in a condo-hotel shall be subject to all applicable tourist tax collection 

requirements.  

(5) No unit in a condo-hotel shall be used for homesteading purposes.  

(6) No home business tax receipt shall be issued for any unit in a condo-hotel.  

(7) All units in a condo-hotel must be subject to requirements of mandatory 

membership in a common association and may be subject to rental by an exclusive 

rental agency selected by such condo association, or shall be subject to rental by the 

owner or by a rental agency selected by the unit owner, and all unit owners shall 

make such units available for rent through one of such rental agencies, or directly 

by the unit owner.  

(8) No unit in a condo-hotel shall be used as a time-share or fractional-ownership unit.  

(9) One unit in a condo-hotel structure may be used for the permanent, year-round 

occupancy by a person or family unit serving as the on-site manager. However, the 

occupant of such unit must have the ability to handle rentals and rent all other units 

in the building on a daily, weekly or monthly basis.  

(10) A condo-hotel structure must be designed with and must contain a front desk lobby, 

internally oriented, and easily signed and accessible to members of the public.  

(11) All condo-hotels must have sufficient signage viewable by the general public on 

adjacent streets advertising such structure as a rental facility, available for daily, 

weekly or monthly rentals.  

(12) Units in a condo-hotel may not be occupied by the individual owners of such units 

for more than a total of 60 days in any twelve-month consecutive period.  

(13) The books and records of the condo-hotel pertaining to the rentals of each unit in 

the condo-hotel shall be open for inspection by representatives of the Town of 

Redington Shores, upon reasonable notice, in order to confirm compliance with 

these regulations.  

(14) Each unit in a condo-hotel structure shall be limited to a maximum of two 

bedrooms, a maximum of two bathrooms and a maximum square footage per unit 

not to exceed 850 square feet.  

I. See also chapter 90, parts 1 and 2; section 90-108 and section 90-138; and chapter 133, 

article I, business tax and business tax receipts.  

J. Vacation rentals. All permitted vacation rentals must comply with the regulations set 

forth in section 90-116.  

(Ord. No. 15-01, § 11, 4-8-2015; Ord. No. 20-06, § 3, 8-12-2020) 



 

 

Sec. 90-104. Planned unit development (PUD). 

A. Purpose. 

(1) It is the purpose of the planned unit development zoning district to allow for a creative 

and flexible approach to development, which may include a harmonious and cohesive 

mix of uses on a single site.  

(2) Further, it is the purpose of the planned unit development zoning district to promote 

implementation of the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District the objectives of which are:  

(a) To preserve, enhance or create public spaces that are distinctive, accessible and 

desirable.  

(b) To create compact concentrations of compatible uses through the development of 

multiple uses within the same buildings, parcels or blocks.  

(c) To create safe and welcoming pedestrian environments, particularly along and near 

Gulf Boulevard, through the use of streetscaping, traffic calming, and effective 

architectural design.  

(d) To create a coherent design aesthetic for the town through attention to the 

placement, configuration and architectural detail of new construction.  

B. Application of zoning. Planned unit development zoning may be applied to:  

(1) Properties that are encompassed within the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District; or  

(2) Properties that are sizable in area (generally four or more acres) and are proposed for 

development utilizing a creative approach not available through other zoning.  

C. Submission of plans for review by town commission; advertisement required. To allow town 

officials the opportunity to determine that a proposed development meets the articulated 

purposes and standards for planned unit development zoning, plans shall first be submitted to 

and reviewed by the Planning and Zoning Board of the Town of Redington Shores, which 

shall make recommendation concerning such proposed planned unit development to the town 

commission, and such plans shall then be submitted to and reviewed by the town commission 

in conjunction with any application for this zoning. Consideration of the development plans 

by the commission shall occur concurrently with consideration of the application for zoning 

and shall be advertised as part of such zoning. These provisions shall supersede the 

requirements of sections 90-110 and 90-126 of this Code.  

D. Approval of zoning and plans by town commission. In order for the town commission to 

approve planned unit development zoning and the associated development plans, it must find 

that the development advances the purposes of the zoning, complies with the standards of this 

Code and the town's comprehensive plan, is compatible with the surrounding neighborhood 

and the town and, if in the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, the commission must find that 

plans are substantially consistent with the urban design guidelines. Furthermore, the 

commission may prescribe conditions of approval as determined necessary to ensure 

compliance with all standards, compatibility with the neighborhood and town, and substantial 

consistency with the design guidelines.  

E. Design and use standards. 



 

 

(1) Uses. 

(a) The future land use plan category of the town's comprehensive plan shall be used 

to determine permitted and special uses within planned unit development districts, 

specifically:  

Future Land Use  

Plan Category  

Zoning Districts  

Permitted and Special Uses  

Residential urban (RU)  All uses and special uses permitted within the RS-7 district  

Residential low medium (RLM)  All uses and special uses permitted within the RS-7 and RS-10 districts  

Residential medium/duplex (RM-

D)  

All uses and special uses permitted within the RD-15 district  

Residential high (RH)  All uses and special uses permitted within the RD-15 and RM-15 districts  

Commercial general (CG)  All uses and special uses permitted within the C-NR district  

Resort facilities medium (RFM)  All uses and special uses permitted within the RS-7, RS-10, RD-15, RM-

15, and CTF districts  

Residential/office/retail (R/O/R)  All uses and special uses permitted within the RS-7, RS-10, RD-15, RM-

15, C-NR, and ROR-15 districts  

Institutional (I)  All uses and special uses permitted within the PI district  

 

(b) Within the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, uses shall conform to the ground floor 

requirements specified in the urban design guidelines.  

(2) Density, floor area ratio and impervious surface ratio.  

(a) The future land use plan category of the town's comprehensive plan shall determine 

the maximum density and intensity of uses within planned unit development 

districts, specifically:  

Future Land Use Plan  

Category  

Maximum Density  

(dwelling units per  

gross acre)  

Maximum  

Floor Area  

Ratio  

Maximum  

Impervious  

Surface  

Ratio  

Residential urban  7.5  .40  .65  

Residential low medium  10.0  .50  .75  

Residential medium/duplex  15.0  .50  .75  

Residential high  15.0 with allowances up to 25.0  .60  .85  

Commercial general  0.0  .55  .90  

Resort facilities medium  15.0  .65  .85  

Residential/Office/Retail  15.0  .40  .85  

Institutional  0.0  .65  .85  

 

(b) Use mixes consisting of residential and nonresidential uses shall not exceed, in 

combination, the respective number of units per acre and the floor area ratio 

permitted, when allocated in their respective proportion to the total lot area.  

(3) Lot area, width and depth. No minimum lot dimensions are required; however, lots shall 

be sufficiently proportioned to support the buildings and uses proposed and provide 

comfortable spatial relationships with surrounding buildings and uses.  

(4) Setbacks. 



 

 

(a) Within the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, setbacks shall be provided in 

conformance with the urban design guidelines.  

(b) Outside of the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District:  

[1] Building setbacks shall be determined through the course of development plan 

review.  

[2] Setbacks shall provide appropriate spatial relationships between buildings and 

uses. That is, setbacks shall be based on the size, height and use of proposed 

buildings in relationship to other nearby buildings on and off site, and shall 

include consideration of all other land use and natural characteristics of the 

surrounding neighborhood that affect appropriate building placement.  

[3] All setbacks shall be delineated or otherwise specified on the preliminary 

development plan. Approval of the preliminary development plan by the 

commission constitutes approval of such setbacks.  

[4] Uniform front building setback lines shall be provided for single-family 

development.  

[5] Garages shall not be situated forward of the front wall of single-family 

dwellings.  

[6] No building shall be located closer than ten feet to any exterior boundary of 

the planned unit development.  

[7] Setbacks are not required for accessory structures except as may be expressly 

designated on the preliminary development plan.  

[8] If a zero lot line development is proposed, maintenance easements on 

adjoining lots shall be recorded to facilitate building maintenance.  

[9] As an alternative to the positioning requirements contained in section 90-12 

of this Code, docks, boat lifts and davits may be constructed continuously 

along the waterfront of planned unit development properties adjoining Boca 

Ciega Bay and its waterways, provided such structures pose no obstruction to 

navigation or conflict with the shared use of the water and:  

[a] Have a minimum setback of 15 feet from the extension of the side 

property lines; or  

[b] Are shared by adjacent properties and, accordingly, are constructed 

across the extension of the common side property line with no 

setback.  

(5) Building height. 

(a) Within the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District:  

[1] Buildings or portions thereof located within 100 feet of the Gulf Boulevard 

right-of-way shall conform to the height criteria set forth in the urban design 

guidelines.  



 

 

[2] Buildings or portions thereof located more distant than 100 feet from the Gulf 

Boulevard right-of-way shall not exceed 85 feet in height as measured from 

the crown of the adjoining road to the bottom of the eave of the primary roof.  

(b) Outside of the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, the maximum allowable height as 

measured from the crown of the adjoining road to the bottom of the eave of the 

primary roof shall be 75 feet, except that the maximum height for single-family 

dwellings shall be 40 feet.  

(6) Architecture. 

(a) Within the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, buildings shall conform to the 

architectural standards contained in the urban design guidelines.  

(b) Outside of the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District:  

[1] Buildings other than single-family dwellings shall conform to the Spanish or 

Mediterranean architectural standards contained in the urban design 

guidelines. Furthermore, any such building over 200 feet in length shall be 

provided with vertical architectural breaks to provide visual interest and relief.  

[2] Single-family dwellings are not required to conform to any specific 

architectural motif.  

(7) Parking. Off-street parking and loading shall conform to the requirements contained in 

section 90-108, except that development of properties located within the Gulf Boulevard 

Overlay District shall be guided by the parking standards set forth in the urban design 

guidelines, including those which may be less restrictive than section 90-108.  

(8) Landscaping. 

(a) Street trees shall align all public and private roadways. Within the Gulf Boulevard 

Overlay District, trees planted within the Gulf Boulevard/SR699 right-of-way will 

need the prior written approval of the Florida Department of Transportation. In all 

other areas, trees shall be planted in accordance with the terms of the urban design 

guidelines. Outside of the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, deciduous shade trees 

shall align both sides of all roadways in planned unit development districts. 

Specifically, one tree shall be planted on each side of the roadway per 100-foot 

length of roadway. Palm trees may substitute for deciduous shade trees; however, 

if palm trees are used, one tree shall be planted on each side of the roadway per 30-

foot length of roadway.  

(b) Any opaque fence or wall located within ten feet of a public or private street right-

of-way shall be buffered on the right-of-way side with mass plantings of a variety 

of shrubs. The shrubs shall provide an interesting landscape buffer of varying 

textures and heights. Shrubs shall be selected that, at maturity, will attain a 

minimum height of three feet and will cover at least 50 percent of the length of the 

fence or wall.  

(9) Signs. Within the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, all signs shall be placed in 

accordance with the standards contained in the urban design guidelines. Outside of the 

Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, signs shall be placed in accordance with the standards 

contained in section 90-112 of this Code.  



 

 

(10) Density averaging. Density averaging may be allowed upon approval by the town 

commission in accordance with the "Rules Concerning the Administration of the 

Countywide Future Land Use Plan."  

(11) Storm preparedness. Design and construction of all buildings and other site 

improvements shall take into account the town's coastal exposure to severe storms that 

may produce flooding and hurricane-force winds. In particular, roll-down shutters or 

shatter-resistant windows shall be installed during construction.  

(12) Construction of streets, sidewalks and utilities. 

(a) All streets, whether public or private, shall be constructed in accordance with 

Pinellas County specifications. Maintenance of private streets shall be the 

responsibility of the respective homeowners' or condominium owners' association.  

(b) Streetlights shall be installed in accordance with the specifications of the town. All 

streetlights shall be shielded so that direct light is deflected away from residences. 

Maintenance of private streetlights shall be the responsibility of the respective 

homeowners' or condominium owners' association.  

(c) Sidewalks aligning public and private streets shall be constructed in accordance 

with specifications of the Town of Redington Shores, including the urban design 

guidelines.  

(d) Water lines and fire hydrants shall be installed and constructed in accordance with 

specifications of the Pinellas County Water Department.  

(e) Storm drainage improvements shall be constructed in accordance with 

specifications of the Town of Redington Shores, and stormwater runoff shall 

conform to the requirements of the Southwest Florida Water Management District.  

(f) Sanitary sewer lines shall be installed and constructed in accordance with 

specifications of the Pinellas County Utility Department.  

(g) Locations of utilities, existing and proposed, including depicting all easements on 

the property, whether such are utility easements or private easements. Any property 

fronting on Gulf Boulevard shall show and provide a ten-foot-wide utility easement, 

for aboveground and below-ground utilities, along such portions of the property 

abutting Gulf Boulevard. The providing of such utility easement to the Town of 

Redington Shores shall be a condition that must be fulfilled prior to the issuance of 

any building permit.  

F. Processing of plans. All plans submitted for development in the planned unit development 

district shall be of sufficient clarity and detail to facilitate judgments by town officials 

regarding compliance with all applicable development standards.  

(1) Conceptual development plan. The conceptual development plan provides an 

opportunity for the applicant and building official to have an informal and nonbinding 

exchange of information regarding the development proposal at an early stage in the 

development process. To initiate this review, the applicant submits three copies of a 

conceptual development plan to the building official. The building official in turn shall 

identify any major concerns and the need for additional support data. The conceptual 

plan shall, at a minimum, consist of the following information:  



 

 

(a) Project name.  

(b) North arrow, scale and date.  

(c) Boundary survey.  

(d) Site acreage.  

(e) Existing and proposed streets.  

(f) Existing and proposed drainage patterns.  

(g) Proposed land uses, including number and location of dwelling units, and floor area 

and location of nonresidential uses.  

(h) Density calculations for residential development and floor area ratio calculations 

for nonresidential development.  

(i) Proposed building heights.  

(j) Proposed parking locations.  

(k) Existing and proposed driveway access locations.  

(l) Pedestrian and open space areas.  

(m) Phase lines, if the development is to be built in phases.  

(2) Preliminary development plan and architectural plans. 

(a) Following review of the conceptual plan, the applicant shall submit eight copies of 

a preliminary development plan to the building official. The preliminary 

development plan shall consist of the information enumerated in section 90-110 of 

this Code and such other information as may be necessary to facilitate 

determination by town officials regarding the development's compliance with this 

Code, the urban design guidelines, and applicable concurrency requirements.  

(b) In addition, if the property is located within the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, 

eight copies of architectural plans shall be submitted. The architectural plans shall 

consist of sufficient detail to facilitate determination by town officials regarding the 

development's consistency with the urban design guidelines.  

(c) The building official, upon determining that the preliminary development plan and 

architectural plans meet all requirements for submission, shall coordinate with the 

town clerk the advertisement of the plans for review by the town commission. This 

plan review shall occur concurrently with the request for planned unit development 

zoning.  

(d) As part of the aforementioned plan review, the town commission may grant waivers 

of development standards that do not affect density, floor area ratio or impermeable 

surface coverage.  

(3) Final building plans. The final building plans shall consist of detailed site, engineering, 

architectural, landscaping and other plans as may be necessary to procure building 

permits. The applicant shall submit three complete sets of final building plans to the 

building official within one year of preliminary development plan approval. The 

applicant may, prior to the one-year expiration date, submit a written request for one 



 

 

extension of up to one additional year, which the town commission may grant for good 

cause. Review of any extension request shall take into account changed conditions, 

including the effect of new regulations on the project. If final building plans are not 

submitted within the aforementioned time frames, the preliminary plan approval shall 

expire and all subsequent development proposals shall be processed as new submissions.  

(4) Amendment of an approved preliminary development plan. The building official shall 

determine whether a proposed preliminary development plan amendment is a minor or 

major amendment based upon the type and magnitude of the proposed change, including 

the cumulative effect of multiple changes.  

(a) Minor amendments. The building official is authorized to approve minor plan 

modifications that do not present issues regarding neighborhood compatibility or 

consistency with the urban design guidelines. Any changes must be resubmitted in 

the form of a revised preliminary or final development plan.  

(b) Major amendments. Major amendments shall be subject to review by the town 

commission and shall be advertised as part of a zoning change. In order for the 

commission to approve a major amendment, it must find the amendment to be 

appropriate for and compatible with the neighborhood, compliant with this Code 

and the comprehensive plan and, if in the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, it must 

find that the development remains substantially consistent with the urban design 

guidelines. The Commission may prescribe conditions of approval as determined 

necessary to ensure both neighborhood compatibility and compliance with all 

applicable development standards. The following modifications typically constitute 

major amendments:  

[1] Any change that denigrates the objectives of the urban design guidelines.  

[2] Any change that increases density or floor area ratio (not to exceed that 

permitted by the future land use plan).  

[3] Any change of land use that produces significant new or additional impacts.  

[4] Any change that affects uniform setbacks approved on the preliminary 

development plan by the town commission.  

[5] Any significant change to the size, height, location, or appearance of a 

building.  

[6] Any change or changes that increase traffic generation rates in excess of ten 

percent of that approved on the preliminary development plan by the town 

commission.  

[7] Any change that creates additional vehicular access points.  

[8] Any reduction, relocation, or changed use of open space.  

[9] Any change that affects existing conditions of approval.  

[10] Any other change that produces significant impacts, such as, but not limited 

to, the alteration of fire lanes, a change affecting a public access easement, or 

a change that affects drainage flows or patterns.  



 

 

G. See also chapter 90, parts 1 and 2; section 90-108 and section 90-138; and chapter 133, article 

I, business tax and business tax receipts; and section 90-113, satellite antennas.  

(Ord. No. 15-01, § 12, 4-8-2015) 

Sec. 90-105. PP outdoor recreation/public open space district. 

In the PP outdoor recreation/public open space district, the following regulations shall apply:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Public beach and public access thereto.  

(2) Public parks and bayside public accesses.  

(3) Public parking off-highway areas.  

(4) Fishing piers and marinas.  

(5) Miniature golf courses.  

(6) Tennis, shuffleboard and swimming clubs.  

(7) Accessory uses and structures for permitted uses.  

B. Special uses shall be as follows: None.  

C. Minimum lot dimensions. All permitted uses shall be governed by the minimum lot 

dimensions established under site plan review procedures described in section 90-110.  

(1) The height limit for accessory structures shall be one story, not to exceed 15 feet.  

(2) Pervious surface shall be 40 percent of each lot.  

D. Intensity regulations. No use shall exceed a floor area ratio (FAR) of 0.25, nor an 

impervious surface ratio (ISR) of 0.60.  

E. See also chapter 90, parts 1 and 2; section 90-108 and section 90-138; chapter 133, article 

I, business tax and business tax receipts; and section 90-113, satellite antennas.  

(Ord. No. 15-01, § 13, 4-8-2015) 

Sec. 90-106. PI public/semipublic institutional district. 

The following regulations shall apply in the PI public/semipublic institutional district:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Public buildings and support facilities.  

(2) Public utility installations (sewer, water, drainage, etc.).  

(3) Schools, libraries, churches.  

(4) Fraternal, veterans, public service clubs.  

(5) Accessory uses and structures.  

B. Special uses shall be as follows: None.  



 

 

C. Minimum lot dimensions.  

(1) All permitted uses shall be governed by the minimum lot dimensions established 

under site plan review procedures described in section 90-110.  

(2) The height limit for accessory structures shall be one story, not to exceed 15 feet, 

but public utility poles and lines or church steeples shall not be considered as 

structures for this purpose.  

D. Intensity regulations. No use shall exceed a floor area ratio (FAR) of sixty-five 

hundredths (0.65), nor an impervious surface ratio (ISR) of eighty hundredths (.80).  

E. All transportation/utility and institutional uses shall require the appropriate 

corresponding plan designation.  

F. See also chapter 90, parts 1 and 2; section 90-108 and section 90-138; chapter 133, article 

I, business tax and business tax receipts; and section 90-113, satellite antennas.  

(Ord. No. 15-01, § 14, 4-8-2015) 

Sec. 90-107. GBO Gulf Boulevard Overlay District. 

A. Purpose. 

(1) It is the purpose of the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District (GBOD) to establish a unifying 

set of development design standards that guide infill and redevelopment activities 

occurring within the town on properties located adjacent to portions of Gulf Boulevard. 

See Figure 90-107-A for the GBOD limits.  

(2) Implementation of the design standards will create a pedestrian-friendly and 

aesthetically cohesive town; a desirable place to live, work, and play that is known for 

its distinctive coastal character. This coastal character is fostered through a building's 

size and mass, placement, relationship to other buildings and ancillary facilities, and 

overall appearance.  

(3) Further, the objectives of the overlay district are:  

(a) To preserve, enhance or create public spaces that are distinctive, accessible and 

desirable.  

(b) To create compact concentrations of compatible uses, through the development of 

multiple uses within the same buildings, parcels or blocks.  

(c) To create safe and welcoming pedestrian environments, particularly along and near 

Gulf Boulevard, through the use of streetscaping, shading, protection from weather, 

traffic calming, and effective architectural design.  

(d) To create unifying design treatments throughout the district through attention to the 

placement, configuration and architectural detail of new construction.  

 



 

 

Figure 90-107-A 

 

 

B. Definitions. For the purpose of this district, certain terms and words are hereby defined. 

Words used in the present tense shall include the future; the singular number shall include the 

plural and the plural the singular; the word "building" includes the word "premises"; and the 

word "shall" is mandatory and not discretionary. Said definitions are as follows:  

Alignment—The configuration of the building facades cooperating to define open space in 

much the same way as walls define a room.  

Arcade—A series of arches linked together, usually as an element of a building and covering 

a sidewalk.  

Arcade frontage—Certain lines designed for arcades on the ground story. The arcade length 

is measured as the distance along the building facade. The depth is measured back from the 

building facade. The height is measured from the sidewalk to the ceiling of the arcade.  

Awning—An ancillary lightweight structure of wood, metal or canvas, cantilevered from a 

building facade and providing shade to the building windows, doorway openings, and spatial 

containment for pedestrians.  

Back building—An ancillary segment of a building extending from a principal building into 

a rear yard. A back building may connect the main building to an outbuilding.  

Balcony—An unenclosed, habitable structure, usually cantilevered from a facade or an 

elevation, providing private outdoor space to an apartment.  

Bands of windows—A horizontal series of three windows or more, separated only by 

mullions, that forms a horizontal band across the facade of a building.  

Bays—Openings formed by the supports of the arcade or colonnade.  



 

 

Build-to line—A line appearing graphically on the site development plan and/or stated as a 

setback dimension, along which a building facade must be placed.  

Canopy sign (awning sign)—A sign that is mounted on, painted to, or otherwise attached to 

an awning.  

Canopy tree—A large-scale deciduous or evergreen shade tree used as part of streetscape 

plantings to define space, buildings, and shade sidewalks.  

Cap—A horizontal cross member at the top of a window frame in semicircles, arches, or 

triangular shapes.  

Colonnade—A series of columns similar to an arcade but spanned by straight lintels instead 

of arches (see "gallery").  

Configuration, building—The three-dimensional form of a building, including the form and 

materials of roofs, walls, openings, and other elements.  

Cornice—Any crowning projection.  

Crosswalk—The axis of pedestrians crossing a thoroughfare. The crosswalk typically to 

connect sidewalks at the corners of blocks.  

Detached single-family house—A freestanding building, designed for or occupied exclusively 

by one family.  

Diagonal parking—A pattern of parking where the vehicle is stored at an angle to the curbline.  

Door, entry—A primary entrance that provides security at the main building entry point.  

Driveway—A vehicular accessway within a private lot connecting a garage to a thoroughfare.  

Dwelling, multifamily—A dwelling where three or more dwelling units are contained in one 

structure on a single lot or parcel and attached by common vertical walls.  

Dwelling, single-family detached—A dwelling unit on a single parcel or parcels attached to 

one or more one-family dwellings connected by common vertical walls.  

Dwelling, single-family attached—A one-family dwelling on a single lot attached to two or 

more one-family dwellings that are on single lots attached by common vertical walls.  

Eave—The junction of the wall of a building and an overhanging roof. To avoid discouraging 

pitched roofs, the designated maximum building height should be measured to the eave, and not 

the ridge of the roof.  

Facade, primary—The elevations of a building usually set parallel to a frontage line.  

Fenestration—The arrangement, proportioning, and design of windows and doors in a 

building.  

Frontage lot—That portion of a lot, between the facade and the lot line, that fronts onto a 

public open space or a thoroughfare.  

Frontage width—The measure of the lot line that coincides with the right-of-way of a 

thoroughfare. In a corner condition, a frontage width is measured at the more important of the two 

thoroughfares.  



 

 

Gable—The orientation of a pitched roof that shows the vertical, triangular side rather than 

the sloped.  

Gallery—A roofed promenade where the columns are set at regular intervals.  

Garage door ratio—The vertical surface area of the garage (the doors and their surrounds) 

relative to the rest of the facade.  

Gate—An exterior door connecting one outdoor space within another.  

Green—A public open space available for unstructured recreation, generally contained by 

building facades, landscaped with grassy areas and trees.  

Head-in parking—A pattern of parking where the vehicle is stored at a ninety-degree angle 

to the curbline.  

Lawn—Grassed lands controlled by mowing. A lawn is a uniform, durable groundcover 

suitable for playing fields.  

Liner building—A building conceived specifically to mask a parking lot or a parking structure 

from the frontage.  

Lintel—A supporting wood or stone beam across the top of an opening, such as that of a 

window or door.  

Live-work building—A townhouse or stand-alone structure, generally owner-occupied, with 

the first story available as commercial space. This space is controlled by the building's owner and 

may be leased to an independent business owner.  

Loft—A high-ceilinged and internally well-lit dwelling with few partitions reaching the 

ceiling.  

Loggia—An open-air room within the mass of a building, with ceiling and floors, but no wall 

on at least one side.  

Main building—The principal building on a lot, disposed to provide the facade on the 

frontage.  

Mullion—A vertical member dividing a window or opening.  

Off-street parking—A parking area located within a lot, generally to the rear of a building 

frontage, masking it from the public space.  

On-street parking—A single line of parking located along the curbline of a thoroughfare, 

accessible directly from a moving lane.  

Out building—A secondary building associated with a principal building by ownership and 

shared lot.  

Parallel parking—A pattern of parking where the vehicle is stored parallel to the curbline. 

Parallel parking permits a narrower street section and creates the most positive sidewalk 

experience of the possible patterns, but it requires a difficult driving maneuver and provides the 

lowest density of parking per linear foot of street frontage.  

Parapet—A low guarding wall at any point of sudden drop, such as the edge of a terrace, roof 

or balcony.  



 

 

Park—A large open area available for recreation, usually located at the neighborhood edge, 

and fronted by buildings. Its landscape comprises paved paths and trails, some open lawn, trees 

and open shelters, all naturalistically disposed and requiring limited maintenance.  

Passage—A pedestrian connector passing between buildings.  

Pedestrian shed—A determinant of urban size, defined as the area described by a radius 

equaling the distance that can be covered by a five-minute or one-quarter-mile walk at an easy 

pace.  

Pedestrian way—The portion of the thoroughfare right-of-way that is dedicated to uses other 

than vehicular movement and parking. The pedestrian way includes the sidewalks, arcades, and 

planting areas of streetscapes.  

Placement, building—The location of a building on its lot. Placement is determined by 

dimensional setback or build-to requirements measured from the lot boundary lines.  

Playground—A small open area specifically designed and equipped for the play of small 

children. A playground is usually fenced and may include an open shelter.  

Plaza—A public space set at the intersection of important streets, set aside for civic purposes 

and/or commercial activities.  

Porch—An open-air room appended to the mass of a building with floor and roof, but no 

walls on at least two sides.  

Public realm (space)—Those parts of the urban fabric that are held in common, such as 

plazas, squares, parks, thoroughfares and civic buildings.  

Rear lane—A vehicular accessway located to the rear of a lot providing access to parking and 

outbuildings as well as easements for utilities. Rear lanes are paved as lightly as possible, to 

driveway standards or with shell.  

Retail frontage—Certain frontage lines designated for mandatory retail on the regulating plan. 

These building facades are subject to special adaptation for retail use at the ground story.  

Roof—That element of a building that covers the top of a building, as the walls cover the 

sides.  

Roof overhang—The overhead cantilever of an architectural element beyond the building 

wall.  

Roof slope—The angle of the roof, usually stated as a ratio of the vertical to the horizontal 

(e.g., "4:12" that is, a four-foot vertical rise across each twelve-foot horizontal run).  

Shared parking—The policy wherein day/night and weekday/weekend schedules of two or 

more uses allow the parking to be shared by more than one use or building.  

Sign, monument—A sign not attached to a building, where the entire base of the sign is in 

contact with or close to the ground, and the sign is independent of any other structure.  

Sign, wall—A sign applied directly to the exterior face of a building, with the exposed face 

within the plane of the facade or parallel to the facade. This category includes those signs painted 

onto or applied directly to the surface of a building's exterior face.  



 

 

Streetscaping—An assemblage of landscapes, walks, and curbs between the private lot line 

and the public right-of-way or vehicular frontage.  

Thoroughfare—An urban element that provides a major part of the public open space as well as 

moving lanes for vehicles. A thoroughfare is endowed with two attributes: capacity and character.  

(1) Thoroughfare capacity — The number of vehicles that can move safely through a 

segment of a thoroughfare within a given time period.  

(2) Thoroughfare character — The suitability of a thoroughfare as a setting for pedestrian 

activities and as a location for a variety of building types.  

Vehicular circulation—The combination of moving and parking lanes within thoroughfares. 

The network of thoroughfares also constitutes the majority of the public realm available to 

pedestrians.  

Vehicular way—The portion of the thoroughfare that is occupied by vehicles, usually 

consisting of the moving lanes and the parking lanes. The vehicular way, together with the 

pedestrian way, fills the right-of-way.  

Vertical height—The height as measured to the highest point of a building or specific 

component.  

Walk—A lightly paved path of grass, gravel or sand within a garden or open space.  

C. Permitted uses. Uses within the GBOD shall be limited as identified within the underlying 

zoning districts included in this chapter.  

D. Special uses. Special uses within the GBOD shall be limited as identified within the 

underlying zoning districts included in this chapter.  

E. Building placement standards. All newly constructed buildings and substantial building 

renovations exceeding 50 percent appraised value identified within this section shall meet the 

intent of FEMA regulations through the standards and requirements of the PCCLB coastal 

construction code and Part 2 of the town's Code.  

(1) General requirements. Enhance the harmony and character of the community by 

establishing standards for placement and detailing among the various structures.  

(2) Build-to and setback requirements. 

(a) All commercial and mixed use structures adjacent to the Gulf Boulevard right-of-

way may be built with their primary facade located along a build-to line, measured 

ten feet from the right-of-way line, or such greater distance as may be required if 

necessary to accommodate large palms or shade trees planted street-side in order to 

be consistent with other plantings in the surrounding area. See Figure 90-107-B.  

 



 

 

Figure 90-107-B 

 

 

(b) All commercial and mixed use buildings adjacent to Gulf Boulevard may have an 

arcade, gallery, porch, or awning to provide pedestrian protection. Buildings taller 

than two stories shall provide balconies on all floors above the first floor. See Figure 

90-107-C.  

 

Figure 90-107-C 

 

(3) Building ground floor use requirements. 

(a) The ground floor of all commercial and mixed use buildings located along Gulf 

Boulevard may include street-front retail, restaurants, office, commercial, civic or 

other residential or nonresidential uses as limited by the underlying zoning district 

provisions listed in this chapter.  

(b) Ground floor nonresidential development areas shall be a minimum of 20 feet in 

depth from the primary facade of the building. See Figure 90-107-D.  

(c) All development areas shall be constructed according to necessary standards for 

protection from flooding.  



 

 

 

Figure 90-107-D 

 

 

(4) Building width requirements. 

(a) The maximum continuous facade of any building fronting the Gulf Boulevard right-

of-way shall be 60 feet. See Figure 90-107-E.  

(b) Buildings wider than 60 feet must be architecturally defined as a series of smaller, 

repetitive units, with insets located within the primary facades.  

(c) The inset facade shall be recessed a minimum of five feet from the front of the 

primary facade.  

(d) The ratio of the width of a primary facade to an inset facade shall be no greater than 

three to one (3:1), or a minimum of ten (10) feet.  

 



 

 

Figure 90-107-E 

 

 

(5) Building height requirements. 

(a) All newly constructed buildings located along Gulf Boulevard shall be a minimum 

of two stories in height, and measure no greater than 25 feet, as measured from 

right-of-way finished grade to the top of the parapet on a flat roof or 22 feet as 

measured to the top edge of the eave on a pitched roof. See Figure 90-107-F.  

 

Figure 90-107-F 

 

 

(b) All newly constructed buildings located along Gulf Boulevard may be a maximum 

of four stories in height, and measure no greater than 52 feet, as measured from 

right-of-way finished grade to the top of the parapet on a flat roof or 48 feet as 

measured to the top edge of the eave on a pitched roof. See Figure 90-107-G.  

 



 

 

Figure 90-107-G 

 

 

(c) If the building is four stories, the primary facade of the highest floor must be set 

back eight feet from the primary facade of the lower three stories. Balconies on the 

third floor may extend up to six feet from the build-to line towards the right-of-way 

line.  

(d) A newly constructed one-story building may be permitted for commercial uses if it 

meets the requirements for minimum building heights and the finished floor level 

is located at sidewalk level.  

(e) The maximum interior height dimension for the first floor story of a building shall 

be 14 feet, as measured from the finished floor to the finished ceiling. First floor 

ceiling-to-floor heights in all newly constructed multistory buildings must be 

greater than the ceiling-to-floor height of any upper floor.  

(6) Building setback requirements. 

(a) Side yard setbacks. 

[1] A minimum seven-foot-wide building setback shall be provided for all parcels 

fronting Gulf Boulevard. The setback may be reduced to 0 feet on one side in 

cases where shared access is provided on the opposite side yard, and building 

construction design and techniques do not impact adjacent properties. See 

Figure 90-107-H.  

[2] Adjacent parcel sideyard setbacks may be dedicated as a one-way access lane 

for the parcels, if a minimum sixteen-foot clear width between side-walls 

exists, property owner easements are identified and recorded in the public 



 

 

records of Pinellas County, and access management and site plan approval 

provisions are approved by the town.  

 

Figure 90-107-H 

 

 

(b) Rear yard setbacks. 

[1] A minimum 25-foot wide building setback shall be provided for all parcels 

that are adjacent to an accessible right-of-way, or the rear or side yard lot line 

of another parcel.  

[2] A minimum 45-foot wide building setback shall be provided for parcels 

adjacent to a public waterway.  

[3] Alternative design solutions may be proposed for the narrow lot depth parcels 

located adjacent to the Boca Ceiga Bay. Reduction of this setback may be 

approved by the town if an acceptable alternative design solution is provided.  

F. All newly constructed building configuration standards. 



 

 

(1) Buildings fronting gulf boulevard general requirements.  

(a) An approved architectural building character type is required, with a preference 

towards masonry structures.  

(b) Structures shall include stucco exterior coating, pitched roofing, arcades with 

semicircular arches, and other standard motifs and details appropriate for tropical 

and subtropical climates.  

(c) A building canopy, awning or similar form of weather protection may be provided, 

with a minimum projection of six feet over the fronting walk.  

(2) Nonresidential and mixed-use buildings. 

(a) Building materials and techniques.  

[1] Nonresidential and mixed-use buildings fronting Gulf Boulevard shall be 

constructed using brick, cast concrete, stucco, stone or other masonry material 

similar to those listed if appearance and durability is approved by the town.  

[2] Regular or decorative concrete block may be used on building walls not visible 

from a public street.  

[3] All ancillary structures shall be clad in materials similar to the primary 

structure.  

[4] All stucco surfaces shall be knockdown finished.  

[5] All window installations shall be set to the inside of the building facade wall.  

[6] Any overhanging eave lines may expose rafters.  

[7] All rooftop equipment shall be enclosed in building material that matches the 

structures of the main building or is visually compatible with the structure. 

Rooftop equipment shall not be visible from Gulf Boulevard.  

(b) Building roofs. 

[1] Pitched roofs shall be clad in Spanish tiles, barrel tiles, colored standing seam 

metal, slate or similar materials.  

[2] Main roofs on buildings shall be, where possible, symmetrical hips or gables 

with a pitch of between 4:12 and 12:12. See Figure 90-107-I.  

[3] All pitched roofs must have an overhang of at least 12 inches and can extend 

to a maximum of 30 inches beyond the face of the facade.  

[4] Flat roofs are permissible on nonresidential or mixed-use buildings. Flat roofs 

must be raked at the minimum slope necessary to shed water and meet other 

construction requirements.  

[5] Buildings with flat roofs must include parapets that shall be no less than 18 

inches in height and not greater than 36 inches in height, measured along the 

face of the facade. The top of this parapet shall be no less than 18 inches higher 

than the adjacent finished roof surface. Building parapets shall be treated as 

unique topping elements on the facades of flat roof buildings. Special attention 



 

 

shall be used in articulations, signage, details, inlays, friezes or other 

appropriate design elements.  

 

Figure 90-107-I 

 

 

(c) Building windows and doors. 

[1] A minimum of 50 percent of the linear dimension of the building's primary 

facade shall include windows or doors. Primary facade walls shall not continue 

uninterrupted without a window or functional public access doorway for a 

distance greater than 12 feet.  

[2] First-floor windows shall be clear or transparent glass. Mirrored or reflective 

glass of any kind is prohibited. Stained glass shall be used sparingly in special 

cases primarily as an architectural accent.  

[3] Window sills shall be located no higher than 42 inches above building finish 

floor level.  

[4] Window headers shall be located no lower than eight feet above adjacent 

building finish floor level.  

[5] Window types shall include bay, casement, clerestory, dormer, and double 

hung. Single-pane and tilt windows are permissible if the glass panes have 

mullions within.  



 

 

[6] The minimum vertical proportion of a window shall be 1.5 times its width.  

[7] Bands of windows are permissible.  

[8] Window treatments shall include caps, lintels, and sills.  

[9] The principal doorway or building entrance inset for public entry into a 

building shall be from Gulf Boulevard. Corner entrances may occur where 

appropriate on corner lots.  

[10] Door types shall include entry, French, patio, and storm.  

(d) Building chimneys. 

[1] Exterior chimneys shall be finished in brick, stucco or stone.  

[2] Chimney hoods and caps shall be terracotta, brick, or stucco.  

[3] Chimney shafts shall be integrated to the design of the building.  

(e) Building arcades, galleries, porches, and awnings. 

[1] All newly constructed buildings located along Gulf Boulevard shall include 

physical extensions (i.e., other than minimum limits of required arcades) that 

project into the intermediate zone between the build-to line and the edge of the 

public right-of-way that serve for additional pedestrian protection.  

[a] These extensions shall include arches, galleries, porches, awnings, 

or other physical extensions from the primary facade.  

[b] These extensions shall extend no less than one-third the length of the 

primary facade and must, at a minimum, provide protection for all 

entries into the building that are not covered by an arcade. It is 

recommended that additional protection be provided for all 

openings, including windows.  

[2] Awnings must extend a minimum of six feet from the primary facade of the 

building.  

[3] Porches must extend a minimum of seven feet in width from the primary 

facade.  

[4] All buildings greater than two stories in height, and with a primary facade 

greater than 60 feet in width, must have a continuous arcade or colonnade for 

the full length of that facade.  

[a] The front (exterior) edge of an arcade shall sit along the Gulf 

Boulevard right-of-way line.  

[b] The interior dimension of an arcade shall be a minimum of eight feet 

wide. See Figure 90-107-J.  

[c] The proportions of the arcade bays shall be vertical and at least ten 

percent greater than the width of the bay at its widest point. The 

minimum height for an arcade bay opening shall be ten feet. The 

minimum width for an arcade bay opening shall be eight feet.  



 

 

 

Figure 90-107-J 

 

[5] Towers are permitted at the corners of buildings that are located at the 

intersection of Gulf Boulevard and any connecting street. See Figure 90-107-

K.  

[a] The design of a tower shall be architecturally continuous with the 

primary building.  

[b] A tower shall be built above the intersecting primary facade and 

intersecting street facade, and may extend up to one story above the 

maximum primary building height.  

[c] A tower must have a square footprint whose width cannot be greater 

than 1/6th the width of the building, and a maximum of 20 feet.  

[d] A tower may be accessible, or inhabited if compliant with other 

provision of this Code.  

[e] Towers shall be constructed with sufficient open space at ground 

level in order that such tower not constitute sight line obstructions.  

 



 

 

Figure 90-107-K 

 

 

(3) Single-family residential buildings. 

(a) Materials and techniques. 

[1] Residential building walls shall be wood clapboard, primed board, brick, 

stone, stucco, approved vinyl siding, Hardiplank, or similar approved material.  

[2] Garden (freestanding exterior) walls may be of brick, stone or stucco matching 

the main building.  

[3] Residential roofs, including the roofs of porches, shall be clad in wood 

shingles, standing seam metal, slate, barrel tile, asphalt shingles or a similar 

approved material.  

[4] All rooftop equipment shall be enclosed in building materials that match the 

materials of the main building, or are otherwise compatible with the design of 

the structure.  

(b) Front yard porches. 

[1] Usable porches shall be a dominant element.  



 

 

[2] Porches shall be at least six feet in depth and located along at least 50 percent 

of the primary facade of the building. A greater percentage of primary facade 

length is recommended, as well as the location of porches on one or more side 

facades if possible.  

(c) Garage doors. 

[1] Garage doors that are facing the right-of-way shall be designed with individual 

door openings for each vehicular space.  

[2] The visible width of the garage, when viewed from the right-of-way, shall be 

no more than 40% of the lot width. For sites that include frontage on both Gulf 

Boulevard and an ancillary side street, ingress and egress shall occur from the 

side street. For narrow sites with only frontage on Gulf Boulevard where the 

forty-percent maximum width limits site design options, up to two twelve-foot 

wide garage doors are allowed.  

[3] Where driveways and garages are located on the Gulf Boulevard frontage, the 

garage opening shall be set back a minimum of 20 feet from the right-of-way 

line.  

[4] Where driveways and garages face other street frontages, the garage opening 

shall be set back a minimum of 15 feet from the right-of-way line.  

[5] When the side of a single-family residence faces another street frontage, and 

the driveways and garage occur to the side, the side yard setback shall be a 

mandatory 20 feet for the frontage containing the garages and/or car ports.  

(d) Roofs. 

[1] Main roofs on buildings shall be symmetrical hips or gables with a pitch of 

between 4:12 and 12:12.  

[2] All pitched roofs must have an overhang of at least 12 inches and can extend 

to a maximum of 30 inches beyond the facade, and may extend into required 

setbacks.  

(e) Walls. 

[1] Two different wall materials may be combined horizontally on the facades of 

the building, with the heavier material (i.e., masonry, brick, stucco, stone, etc.) 

installed below.  

[2] When two materials are combined horizontally on one facade and terminate at 

the outside corner of the facade, both materials must continue for a minimum 

distance of three feet around the corner onto the side facade.  

[3] Moldings or other elements shall be used to indicate the transition at the joint 

between a wall and an overhanging pitch roof.  

(f) Windows and doors. Moldings or other surrounds on windows and doorways shall 

be used.  

(g) Chimneys. Exterior chimneys shall be finished in brick, stucco or stone.  



 

 

G. Public realm design. The creation of compatible public realm design elements along the Gulf 

Boulevard parcels located within the GBOD limits may be considered as a responsibility of 

both private developer and town, depending upon the identified application. Ultimately, 

private redevelopment projects must demonstrate that they meet local requirements for 

approval. The town shall seek implementation of the identified standards, through town 

funding, private developer contribution as appropriate fair share, or combination thereof 

where possible.  

(1) General street design. The private developer(s) shall design and construct public realm 

improvements to Gulf Boulevard to implement the provisions of this section.  

(a) Streets shall be designed as the primary public space within the community and 

shall be designed to the scale of the pedestrian.  

(b) Gulf Boulevard shall be designed to include appropriately selected street trees 

planted in a manner appropriate to their placement and function.  

[1] Gulf Boulevard shall have trees that complement the facades of the structures, 

that provide for visual access to storefronts and signage, and that shade the 

sidewalks.  

[2] Residential streets shall provide for an appropriate street canopy, designed to 

shade both street and sidewalk during summer months and serve as a visual 

buffer between street and the adjacent dwellings.  

[3] Required shade trees shall provide 14 feet six inches of clearance over the 

roadway.  

(c) On-street parking is preferred and shall be provided wherever possible. Use of on-

street parking shall credit towards on-site parking requirements.  

(d) Within designated areas of Gulf Boulevard, parallel parking shall be acceptable if 

approved by the Florida Department of Transportation.  

(e) Within all other areas, on-street parking is allowed except where expressly 

prohibited.  

(2) Traffic calming. 

(a) Every opportunity should be taken to implement the full compliment of traffic 

calming techniques within the town as follows:  

[1] Narrowing the visual field.  

[2] Narrowing or deflecting the roadway.  

[3] Altering the height of the roadway surface.  

(b) This is particularly important along the length of Gulf Boulevard, where the use of 

such techniques will need to be negotiated between the town, private developers, 

and the Florida Department of Transportation, as appropriate.  

(c) On other streets located within the town, however, the town and private developers 

should implement these techniques on an incremental basis as timing, demand, and 

resources permit.  



 

 

(3) Curb cuts. 

(a) Adjacent properties shall be designed to share ingress and egress points where 

possible to reduce the number and interval of existing curb cuts in the town through 

cross-access easements.  

(b) Corner properties with ingress and egress to intersecting streets shall have access 

occur from the secondary intersecting street as opposed to Gulf Boulevard right-of-

way.  

(c) Continuous, paved right-of-way access should be eliminated and parking 

redesigned throughout the entire length of Gulf Boulevard right-of-way.  

(4) Bicycles. New development should be designed to enhance mobility within the town 

through increased design emphasis for bicyclists from both within and outside the 

community.  

(a) Indicate through signage, lanes and street markings, desirable locations for bicycle 

use.  

(b) Provide bicycle storage racks and other facilities for temporarily storing bicycles 

on private property and in the public realm.  

(5) Mass transit. New development activity that exceeds a minimum of 50 percent of the 

existing property appraised value should be designed to support trolley/bus stop 

locations within the community. These locations and facilities will link with adjacent 

commercial, restaurant or civic uses through construction of covered waiting areas.  

(6) Sidewalks. New development activity that exceeds a minimum of 50 percent of the 

existing property appraised value shall improve and/or enhance existing sidewalks 

within the GBOD along Gulf Boulevard and intersecting secondary streets fronting the 

project.  

(a) A minimum eight-foot wide sidewalk shall be provided along Gulf Boulevard.  

(b) A minimum five-foot-wide sidewalk shall be provided along intersecting secondary 

streets.  

(c) The paved areas along Gulf Boulevard should be thought of as including three 

distinct elements: the edge area closest to the street and/or parking; the central area 

used primarily for walking; the area closest to the private property lines used for 

access to these properties, window shopping, and outdoor dining.  

[1] The edge area, adjacent to the roadway, should be used for street trees, street 

furniture, lighting fixtures, trash receptacles, and other elements. This band 

should be between two feet and four feet wide, depending on the size, type and 

nature of the trees and/or street furniture placed there. All street furnishings, 

palms and shade trees must maintain a minimum of four-foot offset to the face 

of the curb.  

[2] The central area should be dedicated to pedestrian use. Surfaces should be 

durable, and not overly ornate. Few, if any, impediments should be found 

within the realm, which should be at least five feet wide and might extend to 

be as large as eight feet in high traffic areas.  



 

 

[3] The area closest to the private property lines should allow enough space for 

people to stop and stand and look at these properties. A portion of the build-to 

line setback may support outdoor cafe seating. At a minimum, this element of 

the sidewalk should be at least two feet wide.  

[4] A combination of the sidewalk areas identified in subsection G.(6)(c)[2] and 

[3] above may be approved by the town for use as part of outdoor cafe seating.  

(7) Street trees. Street trees shall be planted along all primary streets within the town. New 

development shall install and maintain the installations. See Figure 90-107-L.  

(a) Street trees should be installed a maximum of 30 feet on center, and be located 

within planting strips or tree wells. Such trees may require a variance from the 

Florida Department of Transportation Design Engineer if located within the limits 

of clear sight.  

(b) The minimum width for all planting strips is five feet.  

(c) The minimum dimensions for tree wells are five feet by five feet, and shall utilize 

tree grates to permit pedestrian access.  

 

Figure 90-107-L 

 

 

(8) Lighting. New development shall include lights that are installed as part of a single 

unified fixture comprising both pedestrian and street lighting.  

(a) All lights shall be designed, installed and maintained to protect sea turtle nesting 

patterns.4 

(b) Additional pedestrian lights shall be located at critical intersections or high-

intensity areas, as warranted on an as-needed basis.  

 

4Cross Reference: See also Ch. 56, Animals, Art. II, Protection of Sea Turtles.  



 

 

(c) All site lighting shall be designed to eliminate glare to adjacent properties, minimize 

spill over by providing shielding and other appropriate design and construction 

techniques.  

H. See also chapter 90, parts 1 and 2; section 90-108 and section 90-138; chapter 133, article I, business tax and 
business tax receipts; and § 90-113, satellite antennas.  

(Ord. No. 15-03, § 1, 2-10-2016) 

Sec. 90-108. Parking regulations and requirements. 

All off-street parking and loading shall conform to the following requirements:  

A. Locations. Off-street parking or loading lots may be developed in any required side, front 

or rear yards. Parking garages shall conform to the minimum yard requirements for 

principal buildings of the district in which they are located. Required parking may be off 

the site of the principal structure and separated from the site of the principal structure by 

up to 400 feet; and must meet and be approved under the standards of this [subsection] 

K.(4)(e).  

B. Lot surfaces/drainage. Parking lots designed for 20 or more vehicles shall be designed 

for storm runoff pollution control. Appropriate pollution control facilities may include 

pervious bituminous concrete surfaces and on-site retention of stormwater. Performance 

criteria shall be included in the site plan application.  

C. Dimensions. Each parking space shall measure a minimum of ten feet wide and 20 feet 

deep, exclusive of maneuver space. The marking of parking spaces is required in lots 

designed for more than four vehicles. The developer, at his or her option, may increase 

the number of parking spaces by designating and marking up to 25 percent of the 

required spaces for smaller vehicles. Spaces for smaller vehicles shall measure a 

minimum of nine feet wide and 20 feet deep, exclusive of maneuver space. Total 

required space for parking will, however, be based on the ten-foot-by-twenty-foot 

dimension plus maneuver space for normal vehicles for the required number of spaces.  

D. Vehicular access. Vehicular access to street, pedestrian areas and landscaped areas shall 

be restricted and controlled by curbs or concrete bumpers. Unrestricted access to streets 

shall not exceed 25 feet per access point.  

E. Illumination. Lots shall be adequately illuminated if designed for use by more than four 

vehicles after dark.  

F. Egress. Excluding single-family and duplex residences, all off-street parking areas shall 

be designed so that no vehicle is required to back into a public or private street or through 

drive to obtain egress. For the purposes of this provision, drives or aisles serving more 

than 25 vehicles and which are not internal to a parking bay but serve one or more 

parking bays are considered to be through drives.  

G. Landscaping. Eight percent of the area of parking lots shall be devoted to landscaping 

encompassing trees and shrubs and a mechanical irrigation system. Landscaping 

arrangement shall contribute both to buffering between adjacent properties and to 

effective traffic control for safety.  



 

 

H. Loading areas. Loading areas shall comprise one space for every commercial or 

multiple-residence building of 5,000 square feet or more, plus one additional space for 

each additional 25,000 square feet of gross building space. Each loading space shall be 

at least 400 square feet in area.  

I. Residential zone restriction. A garage designed for more than three vehicles is not 

permitted as an accessory use for a single-family dwelling.  

J. Off-street parking areas. 

 (1) The schedule of off-street parking shall be as follows:  

 Use  Required Spaces  

Business and professional offices, 

retail  

1 for each 200 square feet of floor area used for transacting business  

Churches, auditoriums and places 

of assembly  

1 for each 3 seats  

Funeral homes  1 for each 100 square feet of parlor space  

Hospitals and guest houses  1 for each 2 patients, or rooms for rent  

Hotels and motels  1 for each sleeping room, plus 1 for every 3 units or fraction thereof  

Medical or dental offices  8 for each doctor  

Residential dwellings  2 per dwelling unit  

Restaurants, taverns, nightclubs  1 for each 4 seats, plus 1 for every 3 employees, but in no event less than 1 

for each 50 square feet devoted to patron use, plus 1 for each 400 square 

feet of other space  

Social halls, clubs and lodges  1 for each 200 square feet of floor area  

 

(2) For combined permitted uses located in a single enterprise, required parking shall 

be calculated separately. However, if under the site plan review procedures 

described in section 90-110 it can be demonstrated that separate calculation will 

result in more parking than is necessary because of shared clientele or because of 

nonoverlapping hours of use, the requirements may be adjusted accordingly.  

K. Gulf Boulevard Overlay District (GBOD) parking standards. The following parking 

standards are provided for use within the district limits where appropriate.  

(1) General conditions. Parking lots shall not interrupt key pedestrian routes, or 

otherwise negatively impact Gulf Boulevard. The Building Official shall review 

and make recommendation to the Planning and Zoning Board during site plan 

review process.  

(2) Location. 

 (a) Vehicular parking areas may be located at the rear of buildings or within the 

interior of blocks. However, vehicular parking areas may be approved by the 

town in side yard areas and/or fronting right-of-way where needed.  

(b) When located alongside a building, the vehicular parking areas shall not 

occupy more than one-third of the entire lot or block frontage, whichever is 

smaller.  

(3) Landscaping. All landscaping shall meet or exceed provisions within this chapter. 

Additionally:  



 

 

(a) All parking areas will be screened from public rights-of-way by landscape 

plantings and/or masonry walls.  

(b) Screening shall be a minimum of three feet in height at time of installation and 

be designed to accommodate either FDOT or town safe visibility criteria at 

access points.  

(4) Shared parking. 

 (a) All nonresidential uses within the GBOD can meet their parking requirements 

through the use of non-designated on-street parking (in front of the individual 

use as a credit to one-half car per full space towards required parking count) 

or designated spaces located within accessible private lots with available extra 

space to designate to the intended users, and an agreement as outlined in this 

[subsection] (4)(e).  

(b) All designated spaces must be located in lots within a reasonable walking 

distance, a maximum of 400 feet from the primary entrance of the use, and 

approved by the town.  

(c) Nonresidential uses may also meet their requirements through the use of a 

valet service that has access to off-site parking spaces sufficient to 

accommodate the need of the combined uses, based upon town approval.  

(d) All residential uses must accommodate required parking on-site. However, for 

upper-story residential apartments located within mixed-use buildings, 

parking requirements may be met with designated spaces in adjacent shared 

parking lots.  

(e) The joint use of shared off-street parking spaces must be designated by 

agreement between the users and the owner. The applicant shall submit a 

detailed traffic report prepared by a professional engineer using the Institute 

of Traffic Engineers (ITE) latest edition for trip generation and shared parking 

use. The report will identify the specific uses, hours of operation and 

stipulations acceptable to the town. Such shared use agreements shall be 

subject to final approval by the Town Commission and after execution, 

recorded by the requesting party with each parcel of property involved so as 

to run with the land.  

(5) Trash dumpsters. 

 (a) All trash dumpsters shall be stored and screened from the Gulf Boulevard 

right-of-way and adjacent residential uses.  

(b) Trash dumpsters shall be located in an accessible service area and enclosed 

within an opaque fence/wall with gates. Such gates shall remain closed at all 

times other than when being picked up.  

(Ord. No. 15-02, § 1, 11-12-2015; Ord. No. 15-03, § 3, 2-10-2016) 



 

 

Sec. 90-109. Boat, vessel, watercraft and trailer parking. 

A. It shall be unlawful for any person to place or park more than one boat and one trailer upon 

any lot, piece or parcel of land in the town. It shall not be deemed a violation of this section 

if no more than two personal watercraft are stored on a lot as long as they are on a trailer 

designed to accommodate two personal watercraft and as long as such trailer is the only trailer 

stored on such lot, piece or parcel of land in the town. Placing or parking such equipment 

upon any right-of-way or easement within the town is expressly prohibited.  

B. Boats, vessels, watercraft and trailers placed or parked upon the owner's or occupant's 

property shall be maintained in a neat, clean and presentable manner, and the area beneath 

the equipment shall be kept in a neat condition, and no accumulation of trash, weeds or 

overgrown grass shall be allowed under, near or around the equipment.  

C. It is further provided, notwithstanding any of the provisions contained in subsection A. of this 

section, that any resident of the town may park or store more than one boat, vessel, watercraft 

or trailer if such equipment is in an enclosed garage or enclosed carport out of view of the 

general public.  

D. Notwithstanding the above provisions, any resident of the Town of Redington Shores may 

obtain a permit from the town clerk to allow a guest or guests of such resident to park a boat, 

vessel or watercraft upon such resident's property for a period not to exceed 14 days in any 

calendar year.  

E. It shall be unlawful to violate the provisions of this section, and any person, firm or entity 

violating the provisions of this section shall be subject to a fine of up to $500.00 or 

incarceration for a period not to exceed 60 days in the Pinellas County Jail, with each day of 

violation being a separate violation of the provisions of this section.  

Sec. 90-110. Mandatory site plan review. 

All applications for new construction or substantial improvement, other than single-family 

detached houses and duplex units east of Gulf Boulevard, whether permitted or special, shall be 

subject to site plan review by the planning and zoning board for recommendation, and by the town 

commission for final approval or denial, which application shall be processed in accordance with 

the provisions of section 90-124.  

A. Site plan requirements. A site plan shall depict the following:  

(1) The locations of buildings and their relation to property lines.  

(2) Driveways and parking areas.  

(3) Pedestrian walks and landscaping.  

(4) Elevations and/or renderings, if required.  

(5) Locations of utilities, existing and proposed, including depicting all easements on 

the property, whether such are utility easements or private easements. Any property 

fronting on Gulf Boulevard shall show and provide a ten-foot wide utility easement, 

for aboveground and below-ground utilities, along such portions of the property 

abutting Gulf Boulevard. The providing of such utility easement to the Town of 



 

 

Redington Shores shall be a condition that must be fulfilled prior to the issuance of 

any building permit.  

(6) Spot locations of major trees in excess of eight inches in diameter, and waterways.  

(7) Topography to the one-foot contour interval.  

(8) Elevation of lowest habitable floor of building in relation to mean sea level.  

(9) When appropriate, the coastal construction control line and the flood zone 

boundaries of the most current flood insurance rate map (FIRM).  

(10) Facilities for control of runoff water.  

(11) Soil types.  

B. Site plan design criteria. The following criteria shall be considered by the planning and 

zoning board for conformance to the design criteria, after adequate review of the site 

plan and inspection of the site in question:  

(1) Density and design harmonious with the environment and meeting the zoning 

district requirements. The use must be appropriate to the neighborhood with regard 

to street width, alignment and traffic access. Parking areas and yards shall be 

screened with evergreen planting where necessary for privacy and noise control. 

Planted buffer strips up to 20 feet in width may be required. Opaque fencing may, 

at the discretion of the board of commissioners, be allowed where necessary.  

(2) The location of buildings and structures on the site and the provision of minimum 

front, rear and side yards shall be established based on desired standards for the 

neighborhoods. Desired standards may be at variance with prevailing standards. 

Such yards must be designed to conserve scenic amenities, particularly where water 

frontage is involved.  

C. Guidelines. The following criteria shall serve as guidelines:  

(1) Guideline yard standards for new construction of principal structures shall be as 

follows:  

 Number of Stories  Front  

(feet)  

Side  

(feet)  

Rear  

(feet)  

1 - over nonhabitable garage/storage  20  5  20  

2 - over nonhabitable garage/storage  25  10  25  

3 - over nonhabitable garage/storage  30  15  30  

4 - over nonhabitable garage/storage  35  20  35  

5 - over nonhabitable garage/storage  40  25  40  

 

Height Standards  

 District  Building Height  

(feet)  

Building Height  

(stories)  

RS-7  30  2.5  

RS-10  30  2.5  

RD-15  30  2.5  

RM-15  451, 2, 3, 4  41, 2, 3, 4  

ROR-15  30  3  



 

 

C-NR  30  3  

CTF  451, 2, 3, 4  41, 2, 3, 4  

PUD  855, 6 75t5, 7   

 PP  15  1  

PI  158  1  

GBOD  22/259  

48/5210  

29  

410  

 

Notes:  

1 Except for properties east of Gulf Boulevard and north of 177th Terrace where a maximum of two 

stories, not to exceed 30 feet is permitted.  

2 A height bonus may be permitted for parking of ten feet and one story through site plan approval.  

3 A height bonus may be permitted for parking and setbacks of 20 feet and two stories through site plan 

approval.  

4 A maximum of six habitable stories, not to exceed 65 feet, and 25 density units per net acre shall be 

permitted, except for properties east of Gulf Boulevard and north of 177th Terrace where the maximum 

permitted shall be four habitable stories, not to exceed 50 feet.  

5 Buildings within the GBOD shall comply with the design requirements of the district.  

6 Buildings located more than 100 feet from the Gulf Boulevard right-of-way.  

7 Buildings located outside the limits of the GBOD, except that single-family residential dwellings shall 

not exceed 40 feet.  

8 Excluding public utility poles, lines, and church steeples.  

9 Minimum within ten feet from Gulf Boulevard right-of-way, to establish pedestrian arcade/protection 

area.  

10 Maximum with building stepback and architectural treatments contained within the district standards.  

(2) Corner lots may be considered to have two front yards. Yard standards less than the 

guidelines may be approved if there is a finding that the proposed yards are in 

harmony with the neighborhood, comprise the most appropriate use of the land and, 

furthermore, that the yard reduction serves the greater public interest. Accessory 

structures may be located in yards based upon the standards of section 90-3 F.  

(3) Traffic circulation:  

(a) Unrestricted access to streets is not allowed. Generally curb cuts are limited to 

a maximum of 25 feet.  

(b) Access to streets should take into consideration sight distance and alignment.  

(c) All sites must provide for emergency vehicle access.  

(d) Separate ingress and egress is encouraged.  

(e) Traffic collection to reduce access points to Gulf Boulevard is encouraged.  

(f) Maneuver lanes between rows of parked autos shall be at least 20 feet in width.  

(g) Traffic lanes shall conform to the same design standards as public streets as 

regards alignment on intersection.  



 

 

(h) All buildings, exclusive of single-family and duplex dwelling districts, must 

provide for pedestrian circulation. Hard-surfaced pedestrian walks a minimum 

of four feet wide shall be provided generally as follows:  

[1] Along public rights-of-way.  

[2] Along access corridors to buildings.  

[3] At interconnecting points where significant numbers of people will 

seek to walk.  

(i) See also section 90-108, parking regulations and requirements.  

(4) Landscaping. All uses shall be landscaped.  

(a) Required landscaping may encompass the following:  

[1] Street trees or shrubs.  

[2] Foundation planting.  

[3] Planting islands to define curb cuts.  

[4] Perimeter planting to define and beautify sites.  

[5] Parking lot and walkway landscaping.  

[6] Buffer strips and screening for privacy.  

[7] Landscaping for underutilized acreage.  

[8] Landscaping for recreation space.  

[9] Landscaping for erosion control.  

(b) See also part 3, resources; vegetation and environmentally sensitive lands, 

article XXIX and article XXX, landscaping.  

D. Site plan approval criteria. The planning and zoning board shall have the option to 

recommend to the town commission approval as submitted, approval with conditions or 

disapproval of any submitted site plan, and the town commission shall have the option 

to approve, approve with conditions, or disapprove any submitted site plan. In approving 

a site plan with conditions, the written conditions become an appendage to the site plan. 

No building permit may be issued until the conditions are incorporated in the site plan, 

and no certificate of occupancy may be issued until all the conditions are satisfied. 

Conditions may include modifications to the layout or transfer of development rights. 

They may also relate to the use of the facility, including activities conducted therein, 

occupancy or hours of use.  

E. Exceptions. In a Commercial Tourist Facilities (CTF) Zoning District in the Town of 

Redington Shores, mandatory site plan review shall not be required as to single-family 

or duplex residences which are being altered only for the purpose of general repair and 

maintenance, up to a maximum expenditure of $2,500.00. However, no expansion of 

present residential premises by conversion of breezeways, carports, garages, patios, 

covered parking areas or parking areas in order to provide additional living area shall be 

permitted without mandatory site plan review. In addition, any enclosure which would 

negate code parking otherwise required on the property shall not be permitted. Any 



 

 

general maintenance, repairs or changes to the premises which involve a total 

expenditure of over the amount of $2,500.00 shall require a mandatory special exception 

review, but the property owner shall only be required to provide a current certified survey 

for such review. Nothing contained in these exceptions shall be deemed to authorize new 

construction or second-level additions without mandatory site plan review, and all such 

construction shall have drawings certified with the seal/stamp of a Florida-registered 

architect/engineer.  

(Ord. No. 15-01, § 15, 4-8-2015) 

Editor's note(s)—Former subsection E., transfer of development rights, was repealed 7-14-2010 

by Ord. No. 10-01; said ordinance also provided for the redesignation of former subsection 

F. as subsection E. See now section 90-115.  

Sec. 90-111. Regulations governing home occupations and other special uses. 

A. Home occupations. 

(1) Home occupations shall include the following:  

(a) Art studio.  

(b) Dressmaking.  

(c) Teaching with musical instrument limited to a single pupil at a time.  

(d) Tutoring for not more than two students at a time.  

(e) Foster family care (for not more than four children simultaneously).  

(f) Boarding of not more than two persons.  

(g) Other approved home occupations as approved by the board of commissioners.  

(2) Home occupations shall not be interpreted to include the following:  

(a) Retail wholesale outlets.  

(b) Barbershops and beauty parlors.  

(c) Kennels.  

(d) Commercial and professional offices.  

(e) Restaurants.  

(f) Automotive repairs.  

(3) Licenses for home occupations shall be issued by the town clerk in accordance with the 

provisions of chapter 133, taxation, of the Code of the Town of Redington Shores.  

(4) Personnel employed shall be limited to members of the immediate family residing on 

the premises; no mechanical equipment which will create noise, smoke or odor may be 

installed; no commodity may be sold on the premises; commercial vehicles may be 

parked or stored only in an enclosed garage where they are totally obscured from view; 

not over 25 percent of any one story of a residence may be used for home occupation; 

frequent or regular pickup or delivery of materials or merchandise is prohibited; any 



 

 

activity which will create congested or excessive vehicular traffic or the congregating of 

persons which would disrupt the peace and quiet of a residential neighborhood is 

prohibited; one nonilluminated sign not larger than two square feet attached to the 

building may be displayed; establishment of a home occupation to avoid payment of a 

higher business tax receipt fee shall be considered a violation of this part 2 and chapter 

133, taxation, article I, business tax and business tax receipts, of the Code of the Town 

of Redington Shores.  

B. Other special uses. 

(1) Private, nonprofit recreational uses or social uses where membership is limited to 

adjacent residential areas in the RM-15 district. Standards shall be as follows:  

(a) The use, including accessory structures, shall be no closer than 25 feet to any 

property line.  

(b) The property line shall be screened by a ten-foot landscaped strip.  

(2) Commercial uses and commercial recreation uses in the C-NR district. standards shall 

be as follows:  

(a) The use shall not be closer than 50 feet to any residential district.  

(b) The property line shall be screened by a ten-foot landscaped strip.  

(c) A six-foot solid privacy fence or wall may be permitted as necessary to provide 

buffering for the residential district.  

C. Transient rentals. Transient rentals, as defined in this part 2, shall be deemed to constitute the 

operation of a commercial tourist facility and are specifically prohibited in the RS-7, RD-15, 

RS-10 and RM-15 districts. Under special circumstances, a special use permit for such 

transient rentals in other residential districts may be granted for specified limited periods of 

time. The participation, either directly or indirectly, in such transient rentals by any person 

acting either as an owner, agent, broker or any other form of representative shall constitute 

participation in the operation of a commercial tourist facility. The advertising or use of any 

such property for transient rental, by any formal method, including the Internet, shall be 

deemed to be conducting the operation of a transient rental. Any violation of this provision 

shall be subject to a fine of $500.00. Each day of violation shall constitute a separate violation. 

The penalties contained in this provision shall be the exclusive penalties applicable to a 

violation of this transient rental subsection, and no other fines, penalties or provisions 

contained elsewhere in the Town of Redington Shores Code of Ordinances shall apply to 

violations of the transient rental subsection.  

D. Authority for issuance of special permits. 

(1) The town clerk is authorized to issue special use permits for home occupations, portable 

signs and temporary parking of recreation vehicles/housecars.  

(2) All other special use permits shall be subject to approval of the planning and zoning 

board.  

(3) Fees for special use permits shall be in the same amounts as those established for 

business tax receipts in chapter 133, taxation, of the Code of the Town of Redington 

Shores.  



 

 

(Ord. No. 08-04, 7-9-2008; Ord. No. 10-0514, 7-14-2010; Ord. No. 11-03, 5-25-2011) 

Sec. 90-112. Signs. 

A. Prohibited signs. The following types of signs or advertising structures are not permitted in 

the Town of Redington Shores in any zoning district:  

(1) Animated or flashing light signs of such size, intensity of lighting or degree of animation 

as to present a garish appearance or to constitute a traffic hazard by diverting motorists' 

attention.  

(2) Billboards.  

(3) Off-premises signs.  

(4) Banner signs.  

(5) Portable signs, except for sandwich board signs in the C-NR, ROR-15 and CTF zoning 

districts.  

(6) Roof signs (where the location of an existing structure makes the placement of other 

signs not feasible, variances may be granted for the construction of roof and/or projecting 

signs).  

(7) Projecting signs.  

(8) Swinging signs.  

B. Sign permits. 

(1) All signs six square feet or more in area require permits issued by the building 

department. Erection and construction of signs shall conform to the Florida Building 

Code.  

(2) All sandwich board signs require annual permits issued by the town clerk.  

C. Signs permitted in single-family (RS-7 and RS-10) and duplex (RD-15) residential districts 

shall be in accordance with the following: 

Type  Maximum Sign Area  

(square feet)  

Home occupation signs (1 per business)  2  

Sale or rental signs (1 per property)  6  

Individual name and/or street number signs (up to 2 per property)  2  

No trespassing private property, etc.  2  

Construction signs while under construction (1 per property)  6  

 

D. Signs permitted in multifamily (RM-15, ROR-15, PUD) residential districts shall be as 

follows: 

(1) All those in subsection C. above.  

(2) Institutional name signs, as follows:  

Type  Maximum Sign Area  

(square feet)  

Commented [NM6]: Signs moved to new Part 4 



 

 

For buildings of fewer than 20 dwelling units or any buildings on lots less 

than 100-foot front (1 per property)  

24  

For buildings of 20 or more dwelling units and on 100-foot front lots or 

more (up to 2 per property)  

24  

 

E. Signs permitted in commercial tourist facilities (CTF), general commercial (C-NR) and 

residential/office/retail (ROR-15) districts: 

(1) All those in subsections C. and D. above.  

(2) Institution and business signs for businesses occupying premises with frontage as 

follows:  

Frontage  Maximum Total  

Sign Area  

(square feet)  

Maximum Size  

of Individual Sign  

(square feet)  

50 linear feet or less  40  20  

51 to 100 linear feet  60  32  

101 to 125 linear feet  90  40  

More than 125 linear feet  96  48  

NOTE: Business properties with frontage on two streets may have signs on each street in accordance with the 

frontage on that street. For premises fronting Gulf Boulevard where no signs are displayed on the side street 

frontage, 25 percent of the frontage may be applied to computing Gulf Boulevard frontage. These same 

provisions shall apply to business properties with frontage on Boca Ciega Bay.  

 

(3) Sandwich board signs for businesses occupying premises, provided that:  

(a) Sandwich board signs shall be no larger than 30 inches in width and 48 inches in 

height. No material such as papers, balloons, windsocks, etc. or other items 

prohibited by the Code may be added to such sign. The height of such signs may 

not be artificially increased above the allowed maximum by placing material under 

the base of such sign.  

(b) No more than one sandwich board sign per business is permitted.  

(c) Sandwich board signs may be placed no closer than ten feet from another such sign.  

(d) Sandwich board signs shall not be placed in the public right-of-way, in any parking 

space or drive isle, or in such a way to obstruct vehicular traffic sight, or to block 

any door or required ADA route.  

(e) Sandwich board signs may only be used during the hours when the business is open 

to the public and must be brought in at the close of business or in the event of high 

wind conditions.  

(f) No sandwich board sign shall contain foil, mirrors, bare metal or other reflective 

materials which could create hazardous conditions to motorists, bicyclists or 

pedestrians.  

(g) No sandwich board sign shall swing, rotate, twirl or contain any moving parts.  

(h) Sandwich board signs shall not contain lights of any kind.  



 

 

F. Signs permitted in outdoor recreation/public open space and public/semipublic institutional 

districts: 

(1) Commercial uses will be in accordance with subsection E. above.  

(2) Noncommercial uses may have signs up to 20 square feet in area.  

G. Temporary signs. A temporary sign/banner will require a permit for use for a special event. 

The permit will include the date when the sign will be removed, which is no later than three 

days after the event. Maximum dimensions are four feet in height by eight feet in width. No 

more than one sign is permitted for any site. Small temporary window signs (restaurant 

menus, "open" and "closed" signs, daily specials, etc.) less than ten square feet in aggregate 

may be posted without permit.  

H. Pole signs. Pole signs or other types of freestanding signs are permitted where district 

requirements are met. Only one such sign is permitted per property. Multibusiness buildings 

and shopping centers are considered to be one property. National flags and state flags on poles 

are permitted in the same manner as pole signs. The maximum flag size is 32 square feet and 

may be in addition to a pole sign.  

I. Double-faced signs. In calculating maximum sign area allowances, only one side of double-

faced signs will be considered.  

J. Number of signs per district. 

(1) For multifamily residential districts (RM-15 and PUD), up to two signs are permitted for 

buildings with less than 100 linear feet frontage and up to four for those with 100 linear 

feet or more frontage.  

(2) For resort facilities medium and commercial general districts, up to two signs are 

permitted for businesses with 50 linear feet or less of frontage, up to three signs for those 

with 51 linear feet to 125 linear feet of frontage and up to four signs for those with more 

than 125 linear feet of frontage. Multiple window signs may count as one sign if the 

aggregate area does not exceed the individual sign area maximum for that property.  

(3) Shopping centers and multibusiness buildings, (commercial general), are permitted one 

pole/freestanding sign plus one wall, canopy/marquee or window sign for each business. 

Uniform design of signs in each instance is encouraged. The pole/freestanding sign for 

the shopping center/multibusiness building may also contain identification of the 

individual businesses located therein, but all signs shall not exceed aggregate sign area 

allowed for the business.  

(4) Parking and directional signs will not count as part of the allowable total. The area of a 

canopy/marquee sign is considered to be only the actual sign area and not necessarily 

the overall area of the canopy/marquee.  

K. Design of signs. 

(1) Design of signs shall be harmonious with the environment and compatible with the 

structures in the area. In no case will any sign exceed eight feet in its vertical dimension 

or 16 feet in width. Pole/Freestanding signs will not extend more than 15 feet above 

grade for single-story buildings or 21 feet for multiple story buildings. Signs fixed to the 



 

 

building may not extend above the roofline. Marquees are considered to be within the 

roofline.  

(2) No sign will employ words, shapes or colors which might be confused with any 

authorized traffic sign, signal or device.  

(3) No sign advertising products, services or places other than those located on the premises 

may be erected except upon approval by the board of commissioners.  

(4) No wall sign shall cover more than ten percent of the area of the wall to which it is 

applied. It will not extend more than 12 inches from the surface. Window signs shall not 

cover more than 20 percent of any glass area.  

(5) It shall be unlawful for any person to display false or misleading information in any sign.  

(6) Each sign shall be strongly constructed and securely anchored to withstand wind 

pressure as required by Florida Building Codes, as adopted, or alternatively as designed 

by a professional engineer (P.E.).  

L. Placement of signs. 

(1) All signs must be placed within the limits of the property to which they apply. 

Freestanding signs are not permitted closer than ten feet to the legal right-of-way of the 

road. Where the placement of existing structures makes the ten-foot setback for 

freestanding signs impractical, variance procedures may be applied. However, no sign 

may project beyond the property line.  

(2) Freestanding signs in areas where pedestrian traffic is expected must have the lowest 

edge at least eight feet above grade.  

(3) Access to buildings. No sign shall be erected or maintained so as to prevent free ingress 

or egress through any door, window or fire escape or to prevent access from one part of 

a roof to any other part. No sign of any kind shall be attached to a standpipe or fire 

escape.  

(4) Traffic or visual obstruction. No sign or supporting structure shall be erected so as to 

obstruct free and clear vision at street and driveway intersections.  

(5) Painting or posting signs. No sign may be painted, posted, nailed or otherwise affixed to 

any part of sidewalks, curbs, pavements, trees, lampposts, utility poles, hydrants, 

bridges, etc., within the limits of any public right-of-way.  

(6) All signs and surrounding premises shall be maintained in good condition by the owner.  

M. Electrical signs. 

(1) The construction and maintenance of all signs using electrical illumination shall be 

subject to town requirements for approval of plans and for inspection.  

(2) Neon or similar electrical signs shall be located and protected to ensure that they do not 

endanger life or property.  

(3) Sign illumination will be focused directly on the sign and shielded to assure that it does 

not throw light which could interfere with the vision of motorists or pedestrians or cause 

a nuisance for adjoining properties.  



 

 

(4) No electrical sign shall be maintained which shall cause interference with radio or 

television receivers.  

(5) Illuminated tubing or strings of lights around open sale areas, on fences or on other 

property or building edges are not permitted.  

N. Political signs. 

(1) No political signs of any nature may be placed within the limits of any public right-of-

way or on any public place.  

(2) Political signs for qualified candidates for any office in any election in which electors of 

the town may vote are allowed for any candidate and may be displayed in the 

nonresidential districts in the town.  

(3) Political signs shall not exceed four square feet in area.  

(4) The building inspector is hereby authorized to remove any political sign posted in the 

town in violation of this article and to notify the candidate or the person responsible for 

posting the sign.  

O. Removal of signs. 

(1) Removal upon terminating of business or vacating of property. All signs must be 

removed within 60 days. If not removed, the town will remove them after ten days' 

written notice to the owner of the property. Cost of removal will be borne by the property 

owner. Sign structures which have intrinsic property value may remain in place if they 

otherwise meet ordinance requirements (or are under approved variances) and are 

properly maintained. Sign information relating to the terminated business must be 

removed. If the signs are relevant to a new occupant of the property, a single 60-day 

extension may be granted upon request to the building inspector. Any additional 

extension(s) would require approval of a variance.  

(2) "For Sale," "For Rent," "For Lease" or "Sold" signs shall be removed immediately after 

closing.  

(3) The town building inspector is hereby authorized to remove any sign that is not properly 

maintained or is unsafe or hazardous after giving written notice to the owner of the sign 

at least ten days prior to removal. He or she is also authorized to cause to be removed 

any signs constructed or modified after December 14, 1983, which are in violation of 

provisions of this article, unless variances were approved and/or permits issued prior to 

such construction or modification. Cost of removal will be borne by the property owner.  

P. Nonconforming signs. 

(1) Except for prohibited signs, previously approved signs in place prior to enactment of this 

part 2 and not in conformance thereto may continue in place if properly maintained 

without meeting the requirements of this article. Any replacement sign must meet the 

provisions of this article. Damaged signs must be removed from the premises within 

seven days unless repaired or replaced.  

(2) Failure to comply with the provisions of this part 2 shall constitute basis for revocation 

of business tax receipts.  



 

 

Q. Gulf Boulevard Overlay District sign standards. 

(1) General. 

(a) Nonresidential uses along Gulf Boulevard may be permitted one sign oriented 

towards automobile traffic and one that is oriented towards pedestrian traffic.  

(b) All signs shall be externally illuminated, not translucent or internally illuminated.  

(c) All signs must be designed concurrently and coherently with the facade or shopfront 

with which it is to be associated, sharing overall composition, material and color.  

(2) Auto-orientated signage. 

(a) Auto-oriented signage can be of the following types: wall sign, vertical blade sign, 

canopy sign and window sign.  

(b) Wall signs and vertical blade signs must be affixed to the primary facade of the 

building, immediately above the designated commercial use.  

(c) Canopy signs must be affixed to the canopy or awning immediately in front of the 

commercial use.  

(d) Auto-oriented wall signs and window signs shall be no more than 30 inches in 

height and eight feet in length.  

 

Figure 90-112-A 

 

 

(e) Window signs shall not occupy more than 25 percent of the available transparent 

glass area. Window signs must be within the windows of the designated use and 

may include use of neon lighting.  

(f) Canopy signs must fit along the vertical edge of the canopy, and may not extend 

more than six inches in height and ten feet in length.  

(g) Vertical blade signs shall be no more than eight feet in height and 15 inches in 

length, and shall be offset from the wall up to a maximum of six inches.  

 



 

 

Figure 90-112-B 

 

 

(h) When more than one commercial use is contained within a building, all of the 

commercial uses must use the same type of auto-oriented signage.  

(i) Each use along Gulf Boulevard that has a distinct street number must portray that 

number adjacent to the appropriate entryway.  

[1] Such number should be wall- or window-mounted, no less than four feet and 

no more than eight feet above adjacent grade, and should be placed so as to be 

visible from Gulf Boulevard.  

[2] The individual numbers shall be no less than five inches and no more than 

eight inches in height.  

[3] If the numbers are contained within a frame, the frame should be no more than 

one inch wider and higher than the enclosed numbers.  

(3) Pedestrian-oriented signage. Pedestrian-oriented signage may be of the following types: 

wall sign, horizontal blade sign, and window sign.  

(a) Wall signs must be affixed to the wall of the structure, in front of the designated 

commercial use.  

(b) Blade signs must hang overhead within arcades or porches, in front of the 

designated commercial use. These signs can also be supported by horizontal 

brackets that project from the wall of the structure.  

 



 

 

Figure 90-112-C 

 

 

(c) Window signs must be within the windows of the designated commercial use. Neon 

lights can be used for these signs.  

(4) Noncommercial signs. Each building along Gulf Boulevard may be permitted to have 

one auto-oriented sign identifying the building, such as the name or address of the 

building.  

(a) Such signs can be wall or vertical blade signs.  

(b) Wall signs shall be no more than 30 inches in height and no more than eight feet in 

width.  

(c) Vertical blade signs shall be no more than eight feet in height and no more than 15 

inches in width or extension.  

R. Permit required; exceptions. No person shall erect, construct or alter within the town any sign 

containing six square feet or more of area without first having obtained a permit for the 

construction of such sign. Plans for the construction or alteration of signs submitted in 

accordance with section 90-2 of this chapter will clearly show the design, coloring and 

wording of the proposed sign.  

S. Building code to govern construction. The erection or construction of signs shall be in 

accordance with the Florida Building Codes, as adopted.  

T. Signage utilized by the Town of Redington Shores for special events shall be exempt from 

all provisions of this section.  

(Ord. No. 19-02, § 1, 6-12-2019) 

Sec. 90-113. Satellite antennas. 

A. Satellite antennas and related guy wires shall be considered accessory structures and shall 

meet setback requirements. They will be fixed-point structures. No more than one satellite 

antenna per property shall be permitted.  



 

 

 

B. Satellite antennas shall be installed and maintained in compliance with requirements of the 

Florida Building Code and National Electrical Code. A building permit shall be required prior 

to construction and installation.  

C. Satellite antennas shall be appropriately finished to avoid bright light reflection and to blend 

with surroundings. No advertising or signage of any type is permitted on satellite antennas. 

Satellite antennas mounted above the roofline shall be of open web or mesh construction. 

Solid antenna dishes may be used in ground or pole mountings where no part of the antenna 

extends beyond the roofline at its nearest point.  

D. The maximum height of the antenna shall not exceed 15 feet above grade, except where roof-

mounted or pole-mounted adjacent to the roof where it will not extend more than 15 feet 

above roof level at its nearest point.  

E. All poles or other brackets extending into the ground on which satellite antennas are mounted 

shall be securely anchored to conform to the Florida Building Code for like structures, so that 

in the event of flooding, such ground mounts shall not come out of the ground. The plans and 

specifications for such mounts shall be submitted to and approved by the building inspector 

prior to any installation.  

F. For single-family and duplex residences (RS-7, RS-10, RD-15), satellite antennas are 

permitted only within the rear yard buildable area for principal or accessory structures. Where 

roof mounting or pole mounting above the roofline is necessary, such installation will only 

be made in the rear half of the roof area.  

G. For multifamily residences (RM-15), retail office, residential structures (ROR-15), motels, 

hotels (CTF), commercial structures (C-NR) and public institutional structures (PI), satellite 

antennas are permitted in buildable area for principal or accessory structures but not forward 

of the principal structure.  

H. Construction and installation of satellite antennas shall be considered in site plan review as 

described in section 90-110, except for existing single-family and duplex residences.  

I. No variances may be granted which would allow satellite antennas in the required front yard 

setback.  

J. Satellite antennas legally in existence at the date of enactment of this section shall be 

considered "grandfathered." Satellite antennas not otherwise in compliance with this part 2 

shall be removed at the owner's expense.  

Sec. 90-114. Nonconforming uses. 

A. Buildings existing at the time this part 2 becomes effective; alteration or change of use. The 

lawful use of a building, which use existed at the time of the effective date of this part 2, may 

be continued although such use does not conform to the provisions hereof. If no structural 

alterations are made, a nonconforming use of a building may be changed to another 

nonconforming use of the same or of a more restricted classification. Whenever a 

nonconforming use has been changed to a more restricted use or to a conforming use, such 

use shall not thereafter be changed to less restricted use.  

B. Buildings which become nonconforming through zoning change. Whenever the use of a 

building becomes nonconforming through a change in the zoning ordinance or district 



 

 

boundaries, such use may be continued; and if no structural alterations are made, it may be 

changed to another nonconforming use of the same or of a more restricted classification.  

C. Discontinuance of a nonconforming use. In the event that a nonconforming use of any 

building or place is discontinued for a period of six months, the use of the same shall thereafter 

conform to the use permitted in the district in which it is located; provided, however, that the 

board of commissioners may permit a continuation of such nonconforming building or 

premises.  

D. Alteration of building housing nonpermitted use. No existing building devoted to a use not 

permitted by this part 2 in the district in which such building is located shall be enlarged, 

extended, reconstructed or structurally altered unless such use is changed to a use permitted 

in the district in which such building is located.  

E. Restoration of nonconforming uses damaged by any cause. When a building, the use of which 

does not conform to the provisions of this part 2, is less than 51 percent damaged without 

design or connivance of the owner thereof by fire, explosion, hurricane or any cause, it may 

be restored, provided that the same meets with the provisions of the town building code and 

the permit issued thereunder.  

F. Special exception. Where an individual single-residence is located in a zoning district 

permitting single residences, but does not meet criteria as to lot size or flood protection, and 

is destroyed or damaged beyond 51 percent of total value by a disaster not of the owner's 

design, connivance or contribution, a building permit may be issued by the building 

department for reconstruction or replacement of a like single-family residence meeting flood 

protection and minimum setback criteria for the district in which the property is located.  

G. In the event that any residential structure is damaged or destroyed by a hurricane, tornado, 

fire, flood, windstorm, or other natural disaster, it can be repaired or reconstructed in a manner 

which guarantees that each unit and all permitted accessory uses can be restored to the same 

square footage and structure footprint upon the lot or lots which existed immediately prior to 

such disaster. Repairs and reconstruction shall adhere to all other Town Code provisions and 

flood management regulations in effect. In the event that such flood regulations require the 

elevation of a structure, the town shall permit the height of the structure to be increased the 

minimum necessary to accommodate the required flood elevation. If the repairs or 

reconstruction cannot be made in accordance with the current Town Code provisions, the 

town shall grant the owners relief from such code provisions to permit the same number of 

grandfathered units, and all existing legally permitted accessory uses, to be constructed on 

the same structure footprint upon the lot or lots which existed prior to the disaster, provided 

such restoration does not create a greater nonconformity than that which existed prior to the 

disaster.  

Sec. 90-115. Transferable development rights. 

A. Applications for transferable development rights shall be processed in accordance with the 

provisions of section 90-124. Applications will be subject to review by the planning and 

zoning board, which shall pass its recommendation to the town board of commissioners, who 

shall, in its sole discretion, taking into consideration the existing density of other parcels in 

the vicinity of the receiving parcel, ingress and egress to the receiving parcel, and other such 



 

 

factors, make the final determination as to whether to allow the transfer of development rights 

as requested, or as modified.  

B. Transfer of development rights shall be subject to the following:  

(1) The permitted uses within any given future land use plan category shall be consistent 

with those permitted uses enumerated for each future land use plan category, and no 

transfer of development rights shall be permitted which is inconsistent with the permitted 

uses of a given future land use plan category.  

(2) There shall be no transfer of development rights from existing developed property, 

irrespective of whether or not that property has been developed to the maximum 

density/intensity permitted under the future land use map and this Code, except for 

archaeological, historical, architectural preservation, or Leadership in Energy and 

Environmental Design (LEED) building certification purposes, pursuant to the 

enumerated policies and locations as set forth in the Comprehensive Plan and this Code. 

For the purpose of this provision, any lot or parcel which has been developed to a density 

that is less than its maximum density shall be considered to be an "existing developed 

property."  

(3) Transfer of development rights is permitted between all future land use plan categories 

except for transfer to the preservation and recreation/open space categories.  

(4) The maximum permitted density/intensity of the future land use plan category for any 

parcel of land to which development rights are transferred shall not exceed an additional 

20 percent of the otherwise maximum permitted density/intensity allowed for each 

respective future land use plan category applicable to such parcel.  

(5) Where development rights are transferred from a sending parcel, that property shall only 

be used in a manner and to the extent specified in the transfer and recording mechanism. 

Any parcel from which development rights are transferred will be limited to the use and 

density/intensity that remains after the transfer. In particular:  

(a) The residual development rights on the sending parcel will be limited to the remnant 

use and density/intensity available under the future land use map designation, and 

not otherwise transferred.  

(b) Neither the use nor density/intensity of a sending parcel shall be double-counted, 

and the transfer of development rights shall not result in any combination of use or 

density/intensity above that which was otherwise permitted under the future land 

use map designation for each of the sending and receiving parcels, when taken 

together.  

(c) A sending parcel from which all development rights are transferred shall not 

thereafter be available for use except consistent with the permitted uses and 

density/intensity standards of the recreation/open space category, except for 

sending parcels classified as preservation or required to be classified as preservation 

as a function of the transfer, in which case such parcels shall be limited to the 

permitted uses and density/intensity standards of the preservation category.  

(6) Where all development rights have previously been transferred from a sending parcel, 

no additional development rights shall be transferable from that sending parcel.  



 

 

(7) There shall be no transfer of development rights from or to submerged land, or from 

outside the coastal high hazard area into the coastal high hazard area.  

(8) The sending parcel must be located within the Town of Redington Shores unless it is 

owned by the Town of Redington Shores or another unit of local government.  

(9) Where development rights cannot otherwise be determined for the preservation or 

recreation/open space category based on these provisions for transfer of development 

rights, such categories shall be assigned a maximum density/intensity of one dwelling 

unit or five percent floor area ratio per acre, or both, as is applicable based on the 

permitted uses to be utilized in the receiving parcel for any transfer of development rights 

under the future land use map and this Code.  

(10) Where an entire parcel of property is located in a preservation or recreation/open space 

category, and the development rights of such parcel have not been and cannot be 

transferred, such property shall be permitted a minimum beneficial use subject to the 

various provisions set forth in the future land use map and this Code, but private property 

shall not be taken without due process of law and the payment of just compensation.  

(11) All transfers of development rights shall be recorded, in a form approved by the 

countywide planning authority, in the public records with the Clerk of the Circuit Court 

for Pinellas County, and a record copy of same to be filed with the Pinellas Planning 

Council.  

(12) All applications for transfer of development rights shall be on a form, as required by the 

building official, and shall be accompanied by the payment of a fee, as enacted, and as 

may be from time to time amended, by the town commission, by resolution.  

(Ord. No. 10-01, 7-14-2010) 

Sec. 90-116. Vacation rentals. 

A. Applicability and purpose. 

(1) This section shall apply to all permitted vacation rentals located in the Town of 

Redington Shores, Florida, including any grandfathered use of vacation rentals in zoning 

districts other than Commercial Tourist Facilities (CTF) and Planned Unit Development 

(PUD) with a Future Land Use category of Resorts Facilities Medium (RFM).  

(2) The purpose of this section is to provide additional regulations pertaining to vacation 

rentals to preserve the quiet nature and atmosphere of residential areas and to ensure to 

the town's residents the tranquility and peaceful enjoyment of their neighborhoods. 

These regulations shall be in addition to and shall not supplant other provisions in this 

Code that may apply to vacation rentals; and in the event of a conflict, the more 

restrictive provision shall control. Nothing in this section shall be deemed to create an 

enforceable right or private right of action against the town.  

B. Definitions. For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:  

(1) Peer-to-peer or platform entity shall mean any person, service, business company, 

marketplace, or other entity that, for a fee or other consideration, provides property 



 

 

owners and responsible parties a platform or means to offer vacation rentals to transient 

occupants whether through the internet or other means.  

(2) Property owner shall mean the person who, or entity that, owns the property being used 

or occupied as a vacation rental.  

(3) Responsible party shall mean the person or entity authorized by the property owner to 

obtain a certificate of use for a vacation rental, and who will be:  

(a) Responsible for ensuring compliance with all regulations related to vacation rentals; 

and  

(b) Available to respond 24 hours per day, seven days per week to an issue that arises 

relating to the vacation rental.  

The property owner may serve as responsible party.  

(4) Transient occupant shall mean any person who rents or occupies any dwelling unit or 

residence or part thereof for less than 30 days or one calendar month whichever is less, 

and any guest or invitee of such person.  

C. Certificate of use required. No property owner, responsible party, or peer-to-peer or platform 

entity shall offer as a vacation rental or allow any person to rent or occupy as a vacation rental 

any property in whole or in part within the Town of Redington Shores, unless a certificate of 

use has first been obtained in accordance with the provisions of this section. A property may 

be offered as a vacation rental immediately upon submission of an application for certificate 

of use, unless and until such time as the application is thereafter rejected or revoked.  

(1) Application. A complete certificate of use application shall be submitted to the town. 

The application must be signed under oath or affirmation, and shall include the 

following:  

(a) The address and legal description of the vacation rental property;  

(b) Name address, email address, and phone number of the property owner;  

(c) Name, address, email address, and phone number of the responsible party;  

(d) Name and contact information for the peer-to-peer or platform entity or entities on 

which the vacation rental is, or will be, listed for rent;  

(e) Statement that the responsible party is, or will be, remitting all applicable local 

Pinellas County business and tourist taxes; or that a peer-to-peer or platform entity 

through which vacation rentals are booked will be remitting all such taxes 

associated with the vacation rental on the responsible party's behalf;  

(f) Statement that the responsible party is authorized by the property owner to offer the 

property as a vacation rental and act as the responsible party;  

(g) Statement as to whether the entire property, or just a part thereof (i.e., a room or 

rooms) will be used as a vacation rental;  

(h) Statement that insurance coverage will be in effect at all times while the property is 

being used as a vacation rental to cover liability for injury or harm to transient 

occupants or other invitees, and acknowledging that a standard homeowner's or 



 

 

renter's insurance policy may not necessarily provide such liability coverage while 

the property is used as a vacation rental;  

(i) Statement acknowledging that the vacation rental must be registered with the 

Florida Department of Revenue, or successor agency, for purposes of collecting and 

remitting applicable state taxes and all such state taxes have been, or will be, paid;  

(j) Statement acknowledging that a vacation rental license, issued by the Florida 

Department of Business and Professional Regulation, or successor agency, must be 

obtained; and  

(k) Statement acknowledging that the property is, and will be at all times during which 

it is used as a vacation rental, maintained in compliance with the vacation rental 

standards set forth in subsection D. below;  

(l) Statement acknowledging that copies of any executed rental contract in existence 

prior to August 12, 2020, which contains provisions contrary to this section but are 

otherwise permissible under Town Code, along with evidence of any deposit 

received in conjunction with such contract(s), must be submitted to the town with 

the initial certificate of use application. The property owner or responsible party 

must also execute the corresponding affidavit promulgated by the town, as may be 

amended from time to time. Failure to submit such affidavit and documentation 

shall result in all rentals being subject to the terms of this section despite the date 

such rental agreement was entered into by the parties.  

(m) A building sketch(s) shall be provided by floor showing a floor layout. The sketch 

shall be drawn to scale, showing all bedrooms and sleeping areas.  

(2) Supporting documentation. The responsible party shall maintain all required licenses, 

records, and other documentation sufficient to demonstrate that the statements and 

information required by subsection (1) above are true and accurate.  

(3) Providing false information. Failure to provide truthful and complete information and 

responses in an application for a certificate of use is grounds to deny or revoke the 

certificate of use. A determination that an applicant has failed to provide truthful and 

complete information and responses in an application is appealable to the town 

commission, provided that a written notice of appeal is filed with the town clerk within 

ten calendar days from the date of the written denial or revocation of the certificate of 

use.  

(4) Annual renewal. The certificate of use shall be renewed annually. A certificate of use 

may not be renewed if there are any outstanding fines or liens for violations of Town 

Code.  

D. Vacation rental standards. The following vacation rental standards shall govern vacation 

rentals in the Town of Redington Shores:  

(1) Duties of peer-to-peer or platform entity. For each vacation rental listed or offered, a 

peer-to-peer or platform entity shall:  

(a) Provide notice of the requirements of this section to any person or entity listing or 

offering a vacation rental on its service or platform by including a summary of such 

requirements in a format acceptable to the town on its service of platform:  



 

 

(b) Only provide payment processing services, or otherwise facilitate payment for a 

vacation rental that has a valid certificate of use in accordance with this section. A 

peer-to-peer or platform entity shall not be held liable pursuant to this subsection 

where it:  

(i) As part of its vacation rental listing registration process, informs the 

responsible party that a certificate of use must be obtained before offering a 

vacation rental in the town; includes a link to the town's webpage where a 

certificate of use application can be located: requires the responsible party to 

confirm that such party has been advised of the town's regulations, including 

the certificate of use requirement; and provides a dedicated field to enable the 

responsible party to input the certificate of use number before such party 

completes registration and lists a vacation rental on the service or platform:  

(ii) Provides the town on a monthly basis a report disclosing for each vacation 

rental listing the information entered by the responsible party in the certificate 

of use dedicated field, or whether the responsible party left that field blank; 

the total number of vacation rental listings on the service or platform during 

the prior month; and the total number of nights that vacation rentals listed on 

the service or platform were rented during the prior month.  

(c) Comply with administrative subpoenas or other appropriate legal process from the 

town seeking information relating to persons or entities listing or offering vacation 

rentals on its service or platform;  

(d) Maintain records demonstrating that the requirements of this subsection have been 

satisfied and such records shall be subject to inspection by the town upon request 

pursuant to the issuance of an administrative subpoena or other appropriate legal 

process, provided however, that certain confidential information, such as social 

security numbers, credit card information, and names of minors, shall not be subject 

to inspection upon request of the town; and  

(e) Make available to the town for inspection upon request pursuant to the issuance of 

an administrative subpoena or other appropriate legal process all records relating to 

any suspected violations of state or local law associated with any vacation rental 

property in the town, provided, however, that certain confidential information, such 

as social security numbers credit card information, and names of minors, shall not 

be subject to inspection upon request of the town.  

(2) Duties of responsible party. For each vacation rental, the responsible party shall:  

(a) Provide written notice to transient occupants, prior to occupancy of the vacation 

rental, of the town's vacation rental standards set forth in this section, as well as the 

town's current regulations concerning noise, public nuisance, vehicle parking, solid 

waste collection, pet dogs on the beach, and condominium common area usage. 

This information, which is compiled and updated by the town and maintained on 

the vacation rental standards page of the town's website, shall also be made 

available to each transient occupant inside the subject property;  

(b) Ensure that any violations regarding the rental of the property, including violations 

of regulations concerning noise, public nuisance, vehicle parking, solid waste 



 

 

collection, pet dogs on the beach, and condominium common area usage, are able 

to be promptly addressed and resolved 24 hours a day/seven days per week; and  

(c) Maintain a register with names and dates of stay of all guests, including, but not 

limited to, all transient occupants and their invitees.  

(3) Maximum occupancy. Maximum overnight occupancy for vacation rentals shall be up to 

a maximum of two persons per permitted bedroom, plus two additional persons per 

property up to a maximum of 12 persons excluding children under six years of age. At 

all other times maximum occupancy for vacation rentals shall not exceed the maximum 

overnight occupancy of the vacation rental plus four additional persons per property, up 

to a maximum of 16 persons, excluding children under six years of age. For purposes of 

this subsection, "overnight" shall mean from 10:00 p.m. until 7:00 a.m. the following 

day. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at no time may the occupancy of a vacation rental 

exceed the maximum occupant load for the property under the Florida Building Code.  

(4) Solid waste handling and containment. Solid waste containers sufficient to handle the 

maximum occupancy permitted shall be maintained in accordance with chapter 127. All 

regulations regarding screening and storage of solid waste containers shall apply to 

vacation rentals. For purposes of this section, and as required in section 127-4 all solid 

waste containers shall be placed near the curb or alley no earlier than 6:00 p.m. of the 

evening preceding the collection day and must be removed not later than 7:00 p.m. of 

the day of collection.  

(5) Advertising and signs. Signs shall only be allowed to the extent permitted by the 

regulations in the Code applicable to the relevant zoning district. Any advertisements or 

signs pertaining to vacation rentals that are inconsistent with the requirements, 

restrictions and regulations of the certificate of use or these vacation rental standards 

shall be deemed prima facie evidence in any enforcement action that a vacation rental is 

being operated in violation of this section.  

(6) Posting of certificate of use. Whenever a property is being used as a vacation rental, the 

certificate of use required by this section shall be available in a conspicuous location that 

is clearly visible to guests within the vacation rental and shall include at a minimum the 

name, address and phone number of the responsible party and the maximum occupancy 

of the vacation rental.  

(7) Parking and vehicles. All vehicles associated with the vacation rental, whether in the 

possession or control of the property owner, responsible party, or transient occupant, 

including maintenance, service and catering providers, shall comply with chapter 140 

and all other applicable sections of the Code, and shall not obstruct emergency vehicles, 

normal movement of traffic, block driveways, mailboxes or beach access. Transient 

occupants shall not be permitted to park more than two vehicles at any one time on the 

subject property during the rental period, unless the property has additional lawfully 

permitted parking spaces sufficient to park additional vehicle(s) without encroaching on 

town right-of-way.  

(8) Noise. All transient occupants shall abide by chapter 101 of the Town Code, which 

prohibits unreasonably loud, excessive, unnecessary, or unusual noise. Outdoor 

amplified sound at a vacation rental shall not be permitted at any time.  



 

 

(9) Public nuisance. The responsible party and all transient occupants shall abide by the 

following state and town nuisance laws: F.S. §§ 823.05 and 823.10, and article II of 

chapter 103 of the Town Code.  

(10) Pets. If the responsible party permits transient occupants to have pets at the vacation 

rental, such pets shall be at all times secured within the property lines or on a leash but 

shall not be tethered. Continual nuisance barking by pets is prohibited. The keeping of 

pets shall be subject to the regulations of this section and chapter 56 of the Town Code 

regarding animals.  

(11) Swimming pool safety features. If there is a swimming pool onsite, the responsible party 

shall ensure that the swimming pool has in place at least one of the pool safety features 

listed in F.S. § 515.27, (i.e., pool safety barrier pool safety cover pool alarm or door 

latch/alarm) prior to use of the property as a vacation rental by any person under the age 

of six. The responsible party shall be deemed to have complied with this provision if the 

pool safety feature is put in place at the time that the property is turned over to any 

transient occupant occupying the vacation rental. This provision shall not apply to a 

vacation rental with a community swimming pool onsite, such as in a condominium. 

Compliance with this provision shall be in addition to compliance with article V of 

chapter 90 of the Town Code pertaining to swimming pool fences.  

E. Enforcement. The requirements of this section shall be enforced in accordance with the 

following:  

(1) Penalties. Any person operating a vacation rental without a certificate of use or in 

violation of the vacation rental standards or any other provisions in this section shall be 

subject to the penalties set forth in section 1-16 and for the civil infractions as provided 

below, or both, and to all other enforcement measures authorized in this Code or by other 

applicable law:  

(a) Failure to obtain certificate of use for vacation rental.  

(i) First offense—$100.00;  

(ii) Second offense—$1,000.00;  

(iii) Third offense and subsequent violations thereafter—$2,500.00.  

(b) Violation of vacation rental standard or any other provision of section 90-116.  

(i) First offense—$100.00;  

(ii) Second offense occurring within 12 months of the first offense—$1,000.00;  

(iii) Third offense occurring within 12 months of the most recent two preceding 

offenses—$2,500.00 and revocation of the certificate of use.  

(c) Revocation of a certificate of use pursuant to this section shall be for a period of 12 

months. Any certificate of use revoked pursuant to this section shall be appealable 

to the town commission provided that a written notice of appeal is filed with the 

town within ten calendar days from the date of the written notice of revocation. The 

notice of appeal must be in writing and filed with the town clerk. The appeal shall 

be accompanied by a fee as specified by resolution of the town commission.  



 

 

(2) Joint and several liability. The property owner of the vacation rental property shall be 

liable for any violations of this section, including any rule or regulation promulgated 

pursuant to this section. Whenever two or more persons commit such a violation, each 

violator shall be jointly and severally liable for any fines assessed. This applies to 

situations where a property owner, responsible party, peer-to-peer or platform entity, or 

transient occupant, or any combination thereof, are together responsible for a violation 

of this section. It is provided however, that where a peer-to-peer or platform entity does 

not itself commit a violation of this section, it shall not be held jointly and severally 

liable, nor shall it be held vicariously liable for any violations committed solely by the 

responsible party or transient occupants. In addition where a peer-to-peer or platform 

entity complies with subsection D.(1)(b)(i) and (ii), it shall not be held jointly and 

severally liable for providing a listing for, or collecting a fee for listing, any vacation 

rental. It is the intent of this subsection (2) to address liability for administrative code 

violations only. This subsection (2) is not intended to address liability for damages 

suffered by any person as a result of negligent or intentional acts which are sought or 

awarded under criminal or tort law.  

(Ord. No. 20-06, § 4, 8-12-2020; Ord. No. 21-03, § 1, 2-10-2021; Ord. No. 22-03, § 1, 4-13-2022; 

Ord. No. 2022-11, § 1, 1-11-2023) 

ARTICLE XXVI. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS 

Sec. 90-117. Pollution performance standards. 

All uses, existing and proposed, in all zoning districts are subject to the following 

performance standards and procedures:  

A. Air pollution. No person shall cause or permit an air emission from any source of air 

pollutants in violation of standards enforced by the Pinellas County Department of 

Environmental Management. No smoke emission from any combustion source shall be 

permitted which is darker than shade No. 1 of the Ringelmann Smoke Chart. No open 

burning is permitted within the Town of Redington Shores unless a special permit is 

issued. No emission of fly ash, dust, fumes, vapors, gases and other forms of air pollution 

shall be permitted which may constitute a nuisance or which can cause any damage to 

health, to animals, vegetation or other forms of property or which can cause any 

excessive soiling.  

B. Noise. No person shall cause or permit a noise emission from any source in violation of 

standards enforced by the Pinellas County Department of Environmental Management 

Code. No outdoor public address system, audible from any property line, is permitted in 

the Town of Redington Shores except by one-time permit for a special civic purpose.  

C. Outdoor storage. No person shall cause or permit outdoor storage of materials, objects, 

debris, litter, disassembled motor vehicles, household furnishings, gravel, fill dirt or 

construction materials on any lot within the Town of Redington Shores with the 

exception of construction sites where the temporary storage of building materials is 

essential. Storage of firewood in quantities not to exceed one cord is permitted, provided 

that it shall be neatly stacked, screened and maintained, and further provided that the 

Commented [NM7]: Still in Part 2 but renumbered 



 

 

owner shall take all reasonable measures to eliminate invasion by termites, vermin or 

other pests.  

D. Odor. No emission shall be permitted of odorous gases or other odorous matter in such 

quantities as to be readily detectable, without instruments, at the property line of the lot 

from which they are emitted.  

E. Radioactivity and electrical disturbance. The standards for radioactive emissions shall 

be those of the United States Federal Atomic Energy Commission. No electrical 

disturbance is permitted affecting the operation of any equipment.  

Sec. 90-118. Standards governing flood and beach erosion control. 

No new use shall be issued a building permit unless it is found to be in complete compliance 

with the standards of the coastal construction requirements of the Florida Department of Natural 

Resources and with part 2 of this chapter.  

Sec. 90-119. Standards governing waterfront and underwater lands. 

A. All areas within the corporate limits of the Town of Redington Shores which are under water 

and not shown as included within any district shall be subject to all of the regulations of the 

district which immediately adjoins the water area. If the water area adjoins two or more 

districts, the boundaries of each district shall be construed to extend into the water area in a 

straight line until they meet the other district. Accretions to lots in zoned districts shall be 

subject to the same zoning regulations as the original lots. Dimensions as shown on the zoning 

district map shall apply.  

B. Standards governing beach access. Under site plan review the planning and zoning board may 

require the dedication of access to the public beach in the form of an improved, dedicated ten-

foot right-of-way.  

Sec. 90-120. Land dedication for public use; cash contribution in lieu thereof. 

The standard for land dedication for public use shall be calculated for all new residential and 

commercial use in the town in land dedication units (LDUs) as follows:  

A. Each $50,000.00 in value of land and buildings equals one LDU.  

B. Each new dwelling unit, motel or hotel rental unit or new or improved commercial 

structure shall be required to dedicate 100 square feet of real property per one LDU or a 

cash contribution of $500.00 per one LDU.  

C. All dedications of public use property shall be at the option of the planning and zoning 

board, which will generally not consider dedications of less than one acre in size, unless 

there is a clear public interest to accept a smaller parcel.  

D. All such funds or land accepted by the Town of Redington Shores shall be used for park 

and recreational facility capital development, and any other uses deemed by the town 

commission to be aesthetically pleasing enhancements to the visual environment in the 

town, such as landscaping of traffic medians, streets or other such matters. Such funds 

shall not be used for park maintenance or operating recreation programs.  



 

 

E. For the purpose of this article, no credit shall be given for privately owned or maintained 

park or recreational facilities existing or proposed within the site to be developed.  

F. All dedications of park land or cash payments in lieu thereof shall be received by the 

town prior to the issuance of a building permit.  

G. The town commission can waive any LDU payment of any amount over $100,000.00 

for any single applicant for any single project in the following situations:  

(1) When the project will provide to the town, in the discretion of the town commission, 

an increase in the tax base of the town or an economic improvement in the town 

sufficient to justify the waiver of any LDU amounts over the first $100,000.00.  

(2) When the applicant agrees in the development of its property to provide parks, 

green space or waterfront access available to the general public of the town, deemed 

sufficient to the town commission to justify waiving any LDU fees over the amount 

of $100,000.00.  

Sec. 90-121. Natural resource protection. 

The following requirements must be met in order to protect trees, wetland vegetation and 

dune systems:  

A. All development and redevelopment must be consistent with F.S. ch. 161, Beach and 

Shore Preservation.  

B. All developments must meet the requirements of Chapter 17-27 F.A.C., Mangrove 

Protection Regulations, of the Department of Environmental Regulations.  

C. Developments shall utilize native vegetation to stabilize shoreline and to provide native 

wildlife habitat. The use of punk trees, Australian pine trees and pepper trees shall be 

prohibited.  

D. All new development and redevelopment must be consistent with the Pinellas County 

Tree Protection Ordinance.  

E. All development must meet the requirements of Chapter 17-312 F.A.C., Dredge and Fill, 

of the Department of Environmental Regulations.  

Sec. 90-122. Water quality protection measures. 

The Town of Redington Shores adopts by reference the standards and regulations set forth in 

the Pinellas Aquatic Preserve Management Plan.  

A. All new development and redevelopment which may affect tidal circulation/flushing 

must provide sufficient hydrographic information prior to development approval.  

B. All projects which may inhibit tidal circulation shall include measures to maintain or 

improve tidal circulation/flushing.  

C. All new development and redevelopment must be consistent with the Department of 

Environmental Regulations Chapter 17-312.  

ARTICLE XXVII. ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT Commented [NM8]: Moved to Part 1 



 

 

 

Sec. 90-123. Interpretation and municipal comprehensive plan. 

The zoning ordinance is a principal implementation process of the legally adopted municipal 

comprehensive plan. In interpreting the ordinance, the planning needs and objectives as identified 

in the municipal comprehensive plan shall be considered in any determination relative to the 

administration of this part 2.  

Sec. 90-124. Procedure for amending code and/or Comprehensive Plan. 

A. State law controlling. The provisions of the Florida Statutes shall be adhered to on all matters 

pertaining to any changes in the Comprehensive Land Use Plan (CLUP) designation and/or 

the zoning classification of any property or district or the boundaries of any district within the 

town.  

B. Application for change of land use/zoning. Any property owner, the planning and zoning 

board or the town commission may initiate an action to effect a change in the CLUP 

designation and/or the zoning classification of real property by filing written application with 

the town clerk. The application shall contain:  

(1) The signature of the property owner(s) when the property owner is the person initiating 

the request. If the property owner is represented by an agent, proof of the agency shall 

be made a part of the application.  

(2) The names and addresses of all owners of the property sought to be affected by the 

change.  

(3) An accurate legal description of the property to be sought to be affected by the change.  

(4) The CLUP designation and the zoning classification of said property at the time of the 

application.  

(5) The CLUP designation and/or the zoning classification proposed for said property.  

(6) The names and addresses of the owners of other properties lying within 300 feet of said 

property.  

(7) When the application is initiated by the property owner, a certification of title stating 

that the applicant is the title holder of record of the property described in the application 

and setting out all mortgagees and lienholders. The certification shall be signed by an 

officer of a reputable title company.  

(8) Statement of reasons for granting the requested change in CLUP designation and/or 

zoning classification. The reasons may include but are not to be limited to:  

(a) Change of conditions in the area.  

(b) Community need for additional lands with the CLUP designation and/or zoning 

classification proposed.  

(c) Benefits to the community.  

(9) Any application for a rezoning shall be accompanied by a site plan showing the intended 

use and structure of the property sought to be rezoned.  



 

 

(10) Application forms; fees.  

(a) Applications for the following actions shall be on forms as may be prescribed from 

time to time by the board of commissioners, and shall be accompanied by the fees 

as indicated in the town's currently adopted fee schedule, copies of which may be 

obtained at Town Hall.  

(b) The town's fee schedule may be revised by the town commission from time to time 

by resolution. However, any such resolution must be proposed at one meeting, but 

not enacted until a subsequent meeting of the town commission.  

(11) Failure of an applicant or his representative to be present at a scheduled proceeding shall 

be sufficient cause to deny the request on the basis of lack of evidence.  

(12) Withdrawal of an application must be made in writing over the signature of the applicant. 

If the applicant elects to withdraw the application after the town has commenced any 

work in processing the application, the applicant shall not be entitled to any refund of 

any fee that has been submitted.  

C. Amending this regulation. The town clerk shall refer applications to amend this regulation to 

the planning and zoning board for comment.  

(1) General requirements. The planning and zoning board shall hold a hearing on each 

application to amend this regulation or the comprehensive plan and thereafter submit to 

the Redington Shores Town Commission a written recommendation.  

(2) Requirements for CLUP and zoning amendments. 

(a) All applications for change in CLUP designation and/or zoning classification shall 

be forwarded to the Planning and Zoning Board for the Town of Redington Shores 

for review and recommendation to the town commission.  

(b) The town shall adhere to the procedures of the Florida Statutes pertaining to notice 

requirements in the holding of any required hearings in considering any CLUP or 

zoning amendments.  

(c) The planning and zoning board shall receive all direct testimony and evidence 

whether favorable or unfavorable to the application.  

(d) Following the planning and zoning board review of the application and of pertinent 

testimony and evidence presented, the planning and zoning board shall make 

recommendation thereon which shall be presented to the town commission. The 

planning and zoning board recommendations shall include a summation of the 

testimony and evidence presented to the planning and zoning board.  

(3) Decision by town commission. 

(a) Generally. The town commission shall hold a hearing on the proposed amendment 

and may enact or reject the proposal or enact a modified proposal that is within the 

scope of matters considered in the hearing.  

(b) Changes in CLUP designations. Applications concerning or involving a proposed 

change in CLUP designation shall be considered by the town commission in 



 

 

hearings noticed and conducted in accordance with the requirements of the Florida 

Statutes.  

(c) Zoning application. Applications for change in zoning classification of real 

property that do not include or involve a change in the CLUP designation of that 

property shall be decided by the town commission at public hearing, duly noticed 

and scheduled in conformance with the requirements of the Florida Statutes.  

D. Records and proceedings. 

(1) All records of any proceedings shall be filed with the town clerk to be held as a part of 

the public records of the Town of Redington Shores Planning and Zoning Board.  

(2) All hearings shall be recorded in the following manner:  

(a) Minutes shall be kept in which applications, findings of fact, recommendations and 

all decisions shall be recorded.  

(b) Whenever possible, all hearings shall be recorded by electronic recording device.  

(c) Any person may request a verbatim transcript. The person so requesting shall 

furnish a reporter to take such transcript, bearing the cost thereof, and shall deliver 

a certified copy of the transcript to the town clerk who shall file it with the records 

of other proceedings on the application.  

(Ord. No. 08-03, 6-11-2008) 

Sec. 90-125. Building department established. 

A. There is hereby established in the Town of Redington Shores a department to be called a 

"building department," which shall be under the direction and supervision of a licensed 

building official, in accordance with part 1 of this chapter or amendments thereto. Any 

reference herein to the building inspector or the building official shall be interpreted to mean 

the building official, or his designee.  

B. No building permit shall be issued unless the use of the proposed structure and the installation 

and construction thereof shall be in accordance with the provisions of pertinent town 

ordinances.  

Sec. 90-126. Planning and zoning board established; procedures, powers and duties. 

A. Establishment. There is hereby created a new Planning and Zoning Board of the Town of 

Redington Shores, which board shall have all of the duties and responsibilities of the prior 

planning and zoning board and the prior Board of Adjustment of the Town of Redington 

Shores, which prior planning and zoning board and prior board of adjustment are declared to 

cease in existence as of the date of passage of this chapter. The board of commissioners shall 

nominate and vote approval of members of the planning and zoning board, which shall consist 

of five members and two alternates who shall reside in the Town of Redington Shores. The 

members of the planning and zoning board may be removed from time to time by the board 

of commissioners and shall be removed if any member misses three consecutive meetings. 

Vacancies shall be filled by the board of commissioners for the unexpired term of any member 

whose term becomes vacant. The initial appointment of members to the newly created 



 

 

planning and zoning board shall be conducted as follows: Nominations shall be made by the 

commissioners from districts I and III, and the mayor-commissioner, for an initial term of 

two years; and nominations shall be made by the commissioners from districts II and IV for 

an initial term of one year. The commission at large shall nominate one alternate member for 

an initial term of one year (designated as alternate member A), and one alternate member for 

an initial term of two years (designated as alternate member B). Thereafter, nominations shall 

be made by the commissioners from districts I and III in the odd-numbered years, and 

nominations shall be made by the commissioners from districts II and IV in the even-

numbered years. The mayor/commissioner shall nominate the fifth member of the planning 

and zoning board, with such nomination being made in the odd-numbered years. All 

subsequent terms shall be for a period of two years. In addition, the commission at large shall 

nominate the two alternate members for two-year terms, with one position being appointed in 

the even-numbered years, and with one position being appointed in the odd-numbered years.  

B. Procedures. The board of commissioners shall appoint the chairperson of the planning and 

zoning board and may redesignate the chairperson from time to time. The planning and zoning 

board shall establish and promulgate rules and regulations for its own procedures and not 

inconsistent with the provisions of this part 2. The planning and zoning board shall hold 

regularly scheduled meetings on a certain scheduled day and time each month. Such meetings 

may be cancelled in the event there is no business to come before the board. The planning 

and zoning board may appoint one of its members to serve as secretary.  

C. Quorum. Three or more members of the board shall constitute a quorum; however, 

recommendation for approval of any site plan or any other substantive matter, as herein 

provided for, shall require the affirmative votes of three members of the board. No board 

member shall act in a case in which he or she has a personal interest. If any member of the 

board is unable to attend a meeting, alternate member A shall constitute a regular member of 

the board for such meeting; and if two members are unable to attend a meeting, alternate 

member B will also constitute a regular member of the board for such meeting.  

D. Records. The town clerk or representative shall attend all meetings of such board and shall 

make a detailed record of all its proceedings, which record shall set forth the reasons for its 

decisions, the vote of each member participating therein, the absence of a member and any 

failure of a member to vote, which record shall be filed in the office of the town clerk and 

shall be open to the public.  

E. Powers and duties. It shall be the duty of the planning and zoning board to:  

(1) Serve as the town's local planning agency.  

(2) Investigate and recommend to the board of commissioners proposed amendments to the 

municipal comprehensive plan and to prepare a comprehensive review of the municipal 

comprehensive plan in June 1983, and every three years thereafter, in accordance with 

the Local Government Comprehensive Planning Act.  

(3) Investigate and make recommendations to the Board of commissioners on any proposed 

changes or amendments in this part 2, zoning, or in the boundaries or districts herein 

established or necessary building permit renewal actions.  

(4) Investigate and make recommendations to the board of commissioners on all building 

applications requiring site plan reviews as encompassed in section 90-110.  



 

 

(5) Investigate and make recommendations to the board of commissioners on any 

applications which shall be made for the approval of plats or replats of land within the 

town. No unplatted land shall be platted, nor shall any platted land be replatted, until 

there shall first have been submitted to the planning and zoning board a preliminary plat 

of the proposed subdivision, and the planning and zoning board shall investigate such 

plat or replat and make its recommendations to the board of commissioners.  

(6) Consider and grant or deny applications for all types of special use permits for the 

various zoning districts as specified in article XXV, other than those issued by the town 

clerk in accordance with section 90-111 D. In order to authorize special use permits 

under the terms of this part 2, the board must find:  

(a) That the nature of the special use is in keeping with the intent of this part 2.  

(b) That the use is compatible and harmonious with the surrounding neighborhood and 

will not create any nuisance, hazard or hardship.  

(7) Receive and make a recommendation to the Board of Commissioners concerning 

applications for transfer of development rights, as provided for in section 90-115.  

(8) Consider and make recommendations to the board of commissioners on applications for 

special exceptions, as defined herein; including recommendations as to when special 

exceptions should be granted with appropriate conditions and safeguards or denied when 

not in harmony with the purpose and intent of this part 2.  

(a) In recommending any special exception, the board shall find that such grant will 

not adversely affect the public interest.  

(b) In recommending any special exception, the board may recommend appropriate 

conditions and safeguards in conformity with this part 2. Violation of such 

conditions and safeguards, when made a part of the terms under which the special 

exception is granted, shall be deemed a violation of this part 2.  

(9) Consider and make recommendations to the board of commissioners on appeals when it 

is alleged that there is error in any order, requirement, decision or determination made 

by the building inspector or other administrative official in the enforcement of this part 

2 or any regulation issued pursuant thereto or when, in the opinion of the board, the 

interpretation of the building inspector or other official should be modified or reversed.  

(10) In recommending authorization of any special use permit, special exception, or other 

such matters, THE PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD shall provide a reasonable 

period of time, which in no event shall exceed a period of one year, during which action 

on such approval must be commenced. The commencement of such action shall be 

deemed to have occurred upon obtaining any required building permits and commencing 

substantial construction and keeping such construction underway, or commencing the 

activity for which any such special exception or special use permit has been granted. 

Upon timely application within such period of time, the planning and zoning board may 

recommend extension of any such period of time for an additional period of six months. 

Any approval on which action has not been commenced within the period of time 

allowed by the board of commissioners, or within a period of one year if no such 

reasonable period of time has been set forth by the board of commissioners, shall be 



 

 

deemed to have been withdrawn and shall be void, and any action or approval thereon 

shall be deemed void.  

F. Zoning requests requiring site plan review as specified in sections 90-110 and 90-124. For 

the purposes of determining what constitutes a variance, all site planning design criteria, 

traffic circulation and landscaping standards contained in section 90-110 comprise 

nonbinding guidelines for the town planning and zoning board, and any proposed deviations 

from those guidelines do not constitute a variance under this part 2.  

G. [Appeals.] All applicants for appeals to the planning and zoning board must submit an 

application form. This application form is available at the Town Hall.  

(Ord. No. 09-01, 3-11-2009; Ord. No. 10-01, 7-14-2010; Ord. No. 10-04, 9-9-2010; Ord. No. 12-

01, 4-11-2012) 

Sec. 90-127. Appointment of special magistrate for variance requests; powers and duties. 

The board of commissioners shall appoint such special magistrate as may be deemed 

necessary or required from time to time to hear variance requests filed with the town. Such special 

magistrate shall have the following powers and duties:  

A. Authorize such variance, as herein defined, from the terms of this part 2, other than those 

establishing zoning and density, as will not be contrary to the public interest when, owing 

to special conditions, a literal enforcement of the provisions of this part 2 would result 

in unnecessary and undue hardship and when the requested variance meets all the 

requirements set forth herein.  

B. In order to authorize any variance from the terms of this part 2, the special magistrate 

must find:  

(1) That special conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the land, 

structure or building involved and which are not applicable to other lands, structures 

or buildings in the same zoning district.  

(2) That the special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the 

applicant.  

(3) That granting the variance requested will not confer on the applicant any special 

privilege that is denied by this part 2 to other lands, buildings or structures in the 

same zoning district.  

(4) That literal interpretation of the provisions of this part 2 would deprive the applicant 

of rights commonly enjoyed by other properties in the same zoning district under 

the terms of this part 2 and would work unnecessary and undue hardship on the 

applicant.  

(5) That the variance granted is the minimum variance that will make possible the 

reasonable use of the land, building or structure.  

(6) That the grant of the variance will be in harmony with the general intent and purpose 

of this part 2, and that such variance will not be injurious to the area involved or 

otherwise detrimental to the public welfare.  



 

 

C. In granting any variance, the special magistrate may prescribe appropriate conditions 

and safeguards in conformity with this part 2. Violation of such conditions and 

safeguards, when made a part of the terms under which the variance is granted, shall be 

deemed a violation of this part 2.  

D. In authorizing any variance, the special magistrate shall provide a reasonable period of 

time, which in no event shall exceed a period of one year, during which action on such 

approval must be commenced. No variance shall be good for a period exceeding one 

year from its authorization, unless action has been commenced for construction in 

accordance with the variance. The commencement of such action shall be deemed to 

have occurred upon obtaining any required building permits and commencing substantial 

construction and keeping such construction underway. Upon timely application within 

such period of time, the special magistrate may extend any such period of time for an 

additional period of six months. Any approval on which action has not been commenced 

within the period of time allowed by the special magistrate, or within a period of one 

year if no such reasonable period of time has been set forth by the special magistrate, 

shall be deemed to have been withdrawn and shall be void, and any action or approval 

thereon shall be deemed void.  

E. Under no circumstances, except as permitted above, shall the special magistrate grant a 

variance to permit a use not generally or by special exception permitted in the zoning 

district involved or by any use expressly or by implication prohibited by the terms of this 

part 2 in the zoning district. No nonconforming use of neighboring lands, structures or 

buildings in the same zoning district and no permitted use of lands, structures or 

buildings in other zoning districts shall be considered grounds for the authorization of a 

variance.  

F. This section shall apply to any variances hereinafter or heretofore granted. Any variance 

that has been granted prior to the effective date of this section shall have a period of one 

year from the effective date of this section in which action on such variance shall be 

commenced. Action on such variance shall be deemed to have been commenced upon 

the issuance of a land development permit (building permit) for the construction for 

which the variance was granted, and by continuing to keep such land development permit 

current, as required by the building code. Any variance heretofore granted for which 

action is not commenced pursuant to this section within a period of one year of the 

effective date of this section shall be deemed to be vacated and void.  

G. Additional variance procedures for communication towers.  

(1) In the event an applicant for a tower or antenna is required to apply for a variance 

to the section or other related section of the Town Code, in addition to the variance 

criteria set forth above, the following additional criteria shall be used:  

(a) The variance, if granted, will result in the opportunity for co-location and 

thereby reduce the number of towers necessary to provide telecommunication 

services within the town.  

(b) The proposed location must have a commercial, institutional or 

public/semipublic regulatory land use classification. In addition, the applicant 



 

 

must demonstrate to the reasonable satisfaction of the board that no existing 

tower or structure can accommodate the applicant's proposed tower or antenna.  

(2) Appeals may be made by the applicant to the board of commissioners.  

(Ord. No. 10-04, 9-9-2010) 

Editor's note(s)—Ord. No. 10-04 also provided for an effective date of 11-1-2010.  

Sec. 90-128. Reserved. 

Sec. 90-129. Appeals to planning and zoning board. 

A. Any person aggrieved or any officer or bureau of the Town of Redington Shores affected by 

any decision of the building department of said town may appeal therefrom to the planning 

and zoning board. Appeals to the planning and zoning board, other than those initiated by 

either elected or appointed officials of the town, shall be accompanied by a fee as required by 

the town's current fee schedule, which shall not be refunded for failure to grant the relief 

requested. All applicants for appeals to the planning and zoning board must submit an 

application form, which application form is available at the Town Hall. Notice of appeal shall 

be in writing and filed with the town clerk within ten calendar days after the date of the 

hearing or entry of the order, whichever is later.  

B. Procedure. Whenever a notice of appeal has been filed, the building department shall 

forthwith transmit to the board all the papers constituting the record upon which the action 

appealed from was taken.  

C. Stay. An appeal stays all proceedings in furtherance of the action appealed from, unless the 

officer from whom the appeal is taken certifies to the planning and zoning board, after the 

notice of appeal shall have been filed with him or her, that by reason of facts stated in the 

certificate a stay would, in his or her opinion, cause imminent peril to life and property. In 

such case, proceedings shall not be stayed other than by a restraining order granted by a court 

of competent jurisdiction, on application or notice to the officer from whom the appeal is 

taken and on due cause shown.  

D. Appearance and oath. Any party may appeal in person or by agent or by attorney. The 

presiding officer of the board may administer oaths and may compel the attendance of 

witnesses by subpoena.  

E. Recommendations of the planning and zoning board shall be in writing and shall indicate the 

vote upon the recommendation; shall specify in what manner any modification is made, the 

conditions upon which it is made and the reason therefor; shall be filed in the office of the 

town clerk and shall be open to public inspection.  

F. An adjustment from the FAR and ISR standards of this part 2 may be granted by the board of 

commissioners upon recommendation by the planning and zoning board. An adjustment 

under this subsection shall only be recommended by the planning and zoning board governing 

body or its designee when substantial competent evidence in the official record of the hearing 

supports all of the following findings:  



 

 

(1) A literal interpretation of the provisions of the FAR and ISR standards of these rules will 

deprive the applicant of rights commonly enjoyed by other properties in the same future 

land use category and will work unnecessary and undue hardship on the applicant.  

(2) The alleged hardship is unique and singular with regard to the property for which the 

adjustment is sought and is not that suffered in common with other property similarly 

located.  

(3) The alleged hardship is not self-imposed by the applicant, and the situation sought to be 

relieved by the adjustment does not result from an illegal act or result from the actions 

of the applicant, resulting in self-imposed hardship.  

(4) The adjustment, if allowed, will not substantially interfere with or injure the rights of 

others whose properties would be affected by allowance of the adjustment.  

(5) The adjustment, if allowed, will be in harmony with, serves the general intent and 

purpose of and is consistent with the countywide future land use plan and rules, the 

town's comprehensive plan and these regulations.  

(6) The adjustment, if allowed, will be the minimum adjustment that will make possible the 

reasonable use of the land, building or structure.  

(7) The adjustment, if allowed, will not confer on the applicant any special privilege that is 

denied by the countywide future land use plan and rules, the town's comprehensive plan 

or these regulations or other lands, buildings or structures in the same land use 

classifications.  

(8) The adjustment, if allowed, shall not constitute an amendment to the town's 

comprehensive plan or land development regulations or to the countywide 

comprehensive plan.  

(9) An amendment to another land use category under the countywide future land use plan 

has been considered by the applicant and the town, and it has been determined that such 

an amendment would not meet the objective of the adjustment and would not be 

appropriate.  

(Ord. No. 09-01, 3-11-2009; Ord. No. 10-04, 9-9-2010; Ord. No. 12-01, 4-11-2012) 

Sec. 90-130. Appeals from decisions of planning and zoning board and special magistrate. 

Any person aggrieved or any officer of the Town of Redington Shores affected by any 

decision of the planning and zoning board or the special magistrate may appeal therefrom to the 

board of commissioners. Notice of appeal shall be in writing and filed with the town clerk within 

ten calendar days after the date of hearing to be appealed from was held or entry of an order, 

whichever is later. For the purpose of this section, the term "person aggrieved" shall be defined as 

any contiguous, adjacent property owner, or other person directly impacted by the ruling who is 

determined by the board of commissioners to have standing. Whenever a notice of appeal has been 

filed, the planning and zoning board or the special magistrate shall forthwith transmit to the board 

of commissioners all of the papers constituting the record upon which the action appealed from 

was taken. Any determination of standing of a party to bring the appeal may be made by the board 

of commissioners prior to or at its hearing. The review and hearing of the board of commissioners 



 

 

shall be by certiorari proceedings. The only issues to be heard and decided are (1) whether 

procedural due process is accorded, (2) whether the essential requirements of the law have been 

observed, and (3) whether the findings and judgment are supported by competent substantial 

evidence. Every decision of the board of commissioners shall be final, subject, however, to such 

remedy as any aggrieved party might have at law or in equity. Appeals to the courts may require a 

formal verbatim transcript. It is the appellant's burden to obtain such transcript, which might 

require a certified court reporter. Tapes of board of commissioners' meetings are normally 

maintained, and upon written request of the person deciding so to appeal and payment of any fees 

as required by the town's current fee schedule, a copy of any such tape which has been maintained 

will be produced.  

(Ord. No. 10-04, 9-9-2010; Ord. No. 12-01, 4-11-2012; Ord. No. 17-01, § 1, 7-12-2017) 

Sec. 90-131. Enforcement; violation and penalty. 

A. Unlawful to construct without a permit. It shall be unlawful for any person to construct, repair, 

remodel, alter or convert any building or structure, except ordinary repairs and maintenance 

not affecting structural qualities, without first obtaining both a zoning permit and a building 

permit required by this part 2 and other ordinances of the Town of Redington Shores.  

B. Unlawful to use premises without a zoning permit. It shall be unlawful for any person to use 

permanently or part-time any building, structure or parcel of land without first obtaining a 

zoning use permit therefor as required by this part 2 and other ordinances of the Town of 

Redington Shores.  

C. Each day constitutes an individual violation. Each day an individual violates any of the 

provisions of this part 2 or order of the building inspector or order or subpoena of the planning 

and zoning board shall be considered a separate and distinct offense.  

D. Penalties. Any individual violating any of the provisions of this part 2 or order or subpoena 

of the planning and zoning board shall, upon conviction thereof, be punished as set forth in 

chapter 1, general provisions, article II. When a co-partnership or a corporation violates any 

of the provisions of this part 2, the member of the co-partnership responsible for said violation 

and the managing officer of the corporation guilty of the violation or who directs the same to 

be done shall be punished in the same manner as the punishment prescribed for an individual 

in this section. Every person who aids or assists in the violation of the provisions of this part 

2 shall be punished as a principal.  

ARTICLE XXVIII. RESERVED 

Secs. 90-132—90-137. Reserved. 

Sec. 90-114. Intent and purpose. 

A. It is the legislative intent of this part 2 to protect and preserve the appearance, character, value 

and safety of the town's urban area and nearby properties and, by so doing, promote the 

general welfare of the community.  

Commented [NM9]: Sec. 90-114 thru 90-144 were Sec. 
90-138 thru 90-169 in old Part 3 and 90-117 thru 90-122 in 
old Part 2 



 

 

B. The purpose is to improve the appearance of properties within the town through the 

protection, installation, and maintenance of trees and landscaping for screening and aesthetic 

effects, and to recognize the importance of such trees and landscaping, in the enhancement of 

property values, the improvement of air quality, and their contribution to the cooling of our 

environment. It is also recognized that native tree and landscape species are most compatible 

with the town's climate and soil conditions, require less irrigation and fertilization than do 

exotic species, and therefore help to conserve water and reduce the pollution in stormwater 

runoff, which in turn helps to maintain the water quality of Boca Ciega Bay and the Gulf of 

Mexico. Therefore, the use of native tree and landscape species, and removal of exotic 

invasive trees and vegetation, is strongly encouraged. The planting of exotic invasive trees 

and vegetation is to be prohibited.  

Sec. 90-115 Planting in rights-of-way or near utilities. 

It shall be unlawful to plant trees, bushes and/or hedges with deep root systems over, upon or 

within ten feet of the paved portion of the town-owned rights-of-way or easements. It shall also be 

unlawful to plant trees, bushes and/or hedges with deep root systems within ten feet of any town-

owned underground sewer lines. Trees with widespread root systems that might impact the paved 

portion of the town-owned rights-of-way or easements may not be used.  

Sec. 90-116. Hazardous conditions. 

A. It shall be unlawful for the owner or occupant of any property to permit to remain upon 

property any tree or tree branch or other growth that is in danger of falling upon any public 

way. The canopy of shade trees must be maintained with a minimum of eight and one-half 

feet of clearance above the roadway within the limits of clear sight.  

B. When it shall be determined by the town that any existing trees, plants or hedges upon private 

property or public rights-of-way or easements contiguous to such private property are causing 

hazardous conditions to any underground sewer, water or electrical lines, or overhead 

electrical or telephone wires, it shall forthwith give notice to the property owner upon whose 

property or right-of-way or easement such hazard exists, that such trees, plants or hedges shall 

be removed within a time certain as designated in such notice.  

C. The notice hereby required shall be served as follows:  

(1) By personal delivery to the owner; or  

(2) By delivery to a person at least 18 years of age within the household of the owner;  

(3) By affixing a copy of the notice in a conspicuous place near the entry to such premises; 

or  

(4) By mailing by certified mail a copy of the notice to the last known address of the owner.  

D. If a person who has been served with notice to remove trees, plants or hedges which constitute 

the hazardous conditions described herein from private property, rights-of-way or easements 

shall fail to comply within the specified time, the town shall remedy the conditions, or 

contract with others to remedy such conditions; and the cost thereof shall be charged against 

the owner of such property.  



 

 

E. If the cost of remedying such conditions is not paid within 30 days after receipt of the 

statement therefore from the town, the amount thereof shall become and constitute a lien and 

charge against the real property with interest.  

F. The lien imposed by this section shall be a first and prior lien against the property subject 

only to the lien for taxes imposed by the county and the state, and shall be of the same 

character as the lien for municipal taxes and assessments. If the lien is not paid within 180 

days from its effective date, the lien may be enforced in the same manner as delinquent ad 

valorem tax liens or special assessment liens and shall be certified by the director of finance 

to the town attorney for collection.  

Sec. 90-117. Exemption from county ordinance. 

The town does hereby exclude and exempt itself from the provisions of any county ordinance 

regarding the planting or removal of trees or other vegetation.  

Sec. 90-118. Variances. 

Where strict adherence to the provisions of this part 2 is impossible or impractical to enforce, 

the special magistrate may authorize a variance if such a variance can be made without destroying 

the intent of this part 2. Any request for a variance to the provisions of this part 2 shall be submitted 

in writing on the form provided for this purpose by the town to the special magistrate and shall 

clearly and in detail state what adjustment of requirements is being requested and the reason such 

adjustment is warranted. The appeal shall be accompanied by a processing fee as specified by 

resolution of the board of commissioners.  

Sec. 90-119. Reserved. 

ARTICLE XXIV. LANDSCAPING 

Sec. 90-120. Subject areas. 

A. All vehicular use areas, except those located on, under or within buildings, and except those 

that service single-family, and duplex uses, shall conform to the minimum landscaping 

requirements hereinafter provided. "Vehicular use areas" shall include all areas used for the 

parking, circulation and/or display of any and all types of vehicles, boats or heavy 

construction equipment, or other machinery capable of movement over streets and highways, 

whether self-propelled or not, and all areas upon which such vehicles traverse as a function 

of the primary use of the related structures or property. This shall include, but is not limited 

to, activities of a drive-in nature, such as service stations, convenience stores, banks, 

restaurants and the like. The requirements set forth herein shall also apply to additions to 

existing vehicular use areas.  

B. Single-family dwellings, two-family dwellings and multiple-family dwellings. Required front 

yards and required side yards abutting public streets shall be maintained in permeable 

landscaped vegetative green space, with the exception of necessary driveways, walks, patios 

and similar paved areas, which shall not exceed 25 percent of the required yard area for corner 

lots and 45 percent of the required yard area for inside lots.  



 

 

C. All uses and structures other than those listed in subsection B. above. The exterior portion of 

all required yards abutting public streets, with the exception of necessary entrance driveways 

and walks, shall be maintained in permeable landscaped vegetative green space to the 

minimum depth as established according to the following table or to the minimum yard 

(building setback) requirements (depth and width), whichever requirement is lower.  

Average Lot Depth  

From the Street  

(feet)  

Minimum Depth of Required  

Permeable Green Space  

(feet)  

From 80 to 100  5  

Over 100 to 120  10  

Over 120 to 160  15  

Over 160  20  

 

D. Nonconforming uses of required yards and redevelopment.  

(1) Any uses or required yard area inconsistent with subsection B. or C. above shall be 

nonconforming uses and no such nonconforming use shall be extended to occupy a 

greater area nor to occupy any other portion of the required yard area than was occupied 

at the time the nonconforming status was attached. Any nonconforming site that is 

redeveloped or altered at a total cost equal to or exceeding the percentage shown shall 

comply with the above provisions according to the following table:  

Total Redevelopment Cost  

(as a percentage of)  

Total Assessed Value  

50%  Up to $50,000  

45%  From $50,000 to $100,000  

40%  From $100,000 to $150,000  

35%  From $150,000 to $200,000  

30%  From $200,000 to $250,000  

25%  $250,000 and more  

 

(2) When redevelopment costs are one-half or more of the redevelopment threshold 

percentages shown, then not less than one-half of required landscaping under subsection 

B. or C. shall be installed. Such landscaping plan shall be approved by the board which 

normally reviews the redevelopment plan and may be modified to fit site constraints, so 

long as the basic intent of the landscaping requirements are met.  

(3) Construction costs shall be determined by the building inspector or, at the expense of the 

applicant, a licensed contractor, itemizing total costs in a certified estimate. In the event 

that such construction costs have not been determined at time of application, the town 

administrator or his or her designee shall determine a reasonable and fair cost of the 

proposed redevelopment, based on current conditions.  

E. Should the requirements of subsection C. prohibit proper design of structures or parking area 

because of abnormal lot configuration, the required depth of the permeable green space along 

any one street may be varied up to 20 percent, provided that the total required green space 

area along that street is not diminished.  



 

 

F. Where the average lot depth from a street lies between two streets, that lot depth shall be 

halved in order to determine the depth of required green space, according to subsection C.  

Sec. 90-121. Application of article. 

All uses of land and development thereof, excepting single-family dwellings, and duplex, and 

triplex dwellings on lots of 6,000 square feet or less, shall be required to comply with the 

provisions of this article, as contained within the following sections, prior to obtaining a building 

permit.  

Sec. 90-122. Development requiring approval. 

A. All uses of land and development thereof, excepting as permitted within section 90-120, 

single-family dwellings and duplex dwellings on lots of 6,000 square feet or less, shall comply 

with the provisions of this article in areas where outdoor off-street parking and open lot sales, 

and outdoor display and services are provided and the developer shall submit required 

information for review and approval.  

B. All property within existing paved vehicular use areas on the effective date of the ordinance 

from which this article was derived shall not be required to conform to provisions of this 

article unless reconstruction or expansion of improvements on the property requires a site 

plan approval in accordance with the town site plan review as set forth in chapter 90, article 

XXXII.  

Sec. 90-123. Application for approval: submission requirements. 

An application for landscape approval in accordance with the requirements of this article shall 

be accompanied by the following information and processed by the town only after the following 

procedural requirements have been complied with:  

A. Three copies of all plans and required supporting documentation, together with an 

application signed by the owner of record, shall be submitted to the designated official's 

office. Each application shall be accompanied by the application fee as specified by 

resolution of the board of commissioners, and no application will be accepted nor a 

review conducted until the fee is paid to the town.  

B. All paved area landscape plans shall be prepared at a scale and format acceptable by the 

town.  

C. All paved area landscape plans submitted for review and approval shall include the 

following information:  

(1) The shape and dimensions of the lot or parcel;  

(2) All existing and proposed parking spaces, access aisles, driveways, sidewalks, 

wheel stops, curbs and other vehicular use controls;  

(3) The location of existing and proposed curb and/or driveway cuts and median 

openings;  

(4) The distance between curb cuts, including the distance from any curb cuts on 

adjacent property;  



 

 

(5) Existing and proposed lighting and irrigation systems, planting areas and decorative 

or screen walls. Planting areas must indicate the quantity, spacing, size and name 

of proposed plant material. An exterior elevation and wall section shall be provided 

for any decorative or screen wall indicated on the plan.  

Sec. 90-124. Application for approval: submission and review procedures. 

A. An application for landscape approval in accordance with the provisions of this article shall 

be made to the town prior to an application for a building permit. The paved area landscape 

plan shall be submitted with the site plan review application and serve to comply with the site 

plan review application requirement for landscaping.  

B. Upon receipt of an application for landscape approval, the town shall have ten working days 

to determine its appropriateness and completeness and accept or reject the application. Upon 

acceptance of such application, the review process shall be a component of and concurrent 

with a site plan review application. The review period, procedures and approval shall be in 

conformance with those provisions of the site plan review application.  

Sec. 90-125. Findings required for approval. 

The granting of approval or granting of approval with conditions and/or changes by the 

planning and zoning board shall indicate not only the approval conclusion, but also findings of fact 

related to the specific proposal and shall set forth with particularity compliance with the criteria 

set forth in sections 90-122 and 90-123.  

Sec. 90-126. Exceptions for landscape plans. 

Applicants required to submit a proposed development for site plan review and approval 

before obtaining a building permit shall be entitled to demonstrate, by submission of the 

requirements of the site plan review, that an improvement or betterment of the environment can 

be accomplished over the existing site conditions if such landscaping plan is carried out in full. If 

such landscape plan is so offered and is approved as a part of the site plan review and approval, 

completion of the landscaping plan in its entirety shall be completed prior to the issuance of a 

certificate of occupancy for the development.  

Sec. 90-127. Grounds permit required. 

The building official is to be responsible for the issuance of grounds permits. Prior to the 

development, modification or expansion of any vehicular use areas, application shall be made to 

the building official for the issuance of a grounds permit. The grounds permit shall be issued by 

the building official upon submission of the following requirements by the applicant and upon a 

finding by the building official that the provisions of this article have been complied with:  

A. Vehicular use plan. The developer shall submit to the building official such information 

as the building official deems necessary, to include three copies of a combination site 

plan/planting plan and which shall be in addition to any plans submitted for building 

permits. Such plan shall hereinafter be referred to as the "vehicular use plan" and shall 

be required to be submitted for all proposed vehicular use areas. When the vehicular use 

area is adjacent to or developed in connection with a proposed new structure, the 



 

 

vehicular use plan shall be submitted at the time of the submittal of a site plan for the 

proposed structure.  

B. Contents. The name and address of the owner and of the designer shall be indicated on 

the plan. The date the plan is completed shall be stated. The plan shall be drawn to scale 

no smaller than one inch equals 30 feet, indicate all dimensions and property lines, 

provide elevation data and the North point, and clearly delineate existing and proposed 

parking spaces, access aisles, driveways, sidewalks, wheel stops, curbs and other 

vehicular use controls. The location of curb cuts on adjacent property, median openings 

on abutting streets, lighting, irrigation systems, fire hydrants, water check valves, 

proposed planting areas, decorative or screen walls and fencing, existing trees and 

related buildings shall be shown to completion of the vehicular use area. A temporary 

certificate of occupancy may be issued if a financial guarantee, acceptable in form to the 

building official, is provided.  

C. Filing fee. At the time of the issuance of the grounds permits, the applicant shall pay to 

the town a filing fee in the amount as established by the board of commissioners. If any 

person commences work on the development of any vehicular use area prior to obtaining 

the necessary grounds permit, the filing fee shall be five times the normal permit fee; 

and such person shall be liable for the penalties prescribed for violation of this Code.  

D. Certification of compliance. Upon completion of improvements, the building official 

shall inspect the vehicular use area for compliance with the approved vehicular use plan 

and other requirements of this article. A certificate of compliance must be issued by the 

building official before a certificate of occupancy can be issued for any related structure. 

When occupancy of a related building is desired prior to completion of the vehicular use 

area, a temporary certificate of occupancy may be issued if a financial guarantee, 

acceptable in form to the building official, is provided.  

Sec. 90-128. Landscaping standards. 

The development of vehicular use areas within the town shall conform to and meet the 

standards as set forth herein:  

A. Landscaping shall consist of any of the following or combination thereof: material, such 

as, but not limited to, grass, ground covers, shrubs, vines, hedges, shade/canopy trees or 

palms. In addition, nonliving durable material may be used to complement, but not to be 

credited as, landscaping. These materials include, but are not limited to, rocks, pebbles, 

walls or fences, but excluding paving and sand.  

B. Plant material used in conformance with provisions of this article shall conform to the 

standards for Florida #1 or better, as given in Grades and Standards for Nursery Plants, 

Part I, 1963, and Part II, State of Florida, Department of Agriculture, Tallahassee, or 

equal thereto. Grass sod shall be clean and reasonably free of weeds and noxious pest or 

diseases. Grass seed shall be delivered to the job site in bags with State Department of 

Agriculture tags attached, indicating the seed grower's compliance with the department's 

quality control program:  

(1) Trees. 



 

 

 (a) Trees shall be of species recognized by the State Division of Forestry as being 

drought-tolerant and suitable for successful propagation and growth in the 

town. Trees shall be of species having average spreads/crowns of greater than 

15 feet in diameter, and which can be maintained with a minimum of five feet 

of clear trunk. At least 60 percent of required trees shall be of species native 

to Florida or drought-tolerant, including, but not limited to, the following 

species: Red Maple (Acer rubrum); Silver Buttonwood (Conocarpus erectus 

"sericeus"); American Holly varieties (Ilex opaca); Yaupon Holly (Ilex 

vomitoria); Sweet gum (Liquidambar styraciflua); Southern Magnolia 

(Magnolia grandiflora); Southern Wax Myrtle (Myrica cerifera); Slash Pine 

(Pinus elliotti); Longleaf Pine (Pinus palustris); Loblolly Pine (Pinus taeda); 

Cherry Laurel (prunus caroliniana); Oaks (Quercus spp.); Cabbage Palm 

(Sabal palmetto); Saw Palmetto (Serenoa repens); Bald Cypress (Taxodium 

distichum). Trees having an average mature crown spread of less than 15 feet 

may be substituted by grouping same so as to create the equivalent of a fifteen-

foot crown spread.  

(b) Tree species shall have a minimum two-inch diameter at breast height (DBH), 

and shall be a minimum of eight feet in overall height immediately after 

planting. Trees of species whose roots are known to cause damage to public 

roadways or other public works shall not be planted closer than 12 feet to such 

public works, unless the tree root system is completely contained within a 

barrier for which the minimum interior containing dimensions shall be five 

feet square and five feet deep and for which the construction requirements 

shall be four-inch thick concrete reinforced with No. 6 road mesh, six inches 

by six inches by six inches or equivalent.  

(c) The following tree species are considered undesirable due to their growth 

characteristics, and their planting shall be prohibited. No formal authorization 

by the town shall be required for the removal of these species, which include 

trees considered undesirable plant species by either the town and/or Pinellas 

County (Pinellas County Land Development Code Chapter 166, Article II, § 

166-53): Australian Pine (Casuarina sp.); Bishopwood (Bischofia javanica); 

Brazilian Pepper (Schinus terebinthifolius); Punk Tree (melaleuca 

leucadendra); Ear Tree (Enterolobium cyclocarpum); Laurel Fig (Ficus retusa 

"nitida"); Weeping Fig (Ficus benjamina); Chinese tallow (Sapium 

sebiferum); Silk Oak (Grevillea robusta); Java Plum (Syzgium cumini); 

Carrotwood (Cupaniopsis anacardioides); Eucalyptus (Eucalyptus spp.); and 

Willow trees.  

(2) Shrubs and hedges. Shrubs shall be a minimum of one and one-half feet in height 

when measured immediately after planting. Hedges, where required, shall be of 

species which, when planted at appropriate spacing and properly maintained, will 

form a continuous, unbroken, and solid visual screen within a maximum of two 

years after time of planting. At least 60 percent of the shrubs and hedges planted 

shall be of native or drought-tolerant varieties, including, but not limited to, the 

following species: Century plant (Agave attenuata); Ponytail Palm (Beaucarnea 

recurvata); Bougainvillea spp.; Powderpuff (Calliandra haematocephala); Natal 



 

 

Plum (Carissa grandiflora); Sea Grape (Coccoloba uvifera); Croton (Codiaeum 

variegatum); Ti Plant (Corydyline terminalis); King Sago (Cycas revoluta); 

Dracaena spp.; Silverthorn (Elaegnus pungens); Chinese Juniper (Juniperus 

chinensis); Texas Sage (Leucophyllum frutescens); Oleander (Nerium oleander); 

Dwarf Philodendron (Philodendron "Xanadu"); Indian Hawthorn (Raphiolepis 

indica); Boxthorn (Severina busiflia); White Bird of Paradise (Strelitzia Nicolai); 

Bird of Paradise (Strelitzia reginae); Sandankwa Viburnum (Viburnum 

suspensum); Spineless Yucca (Yucca elephantipes).  

(3) Vines. Vines shall be of native or drought-tolerant species, a minimum of 30 inches 

in height immediately after planting, and may be used in conjunction with fences, 

screens, or walls to meet physical requirements as specified.  

(4) Ground covers. The use of ground covers in lieu of grass, in whole or in part, is 

encouraged in the interest of water conservation. Ground covers shall be planted in 

such a manner as to present a finished appearance and reasonably complete 

coverage within 18 months after planting. At least 60 percent of the ground covers 

shall be of native or drought-tolerant varieties, including, but not limited to, the 

following species: Aloe spp.; Dwarf Carissa (Carissa macrocarpa); Periwinkle 

(Catharanthus roseus); Crown-of-Thorns (Euphorbiamilli); Creeping Fig (Ficus 

repens); Day Lily (hemerocallis spp.); Railroad Vine (Ipomoia pes-cprae); Lily Turf 

(Liriope muscari); Sea Purslane (Sesuvium portulacastrum); Dwarf Confederate 

Jasmine (Trachelospermum asiaticum); Society Garlic (Tulbaghia violacea); Sea 

Oats (Uniola paniculata); Coontie (Zamia floridana).  

(5) Lawn grass. Grass areas shall be planted and grown as permanent lawns using 

varieties that are suitable for the county. Grass may be sodded, plugged, sprigged 

or seeded, except that solid sod shall be used in swales or other areas subject to 

erosion, and provided that, in areas where other than solid sod or grass seed is used, 

nursegrass seed shall be sown for immediate effect and protection until coverage is 

achieved.  

Sec. 90-129. Installation and maintenance. 

A. All landscaping shall be installed in a sound workmanlike manner and according to accepted 

good planting procedures, with the quality of plant materials as herein described. All elements 

of landscaping exclusive of plant material, except hedges, shall be installed so as to meet all 

other applicable ordinances and code requirements. Landscaping shall be maintained in good 

condition so as to present a healthy, neat, and orderly appearance. Lineal and mass planting 

beds shall be mulched with a minimum of two inches of organic mulch (bark, leaves, pine 

needles, etc.) in order to decrease evaporation of moisture from the soil. Plastic surface covers 

shall be prohibited. Landscaped areas are to be irrigated with reclaimed wastewater, if 

available to the site. In order to conserve water, planting areas shall be irrigated by 

automatically timed drip-type systems, only in accordance with county regulations or 

guidelines established by the Southwest Florida Water Management District, whichever may 

be more stringent. In accordance with F.S. § 373.62, any new irrigation system shall be 

equipped with a rain sensor device or switch which will override the automatic cycle of the 

system when adequate rainfall has occurred. Landscaped areas shall be protected from 



 

 

vehicular encroachment (defined as any protrusion of a vehicle outside of a parking space, 

display area, or accessway into a landscaped area) and shall be kept free of refuse and debris. 

The property owner, tenant, and/or agent, if any, shall be jointly and severally responsible for 

the maintenance of all landscaping. The responsibility for maintenance as set forth herein 

shall include the parkways within right-of-way areas outside the property line contiguous to 

the site.  

B. Failure of the owner or tenant of the property to maintain the premises in good condition as 

set forth in subsection A. of this section shall make such owner or tenant liable for the 

penalties for violation of a town ordinance.  

C. On the site of any development requiring site plan approval, where such site abuts a public 

right-of-way, excluding dedicated alleys, a landscaped strip shall be provided along the 

boundary of the site abutting said right-of-way as follows:  

(1) Landscaped strip. A strip of land at least three feet in depth, located along and within 

the boundary of the site abutting said right-of-way, shall be landscaped, such landscaping 

to include one tree for every 35 linear feet or fraction thereof, spaced not less than 30 

feet nor more than 40 feet apart. In addition, a hedge, wall or other durable landscape 

barrier, maintained at least two feet in height, shall be placed along the entire length of 

this linear frontage. If such durable barrier is of nonliving material, for every ten feet 

thereof, one shrub or vine shall be planted abutting such barrier, unless they are of 

sufficient height at the time of planting to be readily visible over the top of such barrier. 

The remainder of the landscape strip shall be improved with grass, ground cover, shrubs 

or other landscape treatment, excluding gravel, paving or sand.  

(2) Other property. All property, other than the required landscaped strip lying along and 

within the boundary of the site abutting the street, shall be landscaped at least with grass 

or other ground cover.  

(3) Necessary accessways. Necessary driveways and other accessways from the public 

right-of-way shall be permitted to service the vehicular use areas, and the widths of such 

accessways may be subtracted from the linear dimensions used to determine the number 

of trees required.  

Sec. 90-130. Perimeter landscaping relating to abutting properties. 

A. On the site of a building or structure or open lot having a vehicular use area, where such area 

will not be entirely screened visually by an intervening building or structure from abutting 

property, that portion of such area not so screened shall be provided with a wall or hedge or 

other durable landscape barrier maintained no greater than six feet in height nor less than 

three and one-half feet in height to form a continuous screen between the common lot line 

and the vehicular use area and such abutting property. Such landscape barrier shall be located 

at any point between the common lot line and the vehicular use area exposed to the abutting 

property, provided the purpose of screening the vehicular use area is accomplished. If such 

barrier consists all or in part of plant materials, such plant material shall be planted in a 

planting strip averaging at least three feet in depth.  

B. In addition, one tree shall be provided for every 50 linear feet of such landscape barrier or 

fractional part thereof, spaced not less than 45 feet nor more than 55 feet apart. Such trees 



 

  

shall be located between the common lot line and the vehicular use area. Each planting area 

shall be landscaped with grass, ground cover or other landscape material, excluding paving 

or sand, in addition to the required tree(s).  

C. Compliance with this section is required in all cases of new construction, change of use or 

expansion of use or structure.  

D. The provisions of this section shall not be applicable in the following situations:  

(1) When a property line abuts a dedicated alley;  

(2) Where a proposed parking area or other vehicular use area abuts an existing hedge, wall 

or other durable landscape barrier on an abutting property, the existing barrier may be 

used to satisfy the landscape barrier requirements of this section, provided that the 

existing barrier meets all applicable standards of this section, and protection against 

vehicular encroachment is provided for hedges;  

(3) Where the abutting property is categorized and used for nonresidential uses, only the tree 

provisions with its planting area as prescribed in this article shall be required. The 

number of trees shall be one tree for every 50 linear feet or fraction thereof, spaced no 

less than 45 feet nor more than 55 feet apart; but all perimeter requirements shall apply 

within the front setback area.  

E. Buffer requirements.  

(1) The purpose and intent of this section is to reduce the impacts of a development on 

adjacent uses which are of a significantly different character.  

(2) A buffer consists of a horizontal distance from a property line which may only be 

occupied by drainage areas, utilities and landscaping materials. The required buffering 

distance between land uses on adjoining lots is set forth in the buffer matrix below. 

Mechanical/air-conditioning equipment, outdoor storage areas and parking areas shall 

not be located within the required buffers.  

(3) Compliance with this section is required in all cases of new construction, change of use 

or expansion of use or structure.  

(4) The following buffer matrix identifies required horizontal distances between adjacent 

property uses.  

Table 90-130-A  

Landscape Buffer Matrix  

Abutting Use  

 Proposed Use  Dwelling, Single  

or Two-Family  

(feet)  

Dwelling,  

Multiple-Family  

(feet)  

Nonresidential  

(feet)  

Public Recreation  

Area 

Dwelling, Single- or Two-

Family  

    

 Dwelling, Multiple-

Family  

5    15  15 

Nonresidential  15  10   15 

Public Recreation Area  15 15  

 



 

 

Sec. 90-131. Interior landscaping requirements. 

A. An area or a combination of areas equal to eight percent (see section 90-171 G.) of the total 

vehicular use area shall be devoted to interior landscaping. Any perimeter landscaping 

provided in excess of that required may be counted as part of the interior landscaping 

requirement. Landscaping adjacent to a structure or structures on the same parcel of land, 

which serves to beautify the vehicular use area and implements the purpose and intent of this 

article, may be counted toward meeting the interior landscape requirements. The credit may 

not exceed 50 percent of the total required interior landscaping and shall be reviewed by the 

building official for compliance with the purpose and intent of this article.  

B. Such landscaped areas shall be located in such a manner so as to divide and break up the 

monotony and expanse of paving, to prevent and discourage cross taxiing and to provide well-

dispersed tree canopy shading. A combination of the following interior landscaping elements 

shall be counted as part of the interior landscaping requirements, where applicable:  

(1) Terminal islands. Contiguous rows of 15 or more parking spaces shall be terminated on 

both ends by landscaped islands which measure an average of not less than five feet in 

width and extend the entire length of the parking space(s). At least one deciduous tree, 

palm, or grouping, as per section 90-128 B.(1), shall be planted on such island.  

(2) Interior islands. Interior landscaped islands which measure an average of not less than 

five feet in width and extend the length of a parking space shall be placed within rows 

of contiguous parking spaces so that there is at least one interior island for every 18 

parking spaces or major portion thereof within the row. These islands shall be placed at 

intervals of not less than six spaces nor more than 18 spaces. At least one deciduous tree 

or grouping, as per section 90-128 B.(1), shall be planted on every interior island. Interior 

islands need not be placed directly opposite each other when in abutting parking rows.  

(3) Additional interior landscaping requirements. 

(a) Trees. There shall be a minimum of one tree, planted for each separate planter 

installed in the vehicular use area, but the total number of trees shall not be less than 

one for each 200 square feet, or fraction thereof, of required interior landscaped 

area.  

(b) Perimeter landscaping. In vehicular use areas where the strict application of this 

section will seriously limit the function of such area, the required landscaping may 

be located near the perimeter of the paved area, including such perimeters which 

may be adjacent to a building on the site. Such required interior landscaping which 

is relocated as herein provided shall be in addition to the perimeter landscaping 

requirements.  

(c) Vehicle encroachment; wheel stops. The front of a vehicle may encroach upon any 

interior landscaped area when such area is at least three and one-half feet in depth 

per abutting parking space and protected by wheel stops that are anchored and 

placed within the confines of a parking area or curbing. Two feet of such interior 

landscaped area may be part of the required depth of each abutting parking space.  



 

284 

Sec. 90-132. Sight visibility at intersections. 

All landscaping shall be subject to the sight visibility requirements of Section 90-251. 

Sec. 90-133. Existing plant material. 

In instances where healthy native plant material exists on a site prior to its development, in 

part or in whole, for the purposes of off-street parking or other vehicular use areas, the application 

of the above landscape standards may be adjusted to allow credit for such plant material if such an 

adjustment is in keeping with and will preserve the intent of this article. In no event will exotic 

species such as Australian pine, Bishopwood, Brazilian pepper, punk tree, ear tree, laurel fig, 

weeping fig, eucalyptus and willow trees be considered for credit.  

Sec. 90-134. Existing developed vehicular use areas. 

A. Existing developed vehicular use areas not meeting the requirements contained in this article 

shall be brought into full compliance under one or more of the following conditions:  

(1) If expansion of 30 percent or more of an existing vehicular use area requires the 

installation of additional parking spaces.  

(2) If an existing vehicular use area is improved or remodeled in a value of 30 percent or 

more of the valuation of the existing use as reflected on the property appraiser's current 

records.  

(3) If an existing structure is improved or remodeled in a value of 50 percent or more of the 

valuation of the existing structure as reflected on the property appraiser's current records.  

(4) If an existing structure is increased in covered floor area by 20 percent or greater.  

(5) If an amendment is required to an existing final site plan.  

B. However, in the event that such compliance would prohibit required parking areas from 

meeting the minimum off-street parking requirements, as set forth in other sections of this 

Code, then the requirements of this section may be adjusted, first modifying the requirements 

of the interior landscaping requirements portion and, if minimum off-street parking 

requirements still cannot be met, then modifying the requirements of the perimeter 

landscaping portion.  

C. The requirements for the responsibility of the owner, tenant or agent for the maintenance of 

parkway and right-of-way outside the property line contiguous to the site, as set forth herein, 

shall become immediately effective and applicable to all existing developed properties upon 

passage of this article.  

Sec. 90-135. Marine vegetation. 

Nonseawalled intracoastal waterways lacking wetland vegetation should be planted with 

native marine vegetation in order to minimize potential flood damage, stabilize the shoreline and 

trap sediments and other nonpoint source pollutants, and provide additional habitat for fish and 

wildlife.  



 

 

Sec. 90-136 – 90-138. Reserved. 

ARTICLE XXV. TREES 

Sec. 90-139. Exceptions to tree planting requirements. 

A. Nuisance trees. 

(1) The following types of trees shall be exempt from the tree protection requirements of 

this Code:  

(a) Australian pine.  

(b) Bishopwood.  

(c) Brazilian pepper.  

(d) Punk tree.  

(e) Ear tree.  

(f) Laurel fig.  

(g) Weeping fig.  

(h) Eucalyptus.  

(i) Willow.  

(2) In addition, the planting of the above listed species is specifically prohibited.  

B. Utility operations. Tree removals by duly constituted communication, water, sewer, electrical 

or other utility companies or federal, state or county agencies, or engineers or surveyors 

working under a contract with such utility companies or agencies, shall be exempt, provided 

the removal is limited to those areas necessary for maintenance of existing lines or facilities 

or for construction of new lines or facilities in furtherance of providing utility service to its 

customers; and provided further that the activity is conducted so as to avoid any unnecessary 

removal and, in the case of aerial electrical utility lines, is not greater than that specified by 

the National Electrical Code as necessary to achieve safe electrical clearances.  

C. Florida Department of Transportation. The Florida Department of Transportation shall be 

exempt from the provisions of this article.  

D. Surveyors. A state-licensed land surveyor, in the performance of his or her duties, is exempt, 

provided such alteration is limited to a swath three feet or less in width.  

E. Commercial growers. All commercial nurseries, botanical gardens, tree farms and grove 

operations shall be exempt from the provisions of this article, but only as to those trees which 

were planted for silvicultural or agricultural purposes or for the sale or intended sale in the 

ordinary course of business.  

F. Emergencies. During emergencies caused by a hurricane or other disaster, the building 

official may temporarily suspend these tree protection regulations.  



 

 

Sec. 90-140. Removal of trees. 

A. Special conditions for authorization to remove native and/or protected trees. 

(1) It is the intent of this section to minimize the removal of native and/or protected trees, 

and no authorization shall be granted to remove a tree if the developer has failed to take 

reasonable measures to design and locate the proposed improvements so that the least 

number of native and/or protected trees will be removed. In particular, the design must 

attempt to preserve specimen and historic trees.  

(2) No authorization for the removal of a native and/or protected tree shall be granted unless 

the developer demonstrates that one or more of the following conditions exists:  

(a) A permissible use of the site cannot reasonably be undertaken unless specific trees 

are removed or relocated.  

(b) The tree is located in such proximity to an existing or proposed structure that the 

safety, utility or structural integrity of the structure is materially impaired.  

(c) The tree materially interferes with the location, servicing or functioning of existing 

utility lines or services.  

(d) The tree creates a substantial hazard to motor, bicycle or pedestrian traffic due to 

physical proximity to traffic or impairment of vision.  

(e) The tree is diseased or weakened by age, abuse, storm or fire and is likely to cause 

injury or damage to people, buildings or other improvements.  

(f) Any law or regulation requires the removal.  

(3) Authorization required. No native or otherwise protected tree (two-inch diameter at 

breast height or larger) shall be removed without prior authorization by the town. The 

Building Official or his/her designee shall have the authority to issue tree removal 

permits, subject to the provisions of Subsection B of this section.  

B. Replacement of removed trees. 

(1) Trees removed pursuant to subsection A. of this section shall be replaced at the expense 

of the developer.  

(2) For each inch of diameter at breast height removed, an inch of diameter at breast height 

shall be replaced. (Example: If a 12-inch DBH tree is removed, four three-inch DBH 

trees may be used to replace it.)  

(3) A replacement tree may be a tree moved from one location to another on the site, or 

moved off the site pursuant to subsection B. of this section.  

(4) Replacement trees shall, if practicable, be planted on the development site. If on-site 

replacement is not practicable, replacement trees may be donated, or a fee-in-lieu may 

be paid to the town for the purpose of planting trees on public property. The fee-in-lieu 

shall be based on the cost of purchasing the requisite size and number of replacement 

trees.  

C. Historic and specimen trees. 



 

 

(1) An historic tree is one that has been designated by the board of commissioners as one of 

notable historical interest and value to the town because of its location or historical 

association with the town community. A public hearing shall be held by the board of 

commissioners on the designation, with due notice to the owner of the tree.  

(2) A specimen tree is one that has been officially designated by the board of commissioners 

to be of high value because of its type, size, age, or other relevant criteria. A public 

hearing on the designation shall be held by the board of commissioners, with due notice 

to the owner of the tree.  

(3) No historic or specimen tree shall be removed without a finding by the board of 

commissioners that the tree is a hazard or that it is not economically or practically 

feasible to develop the parcel without removing the historic or specimen tree. The town 

building official shall make a presentation to the commission on the application and 

make a recommendation as to whether it should be approved or denied. The decision by 

the board of commissioners on the application shall be made within 30 days of the date 

the application was filed.  

Sec. 90-141. Protection of trees during development activities. 

A. Generally. 

(1) To assure the health and survival of protected trees that are not to be removed, the 

developer shall avoid the following kinds of tree injuries during all development 

activities:  

(a) Mechanical injuries to roots, trunk and branches;  

(b) Injuries by chemical poisoning;  

(c) Injuries by grade changes;  

(d) Injuries by excavations; and  

(e) Injuries by paving.  

(2) At a minimum, the protective measures described in Subsections B through F of this 

section shall be taken where appropriate to the development activity.  

B. Avoiding mechanical injuries. 

(1) Prior to any land preparation or other development activities, a protective barrier easily 

visible to equipment operators shall be placed around all protected trees so as to 

encompass the entire tree protection zone. See Figure 90-141-A.  

(2) No attachment, wires (other than supportive wires), signs or permits may be fastened to 

any protected tree.  

(3) No equipment, construction materials or debris of any kind shall be placed within the 

protective barrier.  

(4) Landscaping activities within the bounds of the protective barrier (before and after it is 

removed) shall be accomplished with light machinery or manual labor. Grubbing and 

similar activities are prohibited.  



 

 

(5) In lieu of constructing the barriers required in subsection B.(1) of this section, the 

developer may physically designate large areas containing protected trees where no land 

preparation or other development activities of any kind will occur. The area shall be 

designated by placing stakes a maximum of 25 feet apart and tying ribbon, plastic tape, 

rope, etc., from stake to stake along the outside perimeter of the area. This perimeter line 

shall be beyond the tree protection zone of any protected trees growing within the area.  

(6) Required protective barriers and perimeter lines shall remain in place until all 

construction activity, except landscaping within the protected area, is terminated.  

 

Figure 90-141-A Protective Tree Barricade 
 

 

C. Avoiding injuries due to chemical poisoning. 

(1) No fuel, paint, solvent, oil, thinner, asphalt, cement, grout or any other construction 

chemical or other material or tools of any kind shall be stored, or allowed in any manner 

to enter, within a required protective barrier or perimeter line.  

(2) No equipment shall be cleaned within a required protective barrier or perimeter line.  

D. Avoiding injuries due to grade changes. Grade changes shall not be made within the tree 

protection zone unless the following protective measures are taken:  

(1) Raising the grade. When raising the grade, the following measures shall be taken:  

(a) Within the tree protection zone, existing sod, vegetation and leaf litter shall be 

removed and the soil loosened without injuring the roots.  

(b) The area within the tree protection zone shall be properly fertilized to improve the 

vigor and growth of the roots.  

(c) Porous, four-inch agriculture drain shall be laid over the soil to drain liquids away 

from the trunk. A drop of at least one-eighth inch per foot shall be provided. The 

drain field shall be designed to provide adequate drainage of the existing 

configuration of the trees.  

(d) The number of drains shall depend upon soil material; lighter sandy soils and porous 

gravelly material require fewer drains than heavy nonporous soils.  



 

 

(e) Aeration shall be provided by installing vertical tiles along the system. The vertical 

tiles shall be filled with gravel and capped with a heavy-duty mesh to keep out trash 

and debris.  

(f) Dry wells shall be large enough to allow for maximum growth of the tree trunk. 

Most large shade trees require at least a 60-inch diameter well. For slow-growing 

mature trees, a space of 12 inches to 18 inches shall be provided between the trunk 

and the side of the well at every point.  

(g) To prevent washing of material into the well, the dry well casing walls shall be high 

enough to bring the coping just above the level of the proposed fill.  

(h) Dry well walls shall be constructed of materials that permit passage of air and water. 

Concrete blocks backed with galvanized screening may be used for the sides of the 

well.  

(i) Gratings or barriers shall be used around openings that are large enough to present 

a hazard to pedestrians.  

(j) Open wells shall be cleaned regularly to remove sediment, leaves, and debris that 

might interfere with the free passage of air.  

(k) Large stones shall be placed over the drainage tiles, and a layer of smaller stones 

shall be placed over the remainder of the ground within the drip line.  

(l) A layer of gravel shall be placed over the stones.  

(m) The fill shall be completed with a layer of porous soil. See Figures 2-B, 2-C, 2-D.*5 

(2) Lowering the grade. When lowering the grade, the following measures shall be taken:  

(a) Roots shall be cut cleanly and retrimmed after excavation.  

(b) The canopy shall be pruned to aid in maintaining tree vigor.  

(c) When lowering the grade of the soil surrounding a protected tree, the maximum 

number of tree roots within the tree protection zone shall be preserved by using any 

of the following methods:  

[1] Terracing. The area within the tree protection zone is left at the original grade 

by terracing.  

[2] Retaining wall. The area within the tree protection zone is left at the original 

grade constructing a dry retaining wall. The retaining wall shall be porous to 

allow for aeration.  

[3] Terracing and retaining wall. The area within the tree protection zone is left 

at the original grade by the combined use of terracing and dry retaining wall. 

See Figure 90-141-B.  

(3) Minor changes in grade. When the change in grade is minor, as determined by the 

building official, lesser protective measures than those described in subsection D.(1) and 

 

 



 

 

D.(2) of this section may be taken. The building official shall approve the use of these 

methods where their use will not endanger the health of the protected tree.  

 

Figure 90-141-B Grade Changes Near Existing Trees 

 

 

E. Avoiding injuries due to excavations. 

(1) Water, sewer, and other utility lines should be routed around the tree protection zones of 

protected trees.  

(2) If a line cannot reasonably be routed around the tree protection zone, the line shall be 

tunneled beneath the area within the zone. The tunnel shall be offset to one side of the 

trunk to prevent damage to the main taproots.  

F. Avoiding injury by paving within the drip line. Porous paving may be placed within the tree 

protection zone of a protected tree, so long as no damage is inflicted to the tree by grade 

change, compaction of the soil, or any other cause.  

Sec. 90-142. Special provisions for protection of mangroves. 

A. Generally. In addition to the foregoing tree protection requirements, the following special 

provisions shall apply to the removal or alteration of mangroves and other vegetation from 

wetland areas, as defined in F.S. § 373.019, and Rule 62-340.200, F.A.C. These standards 

shall apply to all property owners, including single-family, duplex, and multifamily 

homeowners.  

B. Replacement. Mangroves and wetland vegetation may not be removed unless the developer 

replaces or relocates on the same development site at least an equal number of mangroves 

and sufficient other wetland vegetation to revegetate a land area equal to or greater than the 

land area from which mangroves/wetland vegetation was removed. The developer shall 

provide a plan, to be approved by the Building Official, to ensure the survival of the replaced 

or relocated mangroves and wetland vegetation, and to stabilize the shoreline from which 

mangroves/wetland vegetation was removed. The approved plan shall be an express condition 

of any permit. Failure to carry out any provision of the plan shall be a violation of this Code.  



 

 

C. Other protective measures. The following protective measures shall apply to all mangroves 

and/or wetland vegetation:  

(1) A permit shall be obtained from the State Department of Environmental Protection 

(DEP) for any alteration of mangroves or wetland vegetation in jurisdictional waters.  

(2) A permit shall be obtained from the Pinellas County Environmental Management 

Department for any alteration of mangroves or wetland vegetation that may be exempt 

from DEP permit requirements.  

(3) The alteration of mangroves shall be subject to the provisions of F.S. §§ 403.9321 

through 403.9333, ("Mangrove Trimming and Preservation Act"), and any additional 

standards contained in Chapter 166, Article II, Division 3, of the Pinellas County Land 

Development Code.  

Sec. 90-143. Automatic waiver. 

The terms and provisions of these sections 90-140 through 90-142 may automatically be 

waived by the town administrator as follows:  

A. No-tree verification. Upon submission of a notarized statement by the owner or the 

owner’s agent that no trees as defined within the province of this article exist upon the 

site, the administration, after a verification visit to the site, may waive the requirements 

and provisions of sections 90-140 through 90-142.  

B. No-effect verification. Upon submission of a notarized statement by the owner or the 

owner’s agent that the proposed improvements or development involves less than ten 

percent of the total site and that no trees as defined within the province of this article 

will in any manner be affected, the administration, after a verification visit to the site, 

may waive the requirements and provisions of sections 90-140 through 90-142.  

Sec. 90-144 Reserved. 

ARTICLE XXVI. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS 

Sec. 90-145. Pollution performance standards. 

All uses, existing and proposed, in all zoning districts are subject to the following 

performance standards and procedures:  

A. Air pollution. No person shall cause or permit an air emission from any source of air 

pollutants in violation of standards enforced by the Pinellas County Department of 

Environmental Management. No smoke emission from any combustion source shall be 

permitted which is darker than shade No. 1 of the Ringelmann Smoke Chart. No open 

burning is permitted within the town unless a special permit is issued. No emission of 

fly ash, dust, fumes, vapors, gases and other forms of air pollution shall be permitted 

which may constitute a nuisance or which can cause any damage to health, to animals, 

vegetation or other forms of property or which can cause any excessive soiling.  

B. Noise. No person shall cause or permit a noise emission from any source in violation of 

standards enforced by the Pinellas County Department of Environmental Management 

Commented [NM10]: 90-145 thru 90-150 are 
renumbered sections from old Part 2 (90-117 thru 90-122) 



 

 

Code. No outdoor public address system, audible from any property line, is permitted in 

the town except by one-time permit for a special civic purpose.  

C. Outdoor storage. No person shall cause or permit outdoor storage of materials, objects, 

debris, litter, disassembled motor vehicles, household furnishings, gravel, fill dirt or 

construction materials on any lot within the town with the exception of construction sites 

where the temporary storage of building materials is essential. Storage of firewood in 

quantities not to exceed one cord is permitted, provided that it shall be neatly stacked, 

screened and maintained, and further provided that the owner shall take all reasonable 

measures to eliminate invasion by termites, vermin or other pests.  

D. Odor. No emission shall be permitted of odorous gases or other odorous matter in such 

quantities as to be readily detectable, without instruments, at the property line of the lot 

from which they are emitted.  

E. Radioactivity and electrical disturbance. The standards for radioactive emissions shall 

be those of the United States Federal Atomic Energy Commission. No electrical 

disturbance is permitted affecting the operation of any equipment.  

Sec. 90-146. Standards governing flood and beach erosion control. 

No new use shall be issued a building permit unless it is found to be in complete compliance 

with the standards of the coastal construction requirements of the Florida Department of Natural 

Resources and with part 2 of this chapter.  

Sec. 90-147. Standards governing waterfront and underwater lands. 

A. All areas within the corporate limits of the town which are under water and not shown as 

included within any district shall be subject to all of the regulations of the district which 

immediately adjoins the water area. If the water area adjoins two or more districts, the 

boundaries of each district shall be construed to extend into the water area in a straight line 

until they meet the other district. Accretions to lots in zoned districts shall be subject to the 

same zoning regulations as the original lots. Dimensions as shown on the zoning district map 

shall apply.  

B. Standards governing beach access. Under site plan review the planning and zoning board may 

require the dedication of access to the public beach in the form of an improved, dedicated ten-

foot right-of-way.  

Sec. 90-148. Land dedication for public use; cash contribution in lieu thereof. 

The standard for land dedication for public use shall be calculated for all new residential and 

commercial use in the town in land dedication units (LDUs) as follows:  

A. Each $50,000.00 in value of land and buildings equals one LDU.  

B. Each new dwelling unit, motel or hotel rental unit or new or improved commercial 

structure shall be required to dedicate 100 square feet of real property per one LDU or a 

cash contribution of $500.00 per one LDU.  



 

 

C. All dedications of public use property shall be at the option of the planning and zoning 

board, which will generally not consider dedications of less than one acre in size, unless 

there is a clear public interest to accept a smaller parcel.  

D. All such funds or land accepted by the town shall be used for park and recreational 

facility capital development, and any other uses deemed by the board of commissioners 

to be aesthetically pleasing enhancements to the visual environment in the town, such as 

landscaping of traffic medians, streets or other such matters. Such funds shall not be used 

for park maintenance or operating recreation programs.  

E. For the purpose of this article, no credit shall be given for privately owned or maintained 

park or recreational facilities existing or proposed within the site to be developed.  

F. All dedications of park land or cash payments in lieu thereof shall be received by the 

town prior to the issuance of a building permit.  

G. The board of commissioners can waive any LDU payment of any amount over 

$100,000.00 for any single applicant for any single project in the following situations:  

(1) When the project will provide to the town, in the discretion of the board of 

commissioners, an increase in the tax base of the town or an economic improvement 

in the town sufficient to justify the waiver of any LDU amounts over the first 

$100,000.00.  

(2) When the applicant agrees in the development of its property to provide parks, 

green space or waterfront access available to the general public of the town, deemed 

sufficient to the board of commissioners to justify waiving any LDU fees over the 

amount of $100,000.00.  

Sec. 90-149. Natural resource protection. 

The following requirements must be met in order to protect trees, wetland vegetation and 

dune systems:  

A. All development and redevelopment must be consistent with F.S. ch. 161, Beach and 

Shore Preservation.  

B. All developments must meet the requirements of the 1996 Mangrove Trimming and 

Preservation Act (F.S. §§ 403.9321 – 403.9333).  

C. Developments shall utilize native vegetation to stabilize shoreline and to provide native 

wildlife habitat. The use of punk trees, Australian pine trees and pepper trees shall be 

prohibited.  

D. All new development and redevelopment must be consistent with the Pinellas County 

Tree Protection Ordinance.  

E. All development must meet the requirements of Chapter 62.312 F.A.C., Dredge and Fill 

Activities.  



 
 

 

Sec. 90-150. Water quality protection measures. 

The town adopts by reference the standards and regulations set forth in the Pinellas Aquatic 

Preserve Management Plan.  

A. All new development and redevelopment which may affect tidal circulation/flushing 

must provide sufficient hydrographic information prior to development approval.  

B. All projects which may inhibit tidal circulation shall include measures to maintain or 

improve tidal circulation/flushing.  

C. All new development and redevelopment must be consistent with Chapter 63-312 F.A.C. 

 

PART 3. RESOURCES; VEGETATION AND ENVIRONMENTALLY SENSITIVE 

LANDS6ZONING 

ARTICLE XXIX. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Sec. 90-138. Intent and purpose. 

A. It is the legislative intent of this part 3 to protect and preserve the appearance, character, value 

and safety of the town's urban area and nearby properties and, by so doing, promote the 

general welfare of the community.  

B. The purpose is to improve the appearance of properties within the town through the 

protection, installation, and maintenance of trees and landscaping for screening and aesthetic 

effects, and to recognize the importance of such trees and landscaping, in the enhancement of 

property values, the improvement of air quality, and their contribution to the cooling of our 

environment. It is also recognized that native tree and landscape species are most compatible 

with the town's climate and soil conditions, require less irrigation and fertilization than do 

exotic species, and therefore help to conserve water and reduce the pollution in stormwater 

runoff, which in turn helps to maintain the water quality of Boca Ciega Bay and the Gulf of 

Mexico. Therefore, the use of native tree and landscape species, and removal of exotic 

invasive trees and vegetation, is strongly encouraged. The planting of exotic invasive trees 

and vegetation is to be prohibited.  

Sec. 90-139. Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases when used in this part 3 shall have the meanings 

ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Crown—The main mass of branching of a plant above the ground.  

 

6Editor's note(s)—Adopted 9-14-2004 by Ord. No. 04-09; amended in its entirety 12-12-2007 by Ord. No. 07-06; 
renumbered from Part 6 to Part 3 by Ord. No. 21-12.  

Commented [NM11]: Zoning was moved from old Part 2 

Commented [NM12]: Sec. 90-138 thru 90-169 have been 
moved to new Part 2 



 

 

DBH—The diameter at breast height. "Breast height" is defined to be 54 inches above the 

surface of the ground at the base of the plant or tree. In the case of a tree with multiple main stems, 

the diameter shall be the sum of the diameters of the stems.  

Drip line—The outermost perimeter of the crown of a plant as projected vertically to the 

ground. See Figure 1-A.  

 

Grubbing—The effective removal of vegetation, other than defined trees, from the site.  

Hedge—A dense row of shrubs or bushes forming a boundary.  

Land-clearing stage—A stage in the construction process in which trees and/or vegetation are 

removed from the land, i.e., proposed right-of-way excavation and paving, drainage systems 

excavation; utility clearings, grubbings and prebuilding construction projects.  

Landscape area or green space—An area or areas including beautification strips, consisting 

of those materials, such as, but not limited to, hedges, trees, planted ground cover, sodded and 

grassed areas and planted floral installations, all of which must be composed of natural plantings 

only, as distinguished from artificially manufactured planting reproductions.  



 

 

Mangrove—Rooted trees and seedlings of the following species, but only when having a coastal 

or estuarine association:  

A. Red mangrove (Rhizophora mangle L.).  

B. White mangrove (Laguncularia racemosa Gaertn.).  

C. Black mangrove [Avicennia germinans (L) L.].  

D. Buttonwood mangrove (Conocarpus erecta L.).  

Overall height (OH)—The height, in feet, of a tree measured from the top of the root 

ball/system to the top of the uppermost foliage branches.  

Protected tree—Any tree that has a DBH of more than six inches, and which is not otherwise 

exempted from this Code. For the purpose of this Code, all mangroves are hereby declared to be 

protected trees.  

Remove, removal, replanting or replacement—The act of digging up, cutting down, 

damaging, destroying, relocating, or killing any tree.  

Shrub—A low-growing perennial, woody or evergreen plant with persistent stem.  

Species of trees—Applies to trees possessing common distinctive characteristics and the 

ability to reproduce these characteristics.  

Transplant—The act of digging up a tree from one location and planting the same tree in 

another place.  

Tree—A self-supporting woody plant having one or more well-defined trunks capable of 

being maintained with a clear trunk and normally growing to an overall height at maturity in the 

county of a minimum of 15 feet. For the purpose of this definition, palms shall be considered trees.  

Tree bank—The storage for future use of trees permitted for removal under the terms of this 

chapter which are donated to the town for its use.  

Tree cluster—Two or more primary tree trunks that are within three feet of one another.  

Tree, historic—A tree which has been found by a professional forester, horticulturist or other 

professional plantsman to be of notable historic interest to the town and/or county because of its 

age, type, size or historic association and has been so designated by resolution of the town 

commission of the town.  

Tree protection zone—A circular zone around each protected tree defined as follows:  

A. If the drip line is less than six feet from the trunk of the tree, the zone shall be that area 

within a radius of six feet around the tree.  

B. If the drip line is more than six feet from the trunk of the tree, but less than 20 feet, the 

zone shall be that area within a radius of the full drip line around the tree.  

C. If the drip line is 20 feet or more from the trunk of the tree, the zone shall be that area 

within a radius of 20 feet around the tree.  

Tree, shade/canopy—An evergreen or deciduous tree that can be maintained with a clear trunk 

of not less than six feet and with a spreading branching structure of at least 15 feet and opaque 

foliage habit such that a reasonably dense shade pattern is provided during peak daylight hours in 



 

 

the late spring, summer and early fall months of the year. For the purposes of this part 3, palms 

shall not be considered shade/canopy trees.  

Tree, specimen—A tree which has been determined by the judgment of a professional forester, 

horticulturist or other professional plantsman to be of high value because of its type, size, age or 

other professional criteria, and has been so designated by resolution of the town commission of 

the town.  

Vehicular use area—An open area used for the storage of four or more vehicles, including 

the accessways to such area.  

Sec. 90-140. Planting in rights-of-way or near utilities. 

It shall be unlawful to plant trees, bushes and/or hedges with deep root systems over, upon or 

within ten feet of the paved portion of the town-owned rights-of-way or easements. It shall also be 

unlawful to plant trees, bushes and/or hedges with deep root systems within ten feet of any town-

owned underground sewer lines. Trees with widespread root systems that might impact the paved 

portion of the town-owned rights-of-way or easements may not be used.  

Sec. 90-141. Hazardous conditions. 

A. It shall be unlawful for the owner or occupant of any property to permit to remain upon 

property any tree or tree branch or other growth that is in danger of falling upon any public 

way. The canopy of shade trees must be maintained with a minimum of eight and one-half 

feet of clearance above the roadway within the limits of clear sight.  

B. When it shall be determined by the town that any existing trees, plants or hedges upon private 

property or public rights-of-way or easements contiguous to such private property are causing 

hazardous conditions to any underground sewer, water or electrical lines, or overhead 

electrical or telephone wires, it shall forthwith give notice to the property owner upon whose 

property or right-of-way or easement such hazard exists, that such trees, plants or hedges shall 

be removed within a time certain as designated in such notice.  

C. The notice hereby required shall be served as follows:  

(1) By personal delivery to the owner; or  

(2) By delivery to a person at least 18 years of age within the household of the owner;  

(3) By affixing a copy of the notice in a conspicuous place near the entry to such premises; 

or  

(4) By mailing by certified mail a copy of the notice to the last known address of the owner.  

D. If a person who has been served with notice to remove trees, plants or hedges which constitute 

the hazardous conditions described herein from private property, rights-of-way or easements 

shall fail to comply within the specified time, the town shall remedy the conditions, or 

contract with others to remedy such conditions; and the cost thereof shall be charged against 

the owner of such property.  

E. If the cost of remedying such conditions is not paid within 30 days after receipt of the 

statement therefor from the town, the amount thereof shall become and constitute a lien and 

charge against the real property with interest.  



 

 

F. The lien imposed by this section shall be a first and prior lien against the property subject 

only to the lien for taxes imposed by the county and the state, and shall be of the same 

character as the lien for municipal taxes and assessments. If the lien is not paid within 180 

days from its effective date, the lien may be enforced in the same manner as delinquent ad 

valorem tax liens or special assessment liens and shall be certified by the director of finance 

to the town attorney for collection.  

Sec. 90-142. Exemption from county ordinance. 

The town does hereby exclude and exempt itself from the provisions of any county ordinance 

regarding the planting or removal of trees or other vegetation.  

Sec. 90-143. Variances. 

Where strict adherence to the provisions of this part 3 is impossible or impractical to enforce, 

the special magistrate may authorize a variance if such a variance can be made without destroying 

the intent of this part 3. Any request for a variance to the provisions of this part 3 shall be submitted 

in writing on the form provided for this purpose by the town to the special magistrate and shall 

clearly and in detail state what adjustment of requirements is being requested and the reason such 

adjustment is warranted. The appeal shall be accompanied by a processing fee as specified by 

resolution of the town commission.  

(Ord. No. 10-04, 9-9-2010) 

Editor's note(s)—Ord. No. 10-04, also provided for an effective date of 11-1-2010.  

Sec. 90-144. Reserved. 

ARTICLE XXX. LANDSCAPING 

Sec. 90-145. Subject areas. 

A. All vehicular use areas, except those located on, under or within buildings, and except those 

that service single-family, and duplex uses, shall conform to the minimum landscaping 

requirements hereinafter provided. "Vehicular use areas" shall include all areas used for the 

parking, circulation and/or display of any and all types of vehicles, boats or heavy 

construction equipment, or other machinery capable of movement over streets and highways, 

whether self-propelled or not, and all areas upon which such vehicles traverse as a function 

of the primary use of the related structures or property. This shall include, but is not limited 

to, activities of a drive-in nature, such as service stations, convenience stores, banks, 

restaurants and the like. The requirements set forth herein shall also apply to additions to 

existing vehicular use areas.  

B. Single-family dwellings, two-family dwellings and multiple-family dwellings. Required front 

yards and required side yards abutting public streets shall be maintained in permeable 

landscaped vegetative green space, with the exception of necessary driveways, walks, patios 

and similar paved areas, which shall not exceed 25 percent of the required yard area for corner 

lots and 45 percent of the required yard area for inside lots.  



 

 

C. All uses and structures other than those listed in subsection B. above. The exterior portion of 

all required yards abutting public streets, with the exception of necessary entrance driveways 

and walks, shall be maintained in permeable landscaped vegetative green space to the 

minimum depth as established according to the following table or to the minimum yard 

(building setback) requirements (depth and width), whichever requirement is lower.  

Average Lot Depth  

From the Street  

(feet)  

Minimum Depth of Required  

Permeable Green Space  

(feet)  

From 80 to 100  5  

Over 100 to 120  10  

Over 120 to 160  15  

Over 160  20  

 

D. Nonconforming uses of required yards and redevelopment.  

(1) Any uses or required yard area inconsistent with subsection B. or C. above shall be 

nonconforming uses and no such nonconforming use shall be extended to occupy a 

greater area nor to occupy any other portion of the required yard area than was occupied 

at the time the nonconforming status was attached. Any nonconforming site that is 

redeveloped or altered at a total cost equal to or exceeding the percentage shown shall 

comply with the above provisions according to the following table:  

Total Redevelopment Cost  

(as a percentage of)  

Total Assessed Value  

50%  Up to $50,000  

45%  From $50,000 to $100,000  

40%  From $100,000 to $150,000  

35%  From $150,000 to $200,000  

30%  From $200,000 to $250,000  

25%  $250,000 and more  

 

(2) When redevelopment costs are one-half or more of the redevelopment threshold 

percentages shown, then not less than one-half of required landscaping under subsection 

B. or C. shall be installed. Such landscaping plan shall be approved by the board which 

normally reviews the redevelopment plan and may be modified to fit site constraints, so 

long as the basic intent of the landscaping requirements are met.  

(3) Construction costs shall be determined by the building inspector or, at the expense of the 

applicant, a licensed contractor, itemizing total costs in a certified estimate. In the event 

that such construction costs have not been determined at time of application, the town 

building commissioner or his or her designee shall determine a reasonable and fair cost 

of the proposed redevelopment, based on current conditions.  

E. Should the requirements of subsection C. prohibit proper design of structures or parking area 

because of abnormal lot configuration, the required depth of the permeable green space along 

any one street may be varied up to 20 percent, provided that the total required green space 

area along that street is not diminished.  



 

 

F. Where the average lot depth from a street lies between two streets, that lot depth shall be 

halved in order to determine the depth of required green space, according to subsection C.  

Sec. 90-146. Application of article. 

All uses of land and development thereof, excepting single-family dwellings, and duplex, and 

triplex dwellings on lots of 6,000 square feet or less, shall be required to comply with the 

provisions of this article, as contained within the following sections, prior to obtaining a building 

permit.  

Sec. 90-147. Development requiring approval. 

A. All uses of land and development thereof, excepting as permitted within section 90-145, 

single-family dwellings and duplex dwellings on lots of 6,000 square feet or less, where off-

street parking and open lot sales, display and services are provided, except within buildings, 

shall comply with the provisions of this article, and the developer shall submit required 

information for review and approval.  

B. All property within existing paved vehicular use areas on the effective date of the ordinance 

from which this article was derived shall not be required to conform to provisions of this 

article unless reconstruction or expansion of improvements on the property requires a site 

plan approval in accordance with the town site plan review as set forth in chapter 90, article 

XXIV.  

Sec. 90-148. Application for approval: submission requirements. 

An application for landscape approval in accordance with the requirements of this article shall 

be accompanied by the following information and processed by the town only after the following 

procedural requirements have been complied with:  

A. Three copies of all plans and required supporting documentation, together with an 

application signed by the owner of record, shall be submitted to the designated official's 

office. Each application shall be accompanied by the application fee as specified by 

resolution of the town commission, and no application will be accepted nor a review 

conducted until the fee is paid to the town.  

B. All paved area landscape plans shall be prepared at a scale not smaller than one inch 

equals 50 feet and shall be submitted on sheets 24 inches by 36 inches.  

C. All paved area landscape plans submitted for review and approval shall include the 

following information:  

(1) The shape and dimensions of the lot or parcel;  

(2) All existing and proposed parking spaces, access aisles, driveways, sidewalks, 

wheel stops, curbs and other vehicular use controls;  

(3) The location of existing and proposed curb and/or driveway cuts and median 

openings;  

(4) The distance between curb cuts, including the distance from any curb cuts on 

adjacent property;  



 

 

(5) Existing and proposed lighting and irrigation systems, planting areas and decorative 

or screen walls. Planting areas must indicate the quantity, spacing, size and name 

of proposed plant material. An exterior elevation and wall section shall be provided 

for any decorative or screen wall indicated on the plan.  

Sec. 90-149. Application for approval: submission and review procedures. 

A. An application for landscape approval in accordance with the provisions of this article shall 

be made to the town prior to an application for a building permit. The paved area landscape 

plan shall be submitted with the site plan review application and serve to comply with the site 

plan review application requirement for landscaping.  

B. Upon receipt of an application for landscape approval, the town shall have ten working days 

to determine its appropriateness and completeness and accept or reject the application. Upon 

acceptance of such application, the review process shall be a component of and concurrent 

with a site plan review application. The review period, procedures and approval shall be in 

conformance with those provisions of the site plan review application.  

Sec. 90-150. Findings required for approval. 

The granting of approval or granting of approval with conditions and/or changes by the 

planning and zoning board shall indicate not only the approval conclusion, but also findings of fact 

related to the specific proposal and shall set forth with particularity compliance with the criteria 

set forth in sections 90-147 and 90-148.  

Sec. 90-151. Exceptions for landscape plans. 

Applicants required to submit a proposed development for site plan review and approval 

before obtaining a building permit shall be entitled to demonstrate, by submission of the 

requirements of the site plan review, that an improvement or betterment of the environment can 

be accomplished over the existing site conditions if such landscaping plan is carried out in full. If 

such landscape plan is so offered and is approved as a part of the site plan review and approval, 

completion of the landscaping plan in its entirety shall be completed prior to the issuance of a 

certificate of occupancy for the development.  

Sec. 90-152. Grounds permit required. 

The building official is to be responsible for the issuance of grounds permits. Prior to the 

development, modification or expansion of any vehicular use areas, application shall be made to 

the building official for the issuance of a grounds permit. The grounds permit shall be issued by 

the building official upon submission of the following requirements by the applicant and upon a 

finding by the building official that the provisions of this article have been complied with:  

A. Vehicular use plan. The developer shall submit to the building official such information 

as the building official deems necessary, to include three copies of a combination site 

plan/planting plan and which shall be in addition to any plans submitted for building 

permits. Such plan shall hereinafter be referred to as the "vehicular use plan" and shall 

be required to be submitted for all proposed vehicular use areas. When the vehicular use 

area is adjacent to or developed in connection with a proposed new structure, the 



 

 

vehicular use plan shall be submitted at the time of the submittal of a site plan for the 

proposed structure.  

B. Contents. The name and address of the owner and of the designer shall be indicated on 

the plan. The date the plan is completed shall be stated. The plan shall be drawn to scale 

no smaller than one inch equals 30 feet, indicate all dimensions and property lines, 

provide elevation data and the North point, and clearly delineate existing and proposed 

parking spaces, access aisles, driveways, sidewalks, wheel stops, curbs and other 

vehicular use controls. The location of curb cuts on adjacent property, median openings 

on abutting streets, lighting, irrigation systems, fire hydrants, water check valves, 

proposed planting areas, decorative or screen walls and fencing, existing trees and 

related buildings shall be shown to completion of the vehicular use area. A temporary 

certificate of occupancy may be issued if a financial guarantee, acceptable in form to the 

building official, is provided.  

C. Filing fee. At the time of the issuance of the grounds permits, the applicant shall pay to 

the town a filing fee in the amount as established by the town commission. If any person 

commences work on the development of any vehicular use area prior to obtaining the 

necessary grounds permit, the filing fee shall be five times the normal permit fee; and 

such person shall be liable for the penalties prescribed for violation of this Code.  

D. Certification of compliance. Upon completion of improvements, the building official 

shall inspect the vehicular use area for compliance with the approved vehicular use plan 

and other requirements of this article. A certificate of compliance must be issued by the 

building official before a certificate of occupancy can be issued for any related structure. 

When occupancy of a related building is desired prior to completion of the vehicular use 

area, a temporary certificate of occupancy may be issued if a financial guarantee, 

acceptable in form to the building official, is provided.  

Sec. 90-153. Landscaping standards. 

The development of vehicular use areas within the town shall conform to and meet the 

standards as set forth herein:  

A. Landscaping shall consist of any of the following or combination thereof: material, such 

as, but not limited to, grass, ground covers, shrubs, vines, hedges, shade/canopy trees or 

palms. In addition, nonliving durable material may be used to complement, but not to be 

credited as, landscaping. These materials include, but are not limited to, rocks, pebbles, 

walls or fences, but excluding paving and sand.  

B. Plant material used in conformance with provisions of this article shall conform to the 

standards for Florida #1 or better, as given in Grades and Standards for Nursery Plants, 

Part I, 1963, and Part II, State of Florida, Department of Agriculture, Tallahassee, or 

equal thereto. Grass sod shall be clean and reasonably free of weeds and noxious pest or 

diseases. Grass seed shall be delivered to the job site in bags with State Department of 

Agriculture tags attached, indicating the seed grower's compliance with the department's 

quality control program:  

(1) Trees. 



 

 

 (a) Trees shall be of species recognized by the State Division of Forestry as being 

drought-tolerant and suitable for successful propagation and growth in the 

town. Trees shall be of species having average spreads/crowns of greater than 

15 feet in diameter, and which can be maintained with a minimum of five feet 

of clear trunk. At least 60 percent of required trees shall be of species native 

to Florida or drought-tolerant, including, but not limited to, the following 

species: Red Maple (Acer rubrum); Silver Buttonwood (Conocarpus erectus 

"sericeus"); American Holly varieties (Ilex opaca); Yaupon Holly (Ilex 

vomitoria); Sweet gum (Liquidambar styraciflua); Southern Magnolia 

(Magnolia grandiflora); Southern Wax Myrtle (Myrica cerifera); Slash Pine 

(Pinus elliotti); Longleaf Pine (Pinus palustris); Loblolly Pine (Pinus taeda); 

Cherry Laurel (prunus caroliniana); Oaks (Quercus spp.); Cabbage Palm 

(Sabal palmetto); Saw Palmetto (Serenoa repens); Bald Cypress (Taxodium 

distichum). Trees having an average mature crown spread of less than 15 feet 

may be substituted by grouping same so as to create the equivalent of a fifteen-

foot crown spread.  

(b) Tree species shall have a minimum two-inch diameter at breast height (DBH), 

and shall be a minimum of eight feet in overall height immediately after 

planting. Trees of species whose roots are known to cause damage to public 

roadways or other public works shall not be planted closer than 12 feet to such 

public works, unless the tree root system is completely contained within a 

barrier for which the minimum interior containing dimensions shall be five 

feet square and five feet deep and for which the construction requirements 

shall be four-inch thick concrete reinforced with No. 6 road mesh, six inches 

by six inches by six inches or equivalent.  

(c) The following tree species are considered undesirable due to their growth 

characteristics, and their planting shall be prohibited. No formal authorization 

by the town shall be required for the removal of these species, which include 

trees considered undesirable plant species by either the Town and/or Pinellas 

County (Pinellas County Land Development Code Chapter 166, Article II, § 

166-53): Australian Pine (Casuarina sp.); Bishopwood (Bischofia javanica); 

Brazilian Pepper (Schinus terebinthifolius); Punk Tree (melaleuca 

leucadendra); Ear Tree (Enterolobium cyclocarpum); Laurel Fig (Ficus retusa 

"nitida"); Weeping Fig (Ficus benjamina); Chinese tallow (Sapium 

sebiferum); Silk Oak (Grevillea robusta); Java Plum (Syzgium cumini); 

Carrotwood (Cupaniopsis anacardioides); Eucalyptus (Eucalyptus spp.); and 

Willow trees.  

(2) Shrubs and hedges. Shrubs shall be a minimum of one and one-half feet in height 

when measured immediately after planting. Hedges, where required, shall be of 

species which, when planted at appropriate spacing and properly maintained, will 

form a continuous, unbroken, and solid visual screen within a maximum of two 

years after time of planting. At least 60 percent of the shrubs and hedges planted 

shall be of native or drought-tolerant varieties, including, but not limited to, the 

following species: Century plant (Agave attenuata); Ponytail Palm (Beaucarnea 

recurvata); Bougainvillea spp.; Powderpuff (Calliandra haematocephala); Natal 



 

 

Plum (Carissa grandiflora); Sea Grape (Coccoloba uvifera); Croton (Codiaeum 

variegatum); Ti Plant (Corydyline terminalis); King Sago (Cycas revoluta); 

Dracaena spp.; Silverthorn (Elaegnus pungens); Chinese Juniper (Juniperus 

chinensis); Texas Sage (Leucophyllum frutescens); Oleander (Nerium oleander); 

Dwarf Philodendron (Philodendron "Xanadu"); Indian Hawthorn (Raphiolepis 

indica); Boxthorn (Severina busiflia); White Bird of Paradise (Strelitzia Nicolai); 

Bird of Paradise (Strelitzia reginae); Sandankwa Viburnum (Viburnum 

suspensum); Spineless Yucca (Yucca elephantipes).  

(3) Vines. Vines shall be of native or drought-tolerant species, a minimum of 30 inches 

in height immediately after planting, and may be used in conjunction with fences, 

screens, or walls to meet physical requirements as specified.  

(4) Ground covers. The use of ground covers in lieu of grass, in whole or in part, is 

encouraged in the interest of water conservation. Ground covers shall be planted in 

such a manner as to present a finished appearance and reasonably complete 

coverage within 18 months after planting. At least 60 percent of the ground covers 

shall be of native or drought-tolerant varieties, including, but not limited to, the 

following species: Aloe spp.; Dwarf Carissa (Carissa macrocarpa); Periwinkle 

(Catharanthus roseus); Crown-of-Thorns (Euphorbiamilli); Creeping Fig (Ficus 

repens); Day Lily (hemerocallis spp.); Railroad Vine (Ipomoia pes-cprae); Lily Turf 

(Liriope muscari); Sea Purslane (Sesuvium portulacastrum); Dwarf Confederate 

Jasmine (Trachelospermum asiaticum); Society Garlic (Tulbaghia violacea); Sea 

Oats (Uniola paniculata); Coontie (Zamia floridana).  

(5) Lawn grass. Grass areas shall be planted and grown as permanent lawns using 

varieties that are suitable for the county. Grass may be sodded, plugged, sprigged 

or seeded, except that solid sod shall be used in swales or other areas subject to 

erosion, and provided that, in areas where other than solid sod or grass seed is used, 

nursegrass seed shall be sown for immediate effect and protection until coverage is 

achieved.  

Sec. 90-154. Installation and maintenance. 

A. All landscaping shall be installed in a sound workmanlike manner and according to accepted 

good planting procedures, with the quality of plant materials as herein described. All elements 

of landscaping exclusive of plant material, except hedges, shall be installed so as to meet all 

other applicable ordinances and code requirements. Landscaping shall be maintained in good 

condition so as to present a healthy, neat, and orderly appearance. Lineal and mass planting 

beds shall be mulched with a minimum of two inches of organic mulch (bark, leaves, pine 

needles, etc.) in order to decrease evaporation of moisture from the soil. Plastic surface covers 

shall be prohibited. Landscaped areas are to be irrigated with reclaimed wastewater, if 

available to the site. In order to conserve water, planting areas shall be irrigated by 

automatically timed drip-type systems, only in accordance with county regulations or 

guidelines established by the Southwest Florida Water Management District, whichever may 

be more stringent. In accordance with F.S. § 373.62, any new irrigation system shall be 

equipped with a rain sensor device or switch which will override the automatic cycle of the 

system when adequate rainfall has occurred. Landscaped areas shall be protected from 



 

 

vehicular encroachment (defined as any protrusion of a vehicle outside of a parking space, 

display area, or accessway into a landscaped area) and shall be kept free of refuse and debris. 

The property owner, tenant, and/or agent, if any, shall be jointly and severally responsible for 

the maintenance of all landscaping. The responsibility for maintenance as set forth herein 

shall include the parkways within right-of-way areas outside the property line contiguous to 

the site.  

B. Failure of the owner or tenant of the property to maintain the premises in good condition as 

set forth in subsection A. of this section shall make such owner or tenant liable for the 

penalties for violation of a town ordinance.  

C. On the site of any development requiring site plan approval, where such site abuts a public 

right-of-way, excluding dedicated alleys, a landscaped strip shall be provided along the 

boundary of the site abutting said right-of-way as follows:  

(1) Landscaped strip. A strip of land at least three feet in depth, located along and within 

the boundary of the site abutting said right-of-way, shall be landscaped, such landscaping 

to include one tree for every 35 linear feet or fraction thereof, spaced not less than 30 

feet nor more than 40 feet apart. In addition, a hedge, wall or other durable landscape 

barrier, maintained at least two feet in height, shall be placed along the entire length of 

this linear frontage. If such durable barrier is of nonliving material, for every ten feet 

thereof, one shrub or vine shall be planted abutting such barrier, unless they are of 

sufficient height at the time of planting to be readily visible over the top of such barrier. 

The remainder of the landscape strip shall be improved with grass, ground cover, shrubs 

or other landscape treatment, excluding gravel, paving or sand.  

(2) Other property. All property, other than the required landscaped strip lying along and 

within the boundary of the site abutting the street, shall be landscaped at least with grass 

or other ground cover.  

(3) Necessary accessways. Necessary driveways and other accessways from the public 

right-of-way shall be permitted to service the vehicular use areas, and the widths of such 

accessways may be subtracted from the linear dimensions used to determine the number 

of trees required.  

Sec. 90-155. Perimeter landscaping relating to abutting properties. 

A. On the site of a building or structure or open lot having a vehicular use area, where such area 

will not be entirely screened visually by an intervening building or structure from abutting 

property, that portion of such area not so screened shall be provided with a wall or hedge or 

other durable landscape barrier maintained no greater than six feet in height nor less than 

three and one-half feet in height to form a continuous screen between the common lot line 

and the vehicular use area and such abutting property. Such landscape barrier shall be located 

at any point between the common lot line and the vehicular use area exposed to the abutting 

property, provided the purpose of screening the vehicular use area is accomplished. If such 

barrier consists all or in part of plant materials, such plant material shall be planted in a 

planting strip averaging at least three feet in depth.  

B. In addition, one tree shall be provided for every 50 linear feet of such landscape barrier or 

fractional part thereof, spaced not less than 45 feet nor more than 55 feet apart. Such trees 



 

 

shall be located between the common lot line and the vehicular use area. Each planting area 

shall be landscaped with grass, ground cover or other landscape material, excluding paving 

or sand, in addition to the required tree(s).  

C. Compliance with this section is required in all cases of new construction, change of use or 

expansion of use or structure.  

D. The provisions of this section shall not be applicable in the following situations:  

(1) When a property line abuts a dedicated alley;  

(2) Where a proposed parking area or other vehicular use area abuts an existing hedge, wall 

or other durable landscape barrier on an abutting property, the existing barrier may be 

used to satisfy the landscape barrier requirements of this section, provided that the 

existing barrier meets all applicable standards of this section, and protection against 

vehicular encroachment is provided for hedges;  

(3) Where the abutting property is categorized and used for nonresidential uses, only the tree 

provisions with its planting area as prescribed in this article shall be required. The 

number of trees shall be one tree for every 50 linear feet or fraction thereof, spaced no 

less than 45 feet nor more than 55 feet apart; but all perimeter requirements shall apply 

within the front setback area.  

E. Buffer requirements.  

(1) The purpose and intent of this section is to reduce the impacts of a development on 

adjacent uses which are of a significantly different character.  

(2) A buffer consists of a horizontal distance from a property line which may only be 

occupied by drainage areas, utilities and landscaping materials. The required buffering 

distance between land uses on adjoining lots is set forth in the buffer matrix below. 

Mechanical/air-conditioning equipment, outdoor storage areas and parking areas shall 

not be located within the required buffers.  

(3) Compliance with this section is required in all cases of new construction, change of use 

or expansion of use or structure.  

(4) The following buffer matrix identifies required horizontal distances between adjacent 

property uses.  

Table 90-155-A  

Landscape Buffer Matrix  

Abutting Use 

 Proposed Use  Dwelling, Single  

or Two-Family  

(feet)  

Dwelling,  

Multiple-Family  

(feet)  

Nonresidential  

(feet)  

Dwelling, Single- or Two-Family     

 Dwelling, Multiple-Family  5    15  

Nonresidential  15  10   

 



 

 

Sec. 90-156. Interior landscaping requirements. 

A. An area or a combination of areas equal to eight percent (see section 90-108 G.) of the total 

vehicular use area shall be devoted to interior landscaping. Any perimeter landscaping 

provided in excess of that required may be counted as part of the interior landscaping 

requirement. Landscaping adjacent to a structure or structures on the same parcel of land, 

which serves to beautify the vehicular use area and implements the purpose and intent of this 

article, may be counted toward meeting the interior landscape requirements. The credit may 

not exceed 50 percent of the total required interior landscaping and shall be reviewed by the 

building official for compliance with the purpose and intent of this article.  

B. Such landscaped areas shall be located in such a manner so as to divide and break up the 

monotony and expanse of paving, to prevent and discourage cross taxiing and to provide well-

dispersed tree canopy shading. A combination of the following interior landscaping elements 

shall be counted as part of the interior landscaping requirements, where applicable:  

(1) Terminal islands. Contiguous rows of 15 or more parking spaces shall be terminated on 

both ends by landscaped islands which measure an average of not less than five feet in 

width and extend the entire length of the parking space(s). At least one deciduous tree, 

palm, or grouping, as per section 90-153 B.(1), shall be planted on such island.  

(2) Interior islands. Interior landscaped islands which measure an average of not less than 

five feet in width and extend the length of a parking space shall be placed within rows 

of contiguous parking spaces so that there is at least one interior island for every 18 

parking spaces or major portion thereof within the row. These islands shall be placed at 

intervals of not less than six spaces nor more than 18 spaces. At least one deciduous tree 

or grouping, as per section 90-153 B.(1), shall be planted on every interior island. Interior 

islands need not be placed directly opposite each other when in abutting parking rows.  

(3) Additional interior landscaping requirements. 

(a) Trees. There shall be a minimum of one tree, planted for each separate planter 

installed in the vehicular use area, but the total number of trees shall not be less than 

one for each 200 square feet, or fraction thereof, of required interior landscaped 

area.  

(b) Perimeter landscaping. In vehicular use areas where the strict application of this 

section will seriously limit the function of such area, the required landscaping may 

be located near the perimeter of the paved area, including such perimeters which 

may be adjacent to a building on the site. Such required interior landscaping which 

is relocated as herein provided shall be in addition to the perimeter landscaping 

requirements.  

(c) Vehicle encroachment; wheel stops. The front of a vehicle may encroach upon any 

interior landscaped area when such area is at least three and one-half feet in depth 

per abutting parking space and protected by wheel stops that are anchored and 

placed within the confines of a parking area or curbing. Two feet of such interior 

landscaped area may be part of the required depth of each abutting parking space.  



 

 

Sec. 90-157. Sight visibility at intersections. 

A. General standards. Sight visibility triangles are designated areas located near streets and/or 

driveway intersections that shall be free from visual obstruction in order to maintain safe 

visibility for vehicles, bicyclists, and pedestrians. All property shall maintain sight visibility 

triangles as described in this section.  

(1) Sight visibility triangles shall be provided on all corners at the intersection of any public 

or private street with another street, an alley or a driveway; and, on all corners of the 

intersection of an alley and driveway.  

(2) Within sight visibility triangles, unobstructed sight lines and cross visibility shall be 

maintained between a height of two and one-half feet and eight feet.  

(3) No structure, object, and/or vegetation shall be placed and/or maintained in a manner 

which materially impedes the visibility from a street, alley or driveway of lawfully 

oncoming traffic from any direction in the intersecting public street.  

B. Sight visibility triangle areas. The required sight visibility triangle area is based on the type 

of intersection and specified below.  

(1) Intersection of two streets. The sight visibility triangle is formed with two sides being 

25 feet in length along the abutting street pavement (illustrated by the letter "B" on the 

diagram below), measured from their point of intersection, illustrated by the letter "A" 

in the diagram below, and the third side being a line connecting the ends of the other two 

sides, illustrated by the letter "C" in the diagram below.  

 

Figure 1 — Sight visibility triangle at the intersection of two streets. 

 

(2) Intersection of an alley and a street, a street and a driveway, and/or alley and a driveway. 

The triangle is formed on both sides of the alley and driveway with two sides of each 

triangle being ten feet in length along the abutting street pavement, measured from their 

point of intersection, illustrated by the letter "A" on diagram below, and the third side 

being a line connecting the ends of the other two sides, illustrated by the letter "C" on 

the diagram below.  



 

 

 

Figure 2 — Sight visibility triangle at the intersection of a street and alley or driveway; OR alley and driveway.  

 

(3) For all of the above cases, in the case of rounded corners and corner chords, the point at 

which the street/driveway/alley pavement would meet, if extended without such 

rounding, will be used as the point of intersection, as illustrated by the letters "A" and 

"B" in the diagram below.  

 

Figure 3 — Sight visibility triangle calculation with corner chords. 

 

C. Exemptions. The following exemptions may apply to sight visibility standards.  

(1) Governmental signage and governmental sign posts in the right-of-way.  

(2) Fire hydrants, benches, and traffic control devices in the right-of-way.  

(3) Utility poles and one utility transmission or control device in the right-of-way.  

(Ord. No. 20-03, § 1, 7-8-2020) 

Sec. 90-158. Existing plant material. 

In instances where healthy native plant material exists on a site prior to its development, in 

part or in whole, for the purposes of off-street parking or other vehicular use areas, the application 

of the above landscape standards may be adjusted to allow credit for such plant material if such an 



 

 

adjustment is in keeping with and will preserve the intent of this article. In no event will exotic 

species such as Australian pine, Bishopwood, Brazilian pepper, punk tree, ear tree, laurel fig, 

weeping fig, eucalyptus and willow trees be considered for credit.  

Sec. 90-159. Existing developed vehicular use areas. 

A. Existing developed vehicular use areas not meeting the requirements contained in this article 

shall be brought into full compliance under one or more of the following conditions:  

(1) If expansion of 30 percent or more of an existing vehicular use area requires the 

installation of additional parking spaces.  

(2) If an existing vehicular use area is improved or remodeled in a value of 30 percent or 

more of the valuation of the existing use as reflected on the property appraiser's current 

records.  

(3) If an existing structure is improved or remodeled in a value of 50 percent or more of the 

valuation of the existing structure as reflected on the property appraiser's current records.  

(4) If an existing structure is increased in covered floor area by 20 percent or greater.  

(5) If an amendment is required to an existing final site plan.  

B. However, in the event that such compliance would prohibit required parking areas from 

meeting the minimum off-street parking requirements, as set forth in other sections of this 

Code, then the requirements of this section may be adjusted, first modifying the requirements 

of the interior landscaping requirements portion and, if minimum off-street parking 

requirements still cannot be met, then modifying the requirements of the perimeter 

landscaping portion.  

C. The requirements for the responsibility of the owner, tenant or agent for the maintenance of 

parkway and right-of-way outside the property line contiguous to the site, as set forth herein, 

shall become immediately effective and applicable to all existing developed properties upon 

passage of this article.  

Sec. 90-160. Marine vegetation. 

Nonseawalled intracoastal waterways lacking wetland vegetation should be planted with 

native marine vegetation in order to minimize potential flood damage, stabilize the shoreline and 

trap sediments and other nonpoint source pollutants, and provide additional habitat for fish and 

wildlife.  

Sec. 90-161. Reserved. 

ARTICLE XXXI. TREES 

Sec. 90-162. Reserved. 

Sec. 90-163. Exceptions to tree planting requirements. 

A. Nuisance trees. 



 

 

(1) The following types of trees shall be exempt from the tree protection requirements of 

this Code:  

(a) Australian pine.  

(b) Bishopwood.  

(c) Brazilian pepper.  

(d) Punk tree.  

(e) Ear tree.  

(f) Laurel fig.  

(g) Weeping fig.  

(h) Eucalyptus.  

(i) Willow.  

(2) In addition, the planting of the above listed species is specifically prohibited.  

B. Utility operations. Tree removals by duly constituted communication, water, sewer, electrical 

or other utility companies or federal, state or county agencies, or engineers or surveyors 

working under a contract with such utility companies or agencies, shall be exempt, provided 

the removal is limited to those areas necessary for maintenance of existing lines or facilities 

or for construction of new lines or facilities in furtherance of providing utility service to its 

customers; and provided further that the activity is conducted so as to avoid any unnecessary 

removal and, in the case of aerial electrical utility lines, is not greater than that specified by 

the National Electrical Code as necessary to achieve safe electrical clearances.  

C. Florida Department of Transportation. The Florida Department of Transportation shall be 

exempt from the provisions of this article.  

D. Surveyors. A state-licensed land surveyor, in the performance of his duties, is exempt, 

provided such alteration is limited to a swath three feet or less in width.  

E. Commercial growers. All commercial nurseries, botanical gardens, tree farms and grove 

operations shall be exempt from the provisions of this article, but only as to those trees which 

were planted for silvicultural or agricultural purposes or for the sale or intended sale in the 

ordinary course of business.  

F. Emergencies. During emergencies caused by a hurricane or other disaster, the building 

official may temporarily suspend these tree protection regulations.  

Sec. 90-164. Reserved. 

Sec. 90-165. Removal of trees. 

A. Special conditions for authorization to remove native and/or protected trees. 

(1) It is the intent of this section to minimize the removal of native and/or protected trees, 

and no authorization shall be granted to remove a tree if the developer has failed to take 

reasonable measures to design and locate the proposed improvements so that the least 



 

 

number of native and/or protected trees will be removed. In particular, the design must 

attempt to preserve specimen and historic trees.  

(2) No authorization for the removal of a native and/or protected tree shall be granted unless 

the developer demonstrates that one or more of the following conditions exists:  

(a) A permissible use of the site cannot reasonably be undertaken unless specific trees 

are removed or relocated.  

(b) The tree is located in such proximity to an existing or proposed structure that the 

safety, utility or structural integrity of the structure is materially impaired.  

(c) The tree materially interferes with the location, servicing or functioning of existing 

utility lines or services.  

(d) The tree creates a substantial hazard to motor, bicycle or pedestrian traffic due to 

physical proximity to traffic or impairment of vision.  

(e) The tree is diseased or weakened by age, abuse, storm or fire and is likely to cause 

injury or damage to people, buildings or other improvements.  

(f) Any law or regulation requires the removal.  

(3) Authorization required. No native or otherwise protected tree (two-inch diameter at 

breast height or larger) shall be removed without prior authorization by the town. The 

Building Official or his/her designee shall have the authority to issue tree removal 

permits, subject to the provisions of Subsection B of this section.  

B. Replacement of removed trees. 

(1) Trees removed pursuant to subsection A. of this section shall be replaced at the expense 

of the developer.  

(2) For each inch of diameter at breast height removed, an inch of diameter at breast height 

shall be replaced. (Example: If a 12-inch DBH tree is removed, four three-inch DBH 

trees may be used to replace it.)  

(3) A replacement tree may be a tree moved from one location to another on the site, or 

moved off the site pursuant to subsection B. of this section.  

(4) Replacement trees shall, if practicable, be planted on the development site. If on-site 

replacement is not practicable, replacement trees may be donated, or a fee-in-lieu may 

be paid to the town for the purpose of planting trees on public property. The fee-in-lieu 

shall be based on the cost of purchasing the requisite size and number of replacement 

trees.  

C. Historic and specimen trees. 

(1) An historic tree is one that has been designated by the town commission as one of notable 

historical interest and value to the town because of its location or historical association 

with the town community. A public hearing shall be held by the town commission on 

the designation, with due notice to the owner of the tree.  

(2) A specimen tree is one that has been officially designated by the town commission to be 

of high value because of its type, size, age, or other relevant criteria. A public hearing 



 

 

on the designation shall be held by the town commission, with due notice to the owner 

of the tree.  

(3) No historic or specimen tree shall be removed without a finding by the town commission 

that the tree is a hazard or that it is not economically or practically feasible to develop 

the parcel without removing the historic or specimen tree. The town building official 

shall make a presentation to the commission on the application and make a 

recommendation as to whether it should be approved or denied. The decision by the town 

commission on the application shall be made within 30 days of the date the application 

was filed.  

Sec. 90-166. Protection of trees during development activities. 

A. Generally. 

(1) To assure the health and survival of protected trees that are not to be removed, the 

developer shall avoid the following kinds of tree injuries during all development 

activities:  

(a) Mechanical injuries to roots, trunk and branches;  

(b) Injuries by chemical poisoning;  

(c) Injuries by grade changes;  

(d) Injuries by excavations; and  

(e) Injuries by paving.  

(2) At a minimum, the protective measures described in Subsections B through F of this 

section shall be taken where appropriate to the development activity.  

B. Avoiding mechanical injuries. 

(1) Prior to any land preparation or other development activities, a protective barrier easily 

visible to equipment operators shall be placed around all protected trees so as to 

encompass the entire tree protection zone. See Figure 90-166-A.  

(2) No attachment, wires (other than supportive wires), signs or permits may be fastened to 

any protected tree.  

(3) No equipment, construction materials or debris of any kind shall be placed within the 

protective barrier.  

(4) Landscaping activities within the bounds of the protective barrier (before and after it is 

removed) shall be accomplished with light machinery or manual labor. Grubbing and 

similar activities are prohibited.  

(5) In lieu of constructing the barriers required in subsection B.(1) of this section, the 

developer may physically designate large areas containing protected trees where no land 

preparation or other development activities of any kind will occur. The area shall be 

designated by placing stakes a maximum of 25 feet apart and tying ribbon, plastic tape, 

rope, etc., from stake to stake along the outside perimeter of the area. This perimeter line 

shall be beyond the tree protection zone of any protected trees growing within the area.  



 

 

(6) Required protective barriers and perimeter lines shall remain in place until all 

construction activity, except landscaping within the protected area, is terminated.  

 

Figure 90-166-A Protective Tree Barricade 

 

 

C. Avoiding injuries due to chemical poisoning. 

(1) No fuel, paint, solvent, oil, thinner, asphalt, cement, grout or any other construction 

chemical or other material or tools of any kind shall be stored, or allowed in any manner 

to enter, within a required protective barrier or perimeter line.  

(2) No equipment shall be cleaned within a required protective barrier or perimeter line.  

D. Avoiding injuries due to grade changes. Grade changes shall not be made within the tree 

protection zone unless the following protective measures are taken:  

(1) Raising the grade. When raising the grade, the following measures shall be taken:  

(a) Within the tree protection zone, existing sod, vegetation and leaf litter shall be 

removed and the soil loosened without injuring the roots.  

(b) The area within the tree protection zone shall be properly fertilized to improve the 

vigor and growth of the roots.  

(c) Porous, four-inch agriculture drain shall be laid over the soil to drain liquids away 

from the trunk. A drop of at least one-eighth inch per foot shall be provided. The 

drain field shall be designed to provide adequate drainage of the existing 

configuration of the trees.  

(d) The number of drains shall depend upon soil material; lighter sandy soils and porous 

gravelly material require fewer drains than heavy nonporous soils.  

(e) Aeration shall be provided by installing vertical tiles along the system. The vertical 

tiles shall be filled with gravel and capped with a heavy-duty mesh to keep out trash 

and debris.  

(f) Dry wells shall be large enough to allow for maximum growth of the tree trunk. 

Most large shade trees require at least a 60-inch diameter well. For slow-growing 



 

 

mature trees, a space of 12 inches to 18 inches shall be provided between the trunk 

and the side of the well at every point.  

(g) To prevent washing of material into the well, the dry well casing walls shall be high 

enough to bring the coping just above the level of the proposed fill.  

(h) Dry well walls shall be constructed of materials that permit passage of air and water. 

Concrete blocks backed with galvanized screening may be used for the sides of the 

well.  

(i) Gratings or barriers shall be used around openings that are large enough to present 

a hazard to pedestrians.  

(j) Open wells shall be cleaned regularly to remove sediment, leaves, and debris that 

might interfere with the free passage of air.  

(k) Large stones shall be placed over the drainage tiles, and a layer of smaller stones 

shall be placed over the remainder of the ground within the drip line.  

(l) A layer of gravel shall be placed over the stones.  

(m) The fill shall be completed with a layer of porous soil. See Figures 2-B, 2-C, 2-D.*7 

(2) Lowering the grade. When lowering the grade, the following measures shall be taken:  

(a) Roots shall be cut cleanly and retrimmed after excavation.  

(b) The canopy shall be pruned to aid in maintaining tree vigor.  

(c) When lowering the grade of the soil surrounding a protected tree, the maximum 

number of tree roots within the tree protection zone shall be preserved by using any 

of the following methods:  

[1] Terracing. The area within the tree protection zone is left at the original grade 

by terracing.  

[2] Retaining wall. The area within the tree protection zone is left at the original 

grade constructing a dry retaining wall. The retaining wall shall be porous to 

allow for aeration.  

[3] Terracing and retaining wall. The area within the tree protection zone is left 

at the original grade by the combined use of terracing and dry retaining wall. 

See Figure 90-166-B.  

(3) Minor changes in grade. When the change in grade is minor, as determined by the 

building official, lesser protective measures than those described in subsection D.(1) and 

D.(2) of this section may be taken. The building official shall approve the use of these 

methods where their use will not endanger the health of the protected tree.  

 

 

7*Editor's Note: Figures 2-B, 2-C and 2-D are included at the end of this chapter.  



 

 

Figure 90-166-B Grade Changes Near Existing Trees 

 

 

E. Avoiding injuries due to excavations. 

(1) Water, sewer, and other utility lines should be routed around the tree protection zones of 

protected trees.  

(2) If a line cannot reasonably be routed around the tree protection zone, the line shall be 

tunneled beneath the area within the zone. The tunnel shall be offset to one side of the 

trunk to prevent damage to the main taproots.  

F. Avoiding injury by paving within the drip line. Porous paving may be placed within the tree 

protection zone of a protected tree, so long as no damage is inflicted to the tree by grade 

change, compaction of the soil, or any other cause.  

Sec. 90-167. Special provisions for protection of mangroves. 

A. Generally. In addition to the foregoing tree protection requirements, the following special 

provisions shall apply to the removal or alteration of mangroves and other vegetation from 

wetland areas, as defined in F.S. § 373.019, and Rule 62-340.200, F.A.C. These standards 

shall apply to all property owners, including single-family, duplex, and multifamily 

homeowners.  

B. Replacement. Mangroves and wetland vegetation may not be removed unless the developer 

replaces or relocates on the same development site at least an equal number of mangroves 

and sufficient other wetland vegetation to revegetate a land area equal to or greater than the 

land area from which mangroves/wetland vegetation was removed. The developer shall 

provide a plan, to be approved by the Building Official, to ensure the survival of the replaced 

or relocated mangroves and wetland vegetation, and to stabilize the shoreline from which 

mangroves/wetland vegetation was removed. The approved plan shall be an express condition 

of any permit. Failure to carry out any provision of the plan shall be a violation of this Code.  

C. Other protective measures. The following protective measures shall apply to all mangroves 

and/or wetland vegetation:  

(1) A permit shall be obtained from the State Department of Environmental Protection 

(DEP) for any alteration of mangroves or wetland vegetation in jurisdictional waters.  



 

 

(2) A permit shall be obtained from the Pinellas County Environmental Management 

Department for any alteration of mangroves or wetland vegetation that may be exempt 

from DEP permit requirements.  

(3) The alteration of mangroves shall be subject to the provisions of F.S. §§ 403.9321 

through 403.9333, ("Mangrove Trimming and Preservation Act"), and any additional 

standards contained in Chapter 166, Article II, Division 3, of the Pinellas County Land 

Development Code.  

Sec. 90-168. Automatic waiver. 

The terms and provisions of this sections 90-165 through 90-167 may automatically be 

waived by the administration as follows:  

A. No-tree verification. Upon submission of a notarized statement by the owner or his agent 

that no trees as defined within the province of this article exist upon the site, the 

administration, after a verification visit to the site, may waive the requirements and 

provisions of sections 90-165 through 90-167.  

B. No-effect verification. Upon submission of a notarized statement by the owner or his 

agent that the proposed improvements or development involves less than ten percent of 

the total site and that no trees as defined within the province of this article will in any 

manner be affected, the administration, after a verification visit to the site, may waive 

the requirements and provisions of sections 90-165 through 90-167.  

Sec. 90-169. Reserved. 

ARTICLE XXVII. TITLE, PURPOSE AND APPLICABILITY 

Sec. 90-151. Short title. 

This part 3 shall be known as the "Town of Redington Shores Zoning Ordinance."  

Sec. 90-152. Purpose and interpretation. 

A. The purposes of these regulations are to reduce congestion and prevent overcrowding of the 

land; to secure safety from fire, flood and other danger; to promote health and the general 

welfare; to provide adequate light and air; to avoid undue concentration of population in order 

to facilitate the adequate provision of transportation, water, sewage, schools, parks and other 

public requirements; to conserve the value of the property and the natural environment; and 

to encourage the most appropriate use of the land within the area delineated on the official 

zoning map. Such regulations shall be consistent with Chapter 26164, Laws of Florida, 

Special Acts, 1949, and as amended by Chapter 57-1730, Laws of Florida, Special Acts, 1957, 

all in accordance with a Comprehensive Plan developed pursuant to the Florida Local 

Government Community Planning Act, Chapter 2011-139, Laws of Florida.   

B. In interpreting and applying the provisions of this part 3, they shall be held to be those which 

are reasonable for the promotion of the public safety, health, convenience, comfort, morals, 

prosperity and general welfare.  

Commented [NM13]: Sec. 90-151 thru 90-179 were Sec. 
90-88 thru 90-131 in old Part 2 



 

 

C. It is not intended by this part 3 to interfere with or abrogate or annul any ordinance, rules, 

regulations or permits previously adopted or issued pursuant to law relating to the use of 

buildings or premises and likewise not in conflict with this part 3, nor is it intended by this 

part 3 to interfere with or abrogate or annul any easements, covenants or other agreement 

between parties, except that if this part 3 imposes a greater restriction, this part 3 shall control.  

Sec. 90-153. Applicability. 

A. No building, structure or land shall be used or occupied and no building or part thereof shall 

be erected, moved or structurally altered unless in conformity with the regulations of this part 

3. However, the regulations of this part 3 shall not require any change to any building, 

structure or use legally existing at the effective date of this part 3 or any addition thereto 

except as regards nonconforming uses as provided for in section 90-175, provided that such 

use shall be in compliance with other public safety provisions of the Code of the town as to 

setbacks, off-street parking and Federal Flood Insurance Program hazard-reduction factors.  

B. Neither this part 3 nor any provision thereof shall apply to the use or construction by the town, 

of or upon lands or interest therein owned by said town or lands, parks, easements, rights-of-

way, streets, alleys and thoroughfares dedicated or held for municipal purposes.  

Sec. 90-154. Codification. 

It is the intention of the town board of commissioners that the provisions of this part 3 shall 

become and be made a part of the town Code, and the publisher of the town Code is hereby 

authorized to appropriately renumber or otherwise designate the provisions of this part 3 to 

accomplish proper inclusion into the existing Code.  

ARTICLE XXVIII. ESTABLISHMENT OF ZONING DISTRICTS 

Sec. 90-155. Districts enumerated. 

In order to classify, regulate and restrict the location of trades, industries and the location of 

buildings designed for specified uses, to regulate and limit the intensity of the use of lots and to 

regulate and determine the area of yards, courts and other open spaces surrounding buildings, the 

town is hereby divided into districts, of which there shall be 11 in number, known as:  

 RS-7  Low-density residential  

RS-10  Medium/low-density residential  

RD-15  Medium-density duplex residential  

RM-15  Medium/high-density multiresidential  

ROR-15  Residential/office/retail  

CTF  Commercial tourist facilities  

C-NR  General commercial  

PUD  Planned unit development  

PP  Outdoor recreation/public open space  

PI  Public/semipublic institutional  

GBO  Gulf Boulevard Overlay  

 



 

 

Sec. 90-156. Correlation of zoning districts and future land use plan categories. 

The table below shows the correlation between the town's zoning districts and future land use 

plan categories. The Gulf Boulevard Overlay District is not represented, as it is an overlay district 

addressing design standards and its boundaries are established in Figure 90-170-A [in section 90-

170 A].  

 Future Land Use  

Plan Categories  

Zoning Districts  

RS-7  RS-

10  

RD-

15  

RM-

15  

ROR-

15  

CTF  C-

NR  

PUD  PP  PI  

Residential Urban 

(RU)  

X         X    

 Residential Low 

Medium (RLM)  

  X        X    

 Residential Medium 

(RM)  

   X       X    

 Residential High 

(RH)  

    X      X  X  

 Commercial General 

(CG)  

       X  X    

 Resort Facilities 

Medium (RFM)  

      X    X    

 Residential/ Office/ 

Retail (R/O/R)  

     X     X    

 Institutional (I)          X    X  

Transportation/Utility 

(T/U)  

          X  

Recreation/Open 

Space (R/OS)  

         X   

 Preservation (P)            

 

X = Zoning district is consistent with the future land use plan category.  

Blank = Zoning district is not consistent with the future land use plan category.  

Sec. 90-157. Zoning map. 

The locations and boundaries of these districts are established as shown on the current Zoning 

Map of the town. The zoning map is hereby made a part of this part 3. The zoning map shall be 

identified by the signature of the mayor-commissioner, attested by the town clerk and bear the seal 

of the town. The official zoning map shall be maintained on display in the Town Hall.  

Sec. 90-158. Interpretation of boundaries. 

If uncertainty exists as to the boundary of any district shown on the Zoning Map, the Planning 

and Zoning Board shall determine the location of such boundaries. Generally, district boundaries 

are either streets, alleys or lot lines unless otherwise shown.  

ARTICLE XXIX. DISTRICT USE REGULATIONS 



 

 

Sec. 90-159. General provisions. 

A. Except as hereinafter provided, no building shall be erected, converted, enlarged, 

reconstructed or structurally altered nor shall any building or land be used which does not 

comply with all of the district regulations established by this part 3 for the district in which 

the building or land is located. No mobile home parks (trailer parks) shall be permitted in the 

town.  

B. Open swimming pools, hot tubs/spas (no walls, posts, or roof either screen or other) less than 

18 inches above the adjacent grade shall maintain a minimum ten-foot setback from the rear 

property line and a minimum six-foot setback from the side property line in all zoning 

districts. Open swimming pools, hot tubs/spas 18 inches or higher above the adjacent grade 

and all covered swimming pools (walls, posts, or roof either screen or other) shall be subject 

to the building setbacks of the zoning district in which they are proposed. The provisions of 

this subsection do not apply to properties with seawall frontage.  

C. No buildings or other structures, including swimming pools, shall be built nearer than 20 feet 

to a seawall; provided, however, that where a lot has a depth of less than 100 feet, the building 

or other facility may be constructed not nearer than a distance equal to 20 percent of the depth 

of the lot, but in no case less than 15 feet, in order that tieback access be protected. As an 

alternative to the above with regard to seawall tiebacks, a swimming pool may be constructed 

nearer to the seawall if the seawall cap is replaced with a new cap designed and certified to 

be adequate by a licensed Florida structural/civil engineer, at least two feet high, minimum, 

by a width to be designed and certified to be adequate by a licensed Florida structural/civil 

engineer, with adequate reinforcing and tiebacks flanking the swimming pool with adequate 

tieback anchors. The beam of such seawall cap shall be not less than the length of the 

swimming pool plus three feet on each side. In this instance, a swimming pool may be 

constructed within six feet from the water's edge of the pool to the water's side face of the 

seawall cap.  

D. On property fronting on the Gulf of Mexico, no seawall shall be constructed seaward of the 

coastal construction control line; no bearing wall shall be constructed less than 25 feet 

landward of that line; and no buildings or other accessory structures, including swimming 

pools, shall be constructed less than 18 feet landward of that line.  

E. Open and accessory structures. 

 (1) Every part of a required yard shall be open to the sky unobstructed except for accessory 

buildings in the rear or side yard and except for the ordinary projections such as skylights, 

sills, belt courses, cornices and ornamental fixtures projecting not to exceed 24 inches. This 

requirement shall not prevent construction of fences, ornamental coping design or ornamental 

shrubbery within landscape buffers and fencing guidelines. Roof overhangs in front and rear 

yards may extend up to 36 inches. 

 (2) Any accessory structure shall observe the setback regulations for the district in 

which it is located. An accessory structure shall not include cooking facilities, and no cooking 

or other preparation of food shall be allowed in an accessory structure. 

 (3) No accessory sheds, utility buildings, or lockers, etc. shall exceed ten feet, 

measured from grade to the highest point of the structure. 



 

 

 (4) No accessory structure of any type, including decks that are attached to the principal 

structure, are permitted to be built on the top of the roof of single family or duplex structure 

that leaves the undercarriage of the structure exposed. For the purpose of this subparagraph, 

a roof shall be defined as the element of a building that covers the top of a building as a wall 

covers the side of the building.  

 Exceptions: 

(a) Accessory structures such as roof decks are permitted, providing the construction of the 

deck is in such a manner that the undercarriage of the structure is concealed with an 

exterior wall structure that maintains the continuity of the existing structure and meets all 

applicable building codes. 

(b) Other decks attached to the sides of a structure that meet all side, front and rear setbacks 

and meet all applicable building codes with an exposed undercarriage. 

(c) All plans for any such deck or structure are subject to site plan review. 

F.  Wood-constructed, masonry or metal prefabricated utility rooms, sheds or lockers, etc., may be 

constructed within the confines of a carport or in storage areas under elevated principal structures 

where it is possible to place such items in those locations. Where such placement is not possible, 

they may be constructed as extensions of a principal structure or as a separate accessory structure. 

They shall be constructed in accordance with the following requirements: 

 (1) Metal, wood or masonry sheds may be constructed near the front line of the principal 

structure. All utility rooms or sheds erected or constructed in accordance with this subsection shall 

be placed and anchored on a concreate slab not less than three and one-half inches thick or be 

firmly fastened to the ground with no fewer than four anchors of the screw-auger type, having a 

five-eighths-inch shaft, six inches in diameter and four feet long minimum, or the arrowhead type, 

deadman type or equivalent with a horizontal area of at least 28 square inches, not less than 38 

inches below the surface of the ground. Any wooden beams or other wood that protrudes into or 

is adjacent to any ground or concrete shall be pressure-treated.  

 (2) All utility rooms, etc., shall be placed in conformity to setback regulations for accessory 

structures, except that five-foot -minimum side setbacks may be reduced to two feet when such 

structures must be placed within such setbacks. No such structures shall exceed 100 square feet in 

area. This section shall not be constructed to allow any storage shed, etc., to be placed within any 

existing setback from any seawall.  

G.  Corner lots may be considered to have two front yards. Yard standards less than the guidelines 

may be approved if there is a finding that the proposed yards are in harmony with the 

neighborhood, comprise the most appropriate use of the land and, furthermore, that the yard 

reduction serves the greater public interest. Accessory structures may be located in yards based 

upon the standards of section 90-159.E.(2). 

H.  Setback for Structures. Setbacks shall be measured from the adjacent property line to the outer 

face of the vertical wall or supporting post nearest and generally parallel to the property line. 

I.  The following structures and items are permitted in the setback area: 

 (1) Equipment associated with new construction or substantial improvements or equipment 

replacements/upgrades must be a minimum of one foot away from the building, or as specified in 

the Florida Building Code, but must end at least three feet from the property line. 



 

 

 (2) Stairs associated with new construction or substantial improvements that provide access 

to the lowest residential floor shall encroach no further than 48 inches into the front and rear 

setback area. Such stairs shall encroach no further than 24 inches into the side setback area.  

 (3) Mechanical equipment serving the lowest residential floor shall be placed in conformity 

to setback regulations, except that five-foot-minimum side setbacks may be reduced to two feet 

when such structures must be placed within such setbacks. If screening is placed around equipment 

installed six feet from grade the screening may exceed the allowable height limitations provided 

the height is the minimum required to screen from view the full height of the equipment and the 

projection into the required yard is the minimum encroachment necessary to satisfy any published 

manufacturer’s specifications. Elevated mechanical equipment may be placed on separate 

platforms which shall only be used for locating, accessing, or screening of such equipment. 

(4) Poles, radio and television antennas (not including satellite disks over 24 inches in 

diameter) mounted on the roof or to the side of the structure near the roofline.  

 (5) Children’s play equipment. 

 (6) Utility wires, lights and mailboxes are exempt from setback requirements. 

 (7) Bay or blow windows may protrude from the structure no more than 24 inches into the 

required setbacks and shall not be considered an encroachment. Bay or bow windows within a 

setback area shall not exceed eight feet in width and shall be a minimum of 18 inches above the 

finished habitable floor level. There shall be no more than one exempt bay window in any 

horizontal lineal 25 feet of exterior wall.  

 (8) Decorative trim of not more than 12 inches thick shall be exempt from setback 

requirements. 

 (9) Roof overhangs extending from the main roof system shall not project more than 36 

inches into a setback area but cannot extend into the setback area closer than three feet (36 inches) 

to the adjacent property line.  

 (10) Entry door stoop roof overhangs provided solely for protection of the entry doors from 

rain exposure shall not project more than 36 inches into a setback area and shall be supported by 

cantilevered beams, corbels, or brackets.  

 (11) Building footings, foundations or similar structures, provided such structures shall not 

project more than 36 inches into any setback and do not encroach across adjacent property lines or 

result in the creation of or diversion of stormwater runoff that adversely affects adjacent properties.  

J.  Fences. 

 (1) Fences shall be subject to the construction standards of Chapter 63, Article II of the 

Code of Ordinances.  

K. The word "density," when used in this part 3, is an expression of the permitted number of 

structural units (dwelling/hotel/motel/lodging house) per net acre, as herein defined, and is 

expressed as units per acre or "u/a." The total number of units permitted on a lot or tract shall be 

calculated by multiplying the allowed density by the net acreage, as herein defined, of the lot or 

tract. Less than whole numbers of total permitted units shall in all cases be rounded off to the next 

lower whole number. The exception is in the RD-15 land use district only, if a lot has an existing 

single-family dwelling, the lot may be developed for a duplex containing two living units, provided 

Commented [NM14]: Added by Planner after P&Z’s last 
review. P&Z did not want to allow for screening of 
equipment.  



 

 

other dimensional lot requirements are met, in order to provide uniformity throughout the land use 

district. Under no circumstances shall the exception herein stated be deemed to permit more than 

three units on any combined two lots.  

L All land use and land development shall be in accordance with the town's comprehensive 

plan, the countywide comprehensive plan and rules and these regulations. Where these 

regulations differ from the town's comprehensive plan or the countywide comprehensive plan 

and rules, the more restrictive of the two shall be applied.  

M. Spot zoning is not desirable and should be discouraged.  

Sec. 90-160. RS-7 low-density residential district. 

The following regulations shall apply in the RS-7 low-density residential district:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Single-family detached dwellings.  

(2) Municipally owned or operated parks and playgrounds.  

(3) Accessory structures.  

B. Special uses requiring a permit shall be as follows:  

(1) Home-based businesses.  

C. Transient rentals, as defined by the Code, are specifically prohibited in the RS-7 district.  

D. Minimum lot dimensions.  

(1) Minimum lot dimensions shall be as follows:  

 Type  Lot Area of 3,500 to 4,999 Square 

Feet  

Lot Area of 5,000 or More Square 

Feet  

Lot width  45 feet  50 feet  

Lot depth  75 feet  90 feet  

Front yard  20 feet  20 feet  

Side yard  5 feet  5 feet  

Rear yard  15 feet  20 feet*  

Height  2½ stories, not to exceed  2½ stories, not to exceed  

  30 feet  30 feet  

Lot coverage  45%  45%  

Pervious surface  30%  30%  

*NOTE: Where a lot has a depth of less than 100 feet, then a building or other structure may be constructed not 

nearer to the rear lot line or inside of the seawall than a distance equal to 20% of the depth of the lot, and in no 

case nearer than 15 feet to said rear lot line or inside of the seawall, whichever is closer.  

 

(2) Every lot shall have an area of not less than 5,808 square feet, except that if a lot 

has less area than herein required and the plat thereof was of record at the time of 

passing of this part 3, such lot may be used for a single-family dwelling.  

(3) Maximum building height shall be two and one-half stories, not to exceed 30 feet.  

E. Minimum living area shall be as follows:  



 

 

(1) First floor: 1,000 square feet.  

(2) Second floor: 500 square feet.  

F. Maximum density. A maximum of seven and one-half residential dwelling units per 

acre are permitted within this district.  

G. Government/public service uses shall not exceed a maximum area of three acres. Such 

uses or contiguous like uses in excess of this threshold shall require the parcel to be 

amended to the PI zoning district and to the appropriate comprehensive plan category.  

 

Sec. 90-161. RS-10 medium/low-density residential district. 

The following regulations shall apply in the RS-10 medium/low-density residential district:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Single-family dwellings.  

(2) Municipally owned or operated parks and playgrounds.  

(3) Accessory structures.  

B. Special uses requiring a permit shall be as follows:  

(1) Home-based businesses.  

C. Transient rentals, as defined by the Code, are specifically prohibited in the RS-10 

district.  

D. Minimum lot dimensions.  

(1) Minimum lot dimensions shall be as follows:  

 Type  Lot Area of 3,500 to 4,000 
Square Feet  

Lot Area of 4,001 to 4,999 
Square Feet  

Lot Area of 5,000 or More 
Square Feet  

Lot width  40 feet  45 feet  50 feet  

Lot depth  50 feet  75 feet  90 feet  

Front yard  15 feet  20 feet  20 feet  

Side yard  5 feet  5 feet  5 feet  

Rear yard  10 feet  15 feet  20 feet*  

Height  2½ stories, not to  
exceed 30 feet  

2½ stories, not to  
exceed 30 feet  

2½ stories, not to  
exceed 30 feet  

Lot coverage  45%  45%  45%  

Pervious surface  30%  30%  30%  

*NOTE: Where a lot has a depth of less than 100 feet, then a building or other structure may be constructed not 
nearer to the rear lot line or inside of the seawall than a distance equal to 20% of the depth of the lot, and in no 
case nearer than 15 feet to said rear lot line or inside of the seawall, whichever is closer.  

 

(2) Every lot shall have an area of not less than 4,356 square feet, except that if a lot 

has less area than herein required and the plat thereof was of record at the time of 

passing of this part 3, such lot may be permitted, if variance is warranted, a single-

family dwelling. 



 

 

(3) Maximum building height shall be two and one-half stories, not to exceed 30 feet.  

E. Minimum living area shall be as follows:  

(1) First floor: 1,000 square feet.  

(2) Second floor: 500 square feet.  

F. Maximum density. A maximum of 10.0 residential dwelling units per acre are permitted 

within this district.  

G. Government/public service uses shall not exceed a maximum area of three acres. Such 

uses or contiguous like uses in excess of this threshold shall require the parcel to be 

amended to the PI zoning district and to the appropriate comprehensive plan category.  

Sec. 90-162. RD-15 medium-density duplex residential district. 

The following regulations shall apply in the RD-15 medium-density duplex residential 

district:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Single-family dwellings.  

(2) Duplexes.  

(3) Multifamily dwellings and townhouses, with the following limitations:  

(a) Maximum building height shall be two stories or 30 feet.  

(b) No such multifamily dwelling or townhouse shall exceed three living units in 

any structure.  

(c) There shall be a maximum of one such structure (maximum of three living 

units) on any platted or replatted lot.  

(4) Municipally owned or operated parks and playgrounds.  

(5) Accessory structures and uses.  

(6) Single-family semidetached in accordance with subsections G. and H. below.  

B. Special uses requiring a permit shall be as follows:  

(1) Home-based businesses.  

(2) Parking lots.  

C. Transient rentals, as defined by the Code, are specifically prohibited in the RD-15 

district.  

D. Minimum lot dimensions shall be as follows:  

(1) Single-family dwellings and duplexes shall be governed by the following minimum 

lot dimensions and setbacks: 

 Lot width: 50 feet 

 Lot depth: 90 feet 

 Front yard: 20 feet 



 

 

 Side yard: 5 feet  

 Rear yard: 20 feet. Where a lot has a depth of less than 100 feet, then a building or 

other structure may be constructed not nearer to the rear lot line than a distance 

equal to 20% of the depth of the lot, and in no case nearer than 15 feet to said rear 

lot line.   

(2) Maximum density shall be 15 residential dwelling units per net acre.  

(3) Maximum building height for single-family and duplex dwellings shall be two and 

one-half stories or 30 feet.  

(4) Pervious surface shall be 30 percent of each lot.  

E. Building Setbacks, other than for single-family dwellings and duplexes, shall be as 

follows: 

 

Number of Stories Front (feet) Side (feet) Rear (feet) 

1 – over nonhabitable garage/storage 20 5 20 

2-2.5 – over nonhabitable garage/storage 25 10 25 

 

F. Minimum living area shall be as follows:  

(1) First floor: 1,000 square feet.  

(2) Second floor: 500 square feet.  

G. Government/public service uses shall not exceed a maximum area of three acres. Such 

uses or contiguous like uses in excess of this threshold shall require the parcel to be 

amended to the PI zoning district and to the appropriate comprehensive plan category.  

H. In the event that any structure located in the RD-15 district is damaged or destroyed by 

a hurricane, tornado, fire, flood, wind, storm or other natural disaster, or if any owner of 

a structure desires to replace the structure, even if such structure has not been damaged 

or destroyed by any such natural disaster, it can be replaced, repaired or reconstructed in 

a manner which guarantees that each unit and all permitted accessory uses can be 

restored to the same number of units, and square footage as determined by established 

setbacks and building height. Replacement, repairs and reconstruction shall adhere to all 

flood management regulations in effect.  

I. In accordance with subsection H above, a duplex structure in the RD-15 district and CTF 

district can be replaced with another duplex or, at the option of the owner, with a duplex 

townhouse. The single lot on which the duplex was located can be divided in two equal 

parts to allow each duplex townhouse to be located on a separate lot with each lot having 

frontage on a public right-of-way. Minimum setbacks for a semidetached structure shall 

be: side, five feet, one wall attached. Each development that includes a duplex 

townhouse shall submit a minor subdivision plat to the town for review, including a 

survey of the existing single lot and the proposed lots as divided, proposed structures 

and a means of maintenance of attached and common portions of the structure (i.e., the 

roof and common wall) by way of a homeowners' association or other legal document. 

Such lots can only be created if approved by the town administrator or his or her 



 

 

designee, and if so approved, shall be noted in the town's records, and the lot 

configuration and homeowners' association or other legal document shall be recorded by 

the property owner in the records of Pinellas County, with a recorded copy filed with the 

town.  

Sec. 90-163. RM-15 medium/high-density multiresidential district. 

The following regulations shall apply in the RM-15 medium/high-density multiresidential 

district:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Single-family dwellings.  

(2) Duplexes.  

(3) Multifamily dwellings and townhouses.  

(4) Municipally owned or operated parks and playgrounds.  

(5) Accessory structures and uses.  

B. Special uses requiring a permit shall include the following:  

(1) Home-based businesses.  

(2) Private, nonprofit recreational uses or social uses where membership is limited to 

adjacent residential areas.  

(3) Nonresidential use shall not exceed a floor area ratio (FAR) of forty hundredths 

(.40), nor an impervious surface ratio (ISR) of seventy hundredths (.70).  

(4) Accessory off-street parking lots and retention facilities as part of an abutting office 

or commercial use are allowed as a special exception in the RM-15 zoning district. 

Such accessory uses are allowed when the abutting office or commercial use abuts 

Gulf Boulevard and gains access through the abutting office or commercial use.  

C. Transient rentals, as defined by the Code, are specifically prohibited in the RM-15 

district.  

D. Single-family dwellings and duplexes:  

(1) Minimum lot sizes for single-family dwellings and duplexes shall be 6,000 square 

feet.  

(2)  Single-family dwellings and duplexes shall be governed by the following minimum 

lot dimensions, setbacks, height restrictions, and minimum living areas: 

 Lot width: 50 feet. 

 Lot depth: 90 feet. 

 Front yard: 20 feet. 

 Side yard: 5 feet. 

 Rear yard: 20 feet. Where a lot has a depth of less than 100 feet, then a building or 

other structure may be constructed not nearer to the rear lot line than a distance 



 

 

equal to 20% of the depth of the lot, and in no case nearer than 15 feet to said rear 

lot line.  

Height. Not to exceed 2.5 stories or 30 feet. 

Living Area:  

First Floor: 1.000 square feet. 

Second Floor: 500 square feet. 

E. Multifamily dwellings and townhouses:  

(1) Multifamily dwellings and townhouses shall be governed by the following 

minimum lot dimensions and setbacks: 

  Lot width: 50 feet. 

 Lot depth: 90 feet. 

 Front yard: 20 feet. 

 Side yard: 5 feet. 

 Rear yard: 20 feet. Where a lot has a depth of less than 100 feet, then a building or 

other structure may be constructed not nearer to the rear lot line than a distance 

equal to 20% of the depth of the lot, and in no case nearer than 15 feet to said rear 

lot line. 

(2) Maximum density shall be 15 residential dwellings per net acre.  

(3) Maximum building height shall be four stories of living area, and no building or 

structure shall exceed 45 feet in height, except that in the area east of Gulf 

Boulevard and north of 177th Terrace, the maximum height shall be two stories of 

living area, exclusive of ground-level parking and utility space, and no building or 

structure shall exceed 30 feet in height.  

(4) Subject to site plan approval, height and density bonuses may be earned as follows:  

(a) Under-building, off-street parking in an amount sufficient to constitute a 

significant addition to the basic requirements of this part 3, zoning, will earn 

a bonus of one additional living story, an additional ten feet in height, with a 

maximum density of 20 residential dwelling units per net acre.  

(b) Side setbacks on those sides of the lot or tract perpendicular to Gulf Boulevard 

equal to one-half of the width of the lot or tract, but in no case less than 30 feet 

on the lesser side, will earn a bonus of one additional living story, an additional 

ten feet in height, with a maximum density of 20 residential dwelling units per 

net acre.  

(c) A combination of under-building parking and additional setbacks as 

prescribed in subsection D.(4)(a) and (b) above will earn a bonus of two 

additional living stories, an additional 20 feet in height, with a maximum 

density of 25 residential dwelling units per net acre.  

(d) Under no circumstances shall the maximum of six living stories, 65 feet height 

or a maximum density of 25 residential dwelling units per net acre be 



 

 

exceeded, except that in the area east of Gulf Boulevard and north of 177th 

Terrace, the maximum height shall be four living stories and 50 feet.  

(e) Under no circumstances shall the density permitted exceed that allowed in the 

town and/or countywide future land use plan, whichever is more restrictive.  

F. Side setbacks as open areas. To ensure maintenance of open vistas, no structures or 

plantings will be permitted in the side setback open areas without prior approval of the 

planning and zoning board.  

G. Minimum living area shall be as follows:  

(1) First floor: 1,000 square feet.  

(2) Second floor: 500 square feet.  

Sec. 90-164. ROR-15 residential/office/retail district. 

In the ROR-15 residential/office/retail district, the following regulations shall apply:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Multiple-family dwellings.  

(2) Commercial buildings.  

(3) Combination multiple-family residential/office/retail buildings.  

(4) For purely commercial buildings, all uses permitted in the C-NR district except 

automotive, bars, restaurants, lounges and all special uses requiring a permit.  

(5) For combination residential/office/retail buildings, all uses permitted in the purely 

commercial buildings except fast-food service, bakeries, hardware stores, food 

stores, restaurants and office reproduction facilities.  

B. Special uses shall be as follows: None.  

C. Minimum lot dimensions and density.  

(1) All permitted uses shall be governed by the following minimum setbacks: 

 

Number of Stories Front (feet) Side (feet) Rear (feet) 

1 – over nonhabitable garage/storage 20 5 20 

2-2.5 – over nonhabitable garage/storage 25 10 25 

3 – over nonhabitable garage/storage 30 15 30 

 

(2) Maximum height of all buildings in the ROR-15 zoning district shall be three 

stories, not to exceed 30 feet.  

(3) Pervious surface shall be 20 percent of each lot.  

(4) Transient accommodation uses shall not exceed 25 units per acre.  

D. Residential density shall not exceed 15 units per net acre. 



 

 

 

Formatted: Left

E. Intensity regulations. Nonresidential uses shall not exceed a floor area ratio (FAR) of 

forty hundredths (.40), nor an impervious surface ratio (ISR) of eighty hundredths (.80).  

F. Mixed use shall not exceed, in combination, the respective number of units per acre and 

the floor area ratio permitted, when allocated in their respective proportion to the total 

lot area. Mixed uses shall not exceed a maximum impervious surface ratio (ISR) of 

eighty hundredths (.80).   

Sec. 90-165. C-NR general commercial district. 

In the C-NR general commercial district, the following regulations shall apply:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) General commercial, office, personal service, and professional service uses, limited 

to:  

(a) Professional office, except for any special use identified in Section 90-165.B.  

(b) Retail sales, except for the sale of boats, vehicles, heavy equipment, and any 

special use identified in Section 90-165.B.  

(c) Medical, dental and eye doctors, including other similar health-related 

professions.  

(d) Professional services.  

(e) Personal services, except for any special use identified in Section 90-165.B.  

(f) Financial institutions.  

(g) Studio schools: art, sculpture, music, dance, pottery and like instruction.  

(h) Automotive service facilities, excluding body repair and major vehicular 

repair.  

(i) Laundromat and dry-cleaning pickup facilities.  

(j) Restaurants.  

(k) Liquor stores.  

(l) Bars/restaurants/lounges.   

(m) Fast-food service, snack bars (non-drive-in or drive-through).  

(2) Telecommunication towers and antennas.  

(a) Telecommunication transmission towers or antennas and accessory 

buildings east of Gulf Boulevard, south of 180th Avenue, but north of Shells 

Restaurant, or west of Gulf Boulevard at Town Hall property and east of 

Gulf Boulevard between 174th Terrace Drive and 174th Avenue, properties 

zoned CNR, commercial, institutional, semipublic or public, or on existing 

buildings in excess of 86 feet zoned RM-15, west of Gulf Boulevard, north 

of Coral Avenue, but south of 180th Avenue West; also within the town in 

areas zoned RM-15 west of Gulf Boulevard, north of 174th Avenue, but 

south of 175th Terrace Drive.  



 

 

(b) Towers and antennas that increase the height of any building or structure 

are prohibited from being attached to any new or existing structure. 

Structures to qualify for the supporting of antennas shall be a minimum of 

86 feet in height. Antennas shall be attached to the sides and made obscure 

from vision with neutral color similar to that of the structure. Antennas 

preexisting this subsection used for the sole private use, such as emergency 

communication for that institution, shall be considered grandfathered.  

(c) Towers and antennas shall also be subject to the requirements of Chapter 

133, Article II of the Code of Ordinances (Local Communications Services 

Tax).  

(3) Government/public service uses, limited to:  

(a) Police station.  

(b) Fire station.  

(c) Library.  

(d) Post office.  

(e) Town Hall.  

(f) Places of worship.  

(4) Accessory uses and structures for all permitted uses.  

B. Special uses requiring a permit shall be as follows:  

(1) Commercial uses, limited to:  

(a) Garden supplies and plant nurseries.  

(b) Gas and service stations.  

(c) Marinas and light marine repair facilities.  

(d) Laundry and dry-cleaning facilities.  

(e) Department stores.  

(f) Furniture stores.  

(g) Supermarkets.  

(h) Parking garages.  

(i) Passenger car rentals.  

(j) Delivery services. 

(k) Rental of bicycles, scooters, and beach related items. 

(l) Tattoo parlors.  

(2) Commercial recreation uses, limited to:  

(a) Health clubs.  

(b) Gymnasiums.  



 

 

(c) Miniature golf courses.  

(d) Movie theaters.  

(e) Fishing piers.  

(f) Tennis clubs.  

(g) Shuffleboard clubs.  

C. Minimum lot dimensions. All general commercial uses shall be governed by following:  

(1) Maximum building height is three stories, not to exceed 30 feet.  

(2) Pervious surface shall be 20 percent of each lot.  

(3) Minimum setbacks: 

 

Number of Stories  Front 

(feet) 

Side (feet) Rear (feet) 

1 – over nonhabitable 

garage/storage 

 20 5 20 

2-2.5–over nonhabitable 

garage/storage 

 25 10 25 

3 – over nonhabitable 

garage/storage 

 30 15 30 

 

D. Intensity regulations. No use shall exceed a floor area ratio (FAR) of 0.55, nor an 

impervious surface ratio (ISR) of 0.80.  

E. Government/public service uses shall not exceed a maximum area of five acres. Such 

uses or contiguous like uses in excess of this threshold shall require the parcel to be 

amended to the PI zoning district and to the appropriate comprehensive plan category.  

Sec. 90-166. CTF commercial tourist facilities district. 

The following regulations shall apply in the CTF commercial tourist facilities district:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Hotels and motels.  

(2) Lodging houses.  

(3) General commercial uses permitted in the C-NR district.  

(4) Accessory uses and structures for all permitted uses.  

(5) Single-family dwellings.  

(6) Duplexes.  

(7) Telecommunication towers and antenna. 

(a) Towers shall not exceed 70 feet in height from the ground base of the 

structure to the highest point of that structure.  



 

 

(b) Towers and supporting structures shall be a neutral and nonglare color or 

finish so as to reduce visual obtrusiveness.  

(c) All towers shall meet applicable standards of the FAA and FCC. 

(d) Towers shall be set back from a residential area a distance equal to that of 

its height, plus 20 additional feet. 

(e) All guides and accessories must meet the minimum setback requires as set 

forth in the Building Code. 

(f) Towers shall be enclosed by security fencing six feet in height, and a 

landscape buffer shall be installed. 

(g) Towers shall be free of advertising.  

B. Special uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Commercial recreation uses permitted with special permit in the C-NR district.  

(2) Accessory off-street parking lots and retention facilities as part of an abutting office 

or commercial use are allowed as a special exception in the CTF commercial tourist 

facilities zoning district. Such accessory uses are allowed when the abutting office 

or commercial use abuts Gulf Boulevard and gains access through the abutting 

office or commercial use.  

(3) Municipally owned parking lots.  

C. Minimum lot dimensions. All permitted uses shall be governed by the following: 

(1) Minimum setbacks: 

 

Number of Stories Front (feet) Side (feet) Rear (feet) 

1-over nonhabitable garage/storage 20 5 20 

2-2.5-over nonhabitable garage/storage 25 10 25 

3-over nonhabitable garage/storage 30 15 30 

4-over nonhabitable garage/storage 35 20 35 

5-6-over nonhabitable garage/storage 40 25 40 

 

(2) Maximum density shall be 15 residential dwellings per net acre. 

(3) Maximum height of all transient accommodations shall be four stories of living 

area, and no building or structure shall exceed 45 feet in height, except that in the 

area east of Gulf Boulevard and north of 177th Terrace, the maximum height shall 

be two stories of living area, exclusive of ground-level parking and utility space, 

and no building or structure shall exceed 30 feet in height.  

 (a) Subject to sit plan approval, height and density bonuses may be earned as 

follows: 

(1) Under-building, off-street parking in an amount sufficient to 

constitute a significant addition to the basic requirements of this part 

3, zoning, will earn a bonus of one additional living story, an 



 

 

additional ten feet in height, with a maximum density of 20 

residential dwelling units per net acre.  

(2) Side setbacks on those sides of the lot or tract perpendicular to Gulf 

Boulevard equal to one-half of the width of the lot or tract, but in no 

case less than 30 feet on the lesser side, will earn a bonus of one 

additional living story, an additional ten feet in height, with a 

maximum density of 20 residential dwelling units per net acre.  

(3) A combination of under-building parking and additional setbacks as 

prescribed in this subsection will earn a bonus of two additional 

living stories, an additional 20 feet in height, with a maximum 

density of 25 residential dwelling units per net acre.  

(4) Under no circumstances shall the maximum of six living stories, 65 

feet height or a maximum density of 25 residential dwelling units 

per net acre be exceeded, except that in the area east of Gulf 

Boulevard and north of 177th Terrace, the maximum height shall be 

four living stories and 50 feet. 

(b) Under no circumstances shall the density permitted exceed that allowed in 

the town and/or countywide future land use plan, whichever is more 

restrictive.  

(4) In no case will the maximum of six living stories, not to exceed 65 feet in height, 

or 25 transient accommodation units per acre be exceeded. Each rental unit shall 

contain a minimum floor area of 200 square feet and shall contain complete 

bathroom facilities.  

(5) All other permitted and special uses shall have a maximum height of three stories, 

not to exceed 30 feet.  

(6) Pervious surface shall be 20 percent of each lot.  

D. Intensity regulations. No use shall exceed a floor area ratio (FAR) of .55, nor an 

impervious surface ratio of (ISR) .80.  

E. Mixed use shall not exceed, in combination, the respective number of units per acre and 

the floor area ratio permitted, when allocated in their respective proportion to the total 

lot area. Mixed uses shall not exceed a maximum impervious surface ratio (ISR) of .80.  

F. Residential density regulations. The number of permitted residential units shall not 

exceed 15 units per acre.  

G. Condo-hotels. A condo-hotel is a specialized form of transient accommodation use. 

Condo-hotels shall be allowed in any land use district where a hotel, motel or transient 

accommodation use would be allowed. Units in a condo-hotel are exempt from the 

prohibition of kitchens in transient accommodations, provided the structure of the condo-

hotel and the units within the condo-hotel are constructed, maintained and used in 

accordance with the following criteria:  

(1) All units in a condo-hotel shall be considered transient accommodation units and 

must be made available for rentals on a continual basis on a daily, weekly or 



 

 

monthly basis. If the occupancy of any such unit does not change more frequently 

than 12 times or more in any continuous twelve-month period, then a rebuttable 

presumption shall arise that the unit is not being used as a condo-hotel unit for 

transient accommodations.  

(2) All units in a condo-hotel must have appropriate licenses as hotel units prior to any 

certificate of occupancy being issued for the structure. All licenses must be kept up-

to-date annually.  

(3) Business tax receipts for the rental of each unit from the town shall be required, and 

such business tax receipts must be maintained annually for all such units.  

(4) All units in a condo-hotel shall be subject to all applicable tourist tax collection 

requirements.  

(5) No unit in a condo-hotel shall be used for homesteading purposes.  

(6) No home business tax receipt shall be issued for any unit in a condo-hotel.  

(7) All units in a condo-hotel must be subject to requirements of mandatory 

membership in a common association and may be subject to rental by an exclusive 

rental agency selected by such condo association, or shall be subject to rental by the 

owner or by a rental agency selected by the unit owner, and all unit owners shall 

make such units available for rent through one of such rental agencies, or directly 

by the unit owner.  

(8) No unit in a condo-hotel shall be used as a time-share or fractional-ownership unit.  

(9) One unit in a condo-hotel structure may be used for the permanent, year-round 

occupancy by a person or family unit serving as the on-site manager. However, the 

occupant of such unit must have the ability to handle rentals and rent all other units 

in the building on a daily, weekly or monthly basis.  

(10) A condo-hotel structure must be designed with and must contain a front desk lobby, 

internally oriented, and easily signed and accessible to members of the public.  

(11) All condo-hotels must have sufficient signage viewable by the general public on 

adjacent streets advertising such structure as a rental facility, available for daily, 

weekly or monthly rentals.  

(12) Units in a condo-hotel may not be occupied by the individual owners of such units 

for more than a total of 60 days in any twelve-month consecutive period.  

(13) The books and records of the condo-hotel pertaining to the rentals of each unit in 

the condo-hotel shall be open for inspection by representatives of the town, upon 

reasonable notice, in order to confirm compliance with these regulations.  

(14) Each unit in a condo-hotel structure shall be limited to a maximum of two 

bedrooms, a maximum of two bathrooms and a maximum square footage per unit 

not to exceed 850 square feet.  

H. Vacation rentals. All permitted vacation rentals must comply with the regulations set 

forth in section 90-178.  



 

 

Sec. 90-167. Planned unit development (PUD). 

A. Purpose. 

(1) It is the purpose of the planned unit development zoning district to allow for a creative 

and flexible approach to development, which may include a harmonious and cohesive 

mix of uses on a single site.  

(2) Further, it is the purpose of the planned unit development zoning district to promote 

implementation of the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District the objectives of which are:  

(a) To preserve, enhance or create public spaces that are distinctive, accessible and 

desirable.  

(b) To create compact concentrations of compatible uses through the development of 

multiple uses within the same buildings, parcels or blocks.  

(c) To create safe and welcoming pedestrian environments, particularly along and near 

Gulf Boulevard, through the use of streetscaping, traffic calming, and effective 

architectural design.  

(d) To create a coherent design aesthetic for the town through attention to the 

placement, configuration and architectural detail of new construction.  

B. Application of zoning. Planned unit development zoning may be applied to:  

(1) Properties that are encompassed within the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District; or  

(2) Properties that are four or more acres in size and are proposed for development utilizing 

a creative approach not available through other zoning.  

C. Submission of plans for review by board of commissioners; advertisement required. To allow 

town officials the opportunity to determine that a proposed development meets the articulated 

purposes and standards for planned unit development zoning, plans shall first be submitted to 

and reviewed by the Planning and Zoning Board of the town, which shall make 

recommendation concerning such proposed planned unit development to the board of 

commissioners, and such plans shall then be submitted to and reviewed by the board of 

commissioners in conjunction with any application for this zoning. Consideration of the 

development plans by the commission shall occur concurrently with consideration of the 

application for zoning and shall be advertised as part of such zoning. These provisions shall 

supersede the requirements of sections 90-75 and 90-237 of this Code.  

D. Approval of zoning and plans by board of commissioners. In order for the board of 

commissioners to approve planned unit development zoning and the associated development 

plans, it must find that the development advances the purposes of the zoning, complies with 

the standards of this Code and the town's comprehensive plan, is compatible with the 

surrounding neighborhood and the town and, if in the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, the 

commission must find that plans are substantially consistent with the urban design guidelines. 

Furthermore, the commission may prescribe conditions of approval as determined necessary 

to ensure compliance with all standards, compatibility with the neighborhood and town, and 

substantial consistency with the design guidelines.  

E. Design and use standards. 



 

 

(1) Uses. 

(a) The future land use plan category of the town's comprehensive plan shall be used 

to determine permitted and special uses within planned unit development districts, 

specifically:  

 

Future Land Use  

Plan Category  

Zoning Districts  

Permitted and Special Uses  

Residential urban (RU)  All uses and special uses permitted within the RS-7 district  

Residential low medium (RLM)  All uses and special uses permitted within the RS-7 and RS-10 districts  

Residential medium/duplex (RM-

D)  

All uses and special uses permitted within the RD-15 district  

Residential high (RH)  All uses and special uses permitted within the RD-15 and RM-15 districts  

Commercial general (CG)  All uses and special uses permitted within the C-NR district  

Resort facilities medium (RFM)  All uses and special uses permitted within the RS-7, RS-10, RD-15, RM-

15, and CTF districts  

Residential/office/retail (R/O/R)  All uses and special uses permitted within the RS-7, RS-10, RD-15, RM-

15, C-NR, and ROR-15 districts  

Institutional (I)  All uses and special uses permitted within the PI district  

 

(b) Within the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, uses shall conform to the ground floor 

requirements specified in the urban design guidelines.  

(2) Density, floor area ratio and impervious surface ratio.  

(a) The future land use plan category of the town's comprehensive plan shall determine 

the maximum density and intensity of uses within planned unit development 

districts, specifically:  

Future Land Use Plan  

Category  

Maximum Density  

(dwelling units per  

net acre)  

Maximum  

Floor Area  

Ratio  

Maximum  

Impervious  

Surface  

Ratio  

Residential urban  7.5  .40  .65  

Residential low medium  10.0  .50  .75  

Residential medium/duplex  15.0  .50  .75  

Residential high  15.0 with allowances up to 25.0  .60  .85  

Commercial general  0.0  .55  .90  

Resort facilities medium  15.0  .65  .85  

Residential/Office/Retail  15.0  .40  .85  

Institutional  0.0  .65  .85  

 

(b) Use mixes consisting of residential and nonresidential uses shall not exceed, in 

combination, the respective number of units per acre and the floor area ratio 

permitted, when allocated in their respective proportion to the total lot area.  

(3) Lot area, width and depth. No minimum lot dimensions are required; however, lots shall 

be sufficiently proportioned to support the buildings and uses proposed and provide 

comfortable spatial relationships with surrounding buildings and uses.  

(4) Setbacks. 



 

 

(a) Within the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, setbacks shall be provided in 

conformance with the urban design guidelines.  

(b) Outside of the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District:  

[1] Building setbacks shall be determined through the course of development plan 

review.  

[2] Setbacks shall provide appropriate spatial relationships between buildings and 

uses. That is, setbacks shall be based on the size, height and use of proposed 

buildings in relationship to other nearby buildings on and off site, and shall 

include consideration of all other land use and natural characteristics of the 

surrounding neighborhood that affect appropriate building placement.  

[3] All setbacks shall be delineated or otherwise specified on the preliminary 

development plan. Approval of the preliminary development plan by the 

commission constitutes approval of such setbacks.  

[4] Uniform front building setback lines shall be provided for single-family 

development.  

[5] Garages shall not be situated forward of the front wall of single-family 

dwellings.  

[6] No building shall be located closer than ten feet to any exterior boundary of 

the planned unit development.  

[7] Setbacks are not required for accessory structures except as may be expressly 

designated on the preliminary development plan.  

[8] If a zero lot line development is proposed, maintenance easements on 

adjoining lots shall be recorded to facilitate building maintenance.  

[9] As an alternative to the positioning requirements contained in section 63-12 

of this Code, docks, boat lifts and davits may be constructed continuously 

along the waterfront of planned unit development properties adjoining Boca 

Ciega Bay and its waterways, provided such structures pose no obstruction to 

navigation or conflict with the shared use of the water and:  

[a] Have a minimum setback of 15 feet from the extension of the side 

property lines; or  

[b] Are shared by adjacent properties and, accordingly, are constructed 

across the extension of the common side property line with no 

setback.  

(5) Building height. 

(a) Within the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District:  

[1] Buildings or portions thereof located within 100 feet of the Gulf Boulevard 

right-of-way shall conform to the height criteria set forth in the urban design 

guidelines.  



 

 

[2] Buildings or portions thereof located more distant than 100 feet from the Gulf 

Boulevard right-of-way shall not exceed 85 feet in height as measured from 

the crown of the adjoining road to the bottom of the eave of the primary roof.  

(b) Outside of the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, the maximum allowable height as 

measured from the crown of the adjoining road to the bottom of the eave of the 

primary roof shall be 75 feet, except that the maximum height for single-family 

dwellings shall be 40 feet.  

(6) Architecture. 

(a) Within the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, buildings shall conform to the 

architectural standards contained in the urban design guidelines.  

(b) Outside of the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District:  

[1] Buildings other than single-family dwellings shall conform to the Spanish or 

Mediterranean architectural standards contained in the urban design 

guidelines. Furthermore, any such building over 200 feet in length shall be 

provided with vertical architectural breaks to provide visual interest and relief.  

[2] Single-family dwellings are not required to conform to any specific 

architectural motif.  

(7) Parking. Off-street parking and loading shall conform to the requirements contained in 

section 90-171, except that development of properties located within the Gulf Boulevard 

Overlay District shall be guided by the parking standards set forth in the urban design 

guidelines, including those which may be less restrictive than section 90-171.  

(8) Landscaping. 

(a) Street trees shall align all public and private roadways. Within the Gulf Boulevard 

Overlay District, trees planted within the Gulf Boulevard/SR699 right-of-way will 

need the prior written approval of the Florida Department of Transportation. In all 

other areas, trees shall be planted in accordance with the terms of the urban design 

guidelines. Outside of the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, deciduous shade trees 

shall align both sides of all roadways in planned unit development districts. 

Specifically, one tree shall be planted on each side of the roadway per 100-foot 

length of roadway. Palm trees may substitute for deciduous shade trees; however, 

if palm trees are used, one tree shall be planted on each side of the roadway per 30-

foot length of roadway.  

(b) Any opaque fence or wall located within ten feet of a public or private street right-

of-way shall be buffered on the right-of-way side with mass plantings of a variety 

of shrubs. The shrubs shall provide an interesting landscape buffer of varying 

textures and heights. Shrubs shall be selected that, at maturity, will attain a 

minimum height of three feet and will cover at least 50 percent of the length of the 

fence or wall.  

(9) Signs. Within the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, all signs shall be placed in 

accordance with the standards contained in the urban design guidelines. Outside of the 

Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, signs shall be placed in accordance with the standards 

contained in part 4 of this Code.  



 

 

(10) Density averaging. Density averaging may be allowed upon approval by the board of 

commissioners in accordance with Countywide Rules.  

(11) Storm preparedness. Design and construction of all buildings and other site 

improvements shall take into account the town's coastal exposure to severe storms that 

may produce flooding and hurricane-force winds. In particular, roll-down shutters or 

shatter-resistant windows shall be installed during construction.  

(12) Construction of streets, sidewalks and utilities. 

(a) All streets, whether public or private, shall be constructed in accordance with 

Pinellas County specifications. Maintenance of private streets shall be the 

responsibility of the respective homeowners' or condominium owners' association.  

(b) Streetlights shall be installed in accordance with the specifications of the town. All 

streetlights shall be shielded so that direct light is deflected away from residences. 

Maintenance of private streetlights shall be the responsibility of the respective 

homeowners' or condominium owners' association.  

(c) Sidewalks aligning public and private streets shall be constructed in accordance 

with specifications of the town, including the urban design guidelines.  

(d) Water lines and fire hydrants shall be installed and constructed in accordance with 

specifications of the Pinellas County Water Department.  

(e) Storm drainage improvements shall be constructed in accordance with 

specifications of the town, and stormwater runoff shall conform to the requirements 

of the Southwest Florida Water Management District.  

(f) Sanitary sewer lines shall be installed and constructed in accordance with 

specifications of the Pinellas County Utility Department.  

(g) Locations of utilities, existing and proposed, including depicting all easements on 

the property, whether such are utility easements or private easements. Any property 

fronting on Gulf Boulevard shall show and provide a ten-foot-wide utility easement, 

for aboveground and below-ground utilities, along such portions of the property 

abutting Gulf Boulevard. The providing of such utility easement to the town shall 

be a condition that must be fulfilled prior to the issuance of any building permit.  

F. Processing of plans. All plans submitted for development in the planned unit development 

district shall be of sufficient clarity and detail to facilitate judgments by town officials 

regarding compliance with all applicable development standards.  

(1) Conceptual development plan. The conceptual development plan provides an 

opportunity for the applicant and building official to have an informal and nonbinding 

exchange of information regarding the development proposal at an early stage in the 

development process. To initiate this review, the applicant submits three copies of a 

conceptual development plan to the building official. The building official in turn shall 

identify any major concerns and the need for additional support data. The conceptual 

plan shall, at a minimum, consist of the following information:  

(a) Project name.  

(b) North arrow, scale and date.  



 

 

(c) Boundary survey.  

(d) Site acreage.  

(e) Existing and proposed streets.  

(f) Existing and proposed drainage patterns.  

(g) Proposed land uses, including number and location of dwelling units, and floor area 

and location of nonresidential uses.  

(h) Density calculations for residential development and floor area ratio calculations 

for nonresidential development.  

(i) Proposed building heights.  

(j) Proposed parking locations.  

(k) Existing and proposed driveway access locations.  

(l) Pedestrian and open space areas.  

(m) Phase lines, if the development is to be built in phases.  

(2) Preliminary development plan and architectural plans. 

(a) Following review of the conceptual plan, the applicant shall submit eight copies of 

a preliminary development plan to the building official. The preliminary 

development plan shall consist of the information enumerated in section 90-237 of 

this Code and such other information as may be necessary to facilitate 

determination by town officials regarding the development's compliance with this 

Code, the urban design guidelines, and applicable concurrency requirements.  

(b) In addition, if the property is located within the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, 

eight copies of architectural plans shall be submitted. The architectural plans shall 

consist of sufficient detail to facilitate determination by town officials regarding the 

development's consistency with the urban design guidelines.  

(c) The building official, upon determining that the preliminary development plan and 

architectural plans meet all requirements for submission, shall coordinate with the 

town clerk the advertisement of the plans for review by the board of commissioners. 

This plan review shall occur concurrently with the request for planned unit 

development zoning.  

(d) As part of the aforementioned plan review, the board of commissioners may grant 

waivers of development standards that do not affect density, floor area ratio or 

impermeable surface coverage.  

(3) Final building plans. The final building plans shall consist of detailed site, engineering, 

architectural, landscaping and other plans as may be necessary to procure building 

permits. The applicant shall submit three complete sets of final building plans to the 

building official within one year of preliminary development plan approval. The 

applicant may, prior to the one-year expiration date, submit a written request for one 

extension of up to one additional year, which the board of commissioners may grant for 

good cause. Review of any extension request shall take into account changed conditions, 

including the effect of new regulations on the project. If final building plans are not 



 

 

submitted within the aforementioned time frames, the preliminary plan approval shall 

expire and all subsequent development proposals shall be processed as new submissions.  

(4) Amendment of an approved preliminary development plan. The building official shall 

determine whether a proposed preliminary development plan amendment is a minor or 

major amendment based upon the type and magnitude of the proposed change, including 

the cumulative effect of multiple changes.  

(a) Minor amendments. The building official is authorized to approve minor plan 

modifications that do not present issues regarding neighborhood compatibility or 

consistency with the urban design guidelines. Any changes must be resubmitted in 

the form of a revised preliminary or final development plan.  

(b) Major amendments. Major amendments shall be subject to review by the board of 

commissioners and shall be advertised as part of a zoning change. In order for the 

commission to approve a major amendment, it must find the amendment to be 

appropriate for and compatible with the neighborhood, compliant with this Code 

and the comprehensive plan and, if in the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District, it must 

find that the development remains substantially consistent with the urban design 

guidelines. The Commission may prescribe conditions of approval as determined 

necessary to ensure both neighborhood compatibility and compliance with all 

applicable development standards. The following modifications typically constitute 

major amendments:  

[1] Any change that denigrates the objectives of the urban design guidelines.  

[2] Any change that increases density or floor area ratio (not to exceed that 

permitted by the future land use plan).  

[3] Any change of land use that produces significant new or additional impacts.  

[4] Any change that affects uniform setbacks approved on the preliminary 

development plan by the board of commissioners.  

[5] Any significant change to the size, height, location, or appearance of a 

building.  

[6] Any change or changes that increase traffic generation rates in excess of ten 

percent of that approved on the preliminary development plan by the board of 

commissioners.  

[7] Any change that creates additional vehicular access points.  

[8] Any reduction, relocation, or changed use of open space.  

[9] Any change that affects existing conditions of approval.  

[10] Any other change that produces significant impacts, such as, but not limited 

to, the alteration of fire lanes, a change affecting a public access easement, or 

a change that affects drainage flows or patterns.  

Sec. 90-168. PP outdoor recreation/public open space district. 

In the PP outdoor recreation/public open space district, the following regulations shall apply:  



 

 

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Public beach and public access thereto.  

(2) Public parks and bayside public accesses.  

(3) Public parking off-highway areas.  

(4) Fishing piers and marinas.  

(5) Miniature golf courses.  

(6) Tennis, shuffleboard and swimming clubs.  

(7) Accessory uses and structures for permitted uses.  

B. Special uses shall be as follows: None.  

C. Minimum lot dimensions. All permitted uses shall be governed by the following: 

 (1) Setbacks: 

Front (feet) Side (feet) Rear (feet) 

20 5 20 

(2) The height limit for accessory structures shall be one story, not to exceed 15 feet.  

(3) Pervious surface shall be 40 percent of each lot.  

D. Intensity regulations. No use shall exceed a floor area ratio (FAR) of 0.25, nor an 

impervious surface ratio (ISR) of 0.60.  

Sec. 90-169. PI public/semipublic institutional district. 

The following regulations shall apply in the PI public/semipublic institutional district:  

A. Permitted uses shall be as follows:  

(1) Public buildings and support facilities.  

(2) Public utility installations (sewer, water, drainage, etc.).  

(3) Schools, libraries, places of worship.  

(4) Fraternal, veterans, public service clubs.  

(5) Accessory uses and structures.  

B. Special uses shall be as follows: None.  

C. Minimum lot dimensions.  

(1) All permitted uses shall be governed by the following: 

Front (feet) Side (feet) Rear (feet) 

20 5 20 

 

(2) The height limit for accessory structures shall be one story, not to exceed 15 feet, 

but public utility poles and lines or church steeples shall not be considered as 

structures for this purpose.  



 

 

D. Intensity regulations. No use shall exceed a floor area ratio (FAR) of sixty-five 

hundredths (0.65), nor an impervious surface ratio (ISR) of eighty hundredths (.80).  

E. All transportation/utility and institutional uses shall require the appropriate 

corresponding plan designation.  

Sec. 90-170. GBO Gulf Boulevard Overlay District. 

A. Purpose and applicability. 

(1) It is the purpose of the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District (GBOD) to establish a 

unifying set of development design standards that guide infill and redevelopment 

activities occurring within the town on properties located adjacent to portions of 

Gulf Boulevard. See Figure 90-170-A for the GBOD limits.  

(2 ) Implementation of the design standards will create a pedestrian-friendly and 

aesthetically  

cohesive town; a desirable place to live, work, and play that is known for its 

distinctive coastal character. This coastal character is fostered through a building's 

size and mass, placement, relationship to other buildings and ancillary facilities, 

and overall appearance.  

(3) Further, the objectives of the overlay district are:  

(a) To preserve, enhance or create public spaces that are distinctive, accessible 

and desirable.  

(b) To create compact concentrations of compatible uses, through the 

development of multiple uses within the same buildings, parcels or blocks.  

(c) To create safe and welcoming pedestrian environments, particularly along 

and near Gulf Boulevard, through the use of streetscaping, shading, 

protection from weather, traffic calming, and effective architectural design.  

(d) To create unifying design treatments throughout the district through 

attention to the placement, configuration and architectural detail of new 

construction.  

(4)  The standards and requirements of this section do not apply to building 

design elements for  

single-family or two-family dwellings. 

 

(5)  In the event of a conflict between the overlay standards of this section and the 

underlying zoning district, the standards of this overlay shall prevail.  

 



 

 

Figure 90-170-A 

 

 

B. Permitted uses. Uses within the GBOD shall be limited as identified within the underlying 

zoning districts included in this chapter.  

C. Special uses. Special uses within the GBOD shall be limited as identified within the 

underlying zoning districts included in this chapter.  

D. Building placement standards. All newly constructed buildings and substantial building 

renovations exceeding 50 percent appraised value identified within this section shall meet the 

intent of FEMA regulations through the standards and requirements of the PCCLB coastal 

construction code and Part 2 of the town's Code.  

(1)   General requirements. Enhance the harmony and character of the 

community by establishing standards for placement and detailing among the various 

structures.  

(2)  Build-to and setback requirements.  

(a) All commercial and mixed use structures adjacent to the Gulf Boulevard 

right-of-way shall be built with their primary facade located along a build-

to line, measured ten feet from the right-of-way line, or such greater 

distance as may be required if necessary to accommodate large palms or 

shade trees planted street-side in order to be consistent with other plantings 

in the surrounding area. See Figure 90-170-B.  

 



 

 

Figure 90-170-B 

 

 

(b) All commercial and mixed use buildings adjacent to Gulf Boulevard shall have an 

arcade, gallery, porch, or awning to provide pedestrian protection. Buildings taller 

than two stories shall provide balconies on all floors above the first floor. See Figure 

90-170-C.  

 

Figure 90-170-C 

 

(3) Building ground floor use requirements. 

(a) The ground floor of all commercial and mixed use buildings located along Gulf 

Boulevard shall include street-front retail, restaurants, office, commercial, civic or 

other residential or nonresidential uses as limited by the underlying zoning district 

provisions listed in this chapter.  

(b) Ground floor nonresidential development areas shall be a minimum of 20 feet in 

depth from the primary facade of the building. See Figure 90-170-D.  

(c) All development areas shall be constructed according to necessary standards for 

protection from flooding.  



 

 

 

Figure 90-170-D 

 

 

(4) Building width requirements. 

(a) The maximum continuous facade of any building fronting the Gulf Boulevard right-

of-way shall be 60 feet. See Figure 90-170-E.  

(b) Buildings wider than 60 feet must be architecturally defined as a series of smaller, 

repetitive units, with insets located within the primary facades.  

(c) The inset facade shall be recessed a minimum of five feet from the front of the 

primary facade.  

(d) The ratio of the width of a primary facade to an inset facade shall be no greater than 

three to one (3:1), or a minimum of ten (10) feet.  

 



 

 

Figure 90-170-E 

 

 

(5) Building height requirements. 

(a) All newly constructed buildings located along Gulf Boulevard shall be a minimum 

of two stories in height, and measure no greater than 25 feet, as measured from 

right-of-way finished grade to the top of the parapet on a flat roof or 22 feet as 

measured to the top edge of the eave on a pitched roof. See Figure 90-170-F.  

 

Figure 90-170-F 

 

 

(b) All newly constructed buildings located along Gulf Boulevard may be a maximum 

of four stories in height, and measure no greater than 52 feet, as measured from 

right-of-way finished grade to the top of the parapet on a flat roof or 48 feet as 

measured to the top edge of the eave on a pitched roof. See Figure 90-170-G.  

 



 

 

Figure 90-170-G 

 

 

(c) If the building is four stories, the primary facade of the highest floor must be set 

back eight feet from the primary facade of the lower three stories. Balconies on the 

third floor may extend up to six feet from the build-to line towards the right-of-way 

line.  

(d) A newly constructed one-story building may be permitted for commercial uses if it 

meets the requirements for minimum building heights and the finished floor level 

is located at sidewalk level.  

(e) The maximum interior height dimension for the first floor story of a building shall 

be 14 feet, as measured from the finished floor to the finished ceiling. First floor 

ceiling-to-floor heights in all newly constructed multistory buildings must be 

greater than the ceiling-to-floor height of any upper floor.  

(6) Building setback requirements. 

(a) Side yard setbacks. 

[1] A minimum seven-foot-wide building setback shall be provided for all parcels 

fronting Gulf Boulevard. The setback may be reduced to 0 feet on one side in 

cases where shared access is provided on the opposite side yard, and building 

construction design and techniques do not impact adjacent properties. See 

Figure 90-170-H.  

[2] Adjacent parcel sideyard setbacks may be dedicated as a one-way access lane 

for the parcels, if a minimum sixteen-foot clear width between side-walls 

exists, property owner easements are identified and recorded in the public 



 

 

records of Pinellas County, and access management and site plan approval 

provisions are approved by the town.  

 

Figure 90-170-H 
 

 

(b) Rear yard setbacks. 

[1] A minimum 25-foot wide building setback shall be provided for all parcels 

that are adjacent to an accessible right-of-way, or the rear or side yard lot line 

of another parcel.  

[2] A minimum 45-foot wide building setback shall be provided for parcels 

adjacent to a public waterway.  

[3] Alternative design solutions may be proposed for the narrow lot depth parcels 

located adjacent to the Boca Ceiga Bay. Reduction of this setback may be 

approved by the town if an acceptable alternative design solution is provided.  

F. All newly constructed building configuration standards. 



 

 

(1)  Buildings fronting gulf boulevard general requirements.  

(a) An approved architectural building character type is required, with a 

preference towards masonry structures.  

(b) Structures shall include stucco exterior coating, pitched roofing, arcades 

with semicircular arches, and other standard motifs and details appropriate 

for tropical and subtropical climates.  

(c) A building canopy, awning or similar form of weather protection may be 

provided, with a minimum projection of six feet over the fronting walk.  

(2) Nonresidential and mixed-use buildings. 

(a) Building materials and techniques.  

[1] Nonresidential and mixed-use buildings fronting Gulf Boulevard shall be 

constructed using brick, cast concrete, stucco, stone or other masonry material 

similar to those listed if appearance and durability is approved by the town.  

[2] Regular or decorative concrete block may be used on building walls not visible 

from a public street.  

[3] All ancillary structures shall be clad in materials similar to the primary 

structure.  

[4] All stucco surfaces shall be knockdown finished.  

[5] All window installations shall be set to the inside of the building facade wall.  

[6] Any overhanging eave lines may expose rafters.  

[7] All rooftop equipment shall be enclosed in building material that matches the 

structures of the main building or is visually compatible with the structure. 

Rooftop equipment shall not be visible from Gulf Boulevard.  

(b) Building roofs. 

[1] Pitched roofs shall be clad in Spanish tiles, barrel tiles, colored standing seam 

metal, slate or similar materials.  

[2] Main roofs on buildings shall be, where possible, symmetrical hips or gables 

with a pitch of between 4:12 and 12:12. See Figure 90-170-I.  

[3] All pitched roofs must have an overhang of at least 12 inches and can extend 

to a maximum of 30 inches beyond the face of the facade.  

[4] Flat roofs are permissible on nonresidential or mixed-use buildings. Flat roofs 

must be raked at the minimum slope necessary to shed water and meet other 

construction requirements.  

[5] Buildings with flat roofs must include parapets that shall be no less than 18 

inches in height and not greater than 36 inches in height, measured along the 

face of the facade. The top of this parapet shall be no less than 18 inches higher 

than the adjacent finished roof surface. Building parapets shall be treated as 

unique topping elements on the facades of flat roof buildings. Special attention 



 

 

shall be used in articulations, signage, details, inlays, friezes or other 

appropriate design elements.  

 

Figure 90-170-I 
 

 

(c) Building windows and doors. 

[1] A minimum of 50 percent of the linear dimension of the building's primary 

facade shall include windows or doors. Primary facade walls shall not continue 

uninterrupted without a window or functional public access doorway for a 

distance greater than 12 feet.  

[2] First-floor windows shall be clear or transparent glass. Mirrored or reflective 

glass of any kind is prohibited. Stained glass shall be used sparingly in special 

cases primarily as an architectural accent.  

[3] Window sills shall be located no higher than 42 inches above building finish 

floor level.  

[4] Window headers shall be located no lower than eight feet above adjacent 

building finish floor level.  

[5] Window types shall include bay, casement, clerestory, dormer, and double 

hung. Single-pane and tilt windows are permissible if the glass panes have 

mullions within.  



 

 

[6] The minimum vertical proportion of a window shall be 1.5 times its width.  

[7] Bands of windows are permissible.  

[8] Window treatments shall include caps, lintels, and sills.  

[9] The principal doorway or building entrance inset for public entry into a 

building shall be from Gulf Boulevard. Corner entrances may occur where 

appropriate on corner lots.  

[10] Door types shall include entry, French, patio, and storm.  

(d) Building chimneys. 

[1] Exterior chimneys shall be finished in brick, stucco or stone.  

[2] Chimney hoods and caps shall be terracotta, brick, or stucco.  

[3] Chimney shafts shall be integrated to the design of the building.  

(e) Building arcades, galleries, porches, and awnings. 

[1] All newly constructed buildings located along Gulf Boulevard shall include 

physical extensions (i.e., other than minimum limits of required arcades) that 

project into the intermediate zone between the build-to line and the edge of the 

public right-of-way that serve for additional pedestrian protection.  

[a] These extensions shall include arches, galleries, porches, awnings, 

or other physical extensions from the primary facade.  

[b] These extensions shall extend no less than one-third the length of the 

primary facade and must, at a minimum, provide protection for all 

entries into the building that are not covered by an arcade. It is 

recommended that additional protection be provided for all 

openings, including windows.  

[2] Awnings must extend a minimum of six feet from the primary facade of the 

building.  

[3] Porches must extend a minimum of seven feet in width from the primary 

facade.  

[4] All buildings greater than two stories in height, and with a primary facade 

greater than 60 feet in width, must have a continuous arcade or colonnade for 

the full length of that facade.  

[a] The front (exterior) edge of an arcade shall sit along the Gulf 

Boulevard right-of-way line.  

[b] The interior dimension of an arcade shall be a minimum of eight feet 

wide. See Figure 90-170-J.  

[c] The proportions of the arcade bays shall be vertical and at least ten 

percent greater than the width of the bay at its widest point. The 

minimum height for an arcade bay opening shall be ten feet. The 

minimum width for an arcade bay opening shall be eight feet.  



 

 

 

Figure 90-170-J 

 

[5] Towers are permitted at the corners of buildings that are located at the 

intersection of Gulf Boulevard and any connecting street. See Figure 90-170-

K.  

[a] The design of a tower shall be architecturally continuous with the 

primary building.  

[b] A tower shall be built above the intersecting primary facade and 

intersecting street facade, and may extend up to one story above the 

maximum primary building height.  

[c] A tower must have a square footprint whose width cannot be greater 

than 1/6th the width of the building, and a maximum of 20 feet.  

[d] A tower may be accessible, or inhabited if compliant with other 

provision of this Code.  

[e] Towers shall be constructed with sufficient open space at ground 

level in order that such tower not constitute sight line obstructions.  

 



 

 

Figure 90-170-K 

 

  

G. Public realm design. The creation of compatible public realm design elements along the Gulf 

Boulevard parcels located within the GBOD limits may be considered as a responsibility of 

both private developer and town, depending upon the identified application. Ultimately, 

private redevelopment projects must demonstrate that they meet local requirements for 

approval. The town shall seek implementation of the identified standards, through town 

funding, private developer contribution as appropriate fair share, or combination thereof 

where possible.  

(1) General street design. The private developer(s) shall design and construct public realm 

improvements to Gulf Boulevard to implement the provisions of this section.  

(a) Streets shall be designed as the primary public space within the community and 

shall be designed to the scale of the pedestrian.  

(b) Gulf Boulevard shall be designed to include appropriately selected street trees 

planted in a manner appropriate to their placement and function.  

[1] Gulf Boulevard shall have trees that complement the facades of the structures, 

that provide for visual access to storefronts and signage, and that shade the 

sidewalks.  



 

 

[2] Residential streets shall provide for an appropriate street canopy, designed to 

shade both street and sidewalk during summer months and serve as a visual 

buffer between street and the adjacent dwellings.  

[3] Required shade trees shall provide 14 feet six inches of clearance over the 

roadway.  

(c) On-street parking is preferred and shall be provided wherever possible. Use of on-

street parking shall credit towards on-site parking requirements.  

(d) Within designated areas of Gulf Boulevard, parallel parking shall be acceptable if 

approved by the Florida Department of Transportation.  

(e) Within all other areas, on-street parking is allowed except where expressly 

prohibited.  

(2) Traffic calming. 

(a) Every opportunity should be taken to implement the full complement of traffic 

calming techniques within the town as follows:  

[1] Narrowing the visual field.  

[2] Narrowing or deflecting the roadway.  

[3] Altering the height of the roadway surface.  

(b) This is particularly important along the length of Gulf Boulevard, where the use of 

such techniques will need to be negotiated between the town, private developers, 

and the Florida Department of Transportation, as appropriate.  

(c) On other streets located within the town, however, the town and private developers 

should implement these techniques on an incremental basis as timing, demand, and 

resources permit.  

(3) Curb cuts. 

(a) Adjacent properties shall be designed to share ingress and egress points where 

possible to reduce the number and interval of existing curb cuts in the town through 

cross-access easements.  

(b) Corner properties with ingress and egress to intersecting streets shall have access 

occur from the secondary intersecting street as opposed to Gulf Boulevard right-of-

way.  

(c) Continuous, paved right-of-way access should be eliminated and parking 

redesigned throughout the entire length of Gulf Boulevard right-of-way.  

(4) Bicycles. New development should be designed to enhance mobility within the town 

through increased design emphasis for bicyclists from both within and outside the 

community.  

(a) Indicate through signage, lanes and street markings, desirable locations for bicycle 

use.  

(b) Provide bicycle storage racks and other facilities for temporarily storing bicycles 

on private property and in the public realm.  



 

 

(5) Mass transit. New development activity that exceeds a minimum of 50 percent of the 

existing property appraised value should be designed to support trolley/bus stop 

locations within the community. These locations and facilities will link with adjacent 

commercial, restaurant or civic uses through construction of covered waiting areas.  

(6) Sidewalks. New development activity that exceeds a minimum of 50 percent of the 

existing property appraised value shall improve and/or enhance existing sidewalks 

within the GBOD along Gulf Boulevard and intersecting secondary streets fronting the 

project.  

(a) A minimum eight-foot-wide sidewalk shall be provided along Gulf Boulevard.  

(b) A minimum five-foot-wide sidewalk shall be provided along intersecting secondary 

streets.  

(c) The paved areas along Gulf Boulevard should be thought of as including three 

distinct elements: the edge area closest to the street and/or parking; the central area 

used primarily for walking; the area closest to the private property lines used for 

access to these properties, window shopping, and outdoor dining.  

[1] The edge area, adjacent to the roadway, should be used for street trees, street 

furniture, lighting fixtures, trash receptacles, and other elements. This band 

should be between two feet and four feet wide, depending on the size, type and 

nature of the trees and/or street furniture placed there. All street furnishings, 

palms and shade trees must maintain a minimum of four-foot offset to the face 

of the curb.  

[2] The central area should be dedicated to pedestrian use. Surfaces should be 

durable, and not overly ornate. Few, if any, impediments should be found 

within the realm, which should be at least five feet wide and might extend to 

be as large as eight feet in high traffic areas.  

[3] The area closest to the private property lines should allow enough space for 

people to stop and stand and look at these properties. A portion of the build-to 

line setback may support outdoor cafe seating. At a minimum, this element of 

the sidewalk should be at least two feet wide.  

[4] A combination of the sidewalk areas identified in subsection G.(6)(c)[2] and 

[3] above may be approved by the town for use as part of outdoor cafe seating.  

(7) Street trees. Street trees shall be planted along all primary streets within the town. New 

development shall install and maintain the installations. See Figure 90-170-L.  

(a) Street trees should be installed a maximum of 30 feet on center, and be located 

within planting strips or tree wells. Such trees may require a variance from the 

Florida Department of Transportation Design Engineer if located within the limits 

of clear sight.  

(b) The minimum width for all planting strips is five feet.  

(c) The minimum dimensions for tree wells are five feet by five feet, and shall utilize 

tree grates to permit pedestrian access.  

 



 

 

Figure 90-170-L 

 

 

(8) Lighting. New development shall include lights that are installed as part of a single 

unified fixture comprising both pedestrian and street lighting.  

(a) All lights shall be designed, installed and maintained to protect sea turtle nesting 

patterns.8 

(b) Additional pedestrian lights shall be located at critical intersections or high-

intensity areas, as warranted on an as-needed basis.  

(c) All site lighting shall be designed to eliminate glare to adjacent properties, minimize 

spill over by providing shielding and other appropriate design and construction 

techniques.   

Sec. 90-171. Parking regulations and requirements. 

All off-street parking and loading shall conform to the following requirements:  

A. Locations. Off-street parking or loading lots may be developed in any required side, front 

or rear yards. Parking garages shall conform to the minimum yard requirements for 

principal buildings of the district in which they are located. Required parking may be off 

the site of the principal structure and separated from the site of the principal structure by 

up to 400 feet; and must meet and be approved under the standards of this [subsection] 

L.(4)(e).  

B. Lot surfaces/drainage. Parking lots designed for 20 or more vehicles shall be designed 

for storm runoff pollution control. Appropriate pollution control facilities may include 

pervious bituminous concrete surfaces and on-site retention of stormwater. Performance 

criteria shall be included in the site plan application.  

 

8Cross Reference: See also Ch. 56, Animals, Art. II, Protection of Sea Turtles.  



 

 

C. Dimensions. Each parking space shall measure a minimum of ten feet wide and 20 feet 

deep, exclusive of maneuver space. The marking of parking spaces is required in lots 

designed for more than four vehicles. The developer, at his or her option, may increase 

the number of parking spaces by designating and marking up to 25 percent of the 

required spaces for smaller vehicles. Spaces for smaller vehicles shall measure a 

minimum of nine feet wide and 20 feet deep, exclusive of maneuver space. Total 

required space for parking will, however, be based on the ten-foot-by-twenty-foot 

dimension plus maneuver space for normal vehicles for the required number of spaces.  

D. Vehicular access. Vehicular access to street, pedestrian areas and landscaped areas shall 

be restricted and controlled by curbs or concrete bumpers. Unrestricted access to streets 

shall not exceed 25 feet per access point.  

E. Illumination. Lots shall be adequately illuminated if designed for use by more than four 

vehicles after dark.  

F. Egress. Excluding single-family and duplex residences, all off-street parking areas shall 

be designed so that no vehicle is required to back into a public or private street or through 

drive to obtain egress. For the purposes of this provision, drives or aisles serving more 

than 25 vehicles and which are not internal to a parking bay but serve one or more 

parking bays are considered to be through drives.  

G. Landscaping. Eight percent of the area of parking lots shall be devoted to landscaping 

encompassing trees and shrubs and a mechanical irrigation system. Landscaping 

arrangement shall contribute both to buffering between adjacent properties and to 

effective traffic control for safety.  

H. Loading areas. Loading areas shall comprise one space for every commercial or 

multiple-residence building of 5,000 square feet or more, plus one additional space for 

each additional 25,000 square feet of gross building space. Each loading space shall be 

at least 400 square feet in area.  

I. Residential zone restriction. A garage designed for more than three vehicles is not 

permitted as an accessory use for a single-family dwelling.  

J. Off-street parking areas. 

 (1) The schedule of off-street parking shall be as follows:  

Use Required Spaces 

Auditoriums, places of worship, and places of assembly 1 for each 3 seats 

Business and professional offices, retail 1 for each 200 square feet of floor area used for 

transacting business 

Funeral Homes 1 for each 100 square feet of parlor space 

Hospitals 1 for each 2 patients 

Lodging House 1 for each room for rent 

Medical or dental offices 8 for each doctor 

Multi-use shopping center 1 for each 250 square feet of floor area 

Residential dwellings 2 per dwelling unit 

Restaurants, taverns, nightclub  1 for each 4 seats, plus 1 for every 3 employees, but 

in no event less than 1 for each 50 square feet 

devoted to patron use, plus 1 for each 400 square feet 

of other space 

Social halls, clubs, and lodges 1 for each 200 square feet of floor area 



 

 

Transient accommodations  1 for each sleeping room, plus 1 for every 3 units or 

fraction thereof 

 

(2) For combined permitted uses located in a single enterprise, required parking shall 

be calculated separately. However, if under the site plan review procedures 

described in section 90-110 it can be demonstrated that separate calculation will 

result in more parking than is necessary because of shared clientele or because of 

nonoverlapping hours of use, the requirements may be adjusted accordingly.  

K. Parking reductions for specific developments. 

(1) To avoid requiring more parking spaces than are actually needed to serve a 

development, the board of commissioners may permit reductions in the minimum 

number of parking spaces pursuant to Section 90-171(J) if the conditions and 

requirements below are satisfied. 

(2)  In order for the board of commissioners to allow a reduction in the minimum 

number of parking spaces, an applicant shall demonstrate to the satisfaction of the 

board of commissioners that the minimum parking spaced pursuant to the standards 

of Section 90-171(J) are not needed, due to one or more of the following conditions: 

(a) The nature and operation of the use are such that the actual parking 

requirements of the proposed use are less than the minimum number of 

parking spaces pursuant to Section 90-171(J). Such claims shall be based 

on data from similar developments, parking regulation of similar uses in 

other communities, or a trip generation of parking study prepared by a 

qualified professional.  

(b) Alternatives to on-site parking shall be provided. Such parking alternatives 

may include but are not limited to automated or valet parking which allows 

more vehicles to be parked in less space than conventional parking, remote 

parking with shuttle service to and from the remote location, and ride-

sharing or carpooling programs. All such alternatives shall be made biding 

on the development through approval by the town of a development order, 

development agreement, or restrictive covenant.  

(c) For redevelopment of sites that were legally developed prior to these 

parking standards that do not provide the minimum on-site parking spaces 

pursuant to Section 90-171(J) above, applicants may demonstrate to the 

satisfaction of board of commissioners that existing on-street parking is 

available to serve the proposed redevelopment.  

L. Gulf Boulevard Overlay District (GBOD) parking standards. The following parking 

standards are provided for use within the district limits where appropriate.  

(1) General conditions. Parking lots shall not interrupt key pedestrian routes, or 

otherwise negatively impact Gulf Boulevard. The Building Official shall review 

and make recommendations to the Planning and Zoning Board during site plan 

review process.  

(2) Location. 



 

 

 (a) Vehicular parking areas may be located at the rear of buildings or within the 

interior of blocks. However, vehicular parking areas may be approved by the 

town in side yard areas and/or fronting right-of-way where needed.  

(b) When located alongside a building, the vehicular parking areas shall not 

occupy more than one-third of the entire lot or block frontage, whichever is 

smaller.  

(3) Landscaping. All landscaping shall meet or exceed provisions within this chapter. 

Additionally:  

(a) All parking areas will be screened from public rights-of-way by landscape 

plantings and/or masonry walls.  

(b) Screening shall be a minimum of three feet in height at time of installation and 

be designed to accommodate either FDOT or town safe visibility criteria at 

access points.  

(4) Shared parking. 

 (a) All nonresidential uses within the GBOD can meet their parking requirements 

through the use of non-designated on-street parking (in front of the individual 

use as a credit to one-half car per full space towards required parking count) 

or designated spaces located within accessible private lots with available extra 

space to designate to the intended users, and an agreement as outlined in this 

[subsection] (4)(e).  

(b) All designated spaces must be located in lots within a reasonable walking 

distance, a maximum of 400 feet from the primary entrance of the use, and 

approved by the town.  

(c) Nonresidential uses may also meet their requirements through the use of a 

valet service that has access to off-site parking spaces sufficient to 

accommodate the need of the combined uses, based upon town approval.  

(d) All residential uses must accommodate required parking on-site. However, for 

upper-story residential apartments located within mixed-use buildings, 

parking requirements may be met with designated spaces in adjacent shared 

parking lots.  

(e) The joint use of shared off-street parking spaces must be designated by 

agreement between the users and the owner. The applicant shall submit a 

detailed traffic report prepared by a professional engineer using the Institute 

of Traffic Engineers (ITE) latest edition for trip generation and shared parking 

use. The report will identify the specific uses, hours of operation and 

stipulations acceptable to the town. Such shared use agreements shall be 

subject to final approval by the board of commissioners and after execution, 

recorded by the requesting party with each parcel of property involved so as 

to run with the land.  

(5) Utilization of boat slips as required parking. Eating and drinking establishments and 

water-oriented retail businesses may utilize boat slips to meet off-street parking 



 

 

requirements subject to approval by the board of commissioners in accordance with 

the following standards: 

 (a) All slips must be under the ownership or long-term control of the subject 

business. 

 (b) Boat slips must be available on a first-come, first-serve basis, with no fee 

assessed for use. 

 (c) Boat slips must be reasonably designed to accommodate customer boats. 

 (d) The dock facility must be properly accessible in accordance with the regulations 

governing the maneuvering of watercraft on the adjacent waterway. 

 (e) Boat slips must only be used for transient mooring and no overnight storage of 

vessels shall be allowed. 

 (f) Dock facilities must be complaint with applicable regulations governing 

handicap access and other accessibility or safety concerns. 

 (g) Dock facilities must meet all other provisions of the town’s land development 

code related to commercial docks. 

 (h) No more than 20 percent of required off-street parking can be provided as boat 

slips. 

 (i) Boat slips are allowed to meet off-street parking requirements at a one space per 

slip basis.  

(6) Trash dumpsters. 

 (a) All trash dumpsters shall be stored and screened from the Gulf Boulevard 

right-of-way and adjacent residential uses.  

(b) Trash dumpsters shall be located in an accessible service area and enclosed 

within an opaque fence/wall with gates. Such gates shall remain closed at all 

times other than when being picked up.  

Sec. 90-172. Boat, vessel, watercraft and trailer parking. 

A. It shall be unlawful for any person to place or park more than one boat and one trailer upon 

any lot, piece or parcel of land in the town. It shall not be deemed a violation of this section 

if no more than two personal watercraft are stored on a lot as long as they are on a trailer 

designed to accommodate two personal watercraft and as long as such trailer is the only trailer 

stored on such lot, piece or parcel of land in the town. Placing or parking such equipment 

upon any right-of-way or easement within the town is expressly prohibited.  

B. Boats, vessels, watercraft and trailers placed or parked upon the owner's or occupant's 

property shall be maintained in a neat, clean and presentable manner, and the area beneath 

the equipment shall be kept in a neat condition, and no accumulation of trash, weeds or 

overgrown grass shall be allowed under, near or around the equipment.  

C. It is further provided, notwithstanding any of the provisions contained in subsection A. of this 

section, that any resident of the town may park or store more than one boat, vessel, watercraft 



 

 

or trailer if such equipment is in an enclosed garage or enclosed carport out of view of the 

general public.  

D. Notwithstanding the above provisions, any resident of the town may obtain a permit from the 

town clerk to allow a guest or guests of such resident to park a boat, vessel or watercraft upon 

such resident's property for a period not to exceed 14 days in any calendar year.  

E. It shall be unlawful to violate the provisions of this section, and any person, firm or entity 

violating the provisions of this section shall be subject to a fine of up to $500.00 or 

incarceration for a period not to exceed 60 days in the Pinellas County Jail, with each day of 

violation being a separate violation of the provisions of this section.  

Sec. 90-173. Regulations governing home-based businesses and other special uses. 

A. Home-based businesses. 

(1) Licenses for home-based businesses shall be issued by the town clerk in accordance with 

the provisions of chapter 133, taxation, of the Code of the town.  

(2) The employees of the business must reside in the dwelling, except that up to a total of 

two employees or independent contractors who do not reside at the dwelling may work 

at the business.  

(3) The use of the dwelling shall be consistent with the uses of residential areas that surround 

the property. External modifications made to the dwelling to accommodate the home-

based business must conform to the residential character and architectural aesthetics of 

the neighborhood. 

(4) The use shall not create noise, smoke, heat, glare or noxious odors. 

(5) Parking related to the business activities of the home-based business may not be greater 

in volume than would normally be expected at a similar dwelling where no business is 

conducted. Vehicles and trailers used in connection with the business must be parked in 

legal parking spaces that are not located within the right of way, on or over a sidewalk, 

or on unimproved surfaces at the dwelling. Parking related to the business activities of 

the home-based business must comply with local zoning requirements.  

(6) The home-based business may not conduct retail transactions at a structure other than 

the dwelling, however, incidental business uses and activities may be conducted at the 

property. All business activities must comply with any relevant local or state regulations 

concerning signage.  

B. Other special uses. 

(1) Private, nonprofit recreational uses or social uses where membership is limited to 

adjacent residential areas in the RM-15 district. Standards shall be as follows:  

(a) The use, including accessory structures, shall be no closer than 25 feet to any 

property line.  

(b) The property line shall be screened by a ten-foot landscaped strip.  

(2) Commercial uses and commercial recreation uses in the C-NR district standards shall be 

as follows:  



 

 

(a) The use shall not be closer than 50 feet to any residential district.  

(b) The property line shall be screened by a ten-foot landscaped strip.  

(c) A six-foot solid privacy fence or wall may be permitted as necessary to provide 

buffering for the residential district.  

C. Transient rentals. Transient rentals, as defined in this part 3, shall be deemed to constitute the 

operation of a commercial tourist facility and are specifically prohibited in the RS-7, RD-15, 

RS-10 and RM-15 districts. Under special circumstances, a special use permit for such 

transient rentals in other residential districts may be granted for specified limited periods of 

time. The participation, either directly or indirectly, in such transient rentals by any person 

acting either as an owner, agent, broker or any other form of representative shall constitute 

participation in the operation of a commercial tourist facility. The advertising or use of any 

such property for transient rental, by any formal method, including the Internet, shall be 

deemed to be conducting the operation of a transient rental. Any violation of this provision 

shall be subject to a fine of $500.00. Each day of violation shall constitute a separate violation. 

The penalties contained in this provision shall be the exclusive penalties applicable to a 

violation of this transient rental subsection, and no other fines, penalties or provisions 

contained elsewhere in the Town of Redington Shores Code of Ordinances shall apply to 

violations of the transient rental subsection.  

D. Authority for issuance of special permits. 

(1) The town clerk is authorized to issue special use permits for home-based businesses, 

portable signs and temporary parking of recreation vehicles/housecars.  

(2) All other special use permits shall be subject to approval of the planning and zoning 

board.  

(3) Fees for special use permits shall be in the same amounts as those established for 

business tax receipts in chapter 133, taxation, of the Code of the town.  

Sec. 90-174. Satellite antennas. 

A. Satellite antennas and related guy wires shall be considered accessory structures and shall 

meet setback requirements. They will be fixed-point structures. No more than one satellite 

antenna per property shall be permitted.  

B. Satellite antennas shall be installed and maintained in compliance with requirements of the 

Florida Building Code and National Electrical Code. A building permit shall be required prior 

to construction and installation.  

C. Satellite antennas shall be appropriately finished to avoid bright light reflection and to blend 

with surroundings. No advertising or signage of any type is permitted on satellite antennas. 

Satellite antennas mounted above the roofline shall be of open web or mesh construction. 

Solid antenna dishes may be used in ground or pole mountings where no part of the antenna 

extends beyond the roofline at its nearest point.  

D. The maximum height of the antenna shall not exceed 15 feet above grade, except where roof-

mounted or pole-mounted adjacent to the roof where it will not extend more than 15 feet 

above roof level at its nearest point.  



 

 

E. All poles or other brackets extending into the ground on which satellite antennas are mounted 

shall be securely anchored to conform to the Florida Building Code for like structures, so that 

in the event of flooding, such ground mounts shall not come out of the ground. The plans and 

specifications for such mounts shall be submitted to and approved by the building inspector 

prior to any installation.  

F. For single-family and duplex residences (RS-7, RS-10, RD-15), satellite antennas are 

permitted only within the rear yard buildable area for principal or accessory structures. Where 

roof mounting or pole mounting above the roofline is necessary, such installation will only 

be made in the rear half of the roof area.  

G. For multifamily residences (RM-15), retail office, residential structures (ROR-15), transient 

accommodations(CTF), commercial structures (C-NR) and public institutional structures 

(PI), satellite antennas are permitted in buildable area for principal or accessory structures but 

not forward of the principal structure.  

H. Construction and installation of satellite antennas shall be considered in site plan review as 

described in section 90-237, except for existing single-family and duplex residences.  

I. No variances may be granted which would allow satellite antennas in the required front yard 

setback.  

J. Satellite antennas legally in existence at the date of enactment of this section shall be 

considered "grandfathered." Satellite antennas not otherwise in compliance with this part 3 

shall be removed at the owner's expense.  

Sec. 90-175. Nonconforming uses. 

A. Buildings existing at the time this part 3 becomes effective; alteration or change of use. The 

lawful use of a building, which use existed at the time of the effective date of this part 3, may 

be continued although such use does not conform to the provisions hereof. If no structural 

alterations are made, a nonconforming use of a building may be changed to another 

nonconforming use of the same or of a more restricted classification. Whenever a 

nonconforming use has been changed to a more restricted use or to a conforming use, such 

use shall not thereafter be changed to less restricted use.  

B. Use of buildings which become nonconforming through zoning change. Whenever the use of 

a building becomes nonconforming through a change in the zoning ordinance or district 

boundaries, such use may be continued; and if no structural alterations are made, it may be 

changed to another nonconforming use of the same or of a more restricted classification.  

C. Discontinuance of a nonconforming use. In the event that a nonconforming use of any 

building or place is discontinued for a period of six months, the use of the same shall thereafter 

conform to the use permitted in the district in which it is located; provided, however, that the 

board of commissioners may permit a continuation of such nonconforming building or 

premises.  

D. Alteration of building housing nonpermitted use. No existing building devoted to a use not 

permitted by this part 3 in the district in which such building is located shall be enlarged, 

extended, reconstructed or structurally altered unless such use is changed to a use permitted 

in the district in which such building is located.  



 

 

E. Restoration of nonconforming uses damaged by any cause. When a building, the use of which 

does not conform to the provisions of this part 3, is less than 51 percent damaged without 

design or connivance of the owner thereof by fire, explosion, hurricane or any cause, it may 

be restored, provided that the same meets with the provisions of the town building code and 

the permit issued thereunder.  

F. Special exception. Where an individual single-residence is located in a zoning district 

permitting single residences, but does not meet criteria as to lot size or flood protection, and 

is destroyed or damaged beyond 51 percent of total value by a disaster not of the owner's 

design, connivance or contribution, a building permit may be issued by the building 

department for reconstruction or replacement of a like single-family residence meeting flood 

protection and minimum setback criteria for the district in which the property is located.  

G. In the event that any residential structure is damaged or destroyed by a hurricane, tornado, 

fire, flood, windstorm, or other natural disaster, it can be repaired or reconstructed in a manner 

which guarantees that each unit and all permitted accessory uses can be restored to the same 

square footage and structure footprint upon the lot or lots which existed immediately prior to 

such disaster. Repairs and reconstruction shall adhere to all other Town Code provisions and 

flood management regulations in effect. In the event that such flood regulations require the 

elevation of a structure, the town shall permit the height of the structure to be increased the 

minimum necessary to accommodate the required flood elevation. If the repairs or 

reconstruction cannot be made in accordance with the current Town Code provisions, the 

town shall grant the owners relief from such code provisions to permit the same number of 

grandfathered units, and all existing legally permitted accessory uses, to be constructed on 

the same structure footprint upon the lot or lots which existed prior to the disaster, provided 

such restoration does not create a greater nonconformity than that which existed prior to the 

disaster.  

Sec. 90-176. Nonconforming structures. 

 

A. Nonconforming Structures which are also Nonconforming Uses. Nonconforming 

structures which are also nonconforming with respect to use or density shall be governed 

by the provisions of this Section.  

 

B. Extension or Expansion of Nonconforming Structures. No nonconforming structure shall 

be enlarged, increased, or extended to occupy a greater area than it occupied at the effective 

date of this Part 3, except any nonconforming structure may be enlarged provided the extent 

of nonconformity is not increased.  

 

C. Relocation of a Nonconforming Structure. A nonconforming structure may be relocated to 

any portion of the lot or parcel upon which it is situated provided the relocation results in 

a lesser extent of nonconformity than exited prior to its relocation.  

 

D. Elevation of Nonconforming Structure. For flood damage protection purposes, and as a 

matter of public safety, a nonconforming structure may be elevated in conformance with 

the Florida Building Code provided that there is no increase in other nonconformities.  

 



 

 

E. Conversion of a Nonconforming Structure or part thereof.  Any existing structure in which 

a nonconformity is altered, changes or replaced by a conforming structure shall thereafter 

conform to the regulations of the zoning district in which such structure is located. Such 

terminated nonconformity shall not thereafter be resumed nor shall any additional 

nonconformity be permitted.  

 

F. Alteration and Repairs. Normal maintenance and repair and incidental alteration of a 

nonconforming structure is allowed provided it does not increase the degree of 

nonconformity. 

 

G. Change in Tenancy or Ownership. There may be a change in tenancy, ownership or 

management of a nonconforming structure provided there is no change in the nature or 

character of the structure which would increase the intensity or area occupied by a 

nonconforming use.   

 

H. Nonconforming Accessory Structures. No nonconforming accessory structure shall 

continue after the principal use shall have been terminated unless such accessory use shall 

fully conform to all applicable provisions of the zoning district In which it is located.  

 

Sec. 90-177. Transferable development rights. 

A. Applications for transferable development rights shall be processed in accordance with the 

provisions of section 90-73. Applications will be subject to review by the planning and zoning 

board, which shall pass its recommendation to the town board of commissioners, who shall, 

in its sole discretion, taking into consideration the existing density of other parcels in the 

vicinity of the receiving parcel, ingress and egress to the receiving parcel, and other such 

factors, make the final determination as to whether to allow the transfer of development rights 

as requested, or as modified.  

B. Transfer of development rights shall be subject to the following:  

(1) The permitted uses within any given future land use plan category shall be consistent 

with those permitted uses enumerated for each future land use plan category, and no 

transfer of development rights shall be permitted which is inconsistent with the permitted 

uses of a given future land use plan category.  

(2) There shall be no transfer of development rights from existing developed property, 

irrespective of whether or not that property has been developed to the maximum 

density/intensity permitted under the future land use map and this Code, except for 

archaeological, historical, architectural preservation, or nationally recognized green 

building certification (i.e. LEED, WELL Building, Green Globes, Living Building 

Challenge, etc.) purposes, pursuant to the enumerated policies and locations as set forth 

in the Comprehensive Plan and this Code. For the purpose of this provision, any lot or 

parcel which has been developed to a density that is less than its maximum density shall 

be considered to be an "existing developed property."  



 

 

(3) Transfer of development rights is permitted between all future land use plan categories 

except for transfer to the preservation and recreation/open space categories.  

(4) The maximum permitted density/intensity of the future land use plan category for any 

parcel of land to which development rights are transferred shall not exceed an additional 

20 percent of the otherwise maximum permitted density/intensity allowed for each 

respective future land use plan category applicable to such parcel.  

(5) Where development rights are transferred from a sending parcel, that property shall only 

be used in a manner and to the extent specified in the transfer and recording mechanism. 

Any parcel from which development rights are transferred will be limited to the use and 

density/intensity that remains after the transfer. In particular:  

(a) The residual development rights on the sending parcel will be limited to the remnant 

use and density/intensity available under the future land use map designation, and 

not otherwise transferred.  

(b) Neither the use nor density/intensity of a sending parcel shall be double-counted, 

and the transfer of development rights shall not result in any combination of use or 

density/intensity above that which was otherwise permitted under the future land 

use map designation for each of the sending and receiving parcels, when taken 

together.  

(c) A sending parcel from which all development rights are transferred shall not 

thereafter be available for use except consistent with the permitted uses and 

density/intensity standards of the recreation/open space category, except for 

sending parcels classified as preservation or required to be classified as preservation 

as a function of the transfer, in which case such parcels shall be limited to the 

permitted uses and density/intensity standards of the preservation category.  

(6) Where all development rights have previously been transferred from a sending parcel, 

no additional development rights shall be transferable from that sending parcel.  

(7) There shall be no transfer of development rights from or to submerged land, or from 

outside the coastal high hazard area into the coastal high hazard area.  

(8) The sending parcel must be located within the town unless it is owned by the town or 

another unit of local government.  

(9) Where development rights cannot otherwise be determined for the preservation or 

recreation/open space category based on these provisions for transfer of development 

rights, such categories shall be assigned a maximum density/intensity of one dwelling 

unit or five percent floor area ratio per acre, or both, as is applicable based on the 

permitted uses to be utilized in the receiving parcel for any transfer of development rights 

under the future land use map and this Code.  

(10) Where an entire parcel of property is located in a preservation or recreation/open space 

category, and the development rights of such parcel have not been and cannot be 

transferred, such property shall be permitted a minimum beneficial use subject to the 

various provisions set forth in the future land use map and this Code, but private property 

shall not be taken without due process of law and the payment of just compensation.  



 

 

(11) All transfers of development rights shall be recorded, in a form approved by the 

countywide planning authority, in the public records with the Clerk of the Circuit Court 

for Pinellas County, and a record copy of same to be filed with the Forward Pinellas.  

(12) All applications for transfer of development rights shall be on a form, as required by the 

building official, and shall be accompanied by the payment of a fee, as enacted, and as 

may be from time to time amended, by the board of commissioners, by resolution.  

Sec. 90-178. Vacation rentals. 

A. Applicability and purpose. 

(1) This section shall apply to all permitted vacation rentals located in the town including 

any grandfathered use of vacation rentals in zoning districts other than Commercial 

Tourist Facilities (CTF) and Planned Unit Development (PUD) with a Future Land Use 

category of Resorts Facilities Medium (RFM).  

(2) The purpose of this section is to provide additional regulations pertaining to vacation 

rentals to preserve the quiet nature and atmosphere of residential areas and to ensure to 

the town's residents the tranquility and peaceful enjoyment of their neighborhoods. 

These regulations shall be in addition to and shall not supplant other provisions in this 

Code that may apply to vacation rentals; and in the event of a conflict, the more 

restrictive provision shall control. Nothing in this section shall be deemed to create an 

enforceable right or private right of action against the town.  

B. Certificate of use required. No property owner, responsible party, or peer-to-peer or platform 

entity shall offer as a vacation rental or allow any person to rent or occupy as a vacation rental 

any property in whole or in part within the town, unless a certificate of use has first been 

obtained in accordance with the provisions of this section. A property may be offered as a 

vacation rental immediately upon submission of an application for certificate of use, unless 

and until such time as the application is thereafter rejected or revoked.  

(1) Application. A complete certificate of use application shall be submitted to the town. 

The application must be signed under oath or affirmation, and shall include the 

following:  

(a) The address and legal description of the vacation rental property;  

(b) Name address, email address, and phone number of the property owner;  

(c) Name, address, email address, and phone number of the responsible party;  

(d) Name and contact information for the peer-to-peer or platform entity or entities on 

which the vacation rental is, or will be, listed for rent;  

(e) Statement that the responsible party is, or will be, remitting all applicable local 

Pinellas County business and tourist taxes; or that a peer-to-peer or platform entity 

through which vacation rentals are booked will be remitting all such taxes 

associated with the vacation rental on the responsible party's behalf;  

(f) Statement that the responsible party is authorized by the property owner to offer the 

property as a vacation rental and act as the responsible party;  



 

 

(g) Statement as to whether the entire property, or just a part thereof (i.e., a room or 

rooms) will be used as a vacation rental;  

(h) Statement that insurance coverage will be in effect at all times while the property is 

being used as a vacation rental to cover liability for injury or harm to transient 

occupants or other invitees, and acknowledging that a standard homeowner's or 

renter's insurance policy may not necessarily provide such liability coverage while 

the property is used as a vacation rental;  

(i) Statement acknowledging that the vacation rental must be registered with the 

Florida Department of Revenue, or successor agency, for purposes of collecting and 

remitting applicable state taxes and all such state taxes have been, or will be, paid;  

(j) Statement acknowledging that a vacation rental license, issued by the Florida 

Department of Business and Professional Regulation, or successor agency, must be 

obtained; and  

(k) Statement acknowledging that the property is, and will be at all times during which 

it is used as a vacation rental, maintained in compliance with the vacation rental 

standards set forth in subsection C. below;  

(l) Statement acknowledging that copies of any executed rental contract in existence 

prior to August 12, 2020, which contains provisions contrary to this section but are 

otherwise permissible under town, along with evidence of any deposit received in 

conjunction with such contract(s), must be submitted to the town with the initial 

certificate of use application. The property owner or responsible party must also 

execute the corresponding affidavit promulgated by the town, as may be amended 

from time to time. Failure to submit such affidavit and documentation shall result 

in all rentals being subject to the terms of this section despite the date such rental 

agreement was entered into by the parties.  

(m) A building sketch(s) shall be provided by floor showing a floor layout. The sketch 

shall be drawn to scale, showing all bedrooms and sleeping areas.  

(2) Supporting documentation. The responsible party shall maintain all required licenses, 

records, and other documentation sufficient to demonstrate that the statements and 

information required by subsection (1) above are true and accurate.  

(3) Providing false information. Failure to provide truthful and complete information and 

responses in an application for a certificate of use is grounds to deny or revoke the 

certificate of use. A determination that an applicant has failed to provide truthful and 

complete information and responses in an application is appealable to the board of 

commissioners, provided that a written notice of appeal is filed with the town clerk 

within ten calendar days from the date of the written denial or revocation of the 

certificate of use.  

(4) Annual renewal. The certificate of use shall be renewed annually. A certificate of use 

may not be renewed if there are any outstanding fines or liens for violations of town 

Code.  

C. Vacation rental standards. The following vacation rental standards shall govern vacation 

rentals in the town:  



 

 

(1) Duties of peer-to-peer or platform entity. For each vacation rental listed or offered, a 

peer-to-peer or platform entity shall:  

(a) Provide notice of the requirements of this section to any person or entity listing or 

offering a vacation rental on its service or platform by including a summary of such 

requirements in a format acceptable to the town on its service of platform:  

(b) Only provide payment processing services, or otherwise facilitate payment for a 

vacation rental that has a valid certificate of use in accordance with this section. A 

peer-to-peer or platform entity shall not be held liable pursuant to this subsection 

where it:  

(i) As part of its vacation rental listing registration process, informs the 

responsible party that a certificate of use must be obtained before offering a 

vacation rental in the town; includes a link to the town's webpage where a 

certificate of use application can be located: requires the responsible party to 

confirm that such party has been advised of the town's regulations, including 

the certificate of use requirement; and provides a dedicated field to enable the 

responsible party to input the certificate of use number before such party 

completes registration and lists a vacation rental on the service or platform:  

(ii) Provides the town on a monthly basis a report disclosing for each vacation 

rental listing the information entered by the responsible party in the certificate 

of use dedicated field, or whether the responsible party left that field blank; 

the total number of vacation rental listings on the service or platform during 

the prior month; and the total number of nights that vacation rentals listed on 

the service or platform were rented during the prior month.  

(c) Comply with administrative subpoenas or other appropriate legal process from the 

town seeking information relating to persons or entities listing or offering vacation 

rentals on its service or platform;  

(d) Maintain records demonstrating that the requirements of this subsection have been 

satisfied and such records shall be subject to inspection by the town upon request 

pursuant to the issuance of an administrative subpoena or other appropriate legal 

process, provided however, that certain confidential information, such as social 

security numbers, credit card information, and names of minors, shall not be subject 

to inspection upon request of the town; and  

(e) Make available to the town for inspection upon request pursuant to the issuance of 

an administrative subpoena or other appropriate legal process all records relating to 

any suspected violations of state or local law associated with any vacation rental 

property in the town, provided, however, that certain confidential information, such 

as social security numbers credit card information, and names of minors, shall not 

be subject to inspection upon request of the town.  

(2) Duties of responsible party. For each vacation rental, the responsible party shall:  

(a) Provide written notice to transient occupants, prior to occupancy of the vacation 

rental, of the town's vacation rental standards set forth in this section, as well as the 

town's current regulations concerning noise, public nuisance, vehicle parking, solid 

waste collection, pet dogs on the beach, and condominium common area usage. 



 

 

This information, which is compiled and updated by the town and maintained on 

the vacation rental standards page of the town's website, shall also be made 

available to each transient occupant inside the subject property;  

(b) Ensure that any violations regarding the rental of the property, including violations 

of regulations concerning noise, public nuisance, vehicle parking, solid waste 

collection, pet dogs on the beach, and condominium common area usage, are able 

to be promptly addressed and resolved 24 hours a day/seven days per week; and  

(c) Maintain a register with names and dates of stay of all guests, including, but not 

limited to, all transient occupants and their invitees.  

(3) Maximum occupancy. Maximum overnight occupancy for vacation rentals shall be up to 

a maximum of two persons per permitted bedroom, plus two additional persons per 

property up to a maximum of 12 persons excluding children under six years of age. At 

all other times maximum occupancy for vacation rentals shall not exceed the maximum 

overnight occupancy of the vacation rental plus four additional persons per property, up 

to a maximum of 16 persons, excluding children under six years of age. For purposes of 

this subsection, "overnight" shall mean from 10:00 p.m. until 7:00 a.m. the following 

day. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at no time may the occupancy of a vacation rental 

exceed the maximum occupant load for the property under the Florida Building Code.  

(4) Solid waste handling and containment. Solid waste containers sufficient to handle the 

maximum occupancy permitted shall be maintained in accordance with chapter 127. All 

regulations regarding screening and storage of solid waste containers shall apply to 

vacation rentals. For purposes of this section, and as required in section 127-4 all solid 

waste containers shall be placed near the curb or alley no earlier than 6:00 p.m. of the 

evening preceding the collection day and must be removed not later than 7:00 p.m. of 

the day of collection.  

(5) Advertising and signs. Signs shall only be allowed to the extent permitted by the 

regulations in the Code applicable to the relevant zoning district. Any advertisements or 

signs pertaining to vacation rentals that are inconsistent with the requirements, 

restrictions and regulations of the certificate of use or these vacation rental standards 

shall be deemed prima facie evidence in any enforcement action that a vacation rental is 

being operated in violation of this section.  

(6) Posting of certificate of use. Whenever a property is being used as a vacation rental, the 

certificate of use required by this section shall be available in a conspicuous location that 

is clearly visible to guests within the vacation rental and shall include at a minimum the 

name, address and phone number of the responsible party and the maximum occupancy 

of the vacation rental.  

(7) Parking and vehicles. All vehicles associated with the vacation rental, whether in the 

possession or control of the property owner, responsible party, or transient occupant, 

including maintenance, service and catering providers, shall comply with chapter 140 

and all other applicable sections of the Code, and shall not obstruct emergency vehicles, 

normal movement of traffic, block driveways, mailboxes or beach access. Transient 

occupants shall not be permitted to park more than two vehicles at any one time on the 

subject property during the rental period, unless the property has additional lawfully 



 

 

permitted parking spaces sufficient to park additional vehicle(s) without encroaching on 

town right-of-way.  

(8) Noise. All transient occupants shall abide by chapter 101 of the Town Code, which 

prohibits unreasonably loud, excessive, unnecessary, or unusual noise. Outdoor 

amplified sound at a vacation rental shall not be permitted at any time.  

(9) Public nuisance. The responsible party and all transient occupants shall abide by the 

following state and town nuisance laws: F.S. §§ 823.05 and 823.10, and article II of 

chapter 103 of the Town Code.  

(10) Pets. If the responsible party permits transient occupants to have pets at the vacation 

rental, such pets shall be at all times secured within the property lines or on a leash but 

shall not be tethered. Continual nuisance barking by pets is prohibited. The keeping of 

pets shall be subject to the regulations of this section and chapter 56 of the Town Code 

regarding animals.  

(11) Swimming pool safety features. If there is a swimming pool onsite, the responsible party 

shall ensure that the swimming pool has in place at least one of the pool safety features 

listed in F.S. § 515.27, (i.e., pool safety barrier pool safety cover pool alarm or door 

latch/alarm) prior to use of the property as a vacation rental by any person under the age 

of six. The responsible party shall be deemed to have complied with this provision if the 

pool safety feature is put in place at the time that the property is turned over to any 

transient occupant occupying the vacation rental. This provision shall not apply to a 

vacation rental with a community swimming pool onsite, such as in a condominium. 

Compliance with this provision shall be in addition to compliance with article VI of 

chapter 63 of the Town Code pertaining to swimming pool fences.  

D. Enforcement. The requirements of this section shall be enforced in accordance with the 

following:  

(1) Penalties. Any person operating a vacation rental without a certificate of use or in 

violation of the vacation rental standards or any other provisions in this section shall be 

subject to the penalties set forth in section 1-16 and for the civil infractions as provided 

below, or both, and to all other enforcement measures authorized in this Code or by other 

applicable law:  

(a) Failure to obtain certificate of use for vacation rental.  

(i) First offense—$100.00;  

(ii) Second offense—$1,000.00;  

(iii) Third offense and subsequent violations thereafter—$2,500.00.  

(b) Violation of vacation rental standard or any other provision of section 90-178.  

(i) First offense—$100.00;  

(ii) Second offense occurring within 12 months of the first offense—$1,000.00;  

(iii) Third offense occurring within 12 months of the most recent two preceding 

offenses—$2,500.00 and revocation of the certificate of use.  



 

 

(c) Revocation of a certificate of use pursuant to this section shall be for a period of 12 

months. Any certificate of use revoked pursuant to this section shall be appealable 

to the board of commissioners provided that a written notice of appeal is filed with 

the town within ten calendar days from the date of the written notice of revocation. 

The notice of appeal must be in writing and filed with the town clerk. The appeal 

shall be accompanied by a fee as specified by resolution of the board of 

commissioners.  

(2) Joint and several liability. The property owner of the vacation rental property shall be 

liable for any violations of this section, including any rule or regulation promulgated 

pursuant to this section. Whenever two or more persons commit such a violation, each 

violator shall be jointly and severally liable for any fines assessed. This applies to 

situations where a property owner, responsible party, peer-to-peer or platform entity, or 

transient occupant, or any combination thereof, are together responsible for a violation 

of this section. It is provided however, that where a peer-to-peer or platform entity does 

not itself commit a violation of this section, it shall not be held jointly and severally 

liable, nor shall it be held vicariously liable for any violations committed solely by the 

responsible party or transient occupants. In addition, where a peer-to-peer or platform 

entity complies with subsection C(1)(b)(i) and (ii), it shall not be held jointly and 

severally liable for providing a listing for, or collecting a fee for listing, any vacation 

rental. It is the intent of this subsection (2) to address liability for administrative code 

violations only. This subsection (2) is not intended to address liability for damages 

suffered by any person as a result of negligent or intentional acts which are sought or 

awarded under criminal or tort law.  

 

Sec. 90-179.  Redington Shores Yacht and Tennis Club Planned Unit Development. 

 

Parcels within the Redington Shores Yacht and Tennis Club, identified as Planned Unit 

Development (PUD) on the town’s official zoning map shall, in addition to the requirements of 

this chapter, be subject to the standards and requirements of town Ordinance No. 05-05.  

 

Secs. 90-180 – 90-184. Reserved. 

PART 4. – CONCURRENCY MANAGEMENT SIGNS 

ARTICLE XXXII. – CONCURRENCY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM SIGNS 

Sec. 90-170. Definitions. 

As used in this article, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:  

Acceptance of or accepted application for development—An application for development 

contains sufficient information, pursuant to existing regulations, to allow continuing review under 

this division or other regulatory ordinances.  

Application for development—Any documentation which contains a specific plan for 

development, including the densities and intensities of development, where applicable, that is 

presented by any person for the purpose of obtaining a development order or development permit.  

Commented [NM15]: Sec. 90-170 thru 90-175 were 
moved to Part 5.  



 

 

Approved final site plan—Any site development plan that has been accepted, reviewed, and 

approved by the town.  

Certificate of concurrency—The certificates issued by the Town of Redington Shores upon 

finding that an application for a development permit will not result in the reduction of the level of 

service standards set forth in the comprehensive plan for public facilities and services.  

Comprehensive plan—The Comprehensive Plan adopted by Ordinance No. 89-11 on 

September 12, 1989, by the Board of Commissioners pursuant to F.S. pt. II, ch. 163, as said plan 

may be amended from time to time.  

Concurrency—That the necessary public facilities and services to maintain the adopted level 

of service standards are available when the impacts of development occur.  

Concurrency management monitoring system—The data collection, processing and analysis 

performed by the town to determine levels of service for public facilities and services. Data 

maintained by the concurrency management monitoring system shall be the most current 

information available to the town.  

Concurrency management system—The procedures and processes utilized by the Town of 

Redington Shores to determine that development permits, when issued, will not result in the 

reduction of the level of service standards set forth in the Comprehensive Plan for the Town of 

Redington Shores.  

Currently available revenue sources—An existing source and amount of revenue available 

to the town.  

Development—Any construction, reconstruction or any use of real property which requires 

issuance of a development permit.  

Development permit—Any approved final site plan, building permit, zoning clearance, 

rezoning, special exception, variance, conditional use, or any other official action of the town 

having the effect of permitting the development of land.  

Final local development order—A building permit issued on or after April 1, 1990.  

Level of service (LOS)—A measure of performance and/or of demand versus available 

capacity of public services and facilities.  

Public facilities and services—The public facilities and services for which level of service 

standards have been established in the comprehensive plan:  

A. Potable water.  

B. Wastewater.  

C. Solid waste.  

D. Recreation/open space.  

E. Stormwater management.  

(Ord. No. 15-03, § 5, 2-10-2016) 



 

 

 

Sec. 90-171. General requirements for concurrency review. 

A certificate of concurrency shall be required prior to the issuance of a building permit. A 

certificate of concurrency shall automatically expire simultaneously with the expiration of the 

building permit to which it applies. In the event that a time extension is granted prior to the 

expiration of a building permit, then the accompanying certificate of concurrency shall be 

automatically renewed for the length of the time extension.  

Sec. 90-172. Level of service standards. 

Levels of service standards shall be as follows:  

 Service  Level of Standards  

Potable water  LOS - 150 gallons/day/capita (nonresidential is included)  

  Number of gallons required determined by multiplying the LOS x 

buildout population  

  Maximum demand of buildout population: 557,550 gallons/day (3,717 x 

150 gallons) (Pinellas County has committed to provide service.)  

Solid waste  LOS - 6.5 pounds/day/capita (nonresidential is included)  

  Number of pounds produced is determined by multiplying the LOS x 

buildout population  

  Maximum demand of buildout population: 24,160 pounds/day (3,717 x 

6.5 pounds) (Pinellas County has committed to provide service.)  

Sanitary sewers  LOS - 109 gpcd (nonresidential is included)  

  Number of gallons required determined by multiplying the LOS x 

buildout population  

  Maximum demand of buildout population: 405,153 gallons/day (3,717 x 

109 gallons) (Pinellas County has committed to provide service.)  

Parks and recreation  LOS minipark: 1/2,500 Existing: 3 parks Required: 1.48 parks Possible 

growth: 3,800 residents  

  LOS neighborhood park: 1/5,000 Existing: 1 park Required: 0.74 Possible 

growth: 1,283 residents  

  LOS community park: 1/10,000 Existing: 1 park Required: 0.37 Possible 

growth: 6,283 residents  

Stormwater  25-year; 24 hours  

 

(Ord. No. 15-03, § 5, 2-10-2016) 

Sec. 90-173. Exempt development. 

If a proposed development relates to land use of such a low intensity as to have minimal 

effect, if any, upon the level of service standards set forth in the comprehensive plan, the 

development shall be exempt from concurrency review.  

(Ord. No. 15-03, § 5, 2-10-2016) 

Sec. 90-174. Concurrency evaluation. 

The Town of Redington Shores permits single-family and multifamily residential 

development, tourist accommodations and commercial/office uses. All services/facilities, with the 



 

 

exception of parks and recreation and stormwater management, are provided by Pinellas County. 

Pinellas County has either committed to provide the facilities/services (water, wastewater, solid 

waste) or has established a threshold for concurrency review which exceeds the town's demand 

(140 trips). Accordingly, based on the limited development potential of the town and the ability to 

meet projected demand for both parks and recreation and stormwater management, the 

concurrency management system for the Town of Redington Shores will be limited to a yearly 

monitoring of capacity draw down and an update of facility consumption with the five-year 

evaluation and appraisal report.  

Sec. 90-175. Applicability. 

The concurrency management system, as contained in this article, is mandated by F.S. § 

163.3202 to provide that public facilities and services meet or exceed the level of service standards 

set forth in the Comprehensive Plan. The Comprehensive Plan was adopted as the Comprehensive 

Plan of Redington Shores on September 12, 1989, and the application of the concurrency 

management system shall be effective as to all building permits issued on or after April 1, 1990.  

Secs. 90-176—90-190. Reserved. 

ARTICLE XXXIII. SUN SHELTERS/CHICKEE HUTS 

Sec. 90-191. Definitions. 

Chickee huts. A hut built on stilts, with open sides and a thatched roof of palm fronds, that 

does not incorporate any electrical, plumbing or other non-wood features, and is constructed 

exclusively by either the Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Florida or the Seminole Tribe of Florida.  

Sun shelter. For the purpose of this article, a sun shelter shall have the same meaning as 

chickee hut.  

Thatched roof. A roof constructed of palm fronds in an open web type of construction and 

attached in such a manner that they are sacrificed in winds exceeding 70 mph.  

(Ord. No. 19-01, § 1, 2-13-2019) 

Sec. 90-192. Construction standards. 

(1) All construction must meet at least the minimum requirements of the Florida Building Code 

as adopted by the Town of Redington Shores, and as amended to date, and as may be 

subsequently amended.  

(2) No sun shelters shall be permitted except those supported by either:  

(a) One central pole of a diameter not to exceed ten inches; or  

(b) A maximum of eight poles.  

(3) The maximum coverage allowed under roof, including overhangs shall be 150 square feet.  

(4) The maximum height of the sun shelter shall be 14 feet measured from the patio or land on 

which the sun shelter is constructed. Should the surface on which the sun shelter is constructed 

Commented [NM16]: Moved to Part 6 



 

 

have a grade, the measurement required by this subsection shall be from the lowest point of 

the grade under the sun shelter, including overhangs.  

(5) The minimum height of the palm fronds composing the sun shelter shall be six feet, measured 

in subsection (4) above.  

(6) No sun shelter shall incorporate any electrical, plumbing or other non-wood features.  

(7) Any sun shelter not constructed by the Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Florida or the 

Seminole Tribe of Florida is subject to the Florida Building Code and not exempt from 

building permit requirements.  

(Ord. No. 19-01, § 1, 2-13-2019) 

Sec. 90-193. Zoning regulations. 

(1) Sun shelters are allowed only in residential zoning districts.  

(2) Sun shelters shall not be constructed within five feet of any rear lot line.  

(3) Sun shelters shall not be constructed within three feet of any side lot line.  

(4) No sun shelter shall be permitted to attach to existing living structures on the property and 

must comply with all separation requirements under the Florida Fire Prevention Code.  

(Ord. No. 19-01, § 1, 2-13-2019) 

Sec. 90-194. Condition of fronds. 

A sun shelter to which palm fronds are attached so as not to be sacrificed in winds exceeding 

70 mph is hereby declared to be a danger to the health and safety of the citizens of the Town of 

Redington Shores. No such condition shall be allowed to exist.  

(Ord. No. 19-01, § 1, 2-13-2019) 

Sec. 90-195. Zoning clearance required. 

(1) Sun shelters/chickee huts constructed by the Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Florida and/or 

the Seminole Tribe of Florida are exempt from the Florida Building Code and do not require 

a building permit. They are not, however, exempt from zoning district regulations.  

(2) The following is required to be submitted to the Town prior to construction of any sun shelter 

by the Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Florida or the Seminole Tribe of Florida for a zoning 

clearance approval:  

(a) A zoning clearance application fee of $89.00 payable to the Town of Redington Shores.  

(b) Site plans showing the proposed location of construction (all setbacks are required to be 

shown on the site plan).  

(c) Proof of identification (business card, tribe ID card, driver's license).  

(d) Letter from the tribe member stating that only they will be doing the work to construct 

and erect the sun shelter.  



 

 

(3) Any structure larger than 150 square feet, whether or not it is constructed by the Miccosukee 

Tribe of Indians of Florida or the Seminole Tribe of Florida, requires a permit and would 

require engineered plans and any variances that might be required.  

(Ord. No. 19-01, § 1, 2-13-2019) 

Sec. 90-196. Approval of existing structures. 

Any property owner with an existing sun shelter that was constructed by the Miccosukee 

Tribe of Indians of Florida or the Seminole Tribe of Florida prior to the adoption of this Ordinance 

19-01, shall have a 120-day period (beginning from the date this Ordinance 19-01 is adopted) to 

submit all regulatory paperwork required to prove compliance with the standards set forth in this 

section. There shall be no approval fee required for pre-existing sun shelters during the 120-day 

grace period.  

(Ord. No. 19-01, § 1, 2-13-2019) 

Sec. 90-185. Purpose and scope of this article. 

A.  In order to preserve the town as a community in which people wish to, live, visit, vacation, 

work, invest in, and retire, the town must maintain a visually aesthetic and safe environment. 

The regulation of signs within the town is an effective means by which to achieve this desired 

end. These sign regulations are prepared with the intent of promoting the public health, safety 

and general welfare in the town through a comprehensive system of reasonable, consistent, 

and nondiscriminatory sign standards and requirements. This article regulates signs which are 

placed on private property, or on property owned by public agencies including the town, and 

over which the town has zoning authority. These sign regulations are intended to: 

(1) Encourage the effective use of signs as a means of communication in the town; 

(2) Maintain and enhance the aesthetic environment and the town's ability to attract sources 

of economic development and growth; 

(3) Improve pedestrian and traffic safety; 

(4) Minimize the possible adverse effect of signs on nearby public and private property; 

(5) Foster the integration of signage with architectural and landscape designs; 

(6)  Lessen the visual clutter that may otherwise be caused by the proliferation, improper 

placement, illumination, animation, excessive height, and excessive size (area) of signs 

which compete for the attention of pedestrian and vehicular traffic; 

(7)  Allow signs that are compatible with their surroundings and aid orientation, while 

precluding the placement of signs that contribute to sign clutter or that conceal or 

obstruct adjacent land uses or signs; 

(8) Encourage and allow signs that are appropriate to the zoning district in which they are 

located and consistent with the category of use and function to which they pertain; 

(9) Curtail the size and number of signs and sign messages to the minimum reasonably 

necessary to identify a residential or business location and the nature of any such 

business; 

Commented [NM17]: Sec. 90-185 thru 90-216 thru is 
new language addressing sign code to bring into compliance 
with current law. 



 

 

(10) Establish sign size in relationship to the scale of the lot and building on which the sign 

is to be placed or to which it pertains; 

(11) Categorize signs based upon their structures and tailor the regulation of signs based upon 

those structures; 

(12) Preclude signs from conflicting with the principal permitted use of the site and adjoining 

sites; 

(13) Regulate signs in a manner so as to not interfere with, obstruct the vision of, or distract 

motorists, bicyclists or pedestrians; 

(14) Except to the extent expressly preempted by state or federal law, ensure that signs are 

constructed, installed and maintained in a safe and satisfactory manner, and protect the 

public from unsafe signs; 

(15) Preserve, conserve, protect, and enhance the aesthetic quality and scenic beauty of all 

districts of the town; 

(16) Allow for traffic control devices consistent with national standards and whose purpose 

is to promote highway safety and efficiency by providing for the orderly movement of 

road users on streets and highways, and that notify road users of regulations and provide 

warning and guidance needed for the safe, uniform and efficient operation of all elements 

of the traffic stream; 

(17) Protect property values by precluding, to the maximum extent possible, sign-types that 

create a nuisance to the occupancy or use of other properties as a result of their size, 

height, illumination, brightness, or movement; 

(18) Protect property values by ensuring that sign-types, as well as the number of signs, are 

in harmony with buildings, neighborhoods, and conforming signs in the area; 

(19) Regulate the appearance and design of signs in a manner that promotes and enhances the 

beautification of the town and that complements the natural surroundings in recognition 

of the town’s reliance on its natural surroundings and beautification efforts in retaining 

economic advantage for its residential and agricultural communities; 

(20) Enable the fair and consistent enforcement of these sign regulations; 

(21) To promote the use of signs that positively contribute to the aesthetics of the community, 

are appropriate in scale to the surrounding buildings and landscape, and to advance the 

town’s goals of quality development; 

(22) To provide standards regarding the non-communicative aspects of signs, which are 

consistent with applicable provisions of town, county, state and federal law; 

(23) To provide flexibility and encourage variety in signage, and create an incentive to relate 

signage to the basic principles of good design; and 

(24) Assure that the benefits derived from the expenditure of public funds for the 

improvement and beautification of streets, sidewalks, public parks, public rights-of-way, 

and other public places and spaces, are protected by exercising reasonable controls over 

the physical characteristics and structural design of signs. 

 



 

 

Sec. 90-186. Regulatory interpretations. 

It is the town’s policy to regulate signs in a constitutional manner, which is content neutral as 

to noncommercial signs and viewpoint neutral as to commercial signs. All regulatory 

interpretations of this article are to be exercised in light of the town’s message neutrality policy. 

Where a particular type of sign is proposed in a permit application, and the type is neither expressly 

allowed nor prohibited by this article, or whenever a sign does not qualify as a “structure” as 

defined in the Florida Building Code or the town code, then the town shall approve, conditionally 

approve, or disapprove the application based on the most similar sign type that is expressly 

regulated by this article. All rules and regulations concerning the non-communicative aspects of 

signs, such as location, size, height, illumination, spacing, orientation, etc., stand enforceable 

independently of any permit or approval process. The policies, rules and regulations stated in this 

chapter apply to all signs within the regulatory scope of this code, and to all provisions of this 

code, notwithstanding any more specific provisions to the contrary. This article states the policy 

decisions regarding display of signs, made by the board of commissioners after carefully balancing 

many competing factors and interests. This article consolidates all general provisions relating to 

the installation, regulation and amortization of signs on private property throughout the town. The 

town further makes the following findings: 

A.  The board of commissioners specifically finds that off-premises advertising signs present 

more of a traffic hazard than on-premises advertising signs because, among other factors, the 

content of off-premises advertising signs changes with more frequency than the content of 

on-premises advertising signs. 

B.  The board of commissioners finds and intends that noncommercial signs shall be considered 

to be on-premises signs. 

C.  The board of commissioners further finds that some signs, particularly large signs such as 

billboards, detract from the aesthetic beauty of the town and create a safety hazard by 

distracting motorists, pedestrians, and others. The board of commissioners wishes to preserve 

the aesthetic beauty and safety of the community. 

D.  The board of commissioners further finds that when a sign type is neither expressly allowed 

nor prohibited by this article, or whenever a sign does not qualify as a "structure" as defined 

in the Florida Building Code or the town code, then the town shall approve, conditionally 

approve, or disapprove the application based on the most similar sign type that is expressly 

regulated by this article. 

E.  The board of commissioners further finds that all rules and regulations concerning the non- 

communicative aspects of signs, such as location, size, height, illumination, spacing, 

orientation, etc., shall be enforceable independently of any permit or approval process. 

F.  The board of commissioners further specifically finds that the policies, rules and regulations 

stated in this article apply to all signs within the regulatory scope of this article, and to all 

provisions of the land development code, notwithstanding any more specific provisions 

therein to the contrary. This article states the policy decisions regarding display of signs, made 

by the board of commissioners after carefully balancing many competing factors and 

interests. This article consolidates all general provisions relating to the installation, regulation 

and amortization of signs on all property throughout the town. 



 

 

G.  The board of commissioners finds and intends that the maximum height and size for structures 

and any setback provisions found in the land development code shall apply to signs in the 

town even if the provisions of this article cannot apply due to any valid court order. 

Sec. 90-187. Prohibited signs. 

Unless otherwise authorized in this article, the following sign types are prohibited within the town: 

A. Signs that are deemed abandoned under this article, or that do not conform with the 

provisions of this section or any other applicable code, statute or law, shall be removed by 

the property owner within 30 days after receipt of notification (which will immediately 

follow the 90-day abandonment period described this article or refusal to accept delivery of 

notification by certified mail, that such removal is required). Alternatively, the sign panels 

within the abandoned sign structure may be removed and replaced with sign panels or durable 

material off-white, white, or tan in color and containing no message. 

B. Animated or flashing light signs of such size, intensity of lighting or degree of animation as 

to present a garish appearance or to constitute a traffic hazard by diverting motorists' 

attention.  

C. Billboards.  

D. Off-premises signs.  

E. Banner signs.  

F. Portable signs, except for sandwich board signs in the C-NR, ROR-15 and CTF zoning 

districts.  

G. Roof signs (where the location of an existing structure makes the placement of other signs 

not feasible, variances may be granted for the construction of roof and/or projecting signs).  

H. Projecting signs.  

I. Swinging signs. 

J. Snipe signs. 

K.  Vehicle signs. 

L. Fixed aerial signs. 

M.  Any sign nailed, fastened, affixed to, hanging from, or painted on any tree or other 

vegetation, or part thereof (living or dead). 

N.  Signs that obstruct, conceal, hide, or otherwise obscure from view any official traffic or other 

government sign, signal, or device. 

O.  Any sign in or over the public right-of-way, other than government signs or warning or safety 

signs. 

P.  Pavement markings, except official traffic control-markings and street addresses applied by 

government agencies or pursuant to government laws or regulations. 

Q.  Any sign which is designed to approximate, mimic or emulate an official government sign, 

including unofficial “stop” signs posted on or above any street or right-of-way, or within 

fifty feet thereof. 



 

 

R.  Any sign prohibited by state or federal law. 

S.  Obscene signs that meet the definition of obscenity under F.S. § 847.001 et seq., as amended. 

Sec. 90-188. Applicability. 

This article does not regulate: 

A.   Signs located entirely inside the premises of a building enclosed space, and that are not 

visible from the right-of-way or public parking lot. 

B.   Objects not included in the definition of “sign”. 

C.   Any government sign placed by or at the direction of or through the permission of the town 

in, on or over any town or county owned or controlled property or right-of-way, including 

signs approved by the town under the authority of a development or concession agreement, 

or an event co-sponsorship agreement with the town. 

Sec. 90-189. Administration and enforcement: nonconforming signs 

All signs that are lawfully in existence or are lawfully erected and that do not conform to the 

provisions of this article are declared nonconforming signs. It is the intent of this article to 

recognize that the eventual elimination of nonconforming signs as expeditiously and fairly as 

possible is as much a subject of health, safety, and welfare as is the prohibition of new signs that 

would violate the provisions of this article. It is also the intent of this article that any elimination 

of nonconforming signs shall be accomplished so as to avoid any unreasonable invasion of 

established property rights. 

A.  Legal nonconforming signs: 

(1)   A legal nonconforming sign is a sign that lawfully existed at the time of the enactment 

of this article that does not conform to the regulations as specified in this article. 

(2) A legal nonconforming sign may continue to be utilized only in the manner and to the 

extent that it existed at the time of the adoption of this article or any amendment thereof. 

(3)   A legal nonconforming sign may not be altered in any manner not in conformance with 

this article. This does not apply to reasonable repair and maintenance of the sign or to a 

change of copy provided that by changing the copy structural alterations are not required. 

(4)   Any building permit for an addition, alteration, or improvement valued at more than fifty 

(50) percent of the fair market value of the structure or building for work at locations 

where any nonconforming sign exists shall specify and require that such nonconforming 

signs located within the boundaries of the development site, and within the limits of the 

applicant’s control, shall be brought into conformance with the provisions of this article, 

provided that if the nonconforming sign is a type of sign that is prohibited under this 

article, it shall be removed. 

(5) Legal nonconforming signs that are located on a parcel of property that is severed from 

a larger parcel of property and acquired by a public entity for public use by 

condemnation, purchase or dedication may be relocated on the remaining parcel without 

extinguishing the legal nonconforming status of that sign provided that the 

nonconforming sign: 



 

 

(a) Is not increased in area or height to exceed the limits of the zoning district in which 

it is located; 

(b)   Remains structurally unchanged except for reasonable repairs or alterations; 

(c) Is placed in the most similar position on the remaining property that it occupied 

prior to the relocation; and 

(d) Is relocated in such a manner as to comply with all applicable safety requirements. 

After relocation pursuant to this subsection, the legal nonconforming sign shall be subject to 

all provisions of this section in its new location. 

B.  Signs rendered nonconforming: 

(1) Except as provided in this section, a nonconforming sign may continue in the manner 

and to the extent that it existed at the time of the adoption, amendment or annexation of 

the provision that rendered the sign nonconforming, including in the event there is a 

change in ownership. This section shall not prohibit reasonable repairs and alterations to 

nonconforming signs. 

(2) A nonconforming sign shall not be re-erected, relocated or replaced unless it is brought 

into compliance with the requirements of this article. An existing freestanding sign that 

conforms to the size and height limitations set forth herein, but is otherwise 

nonconforming, may be relocated a single time to another location on the same parcel. 

(3) Any nonconforming sign shall be removed or rebuilt in full conformity to the terms of 

this article if it is damaged or allowed to deteriorate to such an extent that the cost of 

repair or restoration is 50 percent or more of the cost of replacement of such sign. 

C.  Signs for a legal nonconforming use: 

(1) New or additional signs for a nonconforming use shall not be permitted. A change in 

ownership shall require a nonconforming sign to be removed or brought into conformity. 

(2) A nonconforming sign for a nonconforming use that ceases to be used for a period of 60 

consecutive days or is replaced by a conforming use, shall be considered a prohibited 

sign and shall be removed or brought into conformance upon establishment of a 

conforming use. 

D.  Signs discontinued: 

(1) Sign structures that remain vacant, unoccupied or devoid of any message, or display a 

message pertaining to a time, event or purpose that no longer applies shall be deemed to 

be discontinued. 

(2) A nonconforming sign deemed discontinued shall immediately terminate the right to 

maintain such sign. 

(3) Within 60 days after a sign structure has been discontinued, it shall be the responsibility 

of the property owner or the property owner’s authorized agent to remove the 

discontinued sign and to patch and conceal any and all damage to any other structure 

resulting from removal of the sign. 

(4) Removal of a discontinued nonconforming sign shall include all sign support 

components, angle irons, poles, and other remnants of the discontinued sign that are not 



 

 

currently in use, or proposed for immediate reuse as evidenced by a sign permit 

application for a permitted sign. 

E.  Unsafe signs: 

(1) If the building official determines any sign or sign structure to be in an unsafe condition, 

he/she shall immediately notify, in writing, the owner of such sign who shall correct such 

condition within forty-eight (48) hours. 

(2) If the correction has not been made within forty-eight (48) hours, the building official 

may have the sign removed if it creates a danger to the public safety or have any 

necessary repairs or maintenance performed at the expense of the sign owner or owner 

or lessee of the property upon which the sign is located. 

Sec. 90-190. Administration and enforcement: permits and fees. 

A.  Generally. Signs subject to this article shall be designed, constructed, and maintained in 

compliance with the town’s building, electrical, maintenance, and all other applicable codes and 

ordinances and in compliance with all applicable state and federal law, codes and regulations. 

B.  Permit requirements. Unless exempted by this article, no sign shall be erected, constructed, 

altered or relocated without a permit issued, except as otherwise provided in this article. Where 

electrical permits are required, they shall be obtained at the same time as the sign permit. Sign 

permits shall be obtained separate from building permits. The requirement of a building or 

electrical permit is separate and independent of the requirement for a sign permit under this 

article.  No sign shall be erected, constructed, relocated, altered or maintained without 

compliance with all permit requirements under local ordinance, state or other applicable law. 

C.  Fees. Each application for a sign permit shall be accompanied by the applicable fees. When 

a sign has been erected or constructed before a permit is obtained, the permit fee shall be 

quadrupled.  Before issuance of a permit, the building official shall collect the necessary sign 

permit fees, which shall be established by resolution by the board of commissioners from time 

to time. 

D. Signage plan. For any site on which the owner proposes to erect one or more signs requiring a 

permit the owner, or representative, shall submit to the building official or designee two copies 

of a signage plan containing the following: 

(1) An accurate plan of the site, at such scale as the building official or designee may 

reasonably require; 

(2) Location of buildings, parking lots, driveways, and landscaped areas on such site; 

(3) Computation of the maximum total sign area, the maximum area for individual signs, 

the height of signs and the number of freestanding signs allowed on the site under this 

article; 

(4) An accurate indication on the plan of the proposed location of each present and future 

sign of any type, whether requiring a permit or not; 

(5) Detailed drawings to show the dimensions, design, structure and location of each 

particular sign (when depicting the design of the sign it is not necessary to show the 



 

 

content of the sign as the sign reviewer is prohibited from taking this factor into 

consideration); 

(6) Name of person, firm, corporation or association erecting the sign; 

(7) Written consent to the permit application, by the owner, or authorized designee, of the 

building or lot on which the sign is to be erected. Consent of an authorized agent of an 

owner, contractor or other agent of the lessee shall be sufficient for purposes of this 

provision; and 

(8) Such other information as the building official shall require to show full compliance with 

this article and all other applicable laws. As part of the application the applicant or the 

applicant’s authorized representative must certify in a legally sufficient notarized signed 

statement that all information provided in the application is true and correct. 

E.  Nullification. A sign permit shall become null and void if the work for which the permit was 

issued has not been completed within a period of six months after the date of the permit. If the 

sign is an integral part of a new building structure, then the permit shall be valid until completion 

of the building. 

F.  Permit exceptions. The following operations shall not be considered as creating a sign and, 

therefore, shall not require a sign permit: 

(1) Replacing.  The changing of the advertising copy or message on a previously permitted 

similarly approved sign which is specifically designed for the use of replaceable copy. 

(2) Maintenance.  Painting, repainting, cleaning and other normal maintenance and repair 

of a sign structure unless a structural change is made. 

Sec. 90-191. Inspection; Removal; Safety. 

A.  Inspection. Signs for which a permit is required under this article may be inspected 

periodically by the building official for compliance with this article, other codes of the town, 

and all terms upon which the sign permit may have been conditioned. 

B.  Maintenance. All signs and components thereof shall be kept in good repair and in a safe, 

neat, clean and attractive condition with no fading, cracking or chipping visible. No 

consideration, however, shall be given to the content of the sign copy when making the 

determination that the sign should be removed due to a violation of this subsection. 

C.  Removal of sign. The building official, or designee, may order the removal of any sign 

erected or maintained in violation of this article, or that are declared a nuisance either by court 

order or under the provisions of the town code. In non-emergency situations where the sign is 

not an imminent danger to the health and safety of the residents of the town, he or she shall give 

30 days' notice in writing to the owner of such sign, at the address reflected on the Pinellas 

County Property Appraiser’s website. If the sign is not removed within the 30-day notice period, 

the town shall cause the sign to be removed at the cost of the owner. Removal shall not moot 

any other enforcement or collection efforts the town may engage in as a result of any violation 

of this article. 

D.  Unsafe Sign. Absent an emergency where a sign poses an imminent danger to the health 

or safety of the public (in which case no notice is needed), if the building official determines 

any sign or sign structure to be in an unsafe condition, he or she shall immediately notify, in 



 

 

writing, the owner or lessee of the property upon which such sign is located, who shall correct 

such condition within forty-eight (48) hours. If the correction has not been made within forty-

eight (48) hours, and if the building official determines it creates a danger to the public safety, 

he or she may have the sign removed or have any necessary repairs or maintenance performed 

at the expense of the owner or lessee of the property upon which the sign is located. If in his or 

her professional opinion the sign poses an immediate risk to the public, the town may take all 

other necessary steps to remedy the condition following a reasonable attempt to notify the owner 

of the hazardous condition. 

E.  Abandoned signs. Any sign that advertises a business or other activity that is not in operation 

on the premises shall be deemed an abandoned sign beginning 90 days after the business or 

other activity ceases operation. The following regulations shall apply to such signs: 

(1) A sign shall be removed by the owner or lessee of the premises upon which the sign is 

located when the business establishment which it advertises is no longer conducted on 

the premises or the sign no longer is being used by the owner or lessee of the premises 

for its intended advertising purposes for a period in excess of 90 days; 

(2) Instead of removal, if the sign is a conforming sign, the owner or lessee of the premises 

may: 

(a)  Paint over the message on the sign that advertises the business or other activity; 

(b)  Remove the sign face and replace it with a blank sign face; or 

(c)  Reverse the sign face and not illuminate the sign from the interior; 

(3) If the owner or lessee fails to remove it, the building official, or designee, shall give the 

owner 30 days' written notice to remove it; 

(4) Upon failure to comply with this notice, or refusal to accept delivery of notification by 

certified mail that such removal is required, the building official, or designee, may 

authorize modification, as set forth in this subsection, or removal of the sign at cost to 

the owner; 

(5) Where a successor owner or lessee to a defunct business establishment agrees to maintain 

the conforming sign at issue as provided in this article, this removal requirement shall 

not apply; however, a new owner or lessee of a business establishment shall not be 

allowed to maintain a nonconforming sign, and upon change of ownership of the 

business establishment, either by sale, assignment, lease or other means of transfer of 

rights, all signs shall be brought into compliance with this article; and 

(6) If an existing building or structure is demolished, any existing freestanding sign shall be 

considered either an abandoned sign or an impermissible off premises sign and shall be 

removed at the time of demolition unless the sign complies with the requirements of this 

article. In the event destruction of a building or structure is caused by hurricane, collision 

with a vehicle or similar reason not attributable to the owner, the building official is 

authorized to approve of a reconstruction plan which, if complied with, will not result in 

the sign being deemed abandoned or an impermissible off premises sign. 



 

 

Sec. 90-192.  Building official to enforce article’s provisions. 

The building official, or designee, is authorized and directed to enforce all of the provisions 

of this article. However, notwithstanding anything in this article to the contrary, no sign or sign 

structure shall be subject to any limitation based on the content or viewpoint of the message 

contained on such sign or displayed on such sign structure. In conformance with applicable state 

and federal laws, and upon presentation of proper credentials, the building official, or designee, 

may enter at reasonable times any building, structure or premises in the town to perform any duty 

imposed upon him or her by this article. 

Sec. 90-193. Interpretation of article provisions. 

Where there is an ambiguity or dispute concerning the interpretation of this article, the 

decision of the building official, or designee, shall prevail, subject to the appeal process provided 

in this article. 

Sec. 90-194. Right of appeal. 

A.  As provided for in section 16-405 of this code, any person aggrieved by any decision or 

order of the building official, or designee, pertaining to signs under this article may appeal to 

the board of commissioners by serving written notice to the town clerk, who in turn shall 

immediately transmit the notice to the board. If an administrative appeal is filed by the applicant, 

and the board fails to meet within 45 days, the appeal will be deemed denied and the decision 

or order of the building official, or designee, will be deemed final. Once a decision is appealed 

to the board of commissioners, the building official, or designee, shall take no further action on 

the matter pending the board’s decision, except for unsafe signs as provided for in this article. 

With respect to sign appeals, the board shall hear and decide appeals, following a 

recommendation of the planning and zoning board, where it is alleged that there is an error in 

the decision or interpretation of the building official, or designee, in the enforcement of this 

article.  Such determination shall be conclusive and no right of appeal to the board of 

commissioners with respect to such action shall exist. Any granting or denial of conditional 

uses or variances by the board shall be final. 

B.   Any aggrieved person must file her, his or its petition for writ of certiorari seeking review 

of any adverse decision or action as provided for above within 20 calendar days of the date the 

decision was made, or the action was taken. The petition shall be processed in the manner set 

forth by the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure for reviews of final quasi-judicial actions. 

Sec. 90-195. Variances. 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this code, the only variance that may be applied 

for from the special magistrate in connection with signage in the town is a variance from required 

setbacks. 

Sec. 90-196. Inspection. 

The building official, or designee, may make or require any inspections to ascertain 

compliance with the provisions of this article, the Florida Building Code and other applicable laws. 

To the extent F.S. § 933.20 et seq. requires it, the building official shall work with the town 

attorney to ensure a proper inspection warrant is obtained. 



 

 

Sec. 90-197. Revocation of sign permit. 

If the building official finds that work under any sign permit is proceeding in violation of 

this article, Florida Building Code, any other ordinance of the town, or that there has been any 

false statement or misrepresentation of a material fact in the application or plans on which the 

permit was based, the permit holder shall be notified of the violation. If the permit holder fails or 

refuses to make corrections within ten days, it shall be the duty of the building official, or designee, 

to revoke such permit and provide written notice of same to such permit holder. It shall be unlawful 

for any person to proceed with any work under the permit after such notice is issued. 

Sec. 90-198. Sign illumination. 

The following standards apply to illumination of signs: 

A.  Sign illumination may not create a nuisance to residential areas or for wildlife and shall be 

compatible with the surrounding neighborhood. 

B.  Residential Signs. Signs on residential uses in any zone shall not be illuminated. 

C.  General Rule for All Nonresidential Uses. Other than signs on residential uses, all other 

signs may be non-illuminated, or illuminated by internal, internal indirect (halo) illumination, 

or lit by external indirect illumination, unless otherwise specified. Signs may not be illuminated 

in a manner which leaves the illumination device exposed to public view except with the use of 

neon tubing as provided in subsection H. below. 

D.  Internal Illumination. Outdoor, internally illuminated signs, including but not limited to 

awning/canopy signs, cabinet signs (whether freestanding or building mounted), changeable 

copy panels or service island signs, shall be constructed with an opaque background and 

translucent letters or other graphical elements, or with a colored background and lighter letters 

or graphics. 

E.  External Indirect Illumination. Externally lit signs are permitted to be illuminated only with 

steady, stationary, down directed and shielded light sources directed solely onto the sign. Light 

bulbs or tubes (excluding neon) used for illuminating a sign shall not be visible from the 

adjacent public rights-of-way or residential zoned or used properties. 

F.  Illumination of Signs Adjacent to Single-Family Uses. No sign located within 50 feet of a 

property with a single-family use or zoned for a single-family use shall be internally or 

externally illuminated. 

G.  Any portion of the sign face or sign structure that is illuminated shall count against the total 

square footage of allowable sign area. 

H.  Exposed Neon. Exposed neon tube illumination is not permitted in residential zones, or on 

residential uses in any zone. It is allowed in all other places, unless otherwise specified. 

I.  Illuminated signs in the Gulf Boulevard Overlay District are subject to the requirements of 

Section 90-170.G.8 

Sec. 90-199. Sign construction specifications. 

The following standards apply to sign construction within the town: 

A.  Construction and erection of signs shall be in accordance with Florida Building Code. 



 

 

B.  Materials. Paper or cardboard signs and cloth or plastic fabric banners may only be used in 

conjunction with a special event or temporary outside sale and display as provided herein. 

C.  Construction standards. All signs shall be installed and constructed in a professional and 

workmanlike manner and shall be maintained in good and safe structural condition and good 

physical appearance. All exposed structural components shall be painted, coated or made of rust 

or wood rot inhibitive material. 

Sec. 90-200. Design requirements. 

All permanent signs shall be compatible with the building(s) to which they relate and with the 

surrounding neighborhood. All signs except temporary signs shall be subject to the design 

requirements below: 

A.  The materials, finishes and colors of the freestanding sign base shall match the architectural 

design of the building.  

B.  All tenant panels in any freestanding signs, including those added to existing sign 

structures, shall be constructed of the same materials and illuminated by the same method.  

Panels added to existing signs shall match the existing panels with respect to their color, 

materials, font size and illumination. 

C.  All freestanding signs shall be landscaped around the base of the sign structure. 

Landscaping (e.g. ornamental trees, shrubs, and ornamental plants) shall meet the requirements 

for landscaping as prescribed in this article. 

D.  Wall signs shall not be installed in a manner that detracts from the architectural design of 

a building. Wall signs shall not be installed over windows, doors, or other types of fenestration. 

These signs shall be compatible with the building(s) to which they relate and with the 

surrounding neighborhood. 

Sec. 90-201. General sign provisions. 

The following regulations apply to all signs in all zones in the town: 

A. No sign may be displayed without the consent of the legal owner of the real or personal property 

on which the sign is mounted or displayed. 

B. This article does not modify or affect the law of fixtures, sign-related provisions in private 

leases regarding signs (so long as they are not in conflict with this article), or the ownership of 

sign structures. 

C. Any sign installed or placed on public right-of-way or on public property, except in 

conformance with the requirements of this article, is illegal and shall be forfeited to the public 

and subject to confiscation. In addition to other remedies hereunder, the town shall have the 

right to recover from the owner or person placing such sign the cost of removal and disposal of 

such sign. There shall be no property right in such sign; all property rights are forfeit and such 

signs are abandoned property. Such signs may, at the town’s option, also be treated as litter with 

persons responsible for the placement of such signs subject to the provisions of F.S. § 403.413. 

D. No sign shall be erected so as to obstruct any fire escape, required exit, window, or door opening 

intended as a means of egress. 

E. No sign shall be erected which interferes with any opening required for ventilation. 



 

 

F.  Signs shall maintain a minimum of six feet horizontal and twelve feet vertical clearance from 

electrical conductors and from all communications equipment or lines. 

G. Signs and their supporting structures shall maintain clearance and noninterference with all 

surface and underground facilities and conduits for water, sewage, electricity, or 

communications equipment or lines. Placement shall not interfere with natural or artificial 

drainage or surface or underground water. 

H.  No sign shall be attached to a standpipe, gutter, drain, or fire escape, nor shall any sign be 

installed so as to impair access to a roof. 

I.  The building official may order the repair of signs declared a nuisance. A sign not kept in good 

repair and in a neat and clean appearance is a public nuisance. 

J.  The visual clearance and sight triangle, to assure adequate sight distance at the intersection of 

two public roadways and at the intersection of a public roadway or other private roadway and 

an access way or driveway, shall follow the criteria of the current Florida Department of 

Transportation’s Manual of Uniform Minimum Standards for Design, Construction, and 

Maintenance for Streets and Highways or its equivalent amended document. 

K.  In order to assist public safety and emergency service vehicles to rapidly locate addresses and 

to assist the traveling public to locate specific addresses, residential and nonresidential 

structures shall conform to all applicable town or county codes mandating address displays. 

L.  Signs shall not be located on publicly owned land or easements or inside the street rights-of-

way except bus stop informational signs, governmental signs, and safety or warning signs, or 

as otherwise allowed by license agreement approved by the town council. Nothing shall prohibit 

a duly authorized local official from removing a sign from public property as allowed by law. 

M. Nothing in this division shall be construed to prevent or limit the display of legal notices, 

warnings, informational, direction, traffic, or other such signs which are legally required or 

necessary for the essential functions of government agencies. 

N.  All signs shall comply with the applicable building and electrical code requirements. Sign face 

replacements not requiring a permit shall comply with all applicable building and electrical code 

requirements, this includes sign face replacements when the permitted sign is not structurally 

or electronically altered, like materials are used, the sign face is the same size within the frame 

as the permitted sign, and is installed in the same manner as originally permitted. 

O. Signs of a height greater than six feet and within ten feet of the right-of-way shall require a 

letter of no objection from the local power company to insure current and future compliance to 

applicable codes and to protect the safety of the public. 

P. If no height or size restriction is specifically provided regarding any sign located in the town 

the height and size restrictions for a structure in the zone in which the sign is located will govern. 

Q. Pursuant to F.S. § 553.79(20)(a), all signage advertising the retail price of gasoline shall be 

clearly visible and legible to drivers of approaching motor vehicles from a vantage point on any 

lane of traffic in either direction on a roadway abutting the station premises and shall meet the 

height, width, and spacing standards for Series C, D, or E signs, as applicable, published in the 

latest edition of Standard Alphabets for Highway Signs published by the United States 

Department of Commerce, Bureau of Public Roads, Office of Highway Safety. 



 

 

R. In any zone where both residential and nonresidential uses are allowed, the signage rights and 

responsibilities applicable to any particular use shall be determined as follows: 

(1) Residential uses shall be treated as if they were located in the residential zoning district 

where that type of use would be allowed as a matter of right. 

(2) Nonresidential uses shall be treated as if they were located in a zoning district where that 

particular use would be allowed, either as a matter of right or subject to a conditional use 

permit. 

Sec. 90-202. Temporary sign installation and removal. 

A.  General rule concerning temporary signs. Unless otherwise provided for in this article, 

temporary signs shall not be erected for more than 100 days prior to the event being advertised 

on the temporary sign begins, and they shall be removed promptly at the event’s conclusion.  

Temporary signs not advertising an event to occur on a specific date but which are related to 

the occurrence of an expected future event or transaction, including but not limited to temporary 

real estate for sale signs, shall not be subject to the one hundred (100) day provision of this 

subsection, but such signs shall also be removed promptly upon the earliest of the occurrence 

of the event or transaction, or the expiration of the listing or other similar change in facts 

eliminating the opportunity of the future event or transaction from occurring. 

B.  Usage and removal of political campaign advertisements. Temporary signs erected by a 

candidate for political office, or that candidate’s agent(s), may not erect such signs earlier than 

30 calendar days before the scheduled election (as to candidates for town mayor or 

commissioner), or 60 days before the scheduled election (as to candidates for all other political 

offices). Pursuant to F.S. § 106.1435, each candidate, whether for a federal, state, county, 

municipal or district office, shall make a good faith effort to remove all of his or her political 

campaign advertisements within 30 days (or as to candidates for town office, 72 hours) after: 

(1) Withdrawal of his or her candidacy; 

(2) Having been eliminated as a candidate; or 

(3) Being elected to office. 

However, a candidate is not expected to remove those political campaign advertisements which 

are in the form of signs used by an outdoor advertising business as provided in F.S. Chapter 

479. The provisions herein do not apply to political campaign advertisements placed on motor 

vehicles or to campaign messages designed to be worn by persons. If political campaign 

advertisements are not removed within the specified period, the town shall have the authority 

to remove such advertisements and may charge the candidate the actual cost for such removal.  

Funds collected for removing such advertisements shall be deposited to the general revenue of 

the town. 

Sec. 90-203. Placement, size and configuration of large sign types. 

The following general provisions apply to signs and sign types described in this article, except 

where otherwise noted in this division. 

A. Permanent monument signs may be placed on the owner’s private property up to the right-of-

way line in recognition of this sign type’s aesthetic desirability to the town. The setback shall 

be measured from the nearest protrusion of the sign or sign face to the property line. 



 

 

B. Permanent freestanding signs requiring a sign permit must be landscaped at their base. The 

landscaped area shall have a minimum area of two square feet for each linear foot of sign face 

width and shall otherwise comply with the landscaping requirements of the town code. 

C. No business shall have more than one exterior wall sign on any street it faces; or one sign per 

window. Permanent window signs shall not cover more than 50 percent of any window and 

shall comply with all fire safety codes. Wall signs may not project more than 12 inches from a 

wall. Any wall sign that projects more than 2.5 inches from a wall shall be mounted so that the 

bottom of the sign is no closer than nine feet to the ground at the finished grade immediately 

below the sign. 

D. Off-site permanent neighborhood directional signs, where permitted, shall be located at the 

corner of the intersection of two streets, one of which is the primary ingress and egress to the 

neighborhood. The sign must be located on private property within the neighborhood associated 

with the sign. The sign shall not exceed 24 square feet per sign face and shall not exceed six 

feet in height. One double-sided sign or two single-sided signs may be placed at each entrance. 

The sign shall be set back a minimum of 30 feet from the intersection of the right-of-way lines 

and 15 feet from all front and side right-of-way lines. 

Sec. 90-204. Signs allowed in all districts, no permit required. 

The regulations in this section apply in every zoning district in the town, except where otherwise 

specified or indicated. Sign permits are not required for signs and sign types described and 

identified below in this section. 

A. Temporary signs. Temporary signs shall be allowed on each parcel within the town as follows: 

(1)   In residential zones, each parcel may display up to four temporary signs which shall not 

exceed four square feet in sign area, and four feet in height. 

(2)   In all non-residential zones, each parcel may display one temporary sign which shall not 

exceed 24 square feet in sign area and six feet in height.   Alternatively, each parcel in a 

non-residential zone may display up to eight temporary signs, which cumulatively shall 

not exceed 24 square feet in sign area and four feet in height. 

(3)   Temporary signs displayed outdoors shall be constructed of metal, plastic, wood or 

pressed wood, but not of cardboard or paper, and shall be fastened to a temporary support 

not exceeding four inches by four inches. Temporary window signs displayed on the 

inside of a window may be constructed of cardboard or paper, as well as metal, plastic, 

wood or pressed wood. 

(4)   Temporary signs may be installed on any sign type authorized within the relevant zone. 

Alternatively, a temporary sign may be installed using an H frame, spider step stake, 

inverted L frame, banjo-style frame, or T frame. Any such alternative installation option 

used must be firmly secured to the ground or to a building located on the parcel. 

(5)   Temporary signs not affixed to a permanent sign structure, but using one of the 

alternative installation options listed above, must be removed and securely stored during 

any days for which the National Weather Service has issued a tropical storm warning 

covering the town. 

B.  Flags. 



 

 

(1) For each detached dwelling unit in a residential district, two flags not greater than 15 

square feet in sign area each may be displayed. One flagpole is allowed for each parcel 

in the town zoned for single family residential use not to exceed 25 feet in height. 

(2)  For each parcel in a multi-family residential or non-residential districts three flags not 

greater than 24 square feet in sign area (each) may be displayed. Two flagpoles are 

allowed for each parcel in the town that is zones for multi-family residential or non-

residential use not to exceed 35 feet in height. 

C.  Parking space signs, non-residential. Onsite parking space number or identification signs, not 

exceeding one two square foot of sign face per sign, shall be allowed on each parcel of non-

residential use having multiple parking spaces onsite. One such sign shall be allowed for each 

parking space. The maximum height for a freestanding or attached wall sign shall be six feet 

unless otherwise required by applicable law. 

D.  Street address signs and residential mailboxes. For each parcel within the town, one attached 

wall street address sign may be displayed. For parcels in residential use, the street address sign 

shall not exceed two square feet in sign area. In addition to street address signs, a residential 

mailbox with the address of the property affixed to it such that the address is no larger than one 

side of the mailbox shall be allowed for each residence in the town. 

E.  Street address signs, non-residential. For each parcel in non-residential use, the street address 

sign shall not exceed four square feet in sign area. 

F.  Warning signs and safety signs. Warning signs and safety signs, not exceeding four square feet 

in sign area, shall be allowed in all districts. The maximum height for these signs shall be four 

feet unless otherwise required by applicable law. 

G.  Waterfront identification signs. Each lot abutting the navigable waters of the town shall be 

allowed one attached wall identification sign that is visible from the water. Waterfront 

identification signs shall not exceed four square feet in sign area. 

H.  Wayfinding/directional signs.  Non-commercial wayfinding signs when erected as part of a 

wayfinding system adopted by the town or county. 

I.  Temporary window signs. For each commercially zoned or commercially used parcel within 

the town, one or more temporary window signs may be displayed on the inside of the window. 

The temporary window sign(s) shall not cover more than 50% of the area of the window, except 

that if the business displaying such sign(s) is also displaying the one permanent window sign 

authorized by this article, then the total area of the window covered by a combination of these 

shall not exceed 65 percent of the area of the window. 

Sec. 90-205. Signs allowed in all districts, permit required. 

A.  Temporary signs at construction sites. Any land developer or licensed contractor, architect or 

engineer is authorized, with the consent of the landowner, to install one or more signs at a 

permitted active construction site, as that term is defined in F.S. § 810.011(13), or on land upon 

which the town has given preliminary approval of plans to construct a building or other 

structure. Such signs shall be subject to the following conditions: 

(1)   The sign is located on a construction site which has a valid building permit displayed on 

site. 



 

 

(2)   The sign area shall not exceed 32 square feet aggregate per street frontage per site. 

(3)   All signs shall be set back a minimum of ten feet from all property lines. 

(4) All signs shall be removed by no later than the date upon which a temporary or final 

certificate of occupancy is issued by the permitting authority. 

Sec. 90-206. Single-family (RS-7 and RS-10) and duplex (RD-15) residential districts, permit 

required. 

Except for those signs and sign-types expressly allowed in residential and residentially-zoned 

districts in accordance with this article, no additional signs or sign-types shall be permitted in 

residential or residentially-zoned districts, except for the following sign-types: 

A.  For permitted land uses other than residential uses in these zones, one permanent monument 

sign shall be allowed on each parcel or lot. This sign shall not exceed six square feet in area and 

shall not exceed four feet in height. 

B.  Onsite directional signs not exceeding four square feet in area. 

Sec. 90-207. Multi-family (RM-15, ROR-15, PUD) residential districts, permit required. 

Except for those signs and sign-types expressly allowed in residential and residentially-zoned 

districts in accordance with this article, no additional signs or sign-types shall be permitted in 

residential or residentially-zoned districts, except for the following sign-types: 

A. All those in Section 90-206, above. 

B.  On a parcel with an apartment building or condominium complex, one permanent wall, window 

or monument sign is allowed for each such building or complex not exceed 24 square feet in 

size (area); however, such a monument sign shall not exceed six feet in height. 

C.  For permitted land uses other than residential uses in these zones, one permanent monument 

sign shall be allowed on each parcel or lot. This sign shall not exceed 16 square feet in area and 

shall not exceed four feet in height. 

D.  Onsite directional signs not exceeding four square feet in area. 

Sec. 90-208. Commercial tourist facilities (CTF), general commercial (C-NR), and 

residential/office/retail (ROR-15) districts, permit required. 

Except for those signs and sign-types allowed in commercial tourist facilities (CTF), general 

commercial (C-NR) and residential/office/retail (ROR-15) in accordance with this article, no 

additional signs or sign-types shall be permitted on any lot or parcel in these districts, except the 

following sign-types shall be allowed for each lot or parcel: 

A. All those in Section 90-207, above. 

B. Institutional and businesses occupying premises with frontage as follows: 

 

Frontage  Maximum Total  

Sign Area  

(square feet)  

Maximum Size  

of Individual Sign  

(square feet)  



 

 

50 linear feet or less  40  20  

51 to 100 linear feet  60  32 

101 to 125 linear feet  90  40  

More than 125 linear feet  96  48  

NOTE: Business properties with frontage on two streets may have signs on each street in accordance with the 

frontage on that street. For premises fronting Gulf Boulevard where no signs are displayed on the side street 

frontage, 25 percent of the frontage may be applied to computing Gulf Boulevard frontage. These same 

provisions shall apply to business properties with frontage on Boca Ciega Bay.  

 

C. Each restaurant shall be allowed one attached display sign of no more than three square feet of 

sign face area, located at the entrance, or service window of a restaurant. 

D.  Each restaurant shall be allowed one drive-through lane sign for each drive-through lane 

constructed on the property. Drive-through-lane signs shall be placed so as to be viewed from 

the drive-through lane and may provide a mechanism for ordering products while viewing the 

drive-through-lane sign. The drive-through lane sign shall have a surface area not exceeding 40 

square feet. The top of the sign and its surrounding or supporting framing/structure shall not 

exceed eight feet above ground level. If more than one drive-through lane sign is installed, the 

total square footage for all such signs shall not exceed 60 square feet, with no single sign 

exceeding 40 square feet. If the applicant provides satisfactory proof to the building official that 

its franchisor or parent company mandates a standardized drive-through sign for all of its 

locations which sign exceeds any of the foregoing limits, the building official shall approve a 

permit application depicting the mandated standardized sign. 

E.  A canopy or awing sign may be permitted in lieu of a wall sign at an individual, single-occupant, 

premises. The canopy or awning and signage square footage combined shall not exceed the total 

permissible square footage for a wall sign. The height of the canopy or awning shall not exceed 

16 feet (first floor) or 25 feet (second floor) or the height of the structure on which it is attached, 

whichever is less. 

F.  Wayfinding/directional signs on commercial property provided such signs do not exceed four 

square feet in area. The directional sign may be displayed as an attached sign, window sign, or 

as a monument sign; if displayed as a monument sign, the monument sign shall not exceed four 

(4) feet in height. 

G.  Sandwich board signs for businesses occupying premises, provided that:  

(1) Sandwich board signs shall be no larger than 30 inches in width and 48 inches in height. 

No material such as papers, balloons, windsocks, etc. or other items prohibited by the 

Code may be added to such sign. The height of such signs may not be artificially 

increased above the allowed maximum by placing material under the base of such sign.  

(2) Permits for sandwich board signs shall be issued annually by the town clerk. 

(3) No more than one sandwich board sign per business is permitted.  

(4) Sandwich board signs may be placed no closer than ten feet from another such sign.  



 

 

(5) Sandwich board signs shall not be placed in the public right-of-way, in any parking space 

or drive isle, or in such a way to obstruct vehicular traffic sight, or to block any door or 

required ADA route.  

(6) Sandwich board signs may only be used during the hours when the business is open to 

the public and must be brought in at the close of business or in the event of high wind 

conditions.  

(7) No sandwich board sign shall contain foil, mirrors, bare metal or other reflective 

materials which could create hazardous conditions to motorists, bicyclists or pedestrians.  

(8) No sandwich board sign shall swing, rotate, twirl or contain any moving parts.  

(9) Sandwich board signs shall not contain lights of any kind. 

Sec. 90-209. Outdoor recreation/public open space and public/semipublic institutional 

districts, permit required. 

Except for those signs and sign-types allowed in outdoor recreation/public open space and 

public/semipublic institutional districts in accordance with this article, no additional signs or sign-

types shall be permitted on any lot or parcel in these districts, except the following sign-types shall 

be allowed for each lot or parcel: 

A. Businesses allowed all those in Section 90-208, above. 

B. Other uses may have signs up to 20 square feet in area. 

Sec. 90-210. Gulf Boulevard Overlay District sign standards. 

A. General. 

(1) Nonresidential uses along Gulf Boulevard may be permitted one sign oriented towards 

automobile traffic and one that is oriented towards pedestrian traffic.  

(2) All signs shall be externally illuminated, not translucent or internally illuminated.  

(3) All signs must be designed concurrently and coherently with the facade or shopfront 

with which it is to be associated, sharing overall composition, material and color.  

B. Auto-orientated signage. 

(1) Auto-oriented signage can be of the following types: wall sign, vertical blade sign, 

canopy sign and window sign.  

(2) Wall signs and vertical blade signs must be affixed to the primary facade of the building, 

immediately above the designated commercial use.  

(3) Canopy signs must be affixed to the canopy or awning immediately in front of the 

commercial use.  

(4) Auto-oriented wall signs and window signs shall be no more than 30 inches in height 

and eight feet in length.  

Figure 90-210-A 

 



 

 

 

(5) Window signs shall not occupy more than 25 percent of the available transparent glass 

area. Window signs must be within the windows of the designated use and may include 

use of neon lighting.  

(6) Canopy signs must fit along the vertical edge of the canopy, and may not extend more 

than six inches in height and ten feet in length.  

(7) Vertical blade signs shall be no more than eight feet in height and 15 inches in length, 

and shall be offset from the wall up to a maximum of six inches.  

 

Figure 90-210-B 

 

 

(8) When more than one commercial use is contained within a building, all of the 

commercial uses must use the same type of auto-oriented signage.  

(9) Each use along Gulf Boulevard that has a distinct street number must portray that number 

adjacent to the appropriate entryway.  



 

 

(a) Such number should be wall- or window-mounted, no less than four feet and no more 

than eight feet above adjacent grade, and should be placed so as to be visible from 

Gulf Boulevard.  

(b) The individual numbers shall be no less than five inches and no more than eight 

inches in height.  

(c) If the numbers are contained within a frame, the frame should be no more than one 

inch wider and higher than the enclosed numbers.  

C. Pedestrian-oriented signage. Pedestrian-oriented signage may be of the following types: wall 

sign, horizontal blade sign, and window sign.  

(1) Wall signs must be affixed to the wall of the structure, in front of the designated 

commercial use.  

(2) Blade signs must hang overhead within arcades or porches, in front of the designated 

commercial use. These signs can also be supported by horizontal brackets that project 

from the wall of the structure.  

 

Figure 90-210-C 

 

 

(3) Window signs must be within the windows of the designated commercial use. Neon 

lights can be used for these signs.  

D. Residential signs. Each residential building along Gulf Boulevard may be permitted to have one 

auto-oriented sign identifying the building, such as the name or address of the building.  

(1) Such signs can be wall or vertical blade signs.  

(2) Wall signs shall be no more than 30 inches in height and no more than eight feet in 

length.  

(3) Vertical blade signs shall be no more than eight feet in height and no more than 15 inches 

in length or extension. 



 

 

Sec. 90-211. Unregulated zones. 

A.  It is the intent of this article to regulate signs in a manner that is consistent with the land use 

classification which establishes the character of the area in which the signs are located and in 

keeping with the overall character of the community. 

B.  The sign standards in this article are intended to include every zone in the town. The zones are 

defined by the zoning ordinance and official zoning map. Where this article provides for zone-

specific sign regulations or allowances, those specific regulations and allowances shall control. 

C.  If any zone is omitted from this article, or if a new zone is created after the enactment of this 

article, only exempt signs as described in this article shall be permitted in such zone until this 

article shall be amended to include sign regulations and allowances for that zone. 

D.  If any area is annexed into the town limits, no sign, except exempt signs described in this 

article, shall be permitted therein until the area annexed has been zoned by the town council. 

Signs in existence as of the time of annexation shall be brought into compliance with this article 

within one year of annexation. 

Sec. 90-212. Nonconforming uses must comply with article. 

Any building or land use not conforming to the zoning ordinance provisions for the zone 

in which it is located shall, nevertheless, comply with all provisions of this article for the zone in 

which it is located. 

Sec. 90-213. Rights not transferable off property. 

The rights contained in this article, including but not limited to those associated with sign 

sizes, numbers, types and allowances, as well as rights associated with nonconforming signs and 

appeal rights may not be transferred in any manner to any other person, nor aggregated with the 

sign rights of any other person, so as to apply to a property, sign, structure or building other than 

the property, sign, structure or building associated with the right in question. 

Sec. 90-214. Substitution of non-commercial speech for commercial speech. 

Notwithstanding anything contained in this article to the contrary, any sign erected 

pursuant to the provisions of this article may, at the option of the owner, contain a non-commercial 

message in lieu of a commercial message and the non-commercial copy may be substituted at any 

time in place of the commercial copy. The non-commercial message (copy) may occupy the entire 

sign face or any portion thereof. The sign face may be changed from commercial to non-

commercial messages, or from one non-commercial message to another non-commercial message, 

as frequently as desired by the owner of the sign, provided that the size, height, setback and other 

dimensional criteria contained in this article have been satisfied. 

Sec. 90-215. Content neutrality as to sign message (viewpoint). 

Notwithstanding anything in this article to the contrary, no legal sign or sign structure shall 

be subject to any limitation based upon the content (viewpoint) of the message contained on such 

sign or displayed on such sign structure. 



 

 

Sec. 90-216. Violations and remedies. 

Any violation of this article or of any condition or requirement adopted pursuant to this article 

may be restrained, corrected, or abated, as the case may be, by injunction or other appropriate 

proceedings pursuant to law. The remedies of the town shall include, but not be limited to, the 

following: 

A. Issuance of a stop-work order; 

B. Seek an injunction or other order of restraint or abatement that requires the removal or the 

correction of the violation; 

C. Seek a court order imposing appropriate sanctions from any court of competent jurisdiction; 

D. In the case of a violation that poses an imminent danger to the public health or safety, taking 

such emergency measures as are authorized in this article; 

E. Seek code enforcement action; and 

F. Issuance of citations for each day and each sign not in compliance. 

Secs. 90-217 – 90-227. Reserved. 

PART 5. DEVELOPMENT REVIEWS 

ARTICLE XXXI. SUBDIVISION OF LAND 

Sec. 90-228. Compliance required. 

It shall be unlawful to fill any submerged land or to subdivide any lands within the town 

contrary to the provisions of this part 5.  

Sec. 90-229. Plat required. 

No real property within the town shall be subdivided and offered for sale until a plat thereof 

is examined by the planning and zoning board and approved by the board of commissioners nor 

shall a plat be approved or recorded without first submitting a preliminary plat for review by said 

boards. Building applications shall not be issued for structures to be located in a subdivision unless 

a plat thereof is recorded in the office of the Clerk of Circuit Court in and for Pinellas County, 

Florida.  

Sec. 90-230. Preliminary plat. 

A subdivider or property owner shall submit three copies of a preliminary plat of his or her 

proposed subdivision, prepared in accordance with the requirements of this part 5.  

Sec. 90-231. Contents of preliminary plat. 

The preliminary plat shall be a print drawn at a scale not less than 100 feet to the inch and 

shall show the following:  

A. The subdivision name, the name and address of the owner or subdivider and the designer 

of the plat.  

Commented [NM18]: Sec. 90-228 thru 90-236 were 
moved from old Part 1. Needs to be edited to comply with 
SB 784  



 

 

B. The date, approximate North point and scale.  

C. The boundary line of tract to be subdivided drawn accurately to scale, with aggregate 

linear and angular dimensions.  

D. The location of existing private property lines, streets, watercourses, bridges and any 

public utility easements of record, both on the land to be subdivided and on the land 

immediately adjoining for a distance of at least 150 feet; the location of water and 

sewerage mains, culverts, drain pipes and all structures on the land to be subdivided and 

on the land within ten feet of it; the names of adjoining subdivisions with plat book and 

page numbers and the names of record owners of adjoining parcels of unsubdivided land.  

E. The names, proposed locations, approximate dimensions, proposed streets, alleys, 

easements, parks and other open spaces, reservations, lot lines and building lines. This 

information may be graphical only, not requiring detailed computation nor field work 

over and above that required to obtain the information listed next above.  

F. When deemed necessary by the planning and zoning board, profiles of all streets 

showing natural and finished grades drawn to a scale of not less than one inch equals 40 

feet horizontal and one inch equals four feet vertical.  

G. When deemed necessary by the planning and zoning board, contours with a vertical 

interval of not more than one foot referred to sea level datum.  

Sec. 90-232. Final plats. 

Final plats shall conform to the requirements set forth in FS § 177.091.  

Sec. 90-233. Seawalls. 

All land subdivided pursuant to this part 5 bordering upon the waters of the Gulf of Mexico 

or Boca Ciega Bay shall be seawalled as provided in sections 63-10 through 63-15 before the plat 

thereof shall be approved.  

Sec. 90-234. Storm drainage. 

A. All subdivisions within the municipal limits of the town shall have storm drainage installed, 

streets graded to the full width of the right-of-way, street paving to a minimum width of 20 

feet of pavement with six-foot shoulders of stabilized shell for parking, adequate drainage 

ditches outside of shoulders, waterlines sufficient in size to operate fire hydrants and potable 

water furnished to each lot in said subdivision installed by the owner or subdivider to plans 

and specifications in accordance with requirements of the Pinellas County Water Department 

so as to furnish at least a class 7 rating by the Southeastern Fire Underwriters Association; 

cost of drainage and other installations required by this part 5 shall be paid for by the 

subdivider when such improvements are installed.  

B. If special drainage facilities to carry stormwater from a subdivision or several subdivisions 

are deemed necessary by the planning and zoning board and the board of commissioners, 

these facilities shall be built and paid for by the subdivider, provided that such facilities need 

not exceed 660 feet beyond boundaries of the property involved and in such reasonable 

manner as the subdivider and board of commissioners shall agree.  



 

 
  

Sec. 90-235. Sewer service laterals. 

All subdivisions created or extended under the provisions of this part 5 shall be provided with 

sewer service laterals to all lots in such subdivisions to be paid for by the subdivider. Such service 

laterals shall be constructed under the direction of the town.  

Sec. 90-236. Conformance to comprehensive plan. 

All proposed subdivisions shall be in conformity with a plan for the most advantageous 

development of the entire neighboring area and shall conform to the comprehensive plan adopted 

by the town, as amended. Whenever a tract to be subdivided embraces any part of a thoroughfare, 

boulevard or parkway so designated by the planning and zoning board, such part of such proposed 

public way shall be platted by the subdivider in the location and to the width recommended by the 

planning and zoning board.  

 

ARTICLE XXXII. MANDATORY SITE PLAN REVIEW 

Sec. 90-237. Mandatory site plan review. 

All applications for new construction or substantial improvement, other than single-family 

detached houses and duplex units east of Gulf Boulevard, whether permitted or special, shall be 

subject to site plan review by the planning and zoning board for recommendation, and by the board 

of commissioners for final approval or denial, which application shall be processed in accordance 

with the provisions of section 90-124.  

A. Site plan requirements. A site plan shall depict the following:  

(1) The locations of buildings and their relation to property lines.  

(2) Driveways and parking areas.  

(3) Pedestrian walks and landscaping.  

(4) Elevations and/or renderings, if required.  

(5) Locations of utilities, existing and proposed, including depicting all easements on 

the property, whether such are utility easements or private easements. Any property 

fronting on Gulf Boulevard shall show and provide a ten-foot-wide utility easement, 

for aboveground and below-ground utilities, along such portions of the property 

abutting Gulf Boulevard. The providing of such utility easement to the town shall 

be a condition that must be fulfilled prior to the issuance of any building permit.  

(6) Spot locations of major trees in excess of eight inches in diameter, and waterways.  

(7) Topography to the one-foot contour interval.  

(8) Elevation of lowest habitable floor of building in relation to mean sea level.  

(9) When appropriate, the coastal construction control line and the flood zone 

boundaries of the most current flood insurance rate map (FIRM).  

(10) Facilities for control of runoff water.  

(11) Soil types.  

Commented [NM19]: Sec. 90-237 was Sec. 90-110 in old 
Part 2 



 

 

B. Site plan design criteria. The following criteria shall be considered by the planning and 

zoning board for conformance to the design criteria, after adequate review of the site 

plan and inspection of the site in question:  

(1) Density and design harmonious with the environment and meeting the zoning 

district requirements. The use must be appropriate to the neighborhood with regard 

to street width, alignment and traffic access. Parking areas and yards shall be 

screened with evergreen planting where necessary for privacy and noise control. 

Planted buffer strips up to 20 feet in width may be required. Opaque fencing may, 

at the discretion of the board of commissioners, be allowed where necessary.  

(2) The location of buildings and structures on the site and the provision of minimum 

front, rear and side yards shall be based on the zoning district minimum standards 

for the property proposed for development or redevelopment.  

(3) Landscaping. All uses shall be landscaped.  

(a) Required landscaping may encompass the following:  

[1] Street trees or shrubs.  

[2] Foundation planting.  

[3] Planting islands to define curb cuts.  

[4] Perimeter planting to define and beautify sites.  

[5] Parking lot and walkway landscaping.  

[6] Buffer strips and screening for privacy.  

[7] Landscaping for underutilized acreage.  

[8] Landscaping for recreation space.  

[9] Landscaping for erosion control.  

(b) See also part 2, resources; vegetation and environmentally sensitive lands, 

D. Site plan approval criteria. The planning and zoning board shall have the option to 

recommend to the board of commissioners approval as submitted, approval with 

conditions or disapproval of any submitted site plan, and the board of commissioners 

shall have the option to approve, approve with conditions, or disapprove any submitted 

site plan. In approving a site plan with conditions, the written conditions become an 

appendage to the site plan. No building permit may be issued until the conditions are 

incorporated in the site plan, and no certificate of occupancy may be issued until all the 

conditions are satisfied. Conditions may include modifications to the layout or transfer 

of development rights. They may also relate to the use of the facility, including activities 

conducted therein, occupancy or hours of use.  

E. Exceptions. In a Commercial Tourist Facilities (CTF) Zoning District in the town, 

mandatory site plan review shall not be required as to single-family or duplex residences 

which are being altered only for the purpose of general repair and maintenance, up to a 

maximum expenditure of $2,500.00. However, no expansion of present residential 

premises by conversion of breezeways, carports, garages, patios, covered parking areas 

or parking areas in order to provide additional living area shall be permitted without 



 

 

mandatory site plan review. In addition, any enclosure which would negate code parking 

otherwise required on the property shall not be permitted. Any general maintenance, 

repairs or changes to the premises which involve a total expenditure of over the amount 

of $2,500.00 shall require a mandatory special exception review, but the property owner 

shall only be required to provide a current certified survey for such review. Nothing 

contained in these exceptions shall be deemed to authorize new construction or second-

level additions without mandatory site plan review, and all such construction shall have 

drawings certified with the seal/stamp of a Florida-registered architect/engineer.  

 

ARTICLE XXXIII. CONCURRENCY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

Sec. 90-238. General requirements for concurrency review. 

A certificate of concurrency shall be required prior to the issuance of a building permit. A 

certificate of concurrency shall automatically expire simultaneously with the expiration of the 

building permit to which it applies. In the event that a time extension is granted prior to the 

expiration of a building permit, then the accompanying certificate of concurrency shall be 

automatically renewed for the length of the time extension.  

Sec. 90-239. Level of service standards. 

Levels of service standards shall be as follows:  

 

 Service  Level of Standards  

Potable water  LOS - 150 gallons/day/capita (nonresidential is included)  

  Number of gallons required determined by multiplying the LOS x 

buildout population  

  Maximum demand of buildout population: 557,550 gallons/day (3,717 x 

150 gallons) (Pinellas County has committed to provide service.)  

Solid waste  LOS - 6.5 pounds/day/capita (nonresidential is included)  

  Number of pounds produced is determined by multiplying the LOS x 

buildout population  

  Maximum demand of buildout population: 24,160 pounds/day (3,717 x 

6.5 pounds) (Pinellas County has committed to provide service.)  

Sanitary sewers  LOS - 109 gpcd (nonresidential is included)  

  Number of gallons required determined by multiplying the LOS x 

buildout population  

  Maximum demand of buildout population: 405,153 gallons/day (3,717 x 

109 gallons) (Pinellas County has committed to provide service.)  

Parks and recreation  LOS minipark: 1/2,500 Existing: 3 parks Required: 1.48 parks Possible 

growth: 3,800 residents  

  LOS neighborhood park: 1/5,000 Existing: 1 park Required: 0.74 Possible 

growth: 1,283 residents  

  LOS community park: 1/10,000 Existing: 1 park Required: 0.37 Possible 

growth: 6,283 residents  

 All recreation and open space: 1 acre per 1,000 persons.  

Stormwater  25-year; 24 hours  

Commented [NM20]: Sec 90-238 thru 90-249 were Sec. 
90-170 thru 90-175  in older Part 4 



 

 

 

Sec. 90-240. Concurrency evaluation. 

The town permits single-family and multifamily residential development, tourist 

accommodations and commercial/office uses. All services/facilities, with the exception of parks 

and recreation and stormwater management, are provided by Pinellas County. Pinellas County has 

either committed to provide the facilities/services (water, wastewater, solid waste) or has 

established a threshold for concurrency review which exceeds the town's demand (140 trips). 

Accordingly, based on the limited development potential of the town and the ability to meet 

projected demand for both parks and recreation and stormwater management, the concurrency 

management system for the town will be limited to a yearly monitoring of capacity draw down 

and an update of facility consumption with the five-year evaluation and appraisal report.  

Sec. 90-241. Applicability. 

The concurrency management system, as contained in this article, is mandated by F.S. § 

163.3202 to provide that public facilities and services meet or exceed the level of service standards 

set forth in the Comprehensive Plan. The Comprehensive Plan was adopted as the Comprehensive 

Plan of Redington Shores on September 12, 1989, and the application of the concurrency 

management system shall be effective as to all building permits issued on or after April 1, 1990.  

Sec. 90-242. Transportation management system. 

A. Purpose and Intent.  It is the purpose of this division to establish a transportation 

management system to ensure that the impacts of development on transportation facilities 

and services are effectively managed while increasing mobility for pedestrians, bicyclists, 

transit users and motor vehicles. 

 

B. Transportation Management Plan. 

 

(1) Transportation management plans are to be submitted by applicants of development 

projects in conjunction with their site plans. Transportation management plans are 

required for development applications seeking to utilize transportation management 

strategies/improvements to address their development impacts. The extent of the 

strategies/improvements included in an approved transportation management plan in 

terms of the scale of the project(s) and roadway capacity and/or mobility benefits 

provided shall be based primarily on the projected impact of the development project 

on the surrounding traffic circulation system. Specific conditions of the deficient road 

corridor impacted by the development will also be considered. Transportation 

management plan strategies/improvements applicable to development projects within 

deficient road corridors will be determined at the time of site plan review. Should the 

impacts of the development project impact a road under the jurisdiction of an adjacent 

local government or FDOT, the identification of appropriate TMP strategies shall be 

coordinated with the affected jurisdiction(s). Transportation management plans must 

be developed by the applicant and accepted by the town. Transportation management 

plan strategies/improvements include but are not limited to those listed below. 

 



 

 

(a) Intensity reduction. The intensity of the proposal may be reduced through an across-

the- board reduction of the permitted floor area ratio, as it would otherwise 

normally apply to the proposal. Other such corrective actions that would reduce the 

intensity of the proposal may also apply. 

 

(b) Density reduction. The density of the proposal may be decreased by a reduction in 

the number of units per acre below that which would otherwise normally apply to 

the proposal. 

 

(c) Project phasing. A project may be divided into logical phases of development by 

area, with later phases of the development proposal's approval withheld until the 

needed facilities are available. 

 

(d) Outparcel deletion. Those portions of the proposal characterized as outparcels that 

create separate and unique impacts may be deleted from the total proposal. 

 

(e) Physical highway improvements. A project may construct link capacity 

improvements, acceleration/deceleration lanes, intersection improvements or 

frontage roads. 

 

(f) Operational improvements (signal). This includes efforts involving signal removal 

or signal timing improvements. 

 

(g) Access management strategies. These include access management controls such as 

the preclusion of a direct connection to a deficient facility, right-in/right-out 

driveways, alternative driveway locations, reduction of a driveway, single point 

access, shared access or the implementation of median controls. 

 

(h) Mass transit initiatives. A project may implement a plan to encourage transit (e.g., 

employer-issued bus passes). Other mass transit initiatives may include, but are not 

limited to, direct route subsidies, provision of feeder service or the construction of 

bus stop amenities, bus pull-off areas and dedication of park and ride parking 

spaces. 

 

(i) Demand management/commuter assistance. These include efforts to encourage 

ride- sharing (e.g., designated parking spaces for carpools, employer-sponsored 

carpool program, participation in transportation management 

organization/initiative programs), and to implement flexible work hour and 

telecommuting programs. 

 

(j) Bicycle/pedestrian improvements. These would involve structural improvements or 

construction of a bikeway or sidewalk connecting an existing bikeway/sidewalk 

network or providing access to a school, park, shopping center, etc. These 

improvements may also include pedestrian treatments in parking areas, sidewalks 

connecting developments with adjacent land uses, trail improvements and bicycle 



 

 

rack and on-street bicycle lane installations, and the planting of trees to provide 

shade canopy along sidewalks. 

 

(k) Intelligent transportation system improvements. This includes improvements 

pertaining to computerized traffic signal systems that automatically adjust to 

maximize traffic flow and to permit emergency vehicles to pass through 

intersections quickly. It also includes freeway management systems, such as 

electronic message signs, and electronic fare payment on public buses that reduce 

passenger boarding time. 

 

(l) Livable community site design features. These include, but are not limited to, 

implementation of pedestrian friendly site design features such as orienting 

buildings toward the street and parking lots to the side or rear of buildings. 

 

(2) Transportation management plans seeking to implement strategies that do not involve 

structural improvements, such as ride-sharing and transit incentive programs, must 

include a monitoring program to ensure the strategies are carried out in accordance with 

the plan, as developed by the applicant and accepted by the town. 

 

C. Deficient Road Corridors, Transportation Management Plan Strategies Applied 

 

(1) Deficient road corridors include parcels within one-half mile of the centerline or 

terminus of a facility operating under a deficient level of service. 

(2) In support of the provisions of this section regarding deficient road corridors, policies 

in the comprehensive plan seek to discourage future land use map (FLUM) 

amendments that allow for an increase in automobile trips generated from sites 

proposed for amendment. 

 

(3) Development projects located within deficient road corridors that generate between 51 

and 300 new peak hour trips are classified as tier 1. 

 

(a) Developers of tier 1 projects are required to submit a transportation management 

plan designed to address their impacts while increasing mobility and reducing the 

demand for single occupant vehicle travel. 

 

(b) The cost of transportation management strategies implemented for tier 1 projects 

are creditable toward their multimodal impact fee assessment in accordance with 

the Multimodal Impact Fee Ordinance. If the cost of the improvement exceeds the 

assessment, the development project would not be subject to payment of the fee. 

 

(4) Development projects located within deficient road corridors that generate more than 

300 new peak hour trips are classified as tier 2. Developers of tier 2 projects are 

required to conduct a traffic study and submit an accompanying report. The report shall 

include the results of the traffic study and a transportation management plan identifying 

improvements necessary to mitigate the impacts of the project.  The report shall be 

submitted to the Building Department for review. The cost of transportation 



 

 

management strategies implemented for tier 2 projects may be applied as credit toward 

the project’s multimodal impact fee assessment in accordance with the Multimodal 

Impact Fee Ordinance or payment of the fee could be included as part of a 

transportation management plan. 

 

(5) Development projects that generate less than 51 new peak hour trips are required to 

pay a multimodal impact fee in accordance with the Multimodal Impact Fee Ordinance. 

They are not required to submit a transportation management plan or traffic study. 

 

(6) A traffic study and corresponding transportation management plan for a land 

development project generating more than 50 new peak hour trips outside a deficient 

road corridor may be required if through the site plan review process the local 

government determines that operational improvements such as intersection or median 

modifications are necessary to accommodate the additional trips generated by the 

proposed land use. 

 

D. Methodology Applied.  Determination of trip generation shall be based on the Pinellas 

County Transportation Impact Fee Ordinance fee schedules and latest edition of the 

Institute of Transportation Engineers Trip Generation Manual. 

 

ARTICLE XLIII. DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENTS 

Sec. 90-243. Procedures. 

 

A. Terms and conditions. Development agreements shall be considered under the following 

procedures: The board of commissioners of the town, in its sole and exclusive discretion, 

may enter into development agreements with the legal and equitable owners of real 

property within the town limits of the town as provided in Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, 

and as is further set forth under the terms of this article. The entry into a development 

agreement by said town shall in no way whatsoever limit or modify any legislative power 

by said town to adopt ordinances, resolutions or regulations or to make executive 

administrative or legislative decisions of any kind which it had the power to make prior to 

the entity of such development agreement, except to the degree that the development 

agreement, by its express terms and not by implication, gives vested rights to said property 

owner as to certain development permissions, required improvements and similar matters. 

No development agreement shall, by its express terms or by implication, limit the right of 

the board of commissioners to adopt ordinances or regulations or to adopt policies that are 

of general application or specific as to the property subject to the development agreement 

in the town, except as is expressly provided in Chapter 163, Florida Statutes.  

 

B. Rights of the town reserved. The submission of a request for consideration of a 

development agreement, the board of commissioner’s willingness to pursue discussions, 

the resultant negotiations regarding a development agreement, the payment of any 

application fees for the submission of any applications, engineering plans, surveys and any 

other expenditures or efforts in prosecution of the development agreement provided for 

Commented [NM21]: New language 



 

 

herein by a property owner shall not vest any rights whatsoever in any land use district or 

future land use designation in such property owner nor shall it in any manner whatsoever 

limit the board of commissioners from undertaking any land use district or future land use 

plan amendments that it would be otherwise legally entitled to undertake.  

 

C. Initiation of request and fee. A property owner desiring to enter into a development 

agreement with the town shall make a written request for such development agreement to 

the town administrator and pay the fee as is established by motion of the board of 

commissioners. Such written request shall identify the lands which are desired to be subject 

to the development agreement and shall identify all legal and equitable owners having any 

interest in such property, and such ownership interests shall be certified by a title company 

or an attorney-at-law licensed to practice in the State of Florida. Any partnerships, 

corporations, joint ventures or other persons with interest in such partnerships, corporations 

or joint ventures shall be revealed.  

 

D. Preliminary board of commissioners review. Upon receipt of such a request, the town 

administrator or designee shall place the matter on the agenda of the board of 

commissioners, and the board of commissioners shall, in its discretion, determine whether 

or not it desires the town administrator or designee to pursue negotiations with the property 

owner relative to the entry into a development agreement. In the event that the board of 

commissioners determines not to proceed with further negotiations or discussions 

regarding the development agreement, the fee paid by the property owner shall be refunded. 

In the event that the board of commissioners instructs the town administrator or designee 

to proceed with further negotiations, the fee shall thereafter be nonrefundable, regardless 

of whether or not a development agreement is ultimately executed between the town and 

the property owner.  

 

E. Submission requirements. Upon the board of commissioner’s determining that it desires to 

proceed with further negotiations relative to a development agreement, the property owner 

shall promptly submit a development proposal for the subject property to include the 

following information:  

 

(1) Legal description of the lands to include identification of lands or out-parcels to be 

exempt from the agreement.  

 

(2) The persons, firms or corporations having a legal or equitable interest in the land.  

 

(3) The desired duration of the development agreement, but not exceeding three years.  

 

(4) The development uses desired to be permitted on the land, including population 

densities and building intensities and heights.  

 

(5) A description of all existing and proposed public facilities that will serve the land.  

 



 

 

(6) Identification of Land Use Plan district or Future Land Use Map amendments that will 

be required if the proposed development proposal were to be approved.  

 

(7) The Future Land Use Map and zoning district designations of all abutting property; the 

complete names and addresses of all property owners abutting or lying within 200 feet 

of the subject property as currently listed in the Pinellas County records one week prior 

to the agreement application.  

 

(8) A certified property boundary survey prepared by a registered Florida surveyor no more 

than 12 months prior to the property owner's written request for the development 

agreement.  

 

(9) All environmentally sensitive lands, DEP jurisdictional wetlands and lands subject to 

the jurisdiction and regulations of the Southwest Florida Water Management District 

shall be shown on a survey of the property.  

 

(10) All existing and proposed utilities and the manner in which existing utilities will be 

extended to the site and/or expanded for the use of the development, including water, 

sewer, gas, electricity, CATV and other utilities.  

 

(11) A master drainage plan for the development indicating thereon the existing drainage 

features and land topography, along with, and superimposed thereon, the proposed 

drainage features indicating clearly the means by which the final developed land will 

collect, regulate and conduct the drainage runoff from the lands developed and tributary 

thereto.  

 

(12) The location, type, size and height of fencing, earth berms, retaining wall or screen 

planting to buffer abutting properties or as is otherwise required by town regulations.  

 

(13) A grading plan and, included therewith, the elevation requirements of the floodplain 

management requirements of this code.  

 

(14) A landscape plan and existing tree survey.  

 

(15) Any deed restrictions existing or being imposed upon the lands for development.  

 

(16) A list of all federal, state and local permit requirements.  

 

(17) Private or public parklands required or proposed for parkland impact fee purposes.  

 



 

 

(18) Any further information that the town administrator or designee may require because 

of the particular nature or location of the development.  

 

 

Sec. 90-244. Town review, negotiation and determination. 

A. Review and report by town administrator or designee. The town administrator or designee 

and his/her staff shall review the development proposal of the property owner and shall 

meet and negotiate with the property owner regarding the appropriate development of the 

property and the terms and conditions on which said property should be developed as said 

town administrator or designee shall deem to be appropriate and necessary for the 

protection of the public interest. At such time as the property owner and the town 

administrator or designee have reached tentative agreement as to the terms and conditions 

of the development agreement or the town administrator or designee deem that no further 

negotiations would be useful because of the unlikely possibility of reaching a concurrence 

on the terms and conditions of a development agreement, the town administrator or 

designee shall report the status of such negotiations to the board of commissioners. Such 

tentative agreement shall not give rise to any development rights or equitably or legally 

vest any development rights in the property owner.  

 

B. Review and direction by board of commissioners. In the event that the town administrator 

or designee and the property owner have negotiated the terms of a mutually acceptable 

development agreement, the essential terms of that development agreement shall be 

presented in an outline form to the board of commissioners. Said board of commissioners 

shall review the same and shall, if it determines to proceed further with completion of the 

development agreement by vote of not less than four members of the board of 

commissioners, direct the town attorney to reduce said development terms to contractual 

form for further consideration by the board of commissioners. This direction shall in no 

manner whatsoever obligate the board of commissioners to ultimately approve a 

development agreement or to approve any of the matters outlined to it by the town 

administrator or designee as to any specific term or condition.  

 

C. Determination to terminate or proceed by board of commissioners. In the event that the 

town administrator or designee and the property owner have not negotiated a mutually 

satisfactory development agreement, the town administrator or designee shall notify the 

board of commissioners and the development agreement process as to the particular land 

shall be concluded unless by a concurring lot of four members of the board of 

commissioners, the board of commissioners shall direct that negotiations shall continue. A 

further development agreement application on the same property may be submitted no 

sooner than one 180 calendar days from the date of the town administrator's notification of 

the board of commissioners that the previous development agreement application was 

terminated for failure to reach a mutually satisfactory agreement or the board of 

commissioners has concluded consideration of the development agreement, whichever is 

later.  

 



 

 

Sec. 90-245. Public hearings; board of commissioners action. 

A. Public hearings. At such time as the town attorney has reduced the terms of the proposed 

development agreement to written contractual form, the town administrator or designee 

shall transmit such development agreement to the board of commissioners with his/her 

written recommendation regarding adoption of the development agreement. The board of 

commissioners shall then conduct not fewer than two public hearings on the question of 

entering into said development agreement. Said public hearing shall be advertised in a 

newspaper of general circulation in Pinellas County, and such notice shall be advertised 

approximately 14 days before each public hearing. Notice of intent to consider said 

development agreement shall also be mailed to all property owners abutting the subject 

land or lying within 200 feet of the subject land not less than 14 days prior to the first 

hearing. The applicant for the development agreement shall furnish an updated listing of 

the complete names and addresses of the affected owners. The day, time and place at which 

the second public hearing will be held shall be announced at the first public hearing. Said 

notice shall specify the location of the land subject to the development agreement, the 

development uses proposed on the property, the proposed population densities and building 

heights and shall specify where a copy of the proposed agreement can be obtained. At 

public hearings, the board of commissioners shall accept any public comment on the terms 

of the development agreement.  

 

B. Local Planning Agency review. Prior to the first public hearing, the proposed development 

agreement shall have been reviewed by the local planning agency, and its recommendation 

shall have been provided to the board of commissioners. In the event that the local planning 

agency has failed to provide a recommendation to the board of commissioners within 90 

days from the date that such development agreement has been submitted to it for action, 

this requirement may be waived by the board of commissioners. 

 

C. Board of commissioner’s action. At the meeting at which the second public hearing is held, 

or at any subsequent meeting thereafter, the board of commissioners may, by vote of not 

less than four members of the board of commissioners, approve the form and execution of 

a development agreement.  

 

Sec. 90-246. Requirements for approved development agreement. 

A. Content. Any development agreement approved under the provisions of this code shall 

contain not less than the following requirements:  

 

(1) A legal description of the land subject to the agreement and the identification of all 

persons having legal or equitable ownership therein.  

 

(2) The duration of the development agreement, which duration shall not exceed three 

years, but which may be extended by mutual consent of the town and the property 

owner, said extension being subject to the public hearing process necessary for the 

initial approval of said development agreement.  

 



 

 

(3) The development uses permitted on the land, including population densities, building 

intensities and building heights.  

 

(4) A site plan containing such information as is otherwise required by this code. All the 

requirements of the site plan process and submittal shall be integrated with and 

approved concurrently with the development agreement.  

 

(5) A description of the public facilities that will service the development, including 

designation of the entity or agency that shall be providing such facilities. Additionally, 

if new facilities are needed to serve the project, the date by which such facilities will 

be constructed and a schedule to assure that public facilities shall be available 

concurrent with the impacts of the development will be provided. The development 

agreement may provide for a letter of credit to be deposited with the town to secure the 

construction of any new facilities that are required to be constructed. Alternatively, 

such construction may be a condition precedent to the issuance of any building permits 

or other development permissions. In the event that the new public facilities are in place 

and operating at the time development permits are requested, no such letter of credit 

shall be necessary unless such facilities are not adequate for the project.  

 

(6) A description of any reservation or dedication of land for public purposes. The 

development agreement shall provide specifically how the land dedication code 

obligation for the project, if any, is to be met. In the event that land is to be conveyed 

to the town in discharge of the land dedication code obligation, the development 

agreement will provide that such conveyance will be by warranty deed and will be 

accompanied by a title insurance policy (at the expense of the property owner) in an 

amount not less than the fair market value of the land. 

 

(7) Development permits.  

 

(a) A description of all local development permits approved or needed to be approved 

for the development of the land, specifically to include at least the following: any 

required future land use plan map amendments, any required submissions to 

Forward Pinellas or to the Florida Department of Commerce, any required 

permissions of the State of Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, the 

United States Corps of Army Engineers, the Southwest Florida Water Management 

District, the United States Environmental Protection Agency and any other 

governmental permissions that are required for the project.  

 

(b) The development agreement shall specifically provide that said development 

permissions will be obtained at the sole cost of the property owner and that, in the 

event that any development permissions are not received, no further development 

of the property shall be allowed until such time as the board of commissioners has 

reviewed the matter and determined whether or not to terminate the development 

agreement or to modify it in a manner consistent with the public interest. Under 



 

 

these conditions, action in reliance on the development agreement or expenditures 

in pursuance of its terms or any rights accruing to the property owner thereunder, 

shall not vest any development rights in the property owner, nor shall it constitute 

partial performance entitling the property owner to a continuation of the 

development agreement.  

 

(c) A specific finding in the development agreement that the development permitted or 

proposed is consistent with the town's Comprehensive Plan and this Chapter or that, 

if amendments are necessary to the land use plan designations on the subject 

property, such development agreement is contingent upon those amendments being 

made and approved by the appropriate governmental agencies.  

 

(d) The board of commissioners may provide for any conditions, terms, restrictions or 

other requirements determined to be necessary for the public health, safety or 

welfare of its citizens, and such conditions, terms or restrictions may be more 

onerous or demanding than those otherwise specifically required by the land 

development standards then existing in the town and may provide for off-site 

improvements, screening, buffering, setbacks, building height restrictions, land 

coverage restrictions and similar types of matters that would not otherwise be 

required of the development under the existing town ordinances and regulations.  

 

(e) A statement indicating that failure of the development agreement to address a 

particular permit, condition, term or restriction shall not relieve the property owner 

of the necessity of complying with the law governing said permitting requirements, 

conditions, terms or restrictions and that any matter or thing required to be done 

under existing ordinances of the town shall not be otherwise amended, modified or 

waived unless such modification, amendment or waiver is expressly provided for 

in said development agreement with specific reference to the code provision so 

waived, modified or amended.  

 

(f) At the board of commissioner's discretion, the development agreement may provide 

that the entire development or any phase thereof be commenced or be completed 

within any specific period of time and may provide for penalties in the nature of 

monetary penalties, the denial of future building permits, the termination of the 

development agreement or the withholding of certificates of occupancy for the 

failure of the property owner to comply with any such requirement.  

 

B. Execution. All development agreements shall be executed by all persons having legal or 

equitable title in the subject property, including the fee simple owner and any mortgagees, 

unless the town attorney approves the execution of the development agreement without the 

necessity of such joinder or subordination on a determination that the substantial interests 

of the town will not be adversely affected thereby. A development agreement is determined 

to be a legislative act of the town in the furtherance of its powers to zone and regulate 

development within its boundaries and, as such, shall be superior to the rights of existing 



 

 

mortgagees, lien holders or other persons with a legal or equitable interest in the subject 

property, and the development agreement and the obligations and responsibilities arising 

thereunder on the property owner shall be superior to the rights of said mortgagees or lien 

holders and shall not be subject to foreclosure under the terms of mortgages or liens entered 

into or recorded prior to the execution and recordation of the development agreement.  

 

C. Approval of a development agreement following its expiration shall require review and 

approval as a new development agreement under the requirements of this article. 

 

D. Amendments to a development agreement, except those required for compliance with 

subsequently enacted state or federal law, shall require review and approval as a new 

development agreement under the requirements of this article. Modifications required for 

compliance with subsequently enacted state or federal law shall be modified or revoked as 

necessary to comply with the relevant state or federal law pursuant to Florida Statutes, 

Section 163.3241. 

 

Sec. 90-247. Applicability of existing ordinances and regulations. 

A. Town ordinances prevail subject to development agreement. The ordinances and 

regulations of the town governing the development of the land at the time of the execution 

of any development agreement provided for hereunder shall continue to govern the 

development of the land subject to the development agreement for the duration of the 

development agreement. At the termination of the duration of the development agreement, 

all then existing codes shall become applicable to the project regardless of the terms of the 

development agreement, and said development agreement shall be modified accordingly. 

The application of such laws shall not include any fee structure, including any impact fees, 

then in existence or thereafter imposed.  

 

B. Ordinances and policies subsequently adopted. The town may apply ordinances and 

policies adopted subsequently to the execution of the development agreement to the subject 

property only if the town has held a public hearing and determined that such new 

ordinances and policies are:  

 

(1) Not in conflict with the laws and policies governing the development agreement and 

do not prevent development of the land uses, intensities or densities as allowed under 

the terms of the development agreement;  

 

(2) Essential to the public health, safety and welfare and expressly state that they shall 

apply to a development that is subject to a development agreement;  

 

(3) Specifically anticipated and provided for in the agreement; and the town demonstrates 

that substantial changes have occurred in pertinent conditions existing at the time for 

the approval of the development agreement or the development agreement is based on 

substantially inaccurate information supplied by the developer.  



 

 

 

C. Specific provision for ordinances and policies of general application. All development 

agreements shall specifically provide that subsequently adopted ordinances and policies of 

general application in the town, specifically including impact fees, shall be applicable to 

the lands subject to the development agreement and that such modifications are specifically 

anticipated in the development agreement.  

 

D. Compliance with subsequently adopted state and federal laws. In the event that state and 

federal laws are enacted after the execution of a development agreement which are 

applicable to and preclude the parties' compliance with the terms of the development 

agreement, such agreement shall be modified or revoked as is necessary to comply with 

the relevant state or federal laws, such modification or revocation to take place only after 

the notice provisions provided for the adoption of a development agreement have been 

complied with. Such persons as are defined by state law shall have standing to enforce the 

development agreement.  

 

Sec. 90-248. Review and filing. 

A. Annual review for compliance. The town shall review all lands within the town subject to 

a development agreement not less than once every 12 calendar months to determine if there 

has been demonstrated good faith compliance with the terms of the development 

agreement. The town administrator or designee shall report his/her findings to the board of 

commissioners. In the event that the town finds, on the basis of substantial competent 

evidence, that there has been a failure to comply with the terms of the development 

agreement, the agreement may be revoked or modified by the town upon 30 days' notice to 

the property owner as shown on the records of the Property Appraiser of Pinellas County. 

Such termination or amendment shall be accomplished only after public hearing and notice 

as is herein required for the adoption of a development agreement. Amendment or 

cancellation of the development agreement by mutual consent of the town and the property 

owner may be accomplished following notice requirements required for initial adoption of 

the development agreement as is above set forth.  

 

B. Development agreement to be recorded with Clerk of the Circuit Court. Not later than 14 

days after the execution of a development agreement, the town shall record said agreement 

with the Clerk of the Circuit Court in Pinellas County, and a copy of the recorded 

development agreement shall be submitted to the State Land Planning Agency within 14 

days after the agreement is recorded. The burdens of the development agreement shall be 

binding upon, and the benefits of the agreement shall inure to, all successors in interest to 

the parties to the agreement.  

 

Sec. 90-249. Reserved. 

 



 

 

PART 6. SUPPLEMENTAL STANDARDS 

ARTICLE XXXIV. TRAFFIC CIRCULATION 

 

Sec. 90-250. Traffic circulation. 

(1) Unrestricted access to streets is not allowed. Generally, curb cuts are limited to a maximum 

of 25 feet.  

(2) Access to streets should take into consideration sight distance and alignment.  

(3) All sites must provide for emergency vehicle access.  

(4) Separate ingress and egress is encouraged.  

(5) Traffic collection to reduce access points to Gulf Boulevard is encouraged.  

(6) Maneuver lanes between rows of parked autos shall be at least 20 feet in width.  

(7) Traffic lanes shall conform to the same design standards as public streets as regards alignment 

on intersection.  

(8) All buildings, exclusive of single-family and duplex dwelling districts, must provide for 

pedestrian circulation. Hard-surfaced pedestrian walks a minimum of four feet wide shall be 

provided generally as follows:  

(a) Along public rights-of-way.  

(b) Along access corridors to buildings.  

(c) At interconnecting points where significant numbers of people will seek to walk.  

(9)   See also section 90-171, parking regulations and requirements 

 

ARTICLE XXXV. SIGHT VISIBILITY AT INTERSECTIONSM

Sec. 90-251. Sight visibility at intersections. 

A. General standards. Sight visibility triangles are designated areas located near streets and/or 

driveway intersections that shall be free from visual obstruction in order to maintain safe 

visibility for vehicles, bicyclists, and pedestrians. All property shall maintain sight visibility 

triangles as described in this section.  

(1) Sight visibility triangles shall be provided on all corners at the intersection of any public 

or private street with another street, an alley or a driveway; and, on all corners of the 

intersection of an alley and driveway.  

(2) Within sight visibility triangles, unobstructed sight lines and cross visibility shall be 

maintained between a height of two and one-half feet and eight feet.  

(3) No structure, object, and/or vegetation shall be placed and/or maintained in a manner 

which materially impedes the visibility from a street, alley or driveway of lawfully 

oncoming traffic from any direction in the intersecting public street.  

Commented [NM22]: Moved from Sec. 110(B)(3) in old 
Part 2 

Commented [NM23]: Moved from Sec. 90-157 in old 
Part 3 



 

 

B. Sight visibility triangle areas. The required sight visibility triangle area is based on the type 

of intersection and specified below.  

(1) Intersection of two streets. The sight visibility triangle is formed with two sides being 

25 feet in length along the abutting street pavement (illustrated by the letter "B" on the 

diagram below), measured from their point of intersection, illustrated by the letter "A" 

in the diagram below, and the third side being a line connecting the ends of the other two 

sides, illustrated by the letter "C" in the diagram below.  

 

Figure 1 — Sight visibility triangle at the intersection of two streets. 

 

(2) Intersection of an alley and a street, a street and a driveway, and/or alley and a driveway. 

The triangle is formed on both sides of the alley and driveway with two sides of each 

triangle being ten feet in length along the abutting street pavement, measured from their 

point of intersection, illustrated by the letter "A" on diagram below, and the third side 

being a line connecting the ends of the other two sides, illustrated by the letter "C" on 

the diagram below.  

 

Figure 2 — Sight visibility triangle at the intersection of a street and alley or driveway; OR alley and driveway.  

 

(3) For all of the above cases, in the case of rounded corners and corner chords, the point at 

which the street/driveway/alley pavement would meet, if extended without such 



 

 

rounding, will be used as the point of intersection, as illustrated by the letters "A" and 

"B" in the diagram below.  

 

Figure 3 — Sight visibility triangle calculation with corner chords. 

 

C. Exemptions. The following exemptions may apply to sight visibility standards.  

(1) Governmental signage and governmental sign posts in the right-of-way.  

(2) Fire hydrants, benches, and traffic control devices in the right-of-way.  

(3) Utility poles and one utility transmission or control device in the right-of-way.  

 

ARTICLE XXXVI. SUN SHELTERS/CHICKEE HUTS 

Sec. 90-252. Construction standards. 

(1) All construction must meet at least the minimum requirements of the Florida Building Code 

as adopted by the town, and as amended to date, and as may be subsequently amended.  

(2) No sun shelters shall be permitted except those supported by either:  

(a) One central pole of a diameter not to exceed ten inches; or  

(b) A maximum of eight poles.  

(3) The maximum coverage allowed under roof, including overhangs shall be 150 square feet.  

(4) The maximum height of the sun shelter shall be 14 feet measured from the patio or land on 

which the sun shelter is constructed. Should the surface on which the sun shelter is constructed 

have a grade, the measurement required by this subsection shall be from the lowest point of 

the grade under the sun shelter, including overhangs.  

(5) The minimum height of the palm fronds composing the sun shelter shall be six feet, measured 

in subsection (4) above.  

(6) No sun shelter shall incorporate any electrical, plumbing or other non-wood features.  

Commented [NM24]: Moved from Art. XXXIII in old Part 
4 



 

 

(7) Any sun shelter not constructed by the Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Florida or the 

Seminole Tribe of Florida is subject to the Florida Building Code and not exempt from 

building permit requirements.  

Sec. 90-253. Zoning regulations. 

(1) Sun shelters are allowed only in residential zoning districts.  

(2) Sun shelters shall not be constructed within five feet of any rear lot line.  

(3) Sun shelters shall not be constructed within three feet of any side lot line.  

(4) No sun shelter shall be permitted to attach to existing living structures on the property and 

must comply with all separation requirements under the Florida Fire Prevention Code.  

Sec. 90-254. Condition of fronds. 

A sun shelter to which palm fronds are attached so as not to be sacrificed in winds exceeding 

70 mph is hereby declared to be a danger to the health and safety of the citizens of the town. No 

such condition shall be allowed to exist.  

Sec. 90-255. Zoning clearance required. 

(1) Sun shelters/chickee huts constructed by the Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Florida and/or 

the Seminole Tribe of Florida are exempt from the Florida Building Code and do not require 

a building permit. They are not, however, exempt from zoning district regulations.  

(2) The following is required to be submitted to the town prior to construction of any sun shelter 

by the Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Florida or the Seminole Tribe of Florida for a zoning 

clearance approval:  

(a) A zoning clearance application fee of $89.00 payable to the Town of Redington Shores.  

(b) Site plans showing the proposed location of construction (all setbacks are required to be 

shown on the site plan).  

(c) Proof of identification (business card, tribe ID card, driver's license).  

(d) Letter from the tribe member stating that only they will be doing the work to construct 

and erect the sun shelter.  

(3) Any structure larger than 150 square feet, whether or not it is constructed by the Miccosukee 

Tribe of Indians of Florida or the Seminole Tribe of Florida, requires a permit and would 

require engineered plans and any variances that might be required.  

Sec. 90-256. Approval of existing structures. 

Any property owner with an existing sun shelter that was constructed by the Miccosukee 

Tribe of Indians of Florida or the Seminole Tribe of Florida prior to the adoption of this Ordinance 

19-01, shall have a 120-day period (beginning from the date this Ordinance 19-01 is adopted) to 

submit all regulatory paperwork required to prove compliance with the standards set forth in this 

section. There shall be no approval fee required for pre-existing sun shelters during the 120-day 

grace period.  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM G.2. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:    October 8, 2025 

To:  Board of Commissioners 

From:  Margaret Carey, Town Manager 

Re:  ORD 2025-07 Permit Fees 

 

At the September 24, 2025 workshop, Commissioners directed the town attorney to prepare an 

ordinance updating the town code to add a provision for refunds on construction permit 

application fees.  

The following sections were updated: 

Sec. 63-20. - Fees. 

 

A. Application fees. A construction permit application fee shall be charged for all permit 

applications for all work with a total cost of $25,000.00 or more. This application fee is 

nonrefundable whether the project is completed or abandoned, is due and payable at the 

time the application is submitted for processing, and such fees shall be used solely for 

carrying out the town’s responsibilities in enforcing the Florida Building Code. 

 

 

F. All construction trailers, materials, temporary fences, temporary signs, temporary electric, 

and dumpsters shall be removed before a certificate of occupancy is issued for any work 

pursuant to any building permit. 

 

G. Fee refunds. Notwithstanding subsection (A) above, if an owner or contractor pays a 

permit, plans examination, inspection, or other fee set forth in the town’s adopted building 

fee schedule in advance of the service being provided, and the town has not undertaken 

work to process, or review the permit application or proposed plans, or to inspect work 

performed, the owner or contractor is entitled to request and receive a refund of the relevant 

fee(s) paid for work not performed by the town. In addition, if an owner has paid any 

assessed impact fee associated with a construction project, and the project is abandoned 

and the impacting structure or associated infrastructure or sitework has not been 

constructed, the owner is entitled to request and receive a refund of the impact fee paid. 

 

 



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-07 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF REDINGTON SHORES, FLORIDA, 
AMENDING § 63-20 OF THE TOWN CODE (RELATED TO PERMIT 
FEES); MAKING RELATED FINDINGS; PROVIDING FOR 
CODIFICATION, SEVERABILITY, AND FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, Florida Statutes § 166.222(1) authorizes the governing body of a 
municipality to “provide a schedule of reasonable inspection fees in order to defer the costs of 
inspection and enforcement of the provisions of its building code”; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Florida Statutes § 553.80(1) provides that the governing body of a 
municipality may provide a schedule of fees for the enforcement of the provisions of the Florida 
Building Code, and provides that such fees shall be used solely for carrying out the local 
government’s responsibilities in enforcing the Florida Building Code; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Florida Statutes § 553.80(7)(a) provides that building permit fees “must be 
consistently applied”; and 
 
 WHEREAS, this statutory section also provides that permit fees may be assessed for “any 
process or enforcement related to obtaining or finalizing a building permit” and includes “direct 
costs and reasonable indirect costs associated with review of building plans…, and building permit 
processing” whether a permit is issued or not; and 
 
 WHEREAS, § 63-20 of the Town Code addresses construction permit fees; and 
 
 WHEREAS, while the Town Commission on June 11th 2025 adopted Ordinance 2025-01 
which amended various provisions within § 63-20, the Town Commission desires to further clarify 
its language surrounding fees which are non-refundable; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Town Commission finds that is in the best interest of the Town, its 
residents, and property owners, to approve the provisions set forth in this Ordinance. 

 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Commissioners of the Town 
of Redington Shores, Florida, that: 
 
  Section 1.  Section 63-20 of the Redington Shores Town Code is hereby amended as 

follows: 

Sec. 63-20. - Fees. 
 

A. Application fees. A construction permit application fee shall be charged for all permit 
applications for all work with a total cost of $25,000.00 or more. This application fee is 
nonrefundable whether the project is completed or abandoned, is due and payable at the 
time the application is submitted for processing, and such fees shall be used solely for 
carrying out the town’s responsibilities in enforcing the Florida Building Code. 



2 
 

 
B. Additional fees. In addition to the application fee, the following fees will also be due and 

payable before a building permit is issued as appropriate to the work covered: 
 

(1) Building permit fee. 
 

(2) Plan examination fee. 
 

(3) Radon gas and inspector's certification fund. 
 

(4) Transportation impact fee. 
 

(5) All other fees which may be imposed by the Redington Shores Town Commission, by 
resolution or ordinance, Pinellas County, or any other county, state or federal agency 
having the authority to establish such fees. 

 
C. Ancillary or subordinate permits. Permit fees for all ancillary or subordinate permits 

required for a project shall be due and payable prior to the issuance of such permits. 
 

D. Establishment and publication of fees. The schedule for all fees established pursuant to this 
section shall be adopted by the commission by resolution from time to time. Pursuant to 
Florida Statutes § 166.222(2), the building official shall ensure the town’s fee schedule and 
inspection utilization report required by Florida Statutes § 553.80(7) are posted on the 
town’s website. 
 

E. Fees related to unpermitted work. 
 

(1) Notwithstanding the provision of any fee schedule of the town to the contrary, the 
fee for an after-the-fact permit for work which required a permit, but for which a 
permit was not obtained, shall be five times the standard fee. 

 
(2) Notwithstanding subsection (1), effective January 1st 2025, the after-the-fact permit 

fee for persons who: 
 

(a) did not perform the work through a contractor or subcontractor, 
 
(b) had initiated the permit application process with the town within one hundred 

twenty days after the date of a local disaster declaration by the President of the 
United States or the Governor of the State of Florida, 

 
(c) were unable to obtain a permit (including floodplain review as required by code 

§ 63-39) within thirty (30) days after having first initiated the application 
process with the town, 

 
(d) performed only such work as was necessary to make their home safe, sanitary 

and secure as allowed under applicable FEMA regulations, 



3 
 

 
(e) continued to actively work with the building official to pursue completion of 

the permit application process, and 
 
(f) owned and occupied their own home immediately prior to the disaster 

declaration, 
 

shall be 2.5 times the standard fee. 
 
(3) Work performed without permit which has been performed by a contractor or 

subcontractor is not eligible for the reduced after-the-fact permit fee provided for 
in subsection (2). In the event the building official or code enforcement deputy 
discover such work by a contractor or subcontractor, those officials shall pursue all 
available legal remedies against the contractor or subcontractor, including referring 
the matter to the appropriate state and county contractor licensing authorities. 

 
F. All construction trailers, materials, temporary fences, temporary signs, temporary electric, 

and dumpsters shall be removed before a certificate of occupancy is issued for any work 
pursuant to any building permit. 
 

G. Fee refunds. Notwithstanding subsection (A) above, if an owner or contractor pays a 
permit, plans examination, inspection, or other fee set forth in the town’s adopted building 
fee schedule in advance of the service being provided, and the town has not undertaken 
work to process, or review the permit application or proposed plans, or to inspect work 
performed, the owner or contractor is entitled to request and receive a refund of the relevant 
fee(s) paid for work not performed by the town. In addition, if an owner has paid any 
assessed impact fee associated with a construction project, and the project is abandoned 
and the impacting structure or associated infrastructure or sitework has not been 
constructed, the owner is entitled to request and receive a refund of the impact fee paid. 

 
Section 2. Pursuant to Florida Statutes § 166.041(4)(a), prior to the date the public 

notice of the public hearing for this Ordinance was published, the Town prepared and posted on 

its website a business impact estimate which included: a) a summary of the Ordinance, a statement 

of the public purpose to be served by the Ordinance, b) an estimate of the direct economic impact 

of the Ordinance on private, for-profit businesses in the Town, c) an estimate of direct compliance 

costs that businesses may reasonably incur due to the Ordinance, d) identification of any new 

charge or fee on businesses created by the Ordinance or for which businesses will be financially 

responsible, e) an estimate of the Town’s regulatory costs and of revenues from any new charges 



4 
 

or fees imposed on businesses to cover such costs, and f) a good faith estimate of the number of 

businesses likely to be impacted by the Ordinance. 

Section 3. For purposes of codification of any existing section of the Redington Shores 

Code herein amended, words underlined represent additions to original text, words stricken are 

deletions from the original text, and words neither underlined nor stricken remain unchanged. 

Section 4. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, provision or word of this 

Ordinance is held unconstitutional or otherwise legally invalid, same shall be severable and the 

remainder of this Ordinance shall not be affected by such invalidity, such that any remainder of 

the Ordinance shall withstand any severed provision, as the Board of Commissioners would have 

adopted the Ordinance and its regulatory scheme even absent the invalid part. 

 Section 5. The Codifier shall codify the substantive amendments to the Redington 

Shores Code contained in Section 1 of this Ordinance as provided for therein, and shall not codify 

the exordial clauses nor any other sections not designated for codification. 

 Section 6. Pursuant to Florida Statutes § 166.041(4), this Ordinance shall take effect 

immediately upon adoption. 

ADOPTED ON FIRST READING on the 8th day of October, 2025, by the Board of 

Commissioners of the Town of Redington Shores, Florida. 

ADOPTED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING on the 12th day of November, 2025, 

by the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Redington Shores, Florida. 

 
Attest:   

_____________________________ 
       Tom Kapper, Mayor Commissioner 
 
___________________________ 
Melissa Fultz, Town Clerk 



ITEM G.3. 



Date:  October 8, 2025 

To: Board of Commissioners 

From: Margaret Carey, Town Manager 

Re: Park Mobile Contract Renewal 

The town’s Park Mobile Contract will expire on 11-30-2025. Park Mobile is the vendor for our paid 
parking lots in town. The original contract was a piggyback contract with St. Petersburg. Park 
Mobile has offered a cooperative agreement contract with Omnia that we can piggyback on. 
Many Florida municipalities are currently contracted this way.  

The Omnia contract is valid until at lease November, 2027 with renewals available through 
November 29, 2029. The contract is enclosed in your packet for review. 

Attorney Eschenfelder has reviewed the contract and found no issues. 

RECOMMENDATION 
Since the town has experienced no problems with the Park Mobile service, I recommend 
continuing a contract with Park Mobile.  



ParkMobile Service Agreement 

PSA-LF Page 1 of 11 
rev. 09/22 

This ParkMobile Service Agreement (“Agreement”) is made by and between Parkmobile, LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company, with offices at 1075 Peachtree St. NE, Ste 3100, Atlanta, GA 30309 (“ParkMobile”) and Town of Redington 
Shores - FL, a  FL Municipality, with offices at 17425 Gulf Boulevard, Redington Shores, Florida 33708, United States 
(“Client”).  This Agreement will become effective as of the last signature date below (the “Effective Date”).  In consideration 
of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement, the parties agree as follows: 

PARTY CONTACTS 

Client ParkMobile 

Legal Name: Town of Redington Shores - FL Legal Name: ParkMobile, LLC 

Contact: Margaret Carey Sales Rep: 

Email: townadmin@redshoresfl.com Email: john.blanton@arrive.com 

Phone: 727-397-5538 Phone: (877) 727-5457

Address: Address: 
17425 Gulf Boulevard, Redington Shores, Florida 
33708, United States 

ParkMobile, LLC 
1075 Peachtree St. NE 
Ste 3100 
Atlanta, GA 30309 

For legal notices: 

with a copy to ParkMobile’s Legal Department at the 
above address and to legal-notices@parkmobile.io. 

SERVICE TERMS 

Services ParkMobile will provide Client with the Services related to the following types of parking 
transactions: On Demand 

Initial Term 3 years beginning on the Effective Date 

Renewal This Agreement will automatically renew for additional successive 1 year terms unless earlier 
terminated pursuant to this Agreement's express provisions or either party provides written 
notice of non-renewal at least  before the end of the then-current term (each a "Renewal Term" 
and, collectively, together with the Initial Term, the "Term"). 

Termination Either party may terminate this Agreement effective immediately on written notice to the other 
party, if the breaching party materially breaches this Agreement, and such breach: (i) is 
incapable of cure; or (ii) being capable of cure, remains uncured 30 days after the non-
breaching party provides the breaching party with written notice of such breach.  

Merchant of Record The parties designate ParkMobile as the merchant of record. Client agrees to pay 
ParkMobile $0.20 + 3% of the total transaction amount per transaction for this 
service. ParkMobile will remit any amounts due Client in arrears to Client on the 15th of the 
following month. 



ParkMobile Service Agreement 

PSA-LF Page 2 of 11 
rev. 09/22 

Parking Locations The Services will be provided to Client in the following locations / geographical territory: 

ALL 

Signage Client will receive one free welcome kit that includes the aluminum signs and/or decal stickers 
necessary to complete implementation (installation not included). All signage included in the 
welcome kit is designed using ParkMobile's standard signage templates. Custom signage may 
be made available to Client for purchase at ParkMobile's current signage rates. Any requested 
changes to ParkMobile's standard signage templates will be treated as custom signage. 
Additional and/or replacement signage may be purchased by Client at ParkMobile's then-
current signage rates. Installation and maintenance of all signage is Client's sole responsibility. 

Governing Law State of Georgia 

Schedules This Agreement incorporates the following Schedules: Schedule 1: Client General Terms and 
Conditions; Schedule 2: Services; Schedule 3: Client Electronic Funds Authorization Form 

IMPLEMENTATION FEES 

Description Units Rate Price 

Implementation Fee 1 $0.00  $0.00 

Custom Development 0 $0.00/hr $0.00 

Total Implementation Fees:  $0.00 

ADDITIONAL FEES 

USER FEES 

On Demand User Fee $0.40 per transaction 

The parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 

TOWN OF REDINGTON SHORES - FL PARKMOBILE, LLC 

By: [counterpartySignerSignature_Xc3j457] By: [companySignatureSignature_IcxRhrr] 

Name: [Margaret CareycounterpartySignerName_zTIIVq6] Name: [companySignatureName_qLGPIfR] 

Title: [Town ManagernerTitle_NYRvwj6] Title: [companySignatureTitle_HosQfWr] 

Date: [counterpartySignerDateField_hRyo2v7] Date: [companySignatureDateField_hg5wFhi] 



ParkMobile Service Agreement 

PSA-LF Page 3 of 11 
rev. 09/22 

SCHEDULE 1:  
CLIENT GENERAL TERMS & CONDITIONS 

1. SERVICES

1.1 General. During the term, ParkMobile will provide the 
Services to Client in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement. 

1.2 Launch Date. The parties will mutually agree upon the 
launch date for the Services. 

1.3 ParkMobile Application. On and after the launch date, 
Client’s Parking Locations, along with associated Parking 
Information, will be made available to the general public 
through the ParkMobile Application. 

1.4 Parking Management Services. Subject to the license 
granted in Section 2, Client will be provided access to the 
Platform to manage Client’s Parking Locations and 
associated Parking Information. 

1.5  Parking Locations. The parties agree that ParkMobile 
does not own, operate, manage, or maintain any Parking 
Location. Client agrees that ParkMobile is not responsible 
for the condition or operation of any Parking Location, 
including, but not limited to, the operation of third-party 
hardware and/or software-based solutions used by Client at 
the Parking Location or for the delivery and/or fulfillment of 
parking or other services at the Parking Location. 

1.6  Publicity of Services. Each party will use commercially 
reasonable efforts to market the Services throughout the 
Term. All brochures and promotional material to be 
distributed by Client will be in a form mutually agreed upon 
by the parties, which will not be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed. 

1.7  Exclusivity. Throughout the term, the parties agree that 
ParkMobile will be the exclusive provider of electronic 
payment parking services for Client. 

1.8  PCI DSS. ParkMobile has obtained, and will continue to 
maintain throughout the term, Payment Card Industry – 
Data Security Standard (PCI DSS) certification. 

1.9 Online Client General Terms & Conditions. The parties 
agree that this Agreement supersedes the Client General 
Terms and Conditions that is publicly available at 
https://parkmobile.io/client-terms with respect to the 
Services provided under this Agreement. 

2. ACCESS & USE OF PLATFORM

2.1 Provision of Access. Subject to and conditioned on
Client's and its Authorized Users' compliance with the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement, all applicable laws and 
regulations, and Client’s payment of fees, ParkMobile 
grants Client a non-exclusive, non-transferable right to 
access and use the Platform during the Term. Such use is 
limited to Client’s internal use. ParkMobile will provide 
Client the Access Credentials within a reasonable time 
following the Effective Date. 

2.2 Documentation License. ParkMobile hereby grants to 
Client a non-exclusive, non-sublicensable, non-transferable 
license to use the Documentation during the Term solely for 

Client's internal business purposes in connection with its 
use of the Services. 

2.3 Use Restrictions. Client will not, directly or indirectly, and 
will not permit any third party to, access or use the Platform 
except as expressly permitted by this Agreement. For 
purposes of clarity and without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, Client shall not, except as this Agreement 
expressly permits: (a) copy, modify, or create derivative 
works of the Platform or Documentation, in whole or in part; 
(b) rent, lease, copy, lend, sell, sublicense, assign,
distribute, publish, transfer, or otherwise make available the 
Platform or Documentation to any person or entity; (c)
reverse engineer, disassemble, decompile, decode, adapt,
or otherwise attempt to derive or gain access to any
software component of the Platform, in whole or in part; (d)
bypass or breach any security device or protection used by
the Platform or access or use the Platform other than by an
Authorized User through the use of his or her own then valid 
Access Credentials; (e) remove any proprietary notices
from the Platform or Documentation; (f) use the Platform or
Documentation in any manner or for any purpose that
infringes, misappropriates, or otherwise violates any IP
Right or other right of any person, or that violates any
applicable law; (g) upload invalid data, malware, or other
software agents through the Platform; or (h) use the
Platform for any purpose beyond the scope of the access
granted in this Agreement.

2.4 Reservation of Rights. Nothing in this Agreement grants 
any right, title, or interest in or to (including any license 
under) any IP Rights in or relating to, the Services, whether 
expressly, by implication, estoppel, or otherwise. All right, 
title, and interest in and to the Services are and will remain 
with ParkMobile. 

2.5 Changes. ParkMobile reserves the right, in its sole 
discretion, to make any changes to the Services that it 
deems necessary or useful to: (a) maintain or enhance: (i) 
the quality or delivery of ParkMobile's services to its 
customers; (ii) the competitive strength of or market for 
ParkMobile's services; or (iii) the Services' cost efficiency or 
performance; or (b) to comply with applicable law. 

2.6 Suspension or Termination of Services. Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary in this Agreement, ParkMobile may 
suspend, terminate, or otherwise Client’s, any Authorized 
User’s, or any other person’s access to or use of all or any 
part of the Services, without incurring any resulting 
obligation or liability, if: (a) ParkMobile receives a judicial or 
other governmental demand or order, subpoena, or law 
enforcement request that expressly or by reasonable 
implication requires ParkMobile to do so; or (b) ParkMobile 
believes, in its good faith and sole discretion, that (i) Client 
or any Authorized User has failed to comply with any 
material term of this Agreement, or accessed or used the 
Services beyond the scope of the rights granted or for a 
purpose not authorized under this Agreement; (ii) Client or 
any Authorized User is, has been, or is likely to be using the 
Services for fraudulent, misleading, or unlawful activities; 
(iii) there is a threat or attack on any of the Services; (iv)



ParkMobile Service Agreement 

PSA-LF Page 4 of 11 
rev. 09/22 

Client’s or any Authorized User’s use of the Services 
disrupts or poses a security risk to ParkMobile or to any 
other client, end user, vendor or partner of ParkMobile; or 
(v) this Agreement expires or is terminated. This Section
does not limit any of ParkMobile's other rights or remedies,
whether at law, in equity, or under this Agreement.

3. CLIENT RESPONSIBILITIES

3.1     Use of Platform Account. Client is responsible and liable
for all uses of the Platform resulting from access provided 
by Client, directly or indirectly, whether such access or use 
is permitted by or in violation of this Agreement. Client must 
notify ParkMobile immediately of any breach of security or 
unauthorized use of Client’s account. 

3.2.   Parking Information. Client is responsible for setting all 
rates, zones, and other required information regarding its 
Parking Locations offered through the ParkMobile 
Application and for keeping such information up to date 
within the Platform. 

3.3.  Effect of Client Failure or Delay. ParkMobile is not 
responsible or liable for any delay or failure of performance 
caused in whole or in part by Client's delay in performing, 
or failure to perform, any of its obligations under this 
Agreement. 

4. SERVICE AND SUPPORT

4.1.  Scheduled Maintenance. ParkMobile will use commercially
reasonable efforts to schedule downtime for routine 
maintenance of the Services between the hours of 12:00 
a.m. and 4:00 a.m., Eastern Time; however, ParkMobile
may modify this window from time-to-time by providing
Client with advance notice. If ParkMobile anticipates that it
will need to perform maintenance activities that are likely to
be disruptive to the use of the Services outside of the
scheduled maintenance window, ParkMobile will use
commercially reasonable efforts to give Client at least 24
hours prior notice. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
ParkMobile reserves the right to perform any required
emergency maintenance work outside of the scheduled
maintenance window. To the extent practicable,
ParkMobile will use commercially reasonable efforts to
notify Client before commencing any emergency
maintenance outside of the scheduled maintenance
window and will use commercially reasonable efforts to limit 
or avoid impact to use of the Services.

4.2 Client Support. ParkMobile will use commercially reasonable 
efforts to assist Client with any technical support that Client 
may reasonably require in using the Services. ParkMobile 
will provide technical support for rate and configuration 
changes to Client Monday – Friday (excluding holidays) 
between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. (ET). For 
issues relating to On-Demand Parking Services, Client may 
submit a support request via email to 
support@parkmobile.io. For issues relating to Reservation 
Parking Services, Client may submit a support request via 
email to prs@parkmobile.io. ParkMobile will provide Client 
with emergency technical support 24 hours a day, seven 
days a week, 365 days a year.  In the event of an 
emergency involving technical and/or system availability 
issues, Client may contact the on-call engineer via email to 
applicationsupport@parkmobile.io. 

4.3 End-User Support. ParkMobile will provide customer 
support for ParkMobile Users 24 hours a day, seven days 
a week, 365 days a year. There are multiple methods that 
ParkMobile Users can access customer support, such as: 
ParkMobile’s online ticketing system, in-app chat feature, 
and toll-free phone number. 

5. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

5.1 General. Neither party will disclose the other party’s 
Confidential Information except to its employees, affiliates, 
agents, or professional advisors (“Representatives”) who 
need to know it and who have a legal obligation to keep it 
confidential. The receiving party will use the disclosing 
party’s Confidential Information only to exercise rights and 
fulfill obligations under this Agreement. The receiving party 
will ensure that its Representatives are also subject to the 
same non-disclosure and use obligations. The receiving 
party may disclose the other party's Confidential 
Information when required by law after giving reasonable 
notice to the disclosing party, if permitted by law. 

5.2 Personal Data. In the event a party discloses Personal 
Data to the other party, the receiving party will have the right 
to use the Personal Data only as required and necessary to 
perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

6. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OWNERSHIP

6.1 Client Data. Client Data remains the sole and exclusive 
property of Client. Client grants ParkMobile a perpetual, 
irrevocable, royalty-free license to use Client Data in 
connection with the Services. 

6.2 Client Brand Features. Client grants to ParkMobile a 
nonexclusive, nonsublicensable, nontransferable, royalty 
free license during the term to display Client’s Brand 
Features in connection with providing and/or marketing the 
Services. ParkMobile will not make any use of Client’s 
Brand Features in a manner that dilutes, tarnishes or blurs 
the value of such Brand Features. 

6.3 ParkMobile IP. Client acknowledges that, as between 
Client and ParkMobile, ParkMobile owns all right, title, and 
interest, including all IP Rights, in and to the Services, 
including but not limited to the ParkMobile Application and 
the Platform.  

6.4 ParkMobile Brand Features. ParkMobile grants to Client 
a nonexclusive, nonsublicensable, nontransferable, royalty 
free license during the term to display ParkMobile’s Brand 
Features in connection with the Services, subject to 
ParkMobile’s Brand Guidelines available at 
https://parkmobile.io/company/parkmobile-media-
assets/logos/. Client will not make any use of ParkMobile’s 
Brand Features in a manner that dilutes, tarnishes or blurs 
the value of such Brand Features.  

6.5.   ParkMobile User Data.  ParkMobile User Data remains the 
sole and exclusive property of ParkMobile. ParkMobile may 
sublicense certain ParkMobile User Data to Client upon 
Client’s execution of ParkMobile’s Data Protection 
Agreement. Client will not, directly or indirectly: (i) sell or 
resell ParkMobile User Data in any capacity or form; (ii) 
create any derivative work using ParkMobile User Data; or 
(iii) use ParkMobile User Data for purposes other than



ParkMobile Service Agreement 

PSA-LF Page 5 of 11 
rev. 09/22 

those specifically allowed in this Agreement. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties acknowledge 
and agree that ParkMobile will not sublicense or provide 
any PCI Data to Client.  

6.6 Resultant Data. Resultant Data remains the sole and 
exclusive property of ParkMobile. ParkMobile grants Client 
a revocable, royalty-free, non-exclusive, non-assignable, 
non-transferable license to applicable Resultant Data for 
the duration of the term only for Client’s internal use in 
connection with the Services. 

6.7 Reservation of Rights. ParkMobile reserves all rights not 
expressly granted to Client in this Agreement. Except for 
the limited rights and licenses expressly granted under this 
Agreement, nothing in this Agreement grants, by 
implication, waiver, estoppel, or otherwise, to Client or any 
third party any IP Rights or other right, title, or interest in or 
to the ParkMobile Application and/or the Platform. 

7. FEES AND PAYMENT

7.1.    Fees. Client shall pay ParkMobile the fees set forth in the
Agreement that incorporates these Client General Terms & 
Conditions ("Fees") in accordance with this Section 7. 

7.2  Payment Terms. The parties designate ParkMobile as the 
merchant of record. Client agrees to pay ParkMobile $0.20 
+ 3% of the total transaction amount per transaction for this
service. On or before the 15th day of each month,
ParkMobile will disburse to Client all parking fees
ParkMobile received during the preceding month from
ParkMobile Users on behalf of Client as a direct result of
this Agreement, less any amounts owed to ParkMobile.

7.3.    Taxes. All fees and other amounts payable by Client under 
this Agreement are exclusive of taxes and similar 
assessments. Without limiting the foregoing, Client is 
responsible for all sales, use, and excise taxes, and any 
other similar taxes, duties, and charges of any kind imposed 
by any federal, state, or local governmental or regulatory 
authority on any amounts payable by Client hereunder, 
other than any taxes imposed on ParkMobile’s income. 

7.4.     Reserved. 

7.5.  No Deductions or Setoffs. All amounts payable to 
ParkMobile under this Agreement shall be paid by Client to 
ParkMobile in full without any setoff, recoupment, 
counterclaim, deduction, debit, or withholding for any 
reason (other than any deduction or withholding of tax as 
may be required by applicable law). 

7.6.   Fee Increases. Beginning on the first anniversary of the 
Effective Date and continuing annually thereafter on a 
compounding basis, fees shall increase by ten percent 
(10%) or the percentage equal to the average increase in 
all items under the Consumer Price Index over the prior 12-
month period, whichever is greater. Based on this criteria, 
fees shall then round up to the nearest two (2) decimal 
places. This change will take effect without prior notice to 
Client. 

7.7.    Limited Payment Agent. Client appoints ParkMobile as its 
agent for the limited purpose of receiving, holding, and 
settling payments made by ParkMobile Users to Client in 
connection with the Services.  Client acknowledges and 

agrees that receipt of payment from ParkMobile Users in 
connection with the Services by ParkMobile shall be 
deemed the same as receipt by Client itself. 

8. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

8.1.    Mutual. Each party represents, warrants and covenants to 
the other party that: (a) it is duly organized, validly existing, 
and in good standing as a corporation or other legal entity 
under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or other 
organization; (b) it has the full right, power, and authority to 
enter into and perform its obligations and grant the rights, 
licenses, consents, and authorizations it grants or is 
required to grant under this Agreement; (c) the 
representative that is executing this Agreement has been 
duly authorized by all necessary corporate or organizational 
action of such party; and (d) when executed and delivered 
by both parties, this Agreement will constitute the legal, 
valid, and binding obligation of such party, enforceable 
against such party in accordance with its terms. 

8.2 ParkMobile. ParkMobile represents, warrants, and 
covenants to Client that ParkMobile will perform the 
Services using personnel of required skill, experience, and 
qualifications and in a professional and workmanlike 
manner in accordance with generally recognized industry 
standards for similar services and will devote adequate 
resources to meet its obligations under this Agreement. 

8.3 Disclaimers. EXCEPT FOR THE EXPRESS 
WARRANTIES SET FORTH IN SECTION 8.1 AND 
SECTION 8.2, ALL SERVICES ARE PROVIDED “AS IS.” 
PARKMOBILE SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ALL IMPLIED 
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A 
PARTICULAR PURPOSE, TITLE, AND NON-
INFRINGEMENT, AND ALL WARRANTIES ARISING 
FROM COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE 
PRACTICE. WITHOUT LIMITING THE FOREGOING, 
PARKMOBILE DOES NOT WARRANT THAT THE 
SERVICES OR ANY PRODUCTS OR RESULTS OF THE 
USE THEREOF WILL BE UNINTERRUPTED OR ERROR-
FREE. PARKMOBILE SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR 
DELAYS, INTERRUPTIONS, SERVICE FAILURES, OR 
OTHER PROBLEMS INHERENT IN USE OF THE 
INTERNET AND ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS.  

9. INDEMNIFICATION

9.1 Mutual. Each party will indemnify, defend, and hold 
harmless the other party from and against any and all 
losses, damages, liabilities, costs (including reasonable 
attorneys' fees) ("Losses") incurred as a result from any 
third-party claim, suit, action, or proceeding ("Third-Party 
Claim") to the extent it arises from a breach of the 
indemnifying party's representations and warranties under 
this Agreement. 

9.2 ParkMobile. ParkMobile will indemnify, defend, and hold 
harmless Client from and against any and all Losses 
incurred by Client resulting from any Third-Party Claim that 
the Platform or any use of the Platform in accordance with 
this Agreement, infringes or misappropriates such third 
party’s IP Rights, provided that Client promptly notifies 
ParkMobile in writing of the claim, cooperates with 
ParkMobile, and allows ParkMobile sole authority to control 
the defense and settlement of such claim. 



ParkMobile Service Agreement 

PSA-LF Page 6 of 11 
rev. 09/22 

9.3 Client. Client will indemnify, defend, and hold harmless 
ParkMobile from and against any and all Losses incurred 
by ParkMobile resulting from any Third-Party Claim arising 
out of Client’s disclosure or use of ParkMobile User Data in 
violation of this Agreement. 

9.4 Mitigation. If any of the Services are claimed to, or in 
ParkMobile’s opinion are likely to, infringe, misappropriate, 
or otherwise violate any third-party IP Rights, or if Client’s 
use of the Services is enjoined or threatened to be enjoined, 
ParkMobile may, at its option and sole cost and expense: 
(a) obtain the right for Client to continue to use the Services
as contemplated by this Agreement; (b) modify or replace
the Services, in whole or in part, to seek to make the
Services (as so modified or replaced) non-infringing, while
providing equivalent features and functionality, in which
case such modifications or replacements will constitute the
Services, as applicable, under this Agreement; or (c) by
written notice to Client, terminate this Agreement and
require Client to immediately cease any use of the Services.

9.5 Sole Remedy. THIS SECTION 9 SETS FORTH CLIENT’S 
SOLE REMEDIES AND PARKMOBILE’S SOLE LIABILITY 
AND OBLIGATION FOR ANY ACTUAL, THREATENED, 
OR ALLEGED CLAIMS THAT THE SERVICES OR ANY 
SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS AGREEMENT INFRINGES, 
MISAPPROPRIATES, OR OTHERWISE VIOLATES ANY 
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS OF ANY THIRD 
PARTY. 

10. LIMITATION OF REMEDIES AND DAMAGES

10.1 Exclusion of Damages. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE
PROVIDED IN SECTION 10.3, IN NO EVENT WILL 
PARKMOBILE OR ANY OF ITS LICENSORS, SERVICE 
PROVIDERS, OR SUPPLIERS BE LIABLE UNDER OR IN 
CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR ITS 
SUBJECT MATTER UNDER ANY LEGAL OR EQUITABLE 
THEORY, INCLUDING BREACH OF CONTRACT, TORT 
(INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), STRICT LIABILITY, AND 
OTHERWISE, FOR ANY: (A) LOSS OF PRODUCTION, 
USE, BUSINESS, REVENUE, OR PROFIT OR 
DIMINUTION IN VALUE; (B) IMPAIRMENT, INABILITY TO 
USE OR LOSS, INTERRUPTION, OR DELAY OF THE 
SERVICES; (C) LOSS, DAMAGE, CORRUPTION, OR 
RECOVERY OF DATA, OR BREACH OF DATA OR 
SYSTEM SECURITY; (D) COST OF REPLACEMENT 
GOODS OR SERVICES; (E) LOSS OF GOODWILL OR 
REPUTATION; OR (F) CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, 
INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY, SPECIAL, ENHANCED, OR 
PUNITIVE DAMAGES, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER 
SUCH PERSONS WERE ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY 
OF SUCH LOSSES OR DAMAGES OR SUCH LOSSES 
OR DAMAGES WERE OTHERWISE FORESEEABLE, 
AND NOTWITHSTANDING THE FAILURE OF ANY 
AGREED OR OTHER REMEDY OF ITS ESSENTIAL 
PURPOSE. 

10.2 Cap on Monetary Liability. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE 
PROVIDED IN SECTION 10.3, IN NO EVENT WILL THE 
COLLECTIVE AGGREGATE LIABILITY OF PARKMOBILE 
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, 
WHETHER ARISING UNDER OR RELATED TO BREACH 
OF CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), 
STRICT LIABILITY, OR ANY OTHER LEGAL OR 

EQUITABLE THEORY, EXCEED ONE TIMES THE TOTAL 
AMOUNTS PAID TO PARKMOBILE UNDER THIS 
AGREEMENT IN THE 12 MONTH PERIOD PRECEDING 
THE EVENT GIVING RISE TO THE CLAIM. THE 
FOREGOING LIMITATIONS APPLY EVEN IF ANY 
REMEDY FAILS OF ITS ESSENTIAL PURPOSE. 

10.3 Exceptions. The exclusions and limitations in Section 10.1 
and Section 10.2 do not apply to ParkMobile's obligations 
under Section 9 or liability for ParkMobile's gross 
negligence or willful misconduct. 

11. ADDITIONAL TERMS

11.1

11.2  Reserved.

11.3.  Reserved.

12. GENERAL TERMS

12.1 Assignment. Client shall not assign or otherwise transfer 
any of its rights, or delegate or otherwise transfer any of its 
obligations or performance under this Agreement, in each 
case whether voluntary, involuntarily, by operation of law, 
or otherwise, without ParkMobile's prior written consent. No 
assignment, delegation, or transfer will relieve Client of any 
of its obligations or performance under this Agreement. Any 
purported assignment, delegation, or transfer in violation of 
this Section 12.1 is void. This Agreement is binding upon 
and inures to the benefit of the parties and their respective 
successors and permitted assigns. 

12.2   Severability. If a court of competent jurisdiction holds any 
term or provision of this Agreement to be invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable, the rest of the Agreement will remain in 
effect. 

12.3 Headings. The headings in this Agreement are for reference 
only and do not affect the interpretation of this Agreement. 

12.4 Notices. Any notice or communication permitted or required 
under this Agreement must be in writing and will be deemed 
received by the addressee: (a) when received, if delivered 
by hand with signed confirmation of receipt; (b) when 
received, if sent by a nationally recognized overnight 
courier, signature required; (c) when sent, if by email (with 
confirmation of transmission), if sent during the addressee’s 
normal business hours, and on the next business day, if 
sent after the addressee’s normal business hours; and (d) 
on the third business day after the date mailed by certified 
or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage 
prepaid. Notices must be sent to the attention of the 
respective party's legal department at the address set forth 
at the beginning of this Agreement or such other address 
as either party may specific in writing. Any notice permitted 
or required under this Agreement that is sent to ParkMobile 
shall also be sent via email to legal-notices@parkmobile.io. 

12.5 Governing Law. This Agreement and all related 
documents, and all matters arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement, whether sounding in contract, tort, or statute 
are governed by, and construed in accordance with, the 
laws of the State of Georgia, United States of America 
(including its statutes of limitations). 



ParkMobile Service Agreement 

PSA-LF Page 7 of 11 
rev. 09/22 

12.6 Amendment; Waivers. Any amendment must be in writing, 
signed by both parties, and expressly state that it is 
amending this Agreement. No waiver by any party will be 
effective unless explicitly set forth in writing and signed by 
the party so waiving. No terms or conditions stated in a 
Client purchase order, vendor onboarding process or web 
portal, or any other Client order documentation shall be 
incorporated into or form any part of this Agreement, and all 
such terms or conditions shall be null and void, 
notwithstanding any language to the contrary therein, 
whether signed before or after this Agreement. 

12.7 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with any 
other documents incorporated herein by reference, 
constitutes the sole and entire agreement of the parties with 
respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and 
supersedes all prior and contemporaneous 
understandings, agreements, representations, and 
warranties, both written and oral, with respect to such 
subject matter. 

12.8 Third-Party Beneficiaries. There are no third-party 
beneficiaries under this Agreement. 

12.9 Force Majeure. Neither party will be liable to the other for 
any delay or failure to perform any obligation under this 
Agreement (except for a failure to pay Fees) if the delay or 
failure results from any cause beyond such party’s 
reasonable control, including acts of God, labor disputes or 
other industrial disturbances, systemic electrical, 
telecommunications, or other utility failures, earthquakes, 
storms or other elements of nature, pandemics, blockages, 
embargoes, riots, acts or orders of government, acts of 
terrorism, or war. 

12.10 Independent Contractors. The parties to this Agreement 
are independent contractors. The parties do not intend, and 
nothing in this Agreement should be construed, to create or 
enter into any partnership, joint venture, employment, 
franchise, agency, or similar relationship. Neither party has 
the power to bind the other or incur obligations on the other 
party’s behalf without the other party’s prior written consent. 

12.11 Export Control. Client will comply with all export and 
import laws and regulations of the United States and other 
applicable jurisdictions. Without limiting the foregoing, 
Client: (i) represents and warrants that it is not listed on any 
U.S. government list of prohibited or restricted parties or 
located (or a national of) a country that is subject to a U.S. 
government embargo or that has been designated by the 
U.S. government as a “terrorist supporting” country; (ii) will 
not (and will not permit any third parties to) access or use 
any Service in violation of any U.S. export embargo, 
prohibition or restriction, and (iii) will not submit to any 
Service any information that is controlled under the U.S. 
International Traffic in Arms Regulation. 

12.12 Interpretation. This Agreement shall be construed without 
regard to any presumption or rule requiring construction or 
interpretation against the party drafting an instrument or 
causing any instrument to be drafted. The Schedules 
referred to herein shall be construed with, and as an integral 
part of, this Agreement to the same extent as if they were 
set forth verbatim herein. 

12.13  Counterparts. The parties may execute this Agreement in 
counterparts, including PDF and other electronic copies, 
which taken together will constitute one instrument. 

13. DEFINITIONS

"Access Credentials" means any user name, identification
number, password, license or security key, security token,
PIN, or other security code, method, technology, or device,
used alone or in combination, to verify an individual's
identity and authorization to access and use the Platform.

"Authorized User" means Client's employee, consultant,
contractor, and agent who is authorized by Client to access
and use the Platform under the rights granted to Client
pursuant to this Agreement.

"Brand Features" means a party’s trade names,
trademarks, service marks, logos, domain names, and
other distinctive brand features.

"Client Data" means any data specific to Client’s operation
that is provided by Client to ParkMobile to be used in the
provision of Services that is not available to ParkMobile
publicly or by other means.

"Confidential Information" means information that one party
(or an affiliate) discloses to the other party under this
Agreement, and that is marked as confidential or would
normally be considered confidential information under the
circumstances. It does not include information that is
independently developed by the recipient, is rightfully given
to the recipient by a third party without confidentiality
obligations or becomes public through no fault of the
recipient.

"Documentation" means any manuals, instructions, or other 
documents or materials that ParkMobile provides or makes
available to Client in any form or medium and which
describe the functionality, components, features, or
requirements of the Services.

"IP Rights" means any and all registered and unregistered
rights granted, applied for, or otherwise now or hereafter in
existence under or related to any patent, copyright,
trademark, trade secret, database protection, or other
intellectual property rights laws, and all similar or equivalent 
rights or forms of protection, in any part of the world.

"Parking Information" means parking zones, parking rates,
parking restrictions, selected payment methods, and other
information necessary for the provision of the Services for
a specific Parking Location.

"Parking Location" means the location or locations of
Client’s on-street parking, off-street parking, reservation
parking, parking lots, parking decks, permitted parking, and
other facilities where ParkMobile Users may park.

"ParkMobile Application" means any and all mobile and/or
web applications, services, or interfaces developed,
hosted, or managed by, on behalf of, or in partnership with
ParkMobile and that are made available to the general
public and that facilities the payment of parking
transactions.

"ParkMobile User" means an end user that uses the
ParkMobile Application.



ParkMobile Service Agreement 

PSA-LF Page 8 of 11 
rev. 09/22 

"ParkMobile User Data" means information, data, and other 
content, in any form or media, that is submitted, posted, or 
otherwise transmitted by or on behalf of a ParkMobile User, 
directly or indirectly, through the ParkMobile Application. 

"PCI Data" means, as applicable, payment card number, 
cardholder name, expiration date, card verification code or 
value, service code, and/or security-related information 
used to authenticate cardholders and/or authorize payment 
card transactions 

"Personal Data" means (i) any information about an 
identified or identifiable individual; or (ii) information that is 
not specifically about an identifiable individual but, when 
combined with other information, may identify an individual. 
Personal Data includes names, email addresses, postal 
addresses, telephone numbers, government identification 
numbers, financial account numbers, payment card 
information, license plate information, online identifiers 
(including IP addresses and cookie identifiers), network and 
hardware identifiers, geolocation information, and any 
information that constitutes “personal data” or “personal 
information” within the meaning of any relevant and 
applicable data privacy or protection laws. 

"Platform" means access-controlled mobile and/or web 
applications, services or interfaces developed, hosted, or 
managed by, on behalf of, or in partnership with ParkMobile 
that are made available to Client to administer, configure, 
manage and/or monitor parking sessions, parking rates, 
and/or parking restrictions associated with Client’s Parking 
Locations. 

"Resultant Data" means data and information related to 
Client’s, Authorized Users' and/or ParkMobile Users' use of 
the Services that is used by ParkMobile in an aggregate 
and anonymized manner, including to compile statistical 
and performance information related to the provision and 
operation of the Services. 

"Services" means the ParkMobile Application, the Platform, 
and all other services provided by ParkMobile under this 
Agreement. 



ParkMobile Service Agreement 

PSA-LF Page 9 of 11 
rev. 09/22 

SCHEDULE 2: SERVICES 
ON-DEMAND PARKING SERVICES 

ParkMobile offers a service to ParkMobile Users that facilitates the activation of and payment for on-demand parking 
using the ParkMobile Application (“On-Demand Parking”).    

ParkMobile Users may begin and, if applicable, end a parking transaction in a variety of ways: (1) visiting 
https://app.parkmobile.io; (2) calling ParkMobile’s IVR System, or (3) using the ParkMobile Application. In order to register 
with ParkMobile and begin a parking session, a consumer simply provide ParkMobile with the information required by 
ParkMobile to create an account, including payment method information and license plate number. Thereafter, subsequent 
parking sessions only require the ParkMobile User to enter or select the applicable parking duration available for the 
applicable location. 

The parking zone code of the Client parking areas are indicated on parking signs or on parking meters.  Enforcers 
of the Client check the validity of parking status real time against the Platform via a web service offering, provided as part 
of the Services, to determine if a valid parking right exists.  This information can be accessed by using a handheld terminal, 
mobile device or personal digital assistant (PDA). 

ParkMobile does not provide or pay for Client’s use of handheld terminals, mobile devices or PDAs for enforcement 
or any data plans or other items needed for communication between such items and the Services.   

At their option, ParkMobile Users will receive parking alert services from ParkMobile via SMS, ParkMobile 
Application push notification or email.  The ParkMobile User may be notified, for example, when parked for an extended 
period of time or when the maximum parking time nears expiration.  

ParkMobile Users can use On-Demand Parking anywhere the Services are available. 

All parking charges are automatically charged to the ParkMobile User’s payment method, and ParkMobile Users 
have real time access to an online account-based personal page accessible from https://app.parkmobile.io to access and 
print parking history, receipts, and statements. 



ParkMobile Service Agreement 

PSA-LF Page 10 of 11 
rev. 09/22 



ParkMobile Service Agreement 

PSA-LF Page 11 of 11 
rev. 09/22 

SCHEDULE 3: 
CLIENT ELECTRONIC FUNDS AUTHORIZATION FORM 

This form authorizes ParkMobile, LLC to make payment to a business electronically. All payments will be paid in the 
account designated by the voided check or bank letter attached to this form once it has been verified by 
ParkMobile, LLC via telephone call, otherwise a check will be issued to the address on file. It is the responsibility 
of the client to notify ParkMobile, LLC of any changes pertinent to electronic payments, such as changes in banking 
information or email address. 

PAYEE/CLIENT INFORMATION 

CLIENT NAME: 

ADDRESS: 

CONTACT PERSON: 

TELEPHONE NUMBER: 

VERIFICATION CALL BACK CONTACT PERSON: 

VERIFICATION TELEPHONE NUMBER: 

PRIMARY FINANCE CONTACT EMAIL: 

SECONDARY FINANCE CONTACT EMAIL: 

SIGNATURE & TITLE OF AUTHORIZED OFFICIAL: 

FINANCIAL INSTITUTION INFORMATION 

BANK NAME: 

ADDRESS: 

CONTACT PERSON: 

TELEPHONE: 

EMAIL: 

NINE DIGIT ROUTING TRANSIT NUMBER: 

DEPOSITOR ACCOUNT TITLE: 

DEPOSITOR ACCOUNT NUMBER: 

TYPE OF ACCOUNT: 

PLEASE BE SURE TO ATTACH A VOIDED CHECK OR BANK LETTER TO VERIFY THE ABOVE ACCOUNT 
INFORMATION 

This authorizes ParkMobile, LLC to send credit entries (and appropriate debit and adjustment entries), electronically 
or by any other commercially accepted method, to the account indicated above and to other accounts specified by 
Client in the future (the “Account”). This authorizes the financial institution holding the Account to post all such entries. 
This authorization will be in effect until ParkMobile receives a written termination notice from Client and has a 
reasonable opportunity to act on it. 



ITEM H.7. 



Date: October 2nd, 2025 

To: Board of Commissioners 

From: Michael Pafumi, Public Works Department Supervisor 

Re: Public Works Department Monthly Report – September 

Public Works Department September Monthly Report 

Routine daily activities conducted by the Public Works Dept. 

• Daily check of 4 the town lift stations to ensure proper function.

• Daily emptying of dog waste cans within the community.

• Ensuring bus stop trash receptacles are emptied.

• Checking and ensuring all town storm drains are clear of debris.

• Assisting town hall staff with routine duties and citizen requests for service.

• Weekly raking of the beach with the beach tractor and rake.

• Lawn cutting / landscaping of all town parks, medians and easements.

Activities for September, not including normal daily activities: 

• Replacement of damaged monkey bars on playscape at Constitution Park.

• Obtained Emergency Utility Permit and coordinated M.O.T. (modification of

traffic) for sewer line repair at 182nd Ave West /Gulf Blvd.

• Obtained Emergency Utility Permit and coordinated M.O.T. (modification of

traffic) for sewer line repair 176th Terrace West/ Gulf Blvd.

• Obtained Emergency Utility Permit and coordinated M.O.T. (modification of

traffic) for sewer line repair 180th Ave West / Gulf Blvd.

• Removed all beach cans and signposts in preparation for beach nourishment.

• Contractors (BDL, APS, GUSC) are continuing sewer lining/ stormwater system

repairs.



• Damage to beach access at 183rd Terrace West and Sunset Reef Condos was

completed.  Awaiting completion of beach nourishment to assess if steps will be

needed for access at 183rd. Access at Sunset Reef will have railing installed for

safety the week of October 6th.  Accesses will remain closed until work is

complete.

• Palm trees (19) on the medians of Gulf Blvd. were trimmed, and 1 dead palm tree

was removed.

Pending/ upcoming projects. 

• Light poles and lights installed in gravel lot. Suncoast Electrical. Expected start

date of 10/06/2025 (delay caused by supply chain issues with pole bases).

• Replacement of damaged Radar digital speed signs.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM H.8. 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Date:   October 8, 2025 
  
To:   Board of Commissioners 
 
From:   Margaret Carey, Town Manager 
 
Re:   Monthly Update – Town Manager’s Report 
 
 
Here are the highlights from September 8 – October 3, 2025. 
The big news for this past month includes: 
 The Town finalized our agreement with CAP Government services as our new building 

department services. 
 The County began the Beach Nourishment Project.  
 The townwide sewer improvement project is making great progress.  
 We finalized FY26 employee benefits.  
 The FY26 Budget was approved.  

 
Week of September 8, 2025 

• FEMA reimbursement meeting to determine outstanding documentation needed.  
• Picnic planning with staff.  
• Visited sewer project sites with PW supervisor Pafumi to check progress. 
• Confirmed schedule/order for town holiday decorations.  
• Planning for building department office update.  
• Coordinated with vendor for employee FY26 insurance plans.   
• Retirement lunch for Mario Orlando’s retirement.  

 
Week of September 15, 2025 

• Our new Public Works Tech, Matt, completed his first week on his own and is doing great! 
• Big Red Bus was onsite for our community blood drive.  
• Conducted 30-day performance reviews for Clerk and Management Analyst/Deputy Clerk.  
• Reviewed and discussed new building department contract. Also began discussing with 

the existing building department services provider and Redington Beach reps.  
• Attended a call with Rep. Chaney and staff to discuss upcoming Tax Committee meeting 

in Tallahassee.  
• Coordinated with PW staff to remove items from the beach in preparation for Beach 

Nourishment project.  
• Picnic planning with staff. 
• Discussed code enforcement cases with Deputy Klapka. 



• Met with furniture company to assist with measuring of building department space, etc. for 
the building department office update.   

 
Week of September 22, 2025 

• Met with Safebuilt management to discuss next steps and to establish a switch-over day. 
Tentatively set for November 10.  

• Coordinated with staff to develop a Facebook and website update regarding the Beach 
Nourishment project.  

• Met with Supervisor Pafumi to discuss town-owned fence repairs. 
• Contacted SmartGov to request information about migrating permit data for Redington 

Beach.  
• Confirmed Santa and Mrs. Claus for the annual tree lighting event December 7. 
• Worked on FEMA and FDEM disaster reimbursement tasks. 
• Attended BIG-C meeting.  
• Reached out to the town’s webmaster to notify him we will be creating messaging 

regarding building department service changes. 
 

Week of September 29, 2025 
• Confirmed timeline for transition from SafeBuilt to C.A.P. building department services. 

And coordinated with all entities regarding next steps.  
• Mayor Kapper and I met with CAP staff, Eve and Kathy, to discuss timeline and process 

for switchover.  
• Made progress on the plans to update the building department offices. Furniture will be 

installed in 2 weeks.  
• Met with Tidal Basin to confirm a 1-month extension on the town’s permit technician 

contract.   
• Send the updated Election District map to the Supervisor of Elections office and to post 

on the Town website. https://townofredingtonshores.com/wp-
content/uploads/2025/09/2025-DISTRICT-MAP-REDINGTON-SHORES-2025-
ORD2025-04.pdf 

• Worked with staff regarding picnic planning – final details.  
• Rode the ATV with PD and Mike Pafumi to assess the Beach Nourishment project and to 

record the action. Shared the video update with citizens on our Facebook page.   
• Drove around town with PW staff to check out a couple of sewer project sites. Also 

checked on a resident issue.  
• Met with Deputy Klapka regarding code enforcement issues. 
• Gathered documents and information for the Park Mobile Contract update – to be 

presented at the Oct. 8 Regular meeting. Submitted contract to our attorney for review.  
 
 

https://townofredingtonshores.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/09/2025-DISTRICT-MAP-REDINGTON-SHORES-2025-ORD2025-04.pdf
https://townofredingtonshores.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/09/2025-DISTRICT-MAP-REDINGTON-SHORES-2025-ORD2025-04.pdf
https://townofredingtonshores.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/09/2025-DISTRICT-MAP-REDINGTON-SHORES-2025-ORD2025-04.pdf

	10.8.25 BOCMeeting - Packet
	10-8-2025 Reg Comm mtg AGENDA
	WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 8, 2025 - 6:00 P.M.

	D1
	9-24-2025 SPEC MTG MINUTES
	9-24-2025 Workshop MINUTES
	E2
	Redington Shores Monthly Fire and EMS Report Sep 25'
	Redington Shores PDF
	F1
	TIDAL BASIN CONTRACT
	MEMO TIDAL BASIN CONTRACT
	TBGC_2nd Amendment PSA_Redington Shores

	TBGC_2nd Amendment PSA_Redington Shores
	G1
	MEMO ORD2025-05 LDC
	2025-05 LDC
	G2
	MEMO ORD 2025-07 Permit Fees
	ORD 2025-07 Redington Shores Construction Permit Refund Clarification
	G3
	PARK MOBILE CONTRACT
	MEMO PARK MOBILE CONTRACT
	DRAFT PARK MOBILE 10-1-25 N.A. Sales Agreement with Town of Redington Shores - FL - LF ParkMobile Services Agreement (1)

	H7
	Sept  2025 Monthly Report-Public Works_final

	H8
	10-8-25 MONTHLY UPDATE



